The contribution of maternal obesity to fetal body composition

Cecelia Maree O'Brien

BMedSci (Honours), MBBS, MPH (Honours), FRANZCOG, DDU

Thesis submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy, October 2018 Discipline of Obstetrics & Gynaecology Faculty of Health Sciences The University of Adelaide

Table of Contents

TABLE OF CONTENTS	2	
LIST OF CITATIONS	5	
LIST OF TABLES	6	
LIST OF FIGURES	8	
GLOSSARY OF TERMS	9	
ABSTRACT	<u> 10</u>	
DECLARATION	<u>12</u>	
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	13	
STATEMENT BY CANDIDATE	<u>15</u>	
<u>CHAPTER 1: LITERATURE REVIEW</u> <u>IMPLICATIONS OF MATERNAL OBESITY ON FETAL GROWTH AND THE ROLE</u> <u>OF ULTRASOUND</u>	<u> 16</u> <u> 16</u>	
1 1 INTRODUCTION AND DEFINITIONS	16	
1.2 CONSEQUENCES OF MATERNAL OBESITY	19	
1.3 LARGE FOR GESTATIONAL AGE. MACROSOMIA. AND NEONATAL BODY COMPOSITION	24	
1.3.1 CLINICAL MANAGEMENT OF THE LARGE FOR GESTATIONAL AGE FETUS	26	
1.4 THE FETAL "OVERGROWTH" HYPOTHESIS	28	
1.5 FETAL GROWTH RESTRICTION IN THE SETTING OF MATERNAL OBESITY	29	
1.6 MATERNAL DIETARY DETERMINANTS OF FETAL GROWTH	31	
1.7 METABOLIC DETERMINANTS OF FETAL GROWTH	33	
1.7.1 GLUCOSE AND INSULIN	36	
1.7.2 INSULIN-LIKE GROWTH FACTORS	36	
1.7.3 ADIPONECTIN	37	
1.7.4 LEPTIN	37	
1.7.6 ADIPOSE TISSUE AS A METABOLICALLY ACTIVE CONTRIBUTOR TO FETAL GROWTH	38	
1.7.7 THE INFLAMMATORY RESPONSE TO MATERNAL OBESITY	39	
1.7.8 THE ROLE OF THE PLACENTA IN FETAL GROWTH	40	
1.8 THE MEASUREMENT OF FETAL GROWTH AND BODY COMPOSITION USING ULTRASOUND	43	
1.9 ANTENATAL ULTRASOUND ASSESSMENT OF FETAL BODY COMPOSITION	48	
1.10 GAPS IN OUR CURRENT KNOWLEDGE IDENTIFIED FROM THIS LITERATURE REVIEW 1.11 THE AIMS OF THIS RESEARCH STUDY	54 55	
CHAPTER 2: METHODS	56	
2.1 THE LIMIT RANDOMISED TRIAL	56	
2.2 FLOW OF PARTICIPANTS AND BASELINE CHARACTERISTICS	57	
2.3 ULTRASOUND ASSESSMENT		
2.3.1 FETAL BIOMETRY AND ESTIMATED FETAL WEIGHT	59	
2.3.2 FETAL ADIPOSITY MEASUREMENTS	61	
2.3.3 STATISTICAL ANALYSIS	64	

CHAPTER 3: THE EFFECT OF MATERNAL OVERWEIGHT AND OBESITY ON	
FETAL BIOMETRY, BODY COMPOSITION AND GROWTH VELOCITY	65
3.1 INTRODUCTION	65
3.2 AIMS	65
3.3 Methods	66
3.4 RESULTS	67
3.4.1 DEMOGRAPHIC CHARACTERISTICS	67
3.4.2 MATERNAL BMI AND THE RELATIONSHIP WITH FETAL BIOMETRY AND EFW Z-SCORES	70
3.4.3 MATERNAL BMI AND FETAL ADIPOSITY MEASUREMENTS	72
3.4.4 THE EFFECT OF MATERNAL BMI ON FETAL GROWTH VELOCITY	73
3.5 DISCUSSION	81
3.6 CONCLUSION	84

<u>CHAPTER 4: THE EFFECT OF MATERNAL DIETARY FACTORS ON FETAL</u> GROWTH AND ADIPOSITY

GROWTH AND ADIPOSITY	85
4.1 INTRODUCTION	85
4.2 AIMS	86
4.3 METHODS	86
4.3.1 MATERNAL DIETARY ASSESSMENT	86
4.3.2 Statistical Analysis	88
4.4 RESULTS	88
4.4.1 DEMOGRAPHIC CHARACTERISTICS	88
4.4.2 Healthy Eating Index (HEI)	91
4.4.3 LOG TOTAL ENERGY	91
4.4.4 GLYCAEMIC INDEX	91
4.4.5 GLYCAEMIC LOAD	92
4.4.6 FAT, CARBOHYDRATE AND PROTEIN AS A PERCENT OF TOTAL ENERGY	92
4.5 DISCUSSION	107
4.6 CONCLUSIONS	109

<u>CHAPTER 5: THE IMPACT OF MATERNAL CARDIOMETABOLIC AND</u> INFLAMMATORY MARKERS ON FETAL GROWTH

5.1 INTRODUCTION	110
5.2 AIMS	110
5.3 METHODS	111
5.3.1 CARDIOMETABOLIC AND INFLAMMATORY MARKERS	111
5.3.2 Statistical Analysis	112
5.4 Results	113
5.4.1 DEMOGRAPHIC CHARACTERISTICS	113
5.4.2 C-REACTIVE PROTEIN (CRP)	115
5.4.3 TRIGLYCERIDES	117
5.4.4 FASTING GLUCOSE	118
5.4.5 LEPTIN	119
5.4.6 ADIPONECTIN	121
5.4.7 The interaction between cardiometabolic markers and fetal growth over t	ім 124
5.5 DISCUSSION	125
5.6 CONCLUSION	128

110

<u>CHAPTER 6: ASSOCIATIONS BETWEEN FETAL ULTRASOUND BIOMETRY AND</u> <u>NEWBORN ANTHROPOMETRY IN INFANTS BORN TO WOMEN WHO ARE</u>

OVERWEIGHT OR OBESE	129
6.1 INTRODUCTION	129
6.2 AIMS	130
6.3 METHODS	130
6.3.1 NEONATAL ANTHROPOMETRIC MEASURES	130
(i) Skin fold thickness measurements	131
(ii) Body circumference measurements	131
6.3.2 STATISTICAL ANALYSIS	132
6.4 RESULTS	132
6.4.1 DEMOGRAPHIC CHARACTERISTICS	132
6.4.2 CORRELATION BETWEEN ULTRASOUND MEASURES AND NEONATAL MEASURES	135
6.4.3 Linear regression models for the association between ultrasound measurements of the theorem of the transmission of transm	IRES AND
NEONATAL MEASURES	137
6.5 DISCUSSION	140
6.6 CONCLUSION	142

CHAPTER 7: OVERALL CONCLUSIONS	<u>143</u>
7.1 THE IMPACT OF MATERNAL BMI ON ULTRASOUND DERIVED FETAL GROWTH AND ADD	POSITY,
AND GROWTH VELOCITIES	143
7.2 THE IMPACT OF MATERNAL DIETARY FACTORS ON ULTRASOUND DERIVED FETAL GROU	WTH
AND ADIPOSITY	144
7.3 THE IMPACT OF MATERNAL CARDIOMETABOLIC AND INFLAMMATORY MARKERS ON	
ULTRASOUND DERIVED FETAL GROWTH AND ADIPOSITY	144
7.4 Associations between fetal ultrasound biometry and newborn anthropol	METRY
	145
7.5 EXTERNAL VALIDITY, GENERALISABILITY, STRENGTHS AND LIMITATIONS	145
7.6 IMPLICATIONS FOR CLINICAL PRACTICE	146
7.6 IMPLICATIONS FOR FURTHER RESEARCH	146

APPENDIX 1	148
APPENDIX 2	163
APPENDIX 3	175
APPENDIX 4	193
APPENDIX 5	204
REFERENCES	213

LIST OF CITATIONS

Cecelia M O'Brien, Amanda Poprzeczny & Jodie M Dodd (2017) Implications of maternal obesity on fetal growth and the role of ultrasound. *Expert Review of Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 12:1, 45-58, DOI: 10.1080/17446651.2017.1271707

Cecelia M. O'Brien, Jennie Louise, Andrea Deussen, Rosalie Grivell & Jodie M. Dodd (2018): The effect of maternal obesity on fetal biometry, body composition and growth velocity. *The Journal of Maternal-Fetal & Neonatal Medicine*, Nov 4:1-311, DOI: 10.1080/14767058.2018.1543658

Cecelia M. O'Brien, Jennie Louise, Andrea Deussen, Jodie M. Dodd (2018). In Overweight or Obese Pregnant Women, Maternal Dietary Factors are not Associated with Fetal Growth and Adiposity. *Nutrients* 10(7):870, DOI:10.3390/nu10070870

LIST OF TABLES

Table Number	Table Title	Page Number
Table 1.1	World Health Organization classification of BMI Categories	17
Table 1.2	Summary of the current literature reporting maternal and neonatal outcomes for women who are obese (BMI \ge 30kg/m2) compared with women with a normal BMI	22 – 23
Table 1.3	The key metabolic substrates during pregnancy, their effect on fetal growth and changes related to maternal obesity	34 - 35
Table 1.4	Prenatal ultrasound measurements and the prediction of the large for gestational age infant	46 – 47
Table 1.5	Summary of the studies relating to fetal body composition measurements using prenatal ultrasound	49 - 51
Table 3.1	Baseline and post-randomisation characteristics of participants included in analysis of the effect of maternal BMI on fetal measures	69
Table 3.2	Maternal body mass index (BMI) category and fetal biometry z-scores at 28 and 36 weeks	75 – 76
Table 3.3	Maternal BMI category and fetal adiposity measurements at 28 and 36 weeks	77 – 78
Table 3.4	Maternal BMI category and fetal growth velocity between 28 and 36 weeks	79 – 80
Table 4.1	Baseline characteristics of participants included in the analysis of the effect of maternal diet on fetal growth and adiposity	90 - 91
Table 4.2	Healthy Eating Index and fetal ultrasound measurements	93 – 94
Table 4.3	Log Total Energy and fetal ultrasound measurements	95 – 96
Table 4.4	Glycaemic Index and fetal ultrasound measurements	97 – 98
Table 4.5	Glycaemic load and fetal ultrasound measurements	99 - 100
Table 4.6	Fat as a percentage of total energy and fetal ultrasound measurements	101 – 102
Table 4.7	Carbohydrate as a percentage of total energy and fetal ultrasound measurements	103 – 104
Table 4.8	Protein as a percentage of total energy and fetal ultrasound measurements	104 - 105

Table 5.1	Baseline characteristics of participants included in the analysis of the effect of maternal cardiometabolic and inflammatory markers on fetal growth and adiposity	114
Table 5.2	Relationship between log CRP and fetal ultrasound markers	115 – 116
Table 5.3	Relationship between log Triglycerides and fetal ultrasound markers	117
Table 5.4	Relationship between log Fasting glucose and fetal ultrasound markers	118
Table 5.5	Relationship between log Leptin and fetal ultrasound markers	119 – 120
Table 5.6	Relationship between log Adiponectin and fetal ultrasound markers	122 – 123
Table 6.1	Baseline characteristics of participants included in the analysis of associations between fetal and neonatal measures	134
Table 6.2	Correlation coefficients comparing fetal and neonatal body composition measurements	135
Table 6.3	Linear regression analyses measuring the association between fetal and neonatal measurements of body composition	137
Table 6.4	Interaction analysis assessing influence of maternal BMI on fetal and neonatal measurements	139

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure Number	Figure Title	Page Number
Figure 1.1	The postulated mechanisms relating to maternal obesity and the effect on fetal growth patterns	19
Figure 2.1	Flow chart of participants included in the secondary analysis from the Standard Care Group of the LIMIT randomised trial	58
Figure 2.2	Standardised measurement of fetal biometry as per the Practice guidelines for performance of the routine mid-trimester fetal ultrasound	60
Figure 2.3	Ultrasound images illustrating fetal mid thigh total and lean mass calculation	62
Figure 2.4	Ultrasound images illustrating fetal abdominal fat mass calculation	62
Figure 2.5	Ultrasound images of the fetal subscapular fat mass calculation	63
Figure 3.1	Flow chart of the participants included in analysis of effect of maternal BMI on fetal measures	68
Figure 3.2	Relationship between maternal BMI and fetal abdominal circumference at 28 weeks (blue) and 36 weeks (red) gestation	71
Figure 3.3	Estimated change in fetal weight by maternal BMI category	74
Figure 4.1	Flow chart of the participants included in the secondary analysis with maternal dietary assessment	89
Figure 5.1	Flow chart of the participants included in the secondary analysis with cardiometabolic markers	113
Figure 6.1	Flow chart of the participants included in the analysis of associations between fetal and neonatal measures	133
Figure 6.2	Relationship between birth measures and (a) Estimated Fetal Weight (EFW) and (b) Abdominal Fat Mass (AFM)	135

GLOSSARY OF TERMS

AA	Abdominal area (cm ²)
AFM	Abdominal fat mass
AC	Abdominal circumference
ASUM	Australasian Society of Ultrasound Medicine
BAT	Brown adipose tissue
BPD	Bi-parietal diameter
BMI	Body mass index
CRP	C Reactive Protein
DXA	Dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry
EFW	Estimated fetal weight
FL	Femur length
GDM	Gestational Diabetes Mellitus
НАРО	Hyperglycaemia and Adverse Pregnancy Outcomes Study
НС	Head circumference
IGF	Insulin-like growth factor
IGFBP	Insulin-like growth factor ligand-binding protein
IL-6	Interleukin 6
IRSD	Index of Relative Socio-economic Disadvantage
LGA	Large for gestational age
MTFM	Mid-thigh fat mass
MTTM	Mid-thigh total mass
MFLM	Mid-thigh lean mass
SEIFA	Socio-economic Indexes for Areas
SGA	Small for gestational age
SSFM	Subscapular fat mass
ТОР	Termination of pregnancy
UmA	Umbilical artery Doppler
WHO	World Health Organization

ABSTRACT

Background

There are well established links between maternal obesity, high infant birth weight and childhood obesity. However, the contribution of specific maternal dietary components and specific cardiometabolic and inflammatory measures to fetal growth and adiposity among overweight and obese women warrant further investigation. There is limited information describing the impact of maternal BMI on fetal growth trajectories and correlation between fetal and neonatal measures of growth and adiposity.

Methods

This thesis contains a series of secondary analyses involving 911 overweight and obese women who participated in the LIMIT trial and who were randomised to the 'Standard Care' group. Fetal biometry and adiposity measurements were obtained from ultrasound assessments at 28 and 36 weeks gestation. Analyses investigated:

- 1) The contribution of maternal BMI to fetal growth trajectories;
- 2) The contribution of maternal dietary factors to fetal growth and adiposity;
- The contribution of maternal cardiometabolic and inflammatory markers to fetal growth and adiposity; and
- 4) The correlation between fetal and neonatal anthropometric measures.

Results

The key findings of this thesis are

1) Increased maternal BMI is associated with incremental increases in growth velocity of the fetal abdomen and estimated fetal weight.

2) Pregnant women with $BMI \ge 40.0 \text{kg/m}^2$ showed the greatest increase in all fetal biometry z-scores, abdominal fat mass and abdominal area at 28 and 36 weeks gestation.

3) Maternal dietary measures are not consistently associated with fetal growth or adiposity.

4) Increased maternal concentrations of adiponectin are associated with a reduction in fetal abdominal circumference and estimated fetal weight.

5) Increased maternal triglyceride concentrations are associated with an increase in fetal abdominal circumference z-score and estimated fetal weight at 36 weeks.

6) Ultrasound assessment of fetal weight at 36 weeks gestation is a reliable indicator of infant birth weight, and ultrasound assessment of fetal HC and AC at 36 weeks are strongly correlated with newborn measures.

Conclusions

Among women who are overweight or obese, the contributions of maternal BMI, dietary factors and cardiometabolic and inflammatory markers to fetal growth and adiposity are highly complex. This study has confirmed that high maternal BMI is associated with higher fetal growth. Therefore, evaluation of interventions to modify fetal growth and adiposity through improving maternal health prior to conception are required.

DECLARATION

I certify that this work contains no material which has been accepted for the award of any other degree or diploma in my name, in any university or other tertiary institution and, to the best of my knowledge and belief, contains no material previously published or written by another person, except where due reference has been made in the text. In addition, I certify that no part of this work will, in the future, be used in a submission in my name, for any other degree or diploma in any university or other tertiary institution without the prior approval of the University of Adelaide and where applicable, any partner institution responsible for the joint-award of this degree.

I acknowledge that copyright of published works contained within this thesis resides with the copyright holder(s) of those works. I also give permission for the digital version of my thesis to be made available on the web, via the University's digital research repository, the Library Search and also through web search engines, unless permission has been granted by the University to restrict access for a period of time.

I acknowledge the support I have received for my research through the provision of an Australian Government Research Training Program Scholarship.

Cecelia O'Brien December, 2018

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First and foremost, I would like to thank all the women who participated in the LIMIT randomised trial, who have generously donated their time in the pursuit of improving clinical care for women and their children. Without them, this thesis would not have been possible.

A very special thank you to Professor Jodie Dodd, who I first met in 2013. Jodie is one of the most inspirational women I have ever met - a dedicated clinician, a world-renowned researcher and an inspirational teacher and colleague, all while raising two beautiful girls. Your enthusiasm for research, teaching and evidence-based medicine is an inspiration to so many trainees, including myself. It has been an absolute honour and privilege to work with you and I cannot thank you enough for your support over the past 4 years.

A heart felt thank you to Andrea Deussen - you have been there every step of the way, providing constant encouragement, support and laughter during the highs and lows of a PhD thesis. I cannot thank you enough for all your additional time encouraging me on this journey.

A special thank you to Jennie Louise – I appreciate enormously the countless hours assisting me with the analysis, interpretation and synthesis of the data for my thesis.

Without your dedication, enthusiasm and perseverance, this thesis would not have been possible.

To all the staff of the Lifelong Health Research Group: Start Early, Stay Healthy, Stop Obesity - words cannot describe how grateful I am for the care and concern you extended when I first arrived in Adelaide, providing me with endless sources of caffeine, food and gifts for the kids, not to mention all the time you spent cuddling baby Andrew.

I would like to formally thank the Proposch family for the 'Luke Proposch Scholarship' administered through the RANZCOG research foundation. Through your tragic loss, you have inspired so many early career researchers to help answer important questions to improve care for women and their babies. Your generosity and ongoing support of the RANZCOG research foundation is greatly appreciated.

Most importantly, thank you to my family and friends, who have continued to stand by and provide encouragement along the way. To Charles, Andrew and Olive, your unwavering love, support and enthusiasm continues to inspire me to follow my dreams. Those dreams are so much better with you all by my side and I can't wait for the next exciting chapter to begin.

STATEMENT BY CANDIDATE

During my PhD candidature, I have been involved in the study design, the submission of any amendments to ethics, conduct of 885 ultrasound examinations for fetal growth at 28 and 36 weeks gestation, the collection of the ultrasound related data, development of the statistical analysis in consultation with the statistician and PhD supervisors. I was responsible for obtaining salary support through the RANZCOG research foundation. I was involved in the intellectual development and conduct of the secondary analyses of the LIMIT randomised trial presented in this thesis, with 3 manuscripts published, and 2 currently under peer review.

CHAPTER 1: Literature Review

Implications of maternal obesity on fetal growth and the role of ultrasound

The literature review presented has been published (O'Brien CM et al 2017, Expert Review of Endocrinology & Metabolism), and is contained in Appendix 1.

1.1 Introduction and Definitions

Worldwide, it is estimated more than 1.46 billion adults, and 170 million children, are either overweight or obese (Lobstein et al. 2004, Finucane et al. 2011). The global prevalence of obesity has more than doubled between 1980 and 2014, with a more pronounced surge in low and middle-income countries (Finucane et al. 2011, WHO 2018). Based on current trends, it is estimated that more than 50% of adults world-wide will be obese by 2030 (Wang et al. 2014). Obesity is the sixth most important risk factor contributing to overall burden of disease worldwide (Ezzati et al. 2002), and is an independent risk factor for the development of many associated morbidities, including hypertension, diabetes mellitus, and cardiovascular disease, all of which contribute to a significant reduction in life expectancy (Ezzati et al. 2002, AIHW 2017a).

Body mass index (BMI) is defined as body weight in kilograms divided by the square of the height in metres (kg/m^2). Overweight is defined as BMI inclusive of 25.0 to

29.9kg/m². Obesity is defined as a BMI greater than or equal to 30kg/m² and is further divided into 3 sub-categories as outlined in Table 1.1 (WHO 2004). The sub-categories include Class 1 obesity defined as BMI of 30.0 to 34.99 kg/m², Class 2 obesity defined as BMI of 35.0 to 39.99 kg/m² and Class 3 obesity, defined as BMI greater than or equal to 40 kg/m².

While pre-pregnancy measurement of BMI has many advantages, it is frequently unavailable, and reliance on self-reported pre-pregnancy weight particularly, is well recognized to be under-reported by women (Headen et al., 2017). While standardized BMI measurement in early pregnancy fails to account for early pregnancy weight gain (Carmichael, 1997), it has been demonstrated to correlate with pre-pregnancy BMI (Headen et al., 2017). Such an approach is consistent with standard obstetric practice and state wide perinatal practice guidelines (Government of South Australia 2019, Denison et al., 2018)

Definitions	Body Mass Index
Underweight	$< 18.50 \text{ kg/m}^2$
Normal weight	$18.50 - 24.99 \text{ kg/m}^2$
Overweight	25.0 to 29.9 kg/m ²
Class 1 Obesity	30.0 to 34.99 kg/m ²
Class 2 Obesity	35.0 to 39.99 kg/m ²
Class 3 Obesity	\geq 40.0 kg/m ²

 Table 1.1: World Health Organization classification of BMI Categories

Over 50% of women in high-income countries enter pregnancy with a BMI of 25kg/m^2 or more (Chu et al. 2009, Scheil et al. 2016), impacting significantly on maternal, fetal and neonatal health outcomes, both in the short term during pregnancy and birth, and in the longer term, contributing to high rates of childhood obesity (Whitaker 2004, Li et al. 2005, Yu et al. 2013, Leng et al. 2015, WHO 2016b). The associations between maternal obesity and subsequent childhood obesity are complex, involving both genetic and environmental factors, with a substantial impact reported to arise from intrauterine programming contributing to longer-term health complications (Whitaker 2004, Hawkins et al. 2006, Monasta et al. 2010). A recent commission into childhood obesity found escalation in prevalence across the world (WHO 2016b), with 41 million infants and children under the age of 5 years identified as overweight or obese (WHO 2018). The effect on a child's later life is significant, including the development of diabetes, increased risk of cancer, respiratory disease, cognitive impairment, mental health issues, and reproductive disorders (Godfery et al. 2017). In addition, there is an impact on educational and recreational opportunities with subsequent economic impact for the family unit and society as a whole (WHO 2016b).

There is considerable interest in understanding the mechanisms underlying fetal growth and adiposity patterns which may contribute to the intergenerational effects of obesity (Catalano 2003a). Figure 1.1 is a schematic diagram showing the potential mechanism linking maternal obesity to fetal overgrowth. From a public health perspective, preventive strategies targeting the peri-conceptual and antenatal periods, may contribute to a reduction in fetal overgrowth and adiposity, slowing the transmission of obesity between generations (Hanson et al. 2015, Hanson et al. 2017).

Figure 1.1 - The postulated mechanisms relating to maternal obesity and the



effect on fetal growth patterns

Figure 1.1 is a schematic diagram adapted from Catalano et al. 2017.

1.2 Consequences of maternal obesity

Entering pregnancy overweight or obese is an independent risk factor for almost all obstetric complications, the risk increasing linearly with increasing BMI category (Dodd et al. 2011a, Magann et al. 2013). Women who are overweight or obese are more likely to develop hypertensive disorders, including pre-eclampsia (Sibai et al. 1995, Cedergren 2004, Callaway et al. 2006, Doherty et al. 2006, Abenhaim et al. 2007, Athukorala et al. 2010, Magann et al. 2013), gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM)

(Callaway et al. 2006, Doherty et al. 2006, Abenhaim et al. 2007, Athukorala et al. 2010, Dodd et al. 2011a) and preterm birth (Callaway et al. 2006, Abenhaim et al. 2007, Dodd et al. 2011a). On a population level, increasing maternal BMI substantially increases the risk of antenatal stillbirth (Cedergren 2004, Callaway et al. 2006, Yao et al. 2014, Yao et al. 2017). A large meta-analysis found women classified as obese were two times more likely to experience a stillbirth compared with women with a normal BMI (Nohr et al. 2005, Chu et al. 2007). In a large hospital based cohort study in Denmark, most fetal deaths in the setting of maternal obesity were either term or post-term, with infants having lower mean birth weight and more likely to have an unknown cause of death (Kristensen et al. 2005). Postulated reasons for the increase in stillbirth include fetoplacental dysfunction and impaired blood flow (Kristensen et al. 2005).

Women who are overweight or obese are more likely to give birth to an infant considered large for gestational age (LGA) or macrosomic (Rosenberg et al. 2003, Cedergren 2004, Whitaker 2004, Abenhaim et al. 2007, Dodd et al. 2011a), both of which contribute to intra-partum related complications including an increase in the risk of fetal distress, operative birth, including caesarean section, and perineal trauma (Jolly et al. 2003, Pasupathy et al. 2012). In the neonatal period, infants born to women who are overweight or obese, irrespective of birth weight, are more likely to be born prematurely, are at higher risk of shoulder dystocia and hypoglycaemia, and are more likely to require admission to the neonatal intensive care unit (Rosenberg et al. 2003, Callaway et al. 2006, Dodd et al. 2011a, Magann et al. 2013).

There is considerable heterogeneity across studies describing the effects of obesity on maternal, fetal, obstetric and neonatal outcomes. This reflects variation in study design, each associated with inherent limitations. Furthermore, the definition of clinical outcomes, type and timing of the collection of the BMI estimate (pre-pregnancy versus early pregnancy; self reported versus measured) and cut-offs to define overweight and obesity varied between studies. Table 1.2 summarises the main studies assessing the effect of maternal BMI on maternal, obstetric and perinatal outcomes.

	Outcomes	Study details	Population	BMI	Effect size	Reference
Pregnancy	Hypertension	State based	South Australian	Measured at the first visit	aOR 2.9 [2.43-3.49]	Dodd et al. 2011
related		Pregnancy Outcome Unit	N = 19,672			
complication		2008	Analysis $= 11,233$			
	Pre-eclampsia	King Edward Hospital based	Perth, Australia	Pre-pregnancy	aOR 3.74 [1.95-7.17]	Doherty et al.
		cohort	N = 2827	Collection not stated		2006
	Gestational Diabetes	Mater Mothers' Hospital	Brisbane, Australian	1 st visit, self- reported	aOR 3.99 [3.47-4.59]	¹ McIntyre et al.
		based cohort	N = 75,432			2012
		1998 - 2009				
Fetal	Cardiovascular	Meta-analysis of 18 studies	International	Variable	OR 1.30 [1.12-1.51]	Stothard et al.
	anomalies		N = 182			2009
	Spina bifida	Meta-analysis of 18 studies	International $N = 863$	Variable	OR 2.24 [1.86-2.69]	Stothard et al.
	Neural tube defects	Retrospective hospital based	Northern Ireland	Early pregnancy (≤ 16 wks)	aOR 7.5 [1.2-46.5]	Scott-Pillai et al.
		cohort 2004 - 2011	N = 30,298			2013
	Stillbirth	Meta-analysis of 9 studies	International	Variable	OR 2.07 [1.59-2.74]	¹ Chu et al. 2007
			N = 865,524			
Intrapartum	Induction of labour	State based	South Australian	Measured at the	aOR 1.38 [1.2–1.49]	Dodd et al. 2011
	Normal vaginal	Pregnancy Outcome Unit	N = 19,672	booking in visit	aOR 0.86 [0.82-0.90]	Dodd et al. 2011
	delivery	2008	Analysis = $11,233$			
	Operative vaginal				aOR 0.82 [0.82-0.98]	Dodd et al. 2011
)	
	Emergency				aOR 1.36 [1.20-1.53]	Dodd et al. 2011
	Caesarean					
	LSCS for fetal				aOR 4.6 [2.22-9.41]	Doherty et al.
	distress					2006
Postpartum	Postpartum	Retrospective hospital based	Northern Ireland	Early pregnancy (≤ 16 wks)	OR 2.7 [2.2 – 3.4]	Scott-Pillai et al.
	haemorrhage	cohort	N = 30,298			2013
	Wound complication	2004 - 2011			OR 6.0 [3.0 – 12.1]	Scott-Pillai et al.
						2013

compared with women with a normal BMI.

Table 1.2: Summary of the current literature reporting maternal and neonatal outcomes for women who are obese $(BMI \ge 30 kg/m^2)$

	Breast feeding				OR 0.4 [0.3 – 0.5]	Scott-Pillai et al. 2013
	Length of stay	Hospital based cohort 1998 – 2009	Mater Mothers' Hospital, Brisbane	1 st visit, self-reported	aOR 1.6 [1.46-1.75]	McIntyre et al. 2012
Neonatal	Large for gestational age infant defined as	Swedish Medical Birth Registry	Sweden N = 805,275	Measured in early pregnancy	aOR 3.82 [3.50-4.16] Increases with	Cedergren 2004
	to 90 th centile (based	North West Thames database	United Kingdom	Measured at the booking in	aOR 2.36 [2.23-2.5]	Sebire et al. 2001
	on gestational age and gender)	1989 - 1997	N = 287,213 Retrospective	visit		
		Meta-analysis of 30 studies	International $N = 214,385$	Variable	OR 2.42 [2.16–2.72]	Gaudet et al. 2014
	Macrosomia > 4.0 kg	Meta-analysis of 30 studies	International $N = 13,612$		OR 2.17 [1.92–2.45]	Gaudet et al. 2014
	Macrosomia > 4.5 kg	Meta-analysis of 30 studies	International $N = 18,909$		OR 2.77 [2.22–3.45]	Gaudet et al. 2014
	Preterm delivery < 32wks	Swedish Medical Birth Registry 1992 - 2001	Sweden N = 805,275	Measured in early pregnancy	aOR 2.32 [1.73-3.12]	Cedergren 2004
	Shoulder dystocia	Mater Mothers' Hospital based cohort 1998 - 2002	Brisbane Australian N = 11,252	Measured at 12 weeks	aOR 2.9 [1.4-5.8]	Callaway 2006
	Neonatal trauma	Mater Mothers' Hospital based cohort 1998 - 2002	Brisbane Australian N = 11,252	Pre-pregnancy calculation	aOR 1.5 [1.1-2.1]	Callaway 2006
	Apgar < 7 at 5 minutes	Population based 1989 - 2001	Finland $N = 25,601$	Measured before 10 weeks	aOR 1.64 [1.22-2.28]	Raatikainen 2006
	Admission to NICU	Mater Mothers' Hospital based cohort 1998 - 2002	Brisbane Australian N = 11,252	Measured at 12 weeks	aOR 2.77 [1.8 – 4.25]	Callaway et al. 2006
	Hypoglycaemia	Mater Mothers' Hospital based cohort 1998 – 2009	Brisbane Australian N = 75,432	Self-reported Pre-pregnancy Recall	aOR 2.00 [1.71-4.43]	McIntyre et al. 2012
	Neonatal death	Aarhus Birth Cohort 1989 - 1996	Denmark $N = 24505$	Self-reported pre-pregnancy	aOR 2.7 [1.2 – 6.1]	Kristensen et al. 2005

1.3 Large for gestational age, macrosomia, and neonatal body composition

There is currently no international consensus regarding the definition, measurement, reporting and management of the large for gestational age (LGA) fetus or newborn (Campbell 2014). Furthermore, the distinction between prenatal ultrasound (providing an estimate of fetal weight) and birthweight (measured in the newborn period and adjusted for gestational age and gender) in the literature can be unclear (Pasupathy et al. 2012).

The definition and identification of the LGA fetus is based on prenatal ultrasound, and utilises measures of abdominal circumference (AC) or estimated fetal weight (EFW) using Hadlock's formula, variably defined as greater than or equal to the 90th, 95th or 97th centile for gestational age (Jolly et al. 2003, Pasupathy et al. 2012), using population based charts (Hui 2008). The prenatal ultrasound measurement of EFW has a measurement error of \pm 20% (Scioscia et al. 2008) with further reduction in performance in the setting of maternal obesity and at the extremes of fetal weight (Thornburg et al. 2008). The term fetal macrosomia is also variably defined as an EFW greater than or equal to 4000 grams or 4500 grams (Campbell 2014).

In comparison, the classification of a LGA newborn infant is a measurement of birth weight, corrected for infant sex and gestational age at birth (Pasupathy et al. 2012), and can be variably defined as greater than or equal to the 90th, 95th or 97th centile. Similarly,

infant macrosomia is a postpartum definition based on infant birth weight of greater than or equal to 4000 grams or 4500 grams (Jolly et al. 2003).

There has been interest in using customised growth charts to identify the infant at risk of growth disorders, considering factors such as maternal ethnicity, height and weight, infant sex and gestational age (Gardosi et al. 1992). Some have advocated the use of customised growth charts to define the LGA infant (birth weight > 90th centile), as being superior in prediction of neonatal morbidity, when compared with definition of macrosomia (BW > 4000 grams) (Pasupathy et al. 2012), postulating that the higher predictive value relates to improved detection of excessive fetal growth or alteration in fetal body composition taking into consideration the constitution of the mother (Gardosi et al. 2011, Pasupathy et al. 2012). However, it remains to be determined whether the consideration of maternal overweight and obesity and its effects on fetal growth as "physiological" rather than "pathological" is appropriate in this setting.

Birth weight as a single measure reflects mass, and does not reflect variations in the distribution of adipose tissue nor the relative proportion of adipose and lean tissue mass. Lean body mass has been correlated with genetic factors, whereas fat mass has been correlated with the maternal environment (Sparks 1984). Most studies reported in the literature have compared lean and adipose tissue masses in infants born to women who are overweight or obese with infants born to lean women (Sewell et al. 2006, Hull et al. 2008). The intrauterine metabolic environment has been shown to affect the growth of adipose tissue but not lean tissue mass (Catalano et al. 2011). Neonatal fat mass accounts for approximately 14% of the total birth weight (Catalano et al. 2003b,

Catalano et al. 2011). These studies have shown that as maternal BMI increases, so too does neonatal adipose tissue mass (Sewell et al. 2006, Hull et al. 2008), which in turn is correlated with an increased risk of childhood obesity and longer-term metabolic dysfunction (Oken 2009).

In contrast, the effect of maternal obesity on newborn lean tissue mass remain uncertain. While some have reported no association with maternal obesity (Sewell et al. 2006), others have reported associations between maternal obesity, lower newborn fat free mass, and higher total and percentage of fat mass as measured by air displacement plethysmography (Hull et al. 2008). There is a need for ongoing research into this area, including the longer-term follow-up of children to assess the impact of neonatal adipose tissue distribution on subsequent childhood obesity.

1.3.1 Clinical management of the large for gestational age fetus

Despite the limitations identified relating to the definitions of LGA and fetal macrosomia, the widespread availability of ultrasound and concerns relating to maternal and infant pregnancy and birth complications has led to interest in the prediction of fetal macrosomia (Dodd et al. 2012) to potentially reduce morbidity through active clinical management.

Clinical management options remain controversial for women who are identified to have a LGA fetus in the antenatal period (Campbell 2014). A large decision analysis study by Rouse identified that an elective caesarean section for EFW greater than 4.5kg

was not an economically viable treatment option (Rouse et al. 1996). The cost of elective caesarean birth did not outweigh the prevention of shoulder dystocia and brachial plexus injuries (Rouse et al. 1996). In contrast, a similar study reached the opposite conclusions, when considering the "costs" related to maternal perineal trauma and subsequent faecal and urinary incontinence issues for the woman, in addition to the direct effects of shoulder dystocia and brachial plexus injuries for the offspring (Culligan et al. 2005). Importantly, any short or longer-term "costs" related to the effects of birth asphyxia have not been incorporated into these decision analyses (Campbell 2014).

A multi-centre randomised trial involving 19 tertiary centres included 832 women with an average BMI between 25 – 26kg/m² and with a fetus suspected to be LGA, who were randomised to either elective induction of labour or continued expectant pregnancy management (Boulvain et al. 2015). The trial identified a reduction in neonatal morbidity following induction of labour between 37 and 39 weeks following ultrasound identification of a LGA fetus defined as an EFW greater than the 95th centile (Boulvain et al. 2015). This type of clinical intervention was not associated with differences in a woman's risk of caesarean birth. Incorporation of 4 similar randomised trials in a meta-analysis involving a total of 1,190 women, identified that induction of labour was associated with a reduction in the occurrence of shoulder dystocia, and any type of neonatal fracture, although there were no statistically significant differences identified in the rates of operative delivery, brachial plexus injury, low 5 minute Apgar scores or low arterial cord blood pH (Boulvain et al. 2016). The ability to more widely generalise these findings to women who are overweight or obese is uncertain, particularly taking into consideration the reduction in accuracy of ultrasound estimation of fetal weight in this clinical setting (Boulvain et al. 2015, Boulvain et al. 2016).

The clinical management debate will undoubtedly continue with consideration of multiple factors including a woman's autonomy, obstetrician factors, ultrasound availability, ultrasound prediction and accuracy, evidence surrounding intervention and concern about rising caesarean birth rates in both the developed and developing world (Campbell 2014).

1.4 The fetal "overgrowth" hypothesis

In 1967, Pedersen and associates first proposed a hypothesis to describe the underlying mechanism relating to overgrowth of the fetus, seen primarily in women with diabetes mellitus during pregnancy (Pedersen 1967). This is commonly known as the direct pathway for fetal 'overgrowth' and is more commonly referred to as the Pedersen hypothesis (Pedersen 1967). Glucose has been long recognised as the primary fuel substrate for fetal growth and development, and is delivered across the placental interface via transport mediated facilitated diffusion (Catalano et al. 2009, Wright et al. 2011). In the setting of maternal hyperglycaemia and hyperinsulinaemia related to both maternal obesity and gestational diabetes, there is a greater diffusion gradient of glucose, which in turn leads to fetal hyperglycaemia (Catalano et al. 2009). Hyperglycaemia in the fetal circulation stimulates insulin production by the fetal pancreas, insulin-like growth factors (IGF), growth hormones and a range of other growth promoting factors, all of which stimulate fetal deposition of glycogen and fat

(Pedersen 1967). More recently, the hypothesis has been expanded to account for the placental transfer of lipids and their contribution to fetal growth (Catalano et al. 2011).

Increasingly, there is evidence to support an 'indirect' pathway that can impact the delivery and quantity of the nutritional supply to the fetus across the placenta (Wright et al. 2011, Aye et al. 2013). The placenta is the interface between the maternal and fetal circulations, providing critical and complex functions for the developing fetus. The placenta plays an integral role in fetal growth through the regulation of blood flow, oxygen delivery, and nutrient transfer across the placenta (Belkacemi et al. 2011). While the placenta is likely to be an important mediator by which maternal obesity contributes to fetal overgrowth and adiposity (Lewis et al. 2013), there is a relative paucity of literature describing its role in the regulation of fetal growth in this setting. Various hypotheses include the regulation of placental transporters (Lewis et al. 2013) and the nutrient transfer capacity of the placenta, which directly relate to the structural and morphological features of the placenta, in addition to uteroplacental blood flow (Wright et al. 2011, Aye et al. 2013).

1.5 Fetal growth restriction in the setting of maternal obesity

Large population cohort studies have identified maternal obesity to not only be associated with fetal overgrowth, but also with fetal growth restriction (Cedergren 2004, Doherty et al. 2006, Abenhaim et al. 2007). In a large epidemiological study, the rate of fetal growth restriction was approximately 2.3% in women with a BMI greater than or equal to 40kg/m^2 (Cedergren 2004). These rates are comparable to those derived

from large randomised trials. The LIMIT trial identified a risk of infant birth weight less than 2.5kg to be approximately 4.7% (Dodd et al. 2014a), consistent with the findings from the UPBEAT randomised trial (Poston et al. 2015) which utilised customised birth weight centiles. Babies born to women who are classified as obese are more likely to be appropriately grown (82.7%) or large for gestational age (14.9%) (Cedergren 2004). Similarly, the ultrasound measurements relating to fetal growth, including weight, were consistently above the population mean, as discussed subsequently (Grivell et al. 2016).

Observational studies have identified higher rates of perinatal death in women who are overweight or obese, when compared with women of normal BMI (Kristensen et al. 2005, Huda et al. 2010, Yao et al. 2014). In this setting, most stillborn infants were identified to be SGA, particularly beyond 37 weeks gestation (Kristensen et al. 2005, Yao et al. 2014). Intrauterine fetal death due to higher rates of fetoplacental dysfunction were found in obese women (5.4 fetal deaths per 1000 live births) compared with women with a normal BMI (1.4 fetal deaths per 1000 live births) (Kristensen et al. 2005).

The underlying mechanisms for a reduction in uteroplacental blood flow may relate to the exaggerated hyperlipidaemia observed in maternal obesity, along with increased free fatty acids and cholesterol, which may potentially increase the risk of placental thrombosis and subsequently reduce placental perfusion (Kristensen et al. 2005). Another potential explanation may reflect the high rates of pre-eclampsia identified in women with increasing BMI (Sibai et al. 1995, Cedergren 2004, Callaway et al. 2006, Doherty et al. 2006, Thornburg et al. 2008, Athukorala et al. 2010). Oxidative stress and endothelial dysfunction from obesity may impact on trophoblastic invasion and contribute to poorer pregnancy outcomes, such as pre-eclampsia and placental insufficiency (Huda et al. 2010). Pre-eclampsia and defective trophoblastic invasion in turn affects placental function and may alter the fetal growth potential (Huda et al. 2010). There remains uncertainty surrounding the exact mechanism contributing to reduced growth in fetuses born to women who are obese and whether inadequate trophoblast invasion or perfusion defects comes first.

Impaired fetal growth in the setting of maternal overweight and obesity may also reflect the effects of maternal weight loss, which is more likely among obese women during pregnancy (Beyerlein et al. 2011). While lower maternal weight gain during pregnancy has been associated with a reduction in the risk of LGA infants and many pregnancy related complications, it appears to be at the expense of an increase in SGA infants (Lemas et al. 2015). While observational studies highlight this association, it is unclear if the contribution of weight loss to poor fetal growth reflects impaired nutrient delivery to the fetus, or whether other mechanisms are operational (Beyerlein et al. 2011).

1.6 Maternal dietary determinants of fetal growth

Women who are overweight or obese during pregnancy have been demonstrated to have poorer diet quality when compared with women with BMI in the normal range (Laraia et al. 2007, Rifas-Shiman et al. 2009, Tsigga et al. 2011, Moran et al. 2013), which persists into the postpartum period (Moran et al. 2013). In turn, poor diet quality is associated with increased risk of glucose intolerance and pre-eclampsia (Rifas-Shiman et al. 2009), increased neonatal adiposity (Shapiro et al. 2016) and changes in child body composition (Catalano et al. 2017).

There is growing interest in the programming of fetal growth and body composition, the critical time points and the influence of maternal diet as a potentially modifiable factor. The current literature is inconsistent, largely due to the heterogeneity and variability relating to the timing and types of dietary assessments, reporting and methodology, along with body composition measurements (Brei et al. 2018). Three studies have shown an increase in maternal carbohydrate intake to be associated with higher birth weight (Sharma et al. 2018), neonatal adiposity measured by air plethysmography (Crume et al. 2016), higher infant BMI (Chen et al. 2017) and an increased BMI in children (Chen et al. 2017). In contrast, a maternal diet with lower intake of carbohydrates has been associated with a decrease in neonatal adiposity (Renault et al. 2015) and a reduction in fat mass by 5 years of age (Brei et al. 2018). Protein and carbohydrate ratios or combination diets have also been evaluated, where a high protein, low carbohydrate, and low fat diet was associated with a reduction in neonatal abdominal adiposity (Chen et al. 2016, Brei et al. 2018). In contrast, an Australian study in women with a normal BMI showed that a low carbohydrate diet was associated an increase in abdominal fat mass in the fetus (Blumfield et al. 2012).

Poor diet quality (defined as Healthy Eating Index score less than or equal to 57) has been associated with a higher percentage of neonatal fat mass as measured on air displacement plethysmography, independent of maternal BMI (Shapiro et al. 2016). Observational data from the Danish National Birth Cohort identified an association between maternal dietary glycaemic load and a higher proportion of LGA infants (14%) and higher birth weight by 36 grams (Knudsen et al. 2013).

There has been more limited evaluation of the contribution of maternal dietary intake to fetal growth and adiposity, particularly among overweight and obese pregnant women. Maternal protein, fatty acid and carbohydrate intake during pregnancy have all been associated with increased measures of fetal adiposity, although this has largely been evaluated only in women of normal BMI (Blumfield et al. 2012).

The contribution of specific maternal dietary components to fetal growth and adiposity among women who are overweight or obese is unclear, and warrants further investigation.

1.7 Metabolic determinants of fetal growth

Glucose, insulin, insulin-like growth factors, leptin, adiponectin and lipids have all been identified to contribute to fetal growth in a complex fashion. Table 1.3 summarises the key metabolic substrates, their proposed physiology, effect on fetal growth and identified changes in the setting of maternal obesity.

Lipids	Insulin like growth factors	Insulin	Glucose	Factor
Early pregnancy – maternal fat accumulation Late pregnancy – maternal hyperlipidaemia	Family of ligands (IGFs) and ligand- binding proteins (IGFBPs) Produced by the liver Contributes to placental invasion, growth and development Stimulates differentiation of pre- adipocytes	Decreased sensitivity to insulin, mainly in the post receptor pathway, reducing intracellular insulin signalling pathway via GLUT4. Secretion of placental lactogen, cytokines, tumour necrosis factor and elevated lipids have been shown to contribute in pregnant women.	Crosses the placenta via GLUTs Main energy source for the fetus	Physiology
Contributes to fetal fat deposition in the third trimester	Relative concentrations of IGFs and IGFBPs determine effect on fetal growth – free (bioactive) IGF is promotor of fetal growth	High levels of glucose stimulate hyperinsulinaemia in the fetal pancreas	Promotes fetal overgrowth	Effect on fetal growth
Higher plasma triglycerides throughout pregnancy Independently associated with risk of LGA and neonatal measures of adiposity	Reduced expression of IGFBP4 in cord blood of offspring, resulting in higher concentrations of free IGF	Obesity is associated with insulin resistance Contribution of pre-receptor action via insulin antibodies and decreased number of receptors on the cell surface in addition to post-receptor defects (intracellular insulin signalling pathway)	Higher in maternal obesity Increased risk of GDM and hyperglycaemia Positively associated with birth weight	Changes in maternal obesity
Son et al. 2010 Vrijkotte et al. 2011 Whyte et al. 2013 Schaefer-Grafe et al. 2008	Ferraro et al. 2012 Qiu et al. 2005 Juul et al. 2003	Catalano et al. 2010 Pedersen 1967	Metzger et al. 2008 Catalano et al. 2009 Uebel et al. 2014 Torloni et al. 2009	References

Table 1.3: The key metabolic substrates during pregnancy, their effect on fetal growth and changes related to maternal obesity

Adiponectin	Leptin
Produced by adipose tissue Contributes to peripheral insulin sensitivity Reduces nutrient availability for the placenta	Produced predominantly by white adipose tissue Involved in regulatory control of placental nutrient transport
Negative regulator of fetal growth	Promotes fetal overgrowth
Maternal concentrations lower in obesity Maternal concentrations negatively correlate with birth weight and neonatal fat mass	Higher circulating concentrations Higher cord blood concentrations in offspring Positively correlates with birth weight, neonatal adiposity and neonatal insulin resistance
Ategbo et al. 2006 Lowe et al. 2010	Tessier et al. 2013 Tsai et al. 2015 Catalano et al. 2009 Karakosta et al. 2011 Josefson et al. 2014

1.7.1 Glucose and Insulin

Maternal obesity, even in the absence of GDM, is associated with higher glucose concentrations, contributing to an intra-uterine hormonal environment that is comparable that associated with metabolic syndrome, characterised by hyperglycaemia and insulin resistance (Catalano et al. 2011). Offspring born to women who are obese have documented higher cord blood glucose and insulin concentrations, and are more insulin resistant (Catalano et al. 2009, Uebel et al. 2014, Lemas et al. 2015). This relationship between maternal obesity and insulin resistance measured in neonatal cord blood is present irrespective of a diagnosis of GDM (Catalano et al. 2009). Furthermore, findings from the HAPO study have confirmed a linear relationship between maternal glucose concentration and infant birth weight, even at glucose concentrations below those considered to be diagnostic of GDM (Metzger et al. 2008). Similar relationships between maternal glucose concentrations below the diagnostic threshold of GDM and adverse neonatal outcomes related to insulin resistance and glucose intolerance have been described in the other populations, including Canada, United States, United Kingdom, and Australia (Sermer et al. 1998, Dodd et al. 2007, Catalano et al. 2009, Torloni et al. 2009).

1.7.2 Insulin-like growth factors

Insulin-like growth factors (IGF) along with IGF binding proteins are produced in the liver. During pregnancy, the ligands and their binding proteins contribute to placental growth and development, and promote fetal growth. In maternal obesity, there is reduced expression of IGFBP4 in the cord blood of the offspring, resulting in higher concentrations of free IGF, which in turn further stimulates fetal growth (Juul 2003, Qiu et al. 2005, Ferraro et al. 2012).
1.7.3 Adiponectin

Adiponectin is secreted by maternal adipose tissue, and is not transferred across the placenta (Aye et al. 2013, Parker-Duffen et al. 2014), but does act directly on placental function through the transfer of insulin and amino acids (Lekva et al. 2017). During pregnancy, adiponectin concentrations decrease as gestation advances (Fuglsang et al. 2006). In both pregnant and non-pregnant individuals, obesity is associated with a lower adiponectin concentration (Lekva et al. 2017) along with type 2 diabetes mellitus (Weyer et al. 2001). Maternal and fetal adiponectin appear to exert opposing effects on fetal growth (Aye et al. 2013), with low maternal concentrations of adiponectin stimulating fetal overgrowth (Lekva et al. 2017). Conversely, cord blood and neonatal adiponectin concentrations have been reported to be up to 7 times higher than maternal concentrations, positively correlating with infant birth weight (Sivan et al. 2003) and increased neonatal adiposity (Sivan et al. 2003, Corbetta et al. 2005).

1.7.4 Leptin

Cord blood concentrations of leptin correlate positively with infant birth weight and neonatal fat mass (Catalano et al. 2009, Tessier et al. 2013, Josefson et al. 2014, Tsai et al. 2015). Cord blood leptin concentrations have also been shown to positively correlate with measures of neonatal insulin resistance (Catalano et al. 2009), suggesting that neonatal fat mass and insulin resistance are related, which raises the possibility that neonatal adipose tissue is also metabolically active.

1.7.5. Lipids

Pregnancy is a physiological state associated with higher circulating concentrations of triglycerides and fatty acids (Montelongo et al. 1992) which is accentuated by maternal obesity, leading to enhanced placental transport of these substrates (Catalano et al. 2017). While triglycerides do not readily cross the placental interface, the lipoprotein receptors and binding proteins and lipases enable the placental flow of maternal fatty acids (Schaefer-Graf et al. 2008). Studies investigating newborn cord blood concentrations of lipoproteins (Merzouk et al. 2000) have shown an association with adipose tissue in the fetus and newborn, contributing to infant birth weight (Schaefer-Graf et al. 2008).

The contribution of specific cardiometabolic measures to fetal growth and adiposity among women who are overweight or obese is unclear, and warrants further investigation

1.7.6 Adipose tissue as a metabolically active contributor to fetal growth

Adipose tissue is not an inert storage organ, but is metabolically active in the secretion of multiple hormones which contribute to metabolic homeostasis (Coelho et al. 2013). Fetal adipocytes begin to develop at 15 weeks and as gestation advances, there is an increase in fetal fat mass from 5 to 15% (Lau 2008). The development of adipose tissue in the fetus and in early neonatal life is sensitive to hormones such as insulin, insulin-like growth factors and glucocorticoids (Muhlhausler et al. 2009). While it is recognised that the human fetus deposits a large amount of subcutaneous fat in late gestation (Symonds et al. 2012), subscapular and axillary fetal adiposity predominantly reflects brown adipose tissue (BAT) deposition, which is required for non-shivering

thermogenesis in the immediate adaptation to extra-uterine life (Stephens et al. 2011, Symonds et al. 2012). While it was initially thought that the presence of BAT was confined to early infancy, deposits have been identified using positron emission tomography (Stephens et al. 2011) in adults at sites that echo those of the neonate, being more commonly identified in women and lean individuals. Furthermore, the role of BAT in energy production and increasing basal metabolic rate has resulted in its identification as a potential target to ameliorate the effects of obesity (Stephens et al. 2011, Symonds et al. 2012).

1.7.7 The inflammatory response to maternal obesity

Obesity (both in pregnancy and in non-pregnant individuals) is associated with a lowgrade, chronic inflammatory state (Pantham et al. 2015). Women who are overweight or obese enter pregnancy with an altered inflammatory profile, which may predispose to the development of pregnancy related complications including hypertension and GDM (Catalano 2010, Farah et al. 2012, Haghiac et al. 2015).

Increased secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines from adipose tissue (Ingvorsen et al. 2015) has been observed in obesity. Maternal obesity is associated with an increase in IL-6 compared with women with a normal BMI (Haghiac et al. 2015, Pantham et al. 2015). The literature remains unclear regarding other cytokines during pregnancy and is limited by small sample size and study design (Farah et al. 2012, Coelho et al. 2013, Ingvorsen et al. 2015, Pantham et al. 2015). There has been one study that has investigated the association between maternal cytokine concentrations and fetal adiposity measurements (Farah et al. 2012). While maternal inflammatory markers

were identified to correlate with maternal adiposity, these did not appear to be related to measures of fetal adiposity (Farah et al. 2012).

The placenta has been hypothesised to play a role in the mediation and regulation of the inflammatory reaction related to obesity (Pantham et al. 2015). Maternal inflammation may induce fetal programming through the passage of specific cytokines (IL-6) or immune cells (maternal monocytes, T and B cells), in addition to modifying the availability of nutrients for the fetus through placental regulation of IL-1B (Ingvorsen et al. 2015). Due to placental changes during gestation, this could potentially lead to variations in transfer of cytokines and immune cells with potential differential fetal effects across pregnancy (Ingvorsen et al. 2015).

The contribution of specific maternal inflammatory markers to fetal growth and adiposity among women who are overweight or obese is unclear, and warrants further investigation

1.7.8 The role of the placenta in fetal growth

The placenta is a complex organ containing chorionic villi and vasculature, which evolves and develops throughout gestation (Rampersad et al. 2011). Factors which disturb or disrupt this process therefore have the capacity to permanently alter placental function (Lewis et al. 2013).

The structure and morphology of the placenta including placental weight is a major determinant of fetal growth, directly reflecting the capacity of the nutrient transport system (Lewis et al. 2013). Placental nutrient transfer is dependent upon the number of transporters present, which in turn has been shown to be regulated by maternal endocrine and nutritional signalling (Lewis et al. 2013).

A retrospective cohort study from Scotland analysed 55,105 births between 1976 to 2007 and to evaluate associations between maternal BMI and placental weight. The findings demonstrate an association between increasing maternal BMI and both placental hypertrophy and reduced placental efficiency, suggesting that maternal obesity, may induce morphological and functional changes to the placenta when compared with women of normal BMI (Wallace et al. 2012).

Placenta pathology has been reportedly associated with maternal obesity (Huang et al. 2015, He et al. 2016, Bar et al. 2012, Bar et al. 2017). Commonly identified histological changes reflect inflammatory and vascular pathology, as well as increased placental thickness (Berceanu et al. 2018), placental overgrowth (Leon-Garcias et al. 2016, Wallace et al. 2012) and an increased incidence of marginal cord insertion (He et al. 2016). Described Inflammatory lesions include maternal origin villitis (Huang et al. 2015, He et al. 2016), histological chorioamnionitis and umbilical vasculitis, observed to occur almost 12 times more frequently in obese women as compared with women of normal BMI (He et al. 2016). Placental vascular lesions are also common in obese pregnant women, (Huang et al. 2015), with fetal vascular pathology identified more frequently than maternal vascular lesions (Bar et al. 2017). Of the maternal vascular

lesions reported, intervillous thrombus are commonly identified (He et al. 2016). While the precise mechanism causing these changes is unclear, they are well recognized contributors to pregnancy complications both for the woman and her developing fetus.

Uteroplacental blood flow also has a fundamental role in nutrient transfer to the fetus. Key to this process is maternal uterine artery blood supply, with alterations in blood flow as early as the first trimester of pregnancy having been associated with an increased risk of poor placentation and the subsequent development of pre-eclampsia and fetal growth restriction (Jeve et al. 2015). Placental perfusion may also be reduced by higher maternal concentrations of circulating lipids, free fatty acids and cholesterol, particularly in women who are obese, which has been postulated to contribute to an increased risk of placental thrombosis and reduced perfusion (Kristensen et al. 2005). In turn, these underlying perfusion related changes may contribute mechanistically to the higher risk of stillbirth and preterm birth observed in the setting of maternal obesity (Kristensen et al. 2005). Additionally, oxidative stress and endothelial dysfunction may both contribute to and result from impaired trophoblastic invasion, and therefore may lead to the subsequent development of hypertensive diseases including pre-eclampsia (Huda et al. 2010).

The fetal Umbilical Artery (UmA) delivers deoxygenated blood from the fetus back to the placenta, and is measured routinely during ultrasound assessment of fetal wellbeing (ISUOG Clinical Standards Committee 2013). Sarno and colleagues have conducted ultrasound umbilical artery Doppler (UmA) assessment in 185 women, of whom 23.2% were overweight, and 21.6% obese. When compared with lean women, women of

higher BMI were found to have significantly higher umbilical artery resistance. The positive correlation between maternal BMI and ultrasound determined umbilical artery resistance suggests a further mechanism whereby placental perfusion may be altered in the setting of maternal obesity (Sarno et al. 2015).

Changes in nutrition in the setting of obesity would suggest that women who are obese or who have GDM would give birth to an LGA infant, reflecting the higher diffusion gradient and further stimulation of growth by glucose, insulin and insulin-like growth factors (Lewis et al. 2013). However, many obese women and women with GDM give birth to an appropriately grown infant. There have been several theories postulated to explain the 'normalisation' of fetal growth in the setting of maternal obesity (Sarno et al. 2015). For example, uteroplacental insufficiency could reduce substrate delivery thereby normalising the anticipated acceleration in fetal growth (Sarno et al. 2015). Another possible explanation is that maternal obesity or GDM alone may be insufficient to induce fetal overgrowth but additional exposures such as endocrine signalling, expression of transporters and alterations in lipid and amino acid transfers together may contribute to an increase in fetal growth and adiposity (Lewis et al. 2013).

1.8 The measurement of fetal growth and body composition using ultrasound

Ultrasound has become the mainstay in the assessment of fetal growth and wellbeing and is widely utilised in both low and high-income countries. There have been numerous studies evaluating ultrasound markers to identify and predict the LGA fetus, all of which have utilised different measurements, definitions and cut-off points (Wong et al. 2001, Coomarasamy et al. 2005, Kernaghan et al. 2007, Pates et al. 2008, El Khouly et al. 2016). There is no universally accepted definition or specific measurement used in the detection of the LGA fetus in the antenatal period (Campbell 2014). Due to maternal and infant complications, coupled with the growing access to ultrasound, there has been increasing interest in the use of ultrasound to attempt to predict newborn macrosomia to reduce complications such as shoulder dystocia (Rouse et al. 1996).

Table 1.4 summarises the key literature to date assessing the sensitivity and predictive value of a range of ultrasound markers and cut-points to predict infant macrosomia and LGA. Coomarasamy and associates performed a large systematic review of the evidence pertaining to diagnostic ultrasound and the prediction of the LGA infant (Coomarasamy et al. 2005). While there was considerable heterogeneity between the studies including different study designs, estimated fetal weight formulae used, ultrasound equipment and reference range thresholds, EFW and AC greater than 90th centile were both identified to have acceptable positive predictive values as described in Table 1.4 (Coomarasamy et al. 2005). However, the influence of maternal BMI on these assessments is difficult to ascertain, as there was no specific sub-group analysis relating to maternal BMI.

Fetal growth velocity has been demonstrated to have low positive predictive value compared with EFW greater than the 95th centile (Kernaghan et al. 2007) in the prediction of LGA infants. Wong and colleagues identified that the prevalence of LGA infants was higher among women who were both obese and diagnosed with GDM, compared with women of normal BMI (Wong et al. 2001). More recent studies have

combined EFW and amniotic fluid index together to increase the positive and negative predictive value in identifying the LGA infant, with variable results obtained in women considered to be at increased risk (Pates et al. 2008), despite better performance in low risk women entering labour (El Khouly et al. 2016).

The impact of maternal BMI on fetal growth trajectories among infants born to women who are overweight or obese is unclear,

and warrants further investigation

Author Year	Study details	Ultrasound marker	Strengths	Limitations	Maternal BMI	Prediction of LGA infant
Coomarasamy et	N = 147	EFW greater than	Pooled analyses	Clinical	No specific	Positive LR 9.3
al. 2005	Studies $= 2$	90 th centile	Small numbers	heterogeneity	analysis	(3.7 - 24)
	Part of a large		Moderate to high	(different methods		Negative LR 0.4
	systematic review		quality	estimated EFW		(0.14 - 0.93)
				and AC)		
Coomarasamy et	Studies $= 5$	$AC > 90^{th}$ centile	Pooled analyses	Different	No specific	Positive LR 4.2
al. 2005	N = 1864		Moderate to high	ultrasound	analysis	(2.3 - 7.7)
	Part of large		quality	equipment and		Negative LR 0.33
	systematic review			reference standard		(0.21 - 0.54)
			Desserves			$\mathbf{D}_{\mathbf{m}} = \mathbf{D}_{\mathbf{m}} = \mathbf{D}_{\mathbf{m}} = \mathbf{D}_{\mathbf{m}} = \mathbf{D}_{\mathbf{m}}$
2007	Pre-existing and	Z-score	design	with diabetes		PPV = 51%
	gestational	(> 1.7 or > 95.5)	(alone		NPV = 91%
	diabetes	centile)				LR positive test $= 2.8$
	Sheffield, UK					,
Kernaghan et al.	N = 242	Fetal growth	Prospective	Included women	No analysis	Prevalence = 27%
2007	Pre-existing and	velocity (FGV)	design	with diabetes		PPV 35%
	gestational			alone		NPV 76.1%
	diabetes					
	Sheffield, UK					
Wong et al. 2002	N = 100	AC extrapolated	Confounding	Retrospective	Mean BMI	Progressive increase in
	Retrospective	from clinical	variables were not	Included only	was within	Z-scores as gestation
	study at the Mater	ultrasound reports	adjusted for in	diabetes	overweight	advances in newborns
	Hospital in		analyses		range	with LGA
			Small numbers			

Table 1.4: Prenatal ultrasound measurements and the prediction of the large for gestational age infant

of macrosomia EFW alone (PPV 75%) and AFI (27%)						
AFI had a PPV = 97.3% in the detection					2014 - 2016	
Diabetes Combined EFW and				grams and AFI > 16.4cm	maternity hospital	
2% incidence of	perioritien		Sample Size	EFW > 4000	study from large	
based on newborn	analysis	outcomes	design	1 st stage of labour	Prospective	2016
10.6% macrosomia rate	No separate	Lack of clinical	Prospective	Ultrasound in the	N = 600	El Khouly et al.
	grams					
	BW < 4000					
	with 41% in					
Sn =29%, Sp =29%	compared		macrosomia		2006	
71%, NPV = $94%$	grams	were variable	clinical concern of		during 1997 and	
and risk factor was	BW > 4000	clinical scans	a based on a	macrosomia	Texas, USA	
PPV using USS, AFI	for 81% of	Indications for	the ultrasound was	\pm Risk factors for	cohort study in	
7.6%	accounted	design	to the reason for	$\pm AFI \ge 20cm$	Retrospective	
Neonatal macrosomia	BMI > 30	Retrospective	Selection bias due	BW ≥ 4000 grams	N = 3115	Pates et al. 2008
– 38 weeks)						
22 weeks to 1.96 at 34	BMI				1994 - 1999	
score was 0.68 at 18 -	had a higher			calculated	Australia	
Difference in mean z-	LGA group			z-scores	Brisbane,	

1.9 Antenatal ultrasound assessment of fetal body composition

In 1991, Bernstein and colleagues were among the first to describe the measurement of fetal body composition using prenatal ultrasound (Bernstein et al. 1991). Since then, there have been substantial advances in both two and three-dimensional ultrasonography, resulting in the development and validation of fetal body composition measurements (Larciprete et al. 2003, Hure et al. 2012, O'Connor et al. 2014, Walsh et al. 2015, Gibson et al. 2016) as outlined in Table 1.5. Most of the identified studies have been limited by relatively small sample sizes (O'Connor et al. 2014, Walsh et al. 2015, Gibson et al. 2016), with wide variation in both the type of fetal body composition measurement utilised, and variation in the reporting of results (Larciprete et al. 2003, Hure et al. 2015, Gibson et al. 2012, O'Connor et al. 2014, Walsh et al. 2015, Gibson et al. 2016), with wide variation in both the type of fetal body composition measurement utilised, and variation in the reporting of results (Larciprete et al. 2003, Hure et al. 2012, O'Connor et al. 2014, Walsh et al. 2015, Gibson et al. 2012, O'Connor et al. 2014, Walsh et al. 2015, Gibson et al. 2016). Larciprete and colleagues validated ultrasound derived body composition measurements in the fetuses of 218 healthy pregnant Italian women with a normal BMI (Larciprete et al. 2003). The generalisability to other populations, particularly in women who are overweight or obese is limited.

Author Year	Ultrasound measurement	Definition	Study details	Strengths	Limitations	Results
Walsh et al.	Anterior	Axial view of	N = 50	First study to	Selection bias	HOMA and AAW were
2015	Abdominal	abdomen	Healthy, non-diabetic	assess	due to previous	significantly associated
	Wall (AAW)	2 to 3cm laterally	women with previous	metabolomics and	delivery	with increased
		from the cord	history of infant with BW >	fetal adiposity	Represents	measures of Biotin,
		insertion at 34 weeks	4000 grams	measurements	women who are	valine, 2-
		gestation	Nested cohort study within		at risk of	hydroxyisovalerate,
			the ROLO RCT		impaired	Histidine, malonate,
			National Maternity Hospital,		glucose	taurine at 28 weeks
			Dublin		tolerance Small cample	
O'Connor	Fetal abdominal	Axial view of	N = 62	Use of PEAPOD	Small sample	Associated with
et al. 2014	subcutaneous	abdomen in AC	Ultrasounds performed at	in non-invasive,	Underpowered	birthweight, AC and
	tissue (FAST)	view, using	28, 32, 38 weeks	accurate		infant fat mass at 38
		magnification,	March 2012 – 2013	measurement of		weeks measured on the
		measurement of	Coombe women's Hospital	infant body fat		PEAPOD (air
		subcutaneous tissue	Recruited after 1 st trimester	percentage		displacement
		anterior to the	scan			plethysmography)
		margins of the ribs				calculation of neonatal
		proximal to the cord				fat mass on D3.
O'Connor	Thigh fat (TE)	Distance from the	C9 = N	I lee of DEA DOD	Small sample	Thigh fat at 78 and 38
et al. 2014	and thigh muscle	outer border of the	Ultrasounds performed at	in non-invasive,	Underpowered	weeks correlates well
	(TM)	femur to the outer	28, 32, 38 weeks	accurate		with infant fat mass in
		border of the	March 2012 – 2013	measurement of		all mothers
		subcutaneous layer,	Coombe women's Hospital	infant body fat		
		subtracting the	Recruited after 1 st trimester	percentage		
		muscle value	scan			

,
2
Б
le
ý
\mathcal{L}
Ĕ
Ξ
Ξ.
8
ā
5
$\boldsymbol{<}$
0
÷,
£
E
Ð
2
Ξ
ā
Ē
B
<u> </u>
F
Ě
2
E
Ξ.
09
T
•
f
¥
2
ğ
2
5.
\checkmark
0
2
3
Ē
õ
S.
E
5
Ĕ
Ξ
3
P
3
S
I
e
Ħ
ĭ
Ĕ
Ē.
\mathbf{S}
n
\mathbf{S}
E.
0 Q
-
ĭ
e
<u> </u>
na
nata
natal
natal u
natal ulu
natal ultr
natal ultra
natal ultras
natal ultrasou
natal ultrasoui
natal ultrasound

Larciprete, Valensise et al. 2003	Larciprete et al. 2003	Larciprete et al. 2003
Abdominal fat mass (AFM)	Subscapular fat mass (SFM, mm)	Mid thigh Lean mass (MTLM) and fat mass (MTFM) Units = cm ²
Measuring thickness of the anterior abdominal subcutaneous tissue on the same axial	Shoulder skin width perpendicularly to the bone at its lower end	Sagittal view of long bone, rotate transducer 90 degrees to get axial view. Total cross sectional limb area and subtracting the central lean area consisting of muscle and bone
As above	As above	 N= 218 (Healthy women) N = 85 (Diabetic women) High risk patients from an Italian hospital, recruited at 20 weeks from Jan to Dec 2001 Inclusion criteria included family history of DM, BMI > 27 weeks, glycosuria, previous large baby, previous GDM, age > 37 weeks, polyhydramnios
As above	As above	Serial USS every 3 weeks until term gestation Assess reproducibility Development of reference ranges
As above	As above	Different population and screening for GDM due to 100-gram glucose tolerance test
Normal reference ranges described. Higher measures in women with GDM compared with healthy pregnant women	Normal reference ranges described from the healthy women group. Higher measures in women with GDM compared with healthy pregnant 5.3 vs 6.7mm, P < 0.01 at 38 – 40 weeks	Normal reference ranges from the healthy women group All measurements were greater in women with GDM compared with the healthy pregnant women. 11.9 vs 14.2cm ² P = 0.02 at 37 – 40 weeks

						al. 2016	Gibson et																2012	Hure et al.		
					(3Dimensional)	volume	Fractional thigh							(cm2)	fat and lean mass	Fetal mid-thigh						(cm^2)	fat area	Fetal Abdominal		
			the mid-femoral shaft	length centred around	femoral diaphysis	includes 50% of the	Sub volume that	12		calculated by T1 $-$	thigh fat mass	(T2) with fetal mid	and muscle mass	sectional area (T1)	femur, total cross-	Midpoint of the				abdominal area (A2)	from the lean	area (A1) subtracted	measurement, total	At the level of AC	AC calculation	image used for the
hours post	Admission to Delivery Suite Newborns were assessed 48	macrosomia, enrolled upon	newborns with suspected	Inclusion: Term, singleton	study	Prospective observational	N = 34 neonates									As above	pregnancies	Inclusion: Singleton	South Wales	John Hunter Hospital, New	2006 - 2008	Australian WATCH study	Longitundal cohort	N = 179		
						technology	Use of new							confounders	Adjusted for	Longitundal study						confounders	Adjusted for	Longitundal study		
to performed 3D USS	software and training required	transducers,	Specialised	group	No control	Selection bias	Small numbers									As above				of BMI	and calculation	maternal weight	data for	Self reported		
measurements	0.04) using anthropometric	body fat ($R^2 = 0.22$, $P =$	percentage of neonatal	0.52, P < 0.001) and	weight Z-score (\mathbb{R}^2 =	correlated with birth	Fractional volumes	0.63, P < 0.001)	noonotol fot mood (+ -	femoral fat area	correlation with	0.001). Moderate	mass ($r = 0.7$, P <	area and neonatal lean	between femoral lean	Strong correlation		increase in fat mass	muscle mass but no	predicted higher lean	BMI and GWG	lean abdominal mass.	predicted fetal AC and	Gestational weight gain	P = 0.03 at 39 weeks	6.18 vs 6.8mm,

The largest study to date to assess fetal biometry and body composition measurements using ultrasound was performed by Grivell and colleagues (Grivell et al. 2016). This study included women enrolled in the LIMIT trial (Dodd et al. 2014a) who were randomised to receive a comprehensive lifestyle intervention across pregnancy compared with women who received standard antenatal care. While the proportion of newborns classified as LGA (birth weight above the 90th centile), did not differ between the two treatment groups, the intervention was associated with a significant 18% relative risk reduction in the chance of infant birth weight greater than or equal to 4kg, and a 41% reduction in risk of birth weight above 4.5kg (Dodd et al. 2014b). Women who received the antenatal intervention demonstrated significant improvements in their self-reported dietary intake (Dodd et al. 2014c) and physical activity, when compared with women randomised to the standard care group (Dodd et al. 2014c).

In this setting, fetal body composition measurements and biometry were obtained from 1,847 women at both 28 and 36 weeks gestation (Grivell et al. 2016). Fetal z-scores for all biometry and adiposity related measures were above the population means, regardless of treatment group, indicating that the fetuses of women who are overweight or obese have growth measures above population standards (Grivell et al. 2016). Furthermore, increases in head (HC) and abdominal circumference (AC) growth were both identified to contribute to the increase in EFW (Grivell et al. 2016), compared with the increase in AC only, which has in the past been demonstrated in fetal growth in women with GDM (Wong et al. 2002, Wong et al. 2006, Walsh et al. 2015).

Two-dimensional fetal body composition measurements have been poorly correlated with neonatal measurements of body composition, lean tissue and body fat mass (Khoury et al. 2009, Lee et al. 2009, Moyer-Mileur et al. 2009). Thus, there has been increasing interest in three-dimensional imaging due to its increased availability over the past 5 years. Gibson and associates have assessed body composition in fetuses with suspected macrosomia using 3-dimensional mean thigh volume. Thigh volume Zscores were correlated with infant birth weight ($R^2 = 0.52$ [0.54 - 84], P < 0.001), neonatal anthropometric body fat ($R^2 = 0.22$ [0.17 – 0.69], P = 0.04) and skin-fold thickness measurements (SFTM) including triceps, subscapular, umbilical, flank and thigh skinfolds (Gibson et al. 2016). With the increasing availability of air displacement plethysmography for the assessment of neonatal body composition, Lee and associates have identified that 3-dimensional fractional limb volume is correlated well with calculated neonatal fat mass (Lee et al. 2009). However, despite these promising findings, fractional limb volume measurement using 3-dimensional imaging requires specific training, specialised software and is not routinely used in clinical practice (Gibson et al. 2016).

To date, there is no "gold standard" measure to predict the large for gestational age fetus or an increase in fetal adiposity (Campbell 2014). Further research is required, specifically focusing on women who enter pregnancy overweight or obese, as the fetus of these women remain at high risk of future health complications.

The correlation between fetal and neonatal measures of growth and adiposity among infants born to women who are overweight or obese is unclear, and warrants further investigation

1.10 Gaps in our current knowledge identified from this literature review

- The contribution of specific maternal dietary components to fetal growth and adiposity among women who are overweight or obese is unclear, and warrants further investigation.
- The contribution of specific cardiometabolic measures to fetal growth and adiposity among women who are overweight or obese is unclear, and warrants further investigation.
- The contribution of specific maternal inflammatory markers to fetal growth and adiposity among women who are overweight or obese is unclear, and warrants further investigation.
- The impact of maternal BMI on fetal growth trajectories among infants born to women who are overweight or obese is unclear, and warrants further investigation.
- The correlation between fetal and neonatal measures of growth and adiposity among infants born to women who are overweight or obese is unclear, and warrants further investigation.

1.11 The aims of this research study

The specific aims of this thesis were to conduct exploratory analyses to address the identified research gaps.

The **<u>first aim</u>** of this study was to determine the association between maternal BMI and fetal growth, body composition and growth velocity in a population of overweight and obese women.

The <u>second aim</u> was to evaluate associations between maternal dietary factors and fetal growth and adiposity measured by ultrasound at 28 and 36 weeks gestation in overweight and obese women.

The <u>third aim</u> was to determine if maternal cardiometabolic and inflammatory markers were associated with fetal growth and adiposity measured by ultrasound in women who were overweight or obese in pregnancy at 28 and 36 weeks gestation.

The **<u>fourth aim</u>** was to evaluate the correlation between fetal ultrasound biometry and adiposity measures at 36 weeks gestation and neonatal biometry and adiposity measures, in pregnant women who were overweight or obese.

CHAPTER 2: Methods

The series of studies described in this thesis were conducted as secondary exploratory analyses of data from the LIMIT randomised controlled trial.

2.1 The LIMIT Randomised Trial

The methodology of the LIMIT randomised trial has been reported previously (Dodd et al. 2014a). In brief, women were recruited from 3 metropolitan maternity units in South Australia, following ethical approval. Women were eligible to participate with a singleton pregnancy between 10^{+0} and 20^{+0} weeks gestation, and with BMI greater than or equal to 25kg/m². Women with a diagnosis of Type 1 or Type 2 diabetes prior to pregnancy, or with a multiple pregnancy were excluded.

The sample size for the LIMIT randomised controlled trial was calculated to give sufficient power to detect the primary infant birth outcome of LGA: details are given in the published paper (Dodd et al. 2014a and Dodd et al. 2011c). The analyses conducted in this study were exploratory, with the sample size determined by the available data; power calculations were not performed as there was no predetermined effect size which we aimed to detect, and no primary hypothesis which was tested.

At the time of the first antenatal visit, maternal weight and height were measured by the research assistants or the attending midwife. Early pregnancy measurement of BMI has been demonstrated to correlate with pre-pregnancy BMI (Headen et al., 2017). This approach is

consistent with standard obstetric practice and state wide perinatal practice guidelines (Government of South Australia, 2015, Denison et al., 2018).

Consenting women were then randomised to either the Lifestyle Advice Group or to the Standard Care Group, using a central randomisation service and computer generated randomisation schedule. Stratification variables included parity (0 versus \geq 1), BMI at antenatal booking (overweight versus obese) and hospital of birth.

Women who were randomised to the 'Lifestyle Advice Group' participated in a comprehensive dietary and lifestyle intervention, which included a combination of dietary, exercise and behavioural strategies. The intervention was delivered by a research dietitian and trained research assistants. Further details regarding content of the intervention have been published previously (Dodd et al. 2014a).

Women who were randomised to the Standard Care group received their pregnancy care according to their hospital of birth and local hospital guidelines. This care did not include the routine provision of dietary and lifestyle advice, or information relating to gestational weight gain in pregnancy. The women included in this series of secondary analyses were those randomised to the Standard Care Group.

2.2 Flow of Participants and Baseline Characteristics

The overall flow of participants within the LIMIT randomised controlled trial is outlined in Figure 2.1, detailing the number of women eligible, number of women who participated in the

LIMIT trial, women lost to follow up and the number of women who had 28 and 36 week ultrasound data available. Within each Chapter, individual flowcharts and baseline characteristics are presented.

Figure 2.1: Flow chart of participants included in the secondary analysis from the Standard Care Group of the LIMIT randomised trial



2.3 Ultrasound Assessment

All women who participated in the trial were offered an ultrasound scan at 28 (range 26^{+0} to 29^{+6}) and 36 (range 34^{+0} to 37^{+6}) weeks gestation to obtain biometry and body composition measurements (Grivell et al. 2016).

The estimated date of confinement and gestational age was calculated from an early pregnancy ultrasound and menstrual period dating. All research ultrasounds were performed by medical practitioners with specialist or subspecialist training in obstetric ultrasound. All sonographers were blinded to the treatment allocation, and all measurements and calculations were obtained prospectively. Inter-observer reliability for the fetal adiposity measures was fair to moderate as reported previously (Grivell et al. 2016).

Ultrasounds were performed using the Medison Accuvix V20 Ultrasound System (Samsung Medison Co., Ltd., Seoul, Korea). A C2-61C curved probe was used, with a frequency of range of 2MHz – 6MHz, with a 58 degree field of view with 60mm radius of curvature.

2.2.1 Fetal biometry and estimated fetal weight

Ultrasound assessment included measurements of standard biometry (head circumference, biparietal diameter, abdominal circumference and femur length), measured in accordance with national and international standards of practice (ASUM 2007). Estimated fetal weight was calculated using the Hadlock C formula (Hadlock et al. 1991). Figure 2.2 shows the standardised measurement of fetal biometry as per the ASUM guideline (ASUM 2007). Figure 2.2: Standardised measurement of fetal biometry as per the Practice guidelines for performance of the routine mid-trimester fetal ultrasound (Salomon et al. 2013).



2.2.2 Fetal adiposity measurements

Fetal adiposity measures were obtained in a standardised fashion, as reported previously (Grivell et al. 2016), and included mid-thigh lean mass (MTLM), mid-thigh fat mass (MTFM), abdominal fat mass (AFM), and subscapular fat mass (SSFM).

(i) Mid thigh total, lean and fat mass

Mid thigh lean mass (MTLM) and mid thigh fat mass (MTFM) were measured according to described techniques (Bernstein et al. 1991, Larciprete et al. 2003, Grivell et al. 2016). Mid thigh measurements were calculated by firstly obtaining a sagittal view of the femur. Using a curvilinear transducer, the midpoint of the femur length was 0 degrees to the transducer. The transducer was then rotated through a 90 degree angle to obtain the cross-sectional view of the mid thigh, and a trace of the circumference of the mid thigh total mass (MTTM) was performed and the area calculated. The mid thigh lean mass (MTLM) incorporating muscle and bone was outlined using a continuous trace to calculate the area as shown in Figure 2.3. A subtraction was performed between the MTTM and the MTLM to calculate the mid thigh fat mass (MTFM).

(ii) Abdominal fat mass

Fetal abdominal fat mass or anterior abdominal wall thickness was measured between the midaxillary lines and anterior to the margins of the ribs, at the level of the abdominal circumference, with the subcutaneous fat represented by the echogenic envelope surrounding the abdomen and measured in millimetres as shown in Figure 2.4 (Bernstein et al. 1991, Larciprete et al. 2003, Grivell et al. 2016). Using magnification, 4 measurements of the anterior abdominal wall envelope were undertaken with 2 distally and 2 proximally. The mean of all 4 measurements was calculated and used within the analysis. Figure 2.3 Ultrasound images illustrating fetal mid thigh total and lean mass calculation



Figure 2.4 Ultrasound images illustrating the fetal abdominal fat mass (AFM) calculation



(iii) Subscapular fat mass

Subscapular fat mass was measured using a sagittal view of the fetal trunk to visualise the entire longitudinal section of the scapula and is illustrated in Figure 2.5 (Bernstein et al. 1991, Larciprete et al. 2003, Grivell et al. 2016). The subcutaneous measurement between the skin surface and the subcutaneous tissue at the interface with the super-spinous and infra-spinous muscles was obtained on two occasions, with the mean value used in the analysis.

Figure 2.5 Ultrasound images illustrating the fetal subscapular fat mass (SSFM) calculation



(iv) Fetal z-scores

For each fetal growth and adiposity measurement, z-scores were calculated using ultrasound growth charts in clinical use (Hadlock et al. 1991).

(v) Fetal growth velocity

Fetal growth velocity was defined as the difference in biometry between 36 and 28 week measurements divided by actual time (in days) between measures. The growth velocity measurement was expressed as growth in millimetres per day for BPD, HC, FL, MTFM, AFM, SSFM, grams per day for EFW and z-scores were calculated for BPD, FL, EFW and abdominal area using reference values from Owen and colleagues (Owen et al. 1996). Abdominal area (AA) velocity, expressed as cm², was used instead of Abdominal Circumference (AC) due to the availability of reference values for AA (Owen et al. 1996), not but for AC.

2.2.3 Statistical Analysis

Baseline characteristics of women contributing data to each analysis were assessed descriptively. Continuous variables were reported as mean and standard deviation or median and interquartile range as appropriate, and categorical variables as a number and percentage.

The specific methodologies and statistical analyses are unique to each chapter, and will be described in more detail subsequently. Statistical significance was assessed at the two-sided 0.05 level. Because the analyses are exploratory, no adjustment has been made for multiple comparisons. Analyses were performed using SAS 9.4 (Cary, NC, USA) and Stata version 14 (Stata corporation, Texas, USA).

CHAPTER 3: The effect of maternal overweight and obesity on fetal biometry, body composition and growth velocity

This chapter forms the basis of a manuscript that has been recently published (O'Brien CM et al The Journal of Maternal Fetal and Neonatal Medicine), which is contained in Appendix 2.

3.1 Introduction

With advances in ultrasound technology there has been growing interest in the identification of the fetus at risk of overgrowth and increased adiposity, utilising both standard ultrasound biometry and fetal body composition measurements. While several studies have evaluated a range of ultrasound derived fetal body composition measures (O'Connor et al. 2014, Walsh et al. 2015, Gibson et al. 2016), they have been somewhat limited by their relatively small sample sizes and having been performed mostly in women with a normal BMI (Larciprete et al. 2003, Parretti et al. 2003) or diabetes (Kehl et al. 1996, Bethune et al. 2003, Kernaghan et al. 2007). The generalisability of these measures in other populations, particularly among women who are overweight or obese, is unclear and further evaluation is required.

3.2 Aims

The aim of this study was to determine the association between maternal BMI and fetal growth, body composition and growth velocity in a population of overweight and obese pregnant women.

3.3 Methods

The research methodology (Dodd et al. 2011, Dodd et al. 2014a, Dodd et al. 2014c) of the LIMIT randomised controlled trial have been outlined in Chapter 2. As previously described, all women who participated in the trial were offered a research ultrasound scan at 28 (range 26^{+0} to 29^{+6}) and 36 (range 34^{+0} to 37^{+6}) weeks gestation to obtain fetal biometry and body composition measurements (Grivell et al. 2016), with fetal biometry, EFW and body composition obtained in accordance with international standards of practice.

3.3.1 Statistical analysis

Maternal BMI was included as a categorical variable with the following categories: overweight (BMI 25.0 - 29.9 kg/m²), Class 1 obesity (BMI 30.0 - 34.9 kg/m²), Class 2 obesity (BMI 35.0 - 39.9 kg/m²) and Class 3 obesity (BMI \ge 40 kg/m²) (Modder et al. 2010, ACOG 2015).

For analysis, BMI 25.0 – 29.9 kg/m² was used as the reference category with the estimates made of the difference in mean fetal growth for each higher BMI category compared with BMI $25.0 - 29.9 \text{ kg/m}^2$.

Fetal biometry and adiposity outcomes were analysed using linear regression models with adjustment for confounders including centre, parity, maternal age, smoking and socioeconomic status using the SEIFA Index of Relative Socio-Economic Disadvantage (IRSD) quintile. A time-by-BMI-category interaction term was included in the model to test whether the effect of maternal BMI differed over time. Generalised Estimating Equations (GEE) were used to account for repeated measures. Additional sensitivity analyses were also performed using BMI as a continuous measure, results are not reported here.

3.4 Results

3.4.1 Demographic characteristics

Flow of participants and baseline characteristics are presented in Figure 3.1 and Table 3.1 respectively. A total of 911 women from the Standard Care group had ultrasound information at one or more time points, with 777 having ultrasound data at both 28 and 36 weeks. Of the 911 women included in the secondary analysis, 41% (n = 376) were overweight, 29.8% (n = 271) had Class 1 Obesity, 16.8% (n=153) had Class 2 Obesity and 12.2% (n = 111) had Class 3 Obesity (Table 3.1). The mean age of women was 29.6 years, the majority (92%; n = 835) were of Caucasian ethnicity, with 40% (n = 369) in their first ongoing pregnancy, and almost 30% (n = 265) from the highest quintile of social disadvantage. The overall rate of gestational diabetes in the Standard Care group was 11.2% (n=102). Sixty-six women (7.2%) had data only for 28 weeks, and 68 women (7.5%) had data only at 36 weeks gestation (Table 3.1). These baseline characteristics are consistent with the baseline characteristics of the entire LIMIT Trial randomised cohort (Dodd et al. 2014a).

Figure 3.1: Flow chart of the participants included in analysis of effect of maternal BMI on fetal measures



 Table 3.1 – Baseline and post-randomisation characteristics of participants included in

 analysis of the effect of maternal BMI on fetal measures

	Bod	ly Mass Index	category (kg/n	n^2)	Overall
	Overweight 25.0-29.9	Class 1 30.0-34.9	Class 2 35.0-39.9	Class 3 ≥ 40.0	N (%)
Total number N (%)	376 (41.3)	271 (29.8)	153 (16.8)	111 (12.2)	911
Maternal Age at trial entry (years) Mean (SD)	29.9 (5.25)	29.6 (5.69)	29.2 (5.40)	28.9 (5.97)	29.6 (5.50)
Gestational Age at trial entry (weeks) Mean (SD)	14.68 (3.10)	14.55 (2.97)	14.47 (2.97)	14.52 (3.08)	14.59 (3.03)
Caucasian n (%)	340 (90.4)	248 (91.5)	141 (92.2)	106 (95.5)	835 (91.7)
Nulliparous n (%)	168 (44.68)	108 (39.85)	50 (32.68)	43 (38.74)	369 (40.50)
Smoker n (%)	38 (10.11)	35 (12.92)	14 (9.15)	14 (12.61)	101 (11.09)
Gestational Diabetes n (%)	26 (6.91)	37 (13.65)	19 (12.42)	20 (18.02)	102 (11.20)
SEIFA IRSD (Q	uintile)				
Quintile 1 Most disadvantaged n (%)	94 (25.00)	83 (30.63)	48 (31.37)	40 (36.04)	265 (29.09)
Quintile 2 n (%)	87 (23.14)	63 (23.25)	37 (13.65)	40 (14.76)	48 (17.71)
Quintile 3 n (%)	59 (15.69)	37 (13.65)	29 (18.95)	18 (16.22)	143 (15.70)
Quintile 4 n (%)	70 (18.62)	40 (14.76)	20 (13.07)	12 (10.81)	142 (15.59)
Quintile 5 Least disadvantaged n (%)	66 (17.55)	48 (17.71)	14 (9.15)	11 (9.91)	139 (15.26)

3.4.2 Maternal BMI and the relationship with fetal biometry and estimated fetal weight z-scores

Neither maternal obesity Class 1 or Class 2 were associated with fetal BPD, HC, or FL z-scores at either 28 or 36 weeks gestation, when compared with fetal biometry measures from women who were overweight (Table 3.2). However, the fetuses of women with obesity Class 3 demonstrated significantly higher z-scores for BPD compared with the fetuses of women who were overweight: the estimated mean difference was 0.36 (95% CI: 0.06, 0.65) at 28 weeks (p=0.017), and 0.39 (95% CI: 0.15, 0.63) at 36 weeks (p=0.002). Similarly, HC z-scores were higher by 0.47 (95% CI: 0.26, 0.68) at 28 weeks and 0.51 (95% CI: 0.32, 0.71) at 36 weeks (p<0.001 for both time points), while FL z-scores were higher by 0.36 (95% CI: 0.13, 0.58) at 28 weeks (p=0.002) and by 0.27 (95% CI: 0.02, 0.52) at 36 weeks (p=0.035).

For both AC and EFW z-scores, there was a consistent pattern of higher measures with increasing maternal BMI at both time points (Table 3.3). The mean fetal AC z-scores at both 28 and 36 weeks were significantly higher in women with Class 1 obesity, with the magnitude of the increase being higher for Class 2 and Class 3 obesity categories in comparison to women in the overweight group. Women with Class 1 obesity had AC z-scores 0.18 (95% CI: 0.02, 0.33, p=0.028) higher at 28 weeks, and 0.21 (95% CI: 0.04, 0.38, p=0.017) higher at 36 weeks. Women with Class 2 obesity had AC z-scores 0.20 (95% CI: 0.01, 0.38; p=0.04) higher at 28 weeks, and 0.24 (95% CI: 0.05, 0.43, p=0.013) higher at 36 weeks. For the women with Class 3 obesity, the increase in AC z-score was 0.40 (95% CI: 0.17, 0.63, p=0.013) at 28 weeks, and 0.39 (95% CI: 0.15, 0.63, p=0.001) at 36 weeks compared to the overweight group. Women with Class 1 obesity had EFW z-scores 0.18 (95% CI: 0.04, 0.33, p=0.014) higher at 28 weeks, and

0.17 (95% CI: 0.008, 0.32, p=0.04) higher at 36 weeks. For the women with Class 3 obesity, the increase in EFW z-score was 0.46 (95% CI: 0.23, 0.69, p<0.001) at 28 weeks, and 0.42 (95% CI: 0.19, 0.64, p<0.001) at 36 weeks compared to the overweight group.

There was no evidence that the observed associations between maternal BMI and fetal growth measurements changed over time, with the interaction p values non-significant for all outcomes.

Figure 3.2: Relationship between maternal BMI and fetal abdominal circumference at 28 weeks (blue) and 36 weeks (red) gestation



3.4.3 Maternal BMI and fetal adiposity measurements

Table 3.3 presents results of analyses for the effect of maternal BMI category on fetal adiposity measures. There were no significant differences between BMI categories in relation to mid-thigh fat mass (MTFM).

For abdominal area (AA), there were no significant differences for Class 2 obesity; however there were significant differences for Class 1 and Class 3 obesity when compared to women who were overweight. Compared to overweight women, the mean abdominal area was 1.80cm^2 (95% CI: 0.13, 3.46, p = 0.035) higher at 36 weeks gestation in the fetuses of women with Class 1 obesity. Similarly, the mean abdominal area was higher by 2.19cm^2 at 28 weeks (95% CI: 0.31, 4.08, p = 0.02) and 3.42cm^2 at 36 weeks (95% CI: 1.09, 5.74, p = 0.004) in the fetuses of women with Class 3 obesity.

For abdominal fat mass (AFM), there were no significant differences in the fetuses of women with Class 1 or Class 2 obesity, when compared to those of women who were overweight. However, in the fetuses of women with Class 3 obesity abdominal fat mass was higher by 0.61 mm (95% CI: 0.08, 1.14, p=0.03) at 36 weeks compared with those of overweight women.

For subscapular fat mass (SSFM), there were no significant differences in the fetuses of women with Class 2 or Class 3 obesity, compared to women who were overweight. However, in the fetuses of women with Class 3 obesity, subscapular fat mass was
reduced by 0.2 mm (-0.37, -0.04, p=0.016) at 28 weeks compared to fetuses of overweight women.

There was no evidence that the effect maternal BMI category differed over time for any of the adiposity measurements.

3.4.4 The effect of maternal BMI on fetal growth velocity

There were no significant differences between the maternal BMI categories in relation to MTFM velocity, AFM velocity, or SSFM velocity. For EFW and AA velocity, there were no significant differences for women with Class 1 and Class 2 obesity; however there were significant differences between the Class 3 obesity and overweight categories. The mean EFW velocity was 2.03 grams per day (0.86, 3.2, p<0.001) higher in women with Class 3 obesity compared to overweight women. EFW velocity z-score was also higher by 0.44 (95% CI: 1.2, 0.69, p<0.001). Similarly, AA velocity was higher by 0.035 cm²/day (95% CI: 0.004, 0.066, p=0.029), and the AA velocity z-score was higher by 0.24 (95% CI: 0.02, 0.45, p=0.03).

In sensitivity analyses utilising BMI as a continuous variable, results were consistent with the findings reported above.

Figure 3.3 – Estimated change in fetal weight by maternal BMI category



		AC			HC			BPD	z-scores		
36 weeks	28 weeks	0.946^ 28 weeks	36 weeks	28 weeks	0.387^	36 weeks	28 weeks	0.372^	Gestation		
0.32 (1.05)	0.34 (0.94)	0.34	0.53 (0.83)	0.73 (0.93)		0.09 (1.20)	0.62 (1.48)		Mean (SD)	Ove 25-29	
Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref		Ref	Ref		Adjusted Estimate (95% CI)	rweight).9 kg/m ²	
0.54 (1.09)	0.51 (1.0)	0.51	0.63 (0.95)	0.68 (1.01)		0.13 (1.23)	0.57 (1.48)		Mean (SD)		
0.210 (0.038, 0.381)	0.175 (0.019, 0.331)	0.175	0.101 (-0.042, 0.245)	-0.44 (-0.202, 0.114)		0.013 (-0.184, 0.21)	-0.084 (-0.321, 0.152)		Adjusted Estimate (95% CI)	Class 1 Obesity 30-34.9 kg/m ²	
0.017	0.028	0.028	0.165	0.586		0.895	0.484		P value		Body M
0.54 (0.97)	0.52 (0.98)	0.52	0.56 (0.88)	0.69 (0.91)		0.18 (1.02)	0.50 (1.42)		Mean (SD)		ass Index
0.241 (0.051, 0.431)	0.196 (0.009, 0.383)	0.196	0.0480 (-0.126, 0.221)	-0.009 (-0.191, 0.173)		0.080 (-0.14, 0.30)	-0.133 (-0.414, 0.148)		Adjusted Estimate (95% CI)	Class 2 Obesity 35-39.9 kg/m ²	Category
0.013	0.040	0.040	0.589	0.924		0.477	0.353		P value		
0.68 (1.19)	0.72 (1.08)	0.72	0.99 (0.93)	1.12 (0.99)		0.45 (1.11)	0.95 (1.32)		Mean (SD)		
0.390 (0.154, 0.626)	0.399 (0.168, 0.631)	0.399	0.513 (0.318, 0.708)	0.470 (0.257, 0.683)		0.389 (0.145, 0.632)	0.356 (0.064, 0.649)		Adjusted Estimate (95% CI)	Class 3 Obesity ≥40.0 kg/m ²	
0.001	0.013	0.013	< 0.001	< 0.001		0.002	0.017		P value		

Table 3.2 – Maternal body mass index (BMI) category and fetal biometry z-scores at 28 and 36 weeks

		EFW			FL
36 weeks	28 weeks	0.776^	36 weeks	28 weeks	0.270^
0.17 (0.96)	0.12 (0.87)		0.09 (1.06)	0.18 (0.97)	
Ref	Ref		Ref	Ref	
0.35 (1.01)	0.29 (0.93)		0.15 (1.01)	0.25 (0.98)	
0.165 (0.008, 0.322)	0.182 (0.036, 0.327)		0.064 (-0.102, 0.229)	0.066 (-0.093, 0.225)	
0.04	0.014		0.450	0.413	
0.33 (0.87)	0.20 (0.90)		0.20 (1.07)	0.06 (1.06)	
0.169 (-0.001, 0.339)	0.107 (-0.063, 0.278)		0.072 (-0.129, 0.272)	-0.120 (-0.319, 0.079)	
0.051	0.216		0.484	0.236	
0.55 (1.11)	0.54 (1.07)		0.33 (1.22)	0.51 (1.00)	
0.416 (0.194, 0.638)	0.460 (0.233, 0.686)		0.271 (0.019, 0.522)	0.355 (0.132, 0.578)	
< 0.001	< 0.001		0.004	0.002	

Notes: This table shows the results of analysis of the effect maternal BMI category and fetal biometry z-scores measured at 28 and 36 weeks gestation. For each BMI category, the mean and standard deviation is presented for each time point. Estimates are differences in means (95% CI) for each BMI category compared to the lowest BMI category (25.0-29.9). All models were adjusted for centre, parity, SEIFA IRSD quintile, smoking status and age at consent.

	Gestation	Ove 25-29 Mean (SD)	rweight).9 kg/m ² Adjusted Estimate	Mean (SD)	Class 1 Obesity 30-34.9 kg/m ² Adjusted Estimate	Body N P value	1ass Inde Mean (SD)	x Category Class 2 Obesity 35-39,9 kg/m ² Adjusted Estimate	P value	Mean (SD)	
/lid thigh	0.636^										
fat mass (cm ²) (MTFM)	28 weeks	4.50 (1.27)	Ref	4.56 (1.20)	0.009 (-0.231, 0.250)	0.94	4.48 (1.11)	-0.051 (-0.343, 0.242)	0.73	4	4 4.76 (1.43)
	36 weeks	11.17 (2.88)	Ref	11.30 (2.88)	0.08 (-0.519, 0.678)	0.794	10.99 (2.57)	-0.166 (-0.872, 0.539)	0.64	4	4 12.16 (3.25)
Abdominal	0.293^										
area (cm²) (AA)	28 weeks	47.56 (6.70)	Ref	47.77 (5.93)	0.269 (-0.759, 1.296)	0.608	48.64 (7.12)	1.236 (-0.134, 2.605)	0.07	71	77 49.72 (8.82)
	36 weeks	84.19 (10.40)	Ref	85.78 (10.47)	1.795 (0.13, 3.46)	0.035	85.91 (9.95)	1.773 (-0.190, 3.735)	0.07	77	77 87.12 (11.34)
	0.724^										

Table 3.3 – Maternal BMI category and fetal adiposity measurements at 28 and 36 weeks

	fat mass (mm) (SSFM)	Subscapular	(AFM)		fat mass	Abdominal
36 weeks	28 weeks	0.226^		36 weeks		28 weeks
5.31 (1.38)	3.25 (0.94)		(1.58)	5.60	(1.04)	3.46
Ref	Ref			Ref		Ref
5.48 (1.49)	3.05 (0.80)		(1.56)	5.82	(1.06)	3.56
0.136 (-0.161, 0.433)	-0.201 (-0.365,-0.037)		(-0.122, 0.494)	0.186	(-0.135, 0.255)	0.060
0.369	0.016			0.237		0.544
5.35 (1.29)	3.19 (0.88)		(1.56)	5.64	(0.89)	3.49
0.046 (-0.290, 0.362)	-0.079 (-0.295, 0.138)		(-0.388, 0.367)	-0.011	(-0.201, 0.256)	0.028
0.828	0.477			0.956		0.813
5.52 (1.53)	3.29 (0.93)		(0.567)	6.20	(1.18)	3.80
0.235 (-0.252, 0.723)	0.060 (-0.219, 0.338)		(0.078, 1.134)	0.606	(0.00, 0.702)	0.351
0.344	0.675			0.025		0.05

Notes: This table shows the results of analyses of the effect of maternal BMI category on fetal adiposity measurements. Each biometry measurement is described across the three BMI categories for both time points. For each BMI category, the mean and standard deviation is presented for each time point. Estimates are differences in means (95% CI) for each BMI category compared to the lowest BMI category (25.0-29.9). All models were adjusted for centre, parity, SEIFA IRSD quintile, smoking status and age at consent.

^ Interaction p values for BMI category by time point interaction. Ref = Reference category

						Body Ma	tss Index	Category				
		Ove 25-2	erweight 9.9 kg/m ²		Class 1 Obesity 30-34.9 kg/m ²			Class 2 Obesity 35-39.9 kg/m ²		C	lass 3 Obesity ≥40.0 kg/m ²	
Velocity	Interaction P value	Mean (SD)	Adjusted Estimate (95% CI)	Mean (SD)	Adjusted Estimate (95% CI)	P value	Mean (SD)	Adjusted Estimate (95% CI)	P value	Mean (SD)	Adjusted Estimate (95% CI)	P value
Estimated fetal weight (EFW)	0.005	29.46 (4.99)	Ref	29.61 (5.39)	0.153 (-0.705, 1.011)	0.727	30.37 (4.55)	0.765 (-0.291, 1.820)	0.156	31.21 (5.62)	2.028 (0.861, 3.196)	< 0.001
Mid thigh fat mass (MTFM)	0.292	0.12 (0.05)	Ref	0.12 (0.05)	-0.002 (-0.13, 0.010)	0.765	0.12 (0.05)	0.009 (-0.006, 0.024)	0.238	0.13 (0.05)	0.017 (-0.007, 0.042)	0.163
Abdominal area (cm ²) (AA)	0.145	0.68 (0.13)	Ref	0.68 (0.13)	0.009 (-0.014, 0.032)	0.425	0.70 (0.13)	0.019 (-0.009, 0.048)	0.175	0.70 (0.16)	0.035 (0.004, 0.066)	0.029
Abdominal fat mass (AFM)	0.762	0.04 (0.03)	Ref	0.04 (0.03)	0.003 (-0.003, 0.009)	0.317	0.04 (0.03)	0.002 (-0.006, 0.010)	0.580	0.04 (0.03)	0.00 (-0.013, 0.012)	0.948
Subscapular fat mass (SSFM)	0.238	0.04 (0.03)	Ref	0.04 (0.03)	0.005 (-0.001, 0.011)	0.106	0.04 (0.03)	0.006 (-0.002, 0.014)	0.12	0.04 (0.02)	-0.001 (-0.012, 0.011)	0.876

Table 3.4 – Maternal BMI category and fetal growth velocity between 28 and 36 weeks

-score	τFW	-score	elocity	1A
0.003			0.165	
(1.06)	0.60		(0.93)	0.51
	Ref			Ref
(1.12)	0.62		(0.91)	0.54
(-0.165, 0.196)	0.016		(-0.112, 0.203)	0.0045
	0.865			0.574
(0.94)	0.78		(0.85)	0.62
(-0.07, 0.375)	0.152		(-0.082, 0.306)	0.112
	0.179			0.259
(1.19)	0.99		(1.06)	0.67
(0.196, 0.687)	0.441		(0.022, 0.453)	0.238
	< 0.001			0.03

Notes: This table summarises the results of analysis of the effect of maternal BMI categories on growth velocity for EFW, MTFM, AA, AFM, SSFM and EFW velocity z-scores. Each measurement is described across the three BMI categories for both time points. Values are mean (standard deviation) for maternal BMI categories, and estimates are differences in means (95% CI) for each BMI category compared to the lowest category (BMI 25.0-29.9) and were adjusted for centre, parity, SEIFA IRSD quintile, smoking status and age at consent. Ref = References

3.5 Discussion

This study describes fetal growth patterns and growth velocity over time in women who are overweight or obese and identifies an association between higher maternal BMI category and an increase in fetal biometry z-scores, abdominal related adiposity and growth velocity. A consistent and significant increase in all fetal biometry measurements was evident at both 28 and 36 weeks gestation from women with Class 3 obesity (BMI greater than or equal to 40kg/m^2). Fetal adiposity measurements were not universally increased but abdominal fat mass and abdominal area were associated with maternal obesity in this cohort. With increasing maternal BMI category, there were incremental increases in growth velocity of the fetal abdomen and estimated fetal weight. This study was a secondary analysis and while other associations were identified, these were inconsistent and likely due to chance.

Much of the literature pertaining to ultrasound measured fetal growth patterns relates to women with pre-existing diabetes (Kehl et al. 1996) and gestational diabetes (Bethune et al. 2003, Larciprete et al. 2003, Parretti et al. 2003, Kernaghan et al. 2007). Maternal diabetes has been shown to increase fetal abdominal circumference and abdominal fat mass through the stimulation of insulin sensitive tissues (Kehl et al. 1996).

In contrast, maternal obesity appears to be associated with an overall increase in fetal lean mass and skeletal growth. This study has confirmed that a significant increase in skeletal growth (head circumference and femur length) and abdominal area velocity and fat mass among women with Class 3 obesity compared with the lesser BMI categories. This is confirmed by a recent study in women classified as obese and nonobese in pregnancy, which also found an increase in fetal skeletal growth, with significant increases in head circumference, humeral and femur lengths in fetuses of obese women (Zhang et al. 2018). The difference in EFW comparing women who were non-obese to obese was apparent from 32 weeks (Zhang et al. 2018).

Women with Class 3 obesity (BMI greater than or equal to 40kg/m²) are likely to represent a metabolically different group. From epidemiological studies, higher maternal BMI category is associated with a further increase in the rate of adverse perinatal outcomes including macrosomia (Cedergren 2004, Dodd et al. 2011, Magann et al. 2013, Gaudet et al. 2014) and there is emerging evidence of an association with childhood obesity (Whitaker 2004, Yu et al. 2013, World Health Organization 2016). The stimulation of fetal growth through the complex pathway including insulin growth factors (via hyperglycaemia and hyperinsulinaemia) (Ferraro et al. 2012), hyperlipidaemia (Schaefer-Graf et al. 2008), leptin (Josefson et al. 2014), adiponectin (Catalano et al. 2006), and inflammatory mediators (Friis et al. 2013) is likely to be accentuated in women of higher BMI. Thus, targeted interventions for women with the highest BMI may be more beneficial in reducing the fetal effects of obesity when compared with women of lower BMI.

This is the first study to report on velocity of fetal growth and adiposity in the setting of maternal overweight and obesity. The literature to date has used measurement of growth velocity as a tool for screening and identification of the small for gestational age infant (Sovio et al. 2016) or for screening for macrosomia associated with preexisting or gestational diabetes (Landon et al. 1989, Kehl et al. 1996, Hiersch et al. 2018). The velocity of fetal growth changes throughout gestation (Bertino et al. 1996, Milani et al. 2005). Of interest, growth in the abdominal circumference peaks at 12.5mm per week at 24 weeks gestation, reducing to 8mm per week by 40 weeks gestation (Bertino et al. 1996). The current study demonstrates an incremental increase in the rate of growth in the 3rd trimester associated with maternal obesity. Further understanding of the timing and regulation of the fetal growth velocity in the setting of maternal obesity is critical to developing successful interventions to improve perinatal outcomes.

The main limitation of this secondary analysis is the lack of a comparator group, defined as women entering pregnancy with a normal BMI. There was also missing data in the velocity comparisons due to the availability of the 2 scans to calculate the growth velocity over time, affecting 15% of women within the cohort. Thirdly, the study incorporated only two time points to assess velocity in the 3rd trimester. Other descriptive studies for growth velocity have used multiple time points from 12 to 40 weeks gestation in order to describe the variation in velocity throughout the entire pregnancy (Bertino et al. 1996, Milani et al. 2005).

There is a need for further studies into the mechanisms and timing of critical fetal growth changes. This would help guide and assist with the timing of potential interventions that may modulate fetal growth in utero. From a public health perspective, if preventive strategies could modify fetal growth, velocity and adiposity patterns in utero, this may alter the transmission of obesity and its cardiometabolic complications to the next generation (Hanson et al. 2016, Godfery et al. 2017).

3.6 Conclusion

This study indicates that maternal Class 3 obesity is associated with an increase in

- All fetal biometry z-scores at both 28 and 36 weeks gestation and
- Fetal abdominal fat mass and abdominal area.

An increase in maternal BMI category is associated with

• Incremental increases in growth velocity of the fetal abdomen and estimated fetal weight.

CHAPTER 4: The effect of maternal dietary factors on fetal growth and adiposity

This chapter forms the basis of a published manuscript (O'Brien CM et al, *Nutrients* 2018), which is contained in Appendix 3.

4.1 Introduction

Maternal dietary intake is recognised as a factor contributing to fetal growth (Starling et al. 2017). In women who are overweight or obese during pregnancy, poorer diet quality has been identified when compared with women with BMI in the normal range (Laraia et al. 2007, Rifas-Shiman et al. 2009, Tsigga et al. 2011, Moran et al. 2013) and this in turn is associated with an increased risk of glucose intolerance and pre-eclampsia (Rifas-Shiman et al. 2009), increased neonatal adiposity (Shapiro et al. 2016) and changes in child body composition (Catalano et al. 2017). It has been suggested that among women with normal BMI, maternal protein, fatty acid and carbohydrate intake during pregnancy are associated with increased measures of fetal adiposity (Blumfield et al. 2012). The contribution of specific maternal dietary components to fetal growth and adiposity among women who are overweight or obese is uncertain, and warrants further investigation.

4.2 Aims

The aim of this study was to evaluate the associations between maternal dietary factors and fetal growth and adiposity measured by ultrasound at 28 and 36 weeks gestation in overweight and obese women.

4.3 Methods

The research methodology (Dodd et al. 2011, Dodd et al. 2014a, Dodd et al. 2014c) of the LIMIT randomised controlled trial have been outlined in chapter 2, as has the methodology relating to ultrasound assessment of fetal biometry and adiposity measures.

4.3.1 Maternal Dietary Assessment

Women completed the Harvard Semi-quantitative Food Frequency (Willett) questionnaire, (Willett 1987) to obtain a measure of their daily dietary intake of nutrients from 126 food items, including portion size and incorporation within the main 7 food groups, which has been validated in pregnancy (Fawzi et al. 2004) and amongst Australian pregnant women (Rumbold et al. 2006). The questionnaire was completed at the time of study entry, 28 and 36 weeks gestation. At study entry women were asked, on average, how often the food was consumed during the last 12 months, while assessment at 28 and 36 weeks gestation asked women to indicate, on average, how often the food was consumed since the previous questionnaire time point.

Daily nutrient intake was estimated using the nutrient compositions from the Australian food composition tables according to pre-specified portion size (FSANZ, 2013). Adherence to dietary recommendations was assessed by allocating all food and drink consumption into the food groups as described by the Australian Guide to Healthy Eating (NHMRC 2013). Foods were classified as 'non-core foods' if the food did not meet the criteria of the five core food groups, provided minimal nutrient content, and was high in fat, sugar or salt (Athukorala et al. 2010, NHMRC 2013).

Micronutrient values were obtained from the Harvard Semi-quantitative Food Frequency (Willett) questionnaire (Willett 1987) and analysed as mean intake, utilising the Food Works Nutrient Analysis Software Package (FoodWorks, version 7, Professional; Xyris Software 2012; Australia), and using Australian Food composition tables.

Diet quality was assessed using the Healthy Eating Index (HEI), which has 12 components to yield a maximum score of 100 (Guenther et al. 2008). These 12 components include total fruit, total vegetables, dark green and orange vegetables and legumes, total grains and whole grains, all of which receive a score out of 5. Milk, meat and beans, oils, saturated fat and sodium based foods were scored out of 10. Calories from solid fats, alcohol related beverages and added sugars were scored out of 20. A HEI score of 80 is considered good, a score between 50 and 80 is one that needs improvement, and scores of less than 50 are considered poor. The HEI has been validated for use in pregnant women (Pick et al. 2005).

Dietary glycaemic index (GI) values were obtained using data taken from the Harvard Semi-quantitative Food Frequency (Willett) questionnaire (Willett 1987) and analysed using the Food Works Nutrient Analysis Software Package (FoodWorks, version 7, Professional; Xyris Software 2012; Australia), and along with published dietary glycaemic index values.

4.3.2 Statistical Analysis

Linear regression was used to model the association between dietary factors and fetal growth and adiposity, with diet variables considered as 'predictors' (independent variables) and fetal growth and adiposity variables as 'outcomes' (dependent variables). A time-by-diet-variable interaction term was included to allow for estimation of the association at each time point separately, and to test whether the association differed between time points. Generalised Estimating Equations were used to account for repeated measures. Both unadjusted and adjusted analyses were performed. Adjusted analyses included maternal BMI category (25.0-29.9kg/m² vs \geq 30.0kg/m²), smoking, parity (0 versus \geq 1), age and SEIFA of Relative Socio-Economic Disadvantage (IRSD) quintile, which is a rank of areas within Australia according to relative socio-economic disadvantage. All analyses were additionally adjusted for baseline diet variables, as a potential confounder.

4.4 Results

4.4.1 Demographic characteristics

Flow of participants and baseline characteristics are presented in Figure 4.1 and Table 4.1 respectively. There were 721 women included in this secondary analysis. The mean age of women participating was 29.9 years (standard deviation 5.3), with median

gestation at study entry 14.3 weeks (interquartile range from 12.1 to 17.0 weeks). Most women (91%; n=659) were of Caucasian ethnicity, 41.3% (n=298) in their first ongoing pregnancy, and 52% (n=373) from the highest two quintiles of social disadvantage. The baseline characteristics of the women contributing dietary and ultrasound data were comparable to all women in the Standard Care group, and all women included in the LIMIT randomised trial (Dodd et al. 2014a).

Figure 4.1: Flow chart of the participants included in the secondary analysis with maternal dietary assessment



Table 4.1 – Baseline characteristics of participants included in the analysis of the effect of maternal diet on fetal growth and adiposity

Baseline Characteristic	Result
Total Number: N (%)	721
Maternal Age at Trial Entry	29.88
Mean (SD)	(5.33)
Gestational age at Trial Entry	14.29
(weeks)	(12.14, 17.00)
Median (IQR)	
BMI (kg/m ²)	31.00
Median (IQR)	(27.70, 35.20)
BMI Category: 25.0-29.9 kg/m ²	310 (43.00)
30.0-34.9 kg/m ²	219 (30.37)
35.0-39.9 kg/m ²	116 (16.09)
\geq 40.0 kg/m ²	76 (10.54)
Caucasian: n (%)	659 (91.40)
Nulliparous: n (%)	298 (41.33)
Smoker: n (%)	67 (9.29)
SEIFA IRSD Quintile: n (%)	
Most disadvantaged Quintile 1	199 (27.60)
Quintile 2	174 (24.13)
Quintile 3	117 (16.23)
Quintile 4	116 (16.09)
Least disadvantaged Quintile 5	115 (15.95)

4.4.2 Healthy Eating Index (HEI)

There were no consistent associations between HEI and fetal biometry, MTFM, MTLM or AFM (Table 4.2). There was a negative association between HEI and SSFM at 28 weeks, whereby a 10-unit increase in HEI reduced SSFM by 0.17mm (95% CI -0.32 to -0.03; p=0.021).

4.4.3 Log Total Energy

Total Energy was log-transformed for analysis due to substantial right skew. There were no associations between log total energy and AC, EFW, all fetal biometry z-scores, MTFM, AFM or SSFM (Table 4.3). There was a negative association with log total energy and biometry measurements of BPD and HC at 36 weeks, such that a 10 unit increase in log total energy reduced BPD by 1.48 mm (95% CI: -2.55mm, -0.40mm; p=0.007) and HC by 4.07mm (95% CI: -7.6mm, -0.54mm; p=0.024).

At 28 and 36 weeks gestation, there were negative associations between log total energy and MTLM, such that a 10-unit increase in log total energy reduced MTLM by 4.94mm (95% CI: -9.57mm, -0.32mm; p =0.036) at 28 weeks; and by 7.02mm (95% CI: -13.69mm, -0.35mm; p=0.039) at 36 weeks.

4.4.4 Glycaemic Index

There were no associations between maternal Glycaemic Index and fetal biometry including HC, FL, AC and EFW, related z-scores and adiposity measures (Table 4.4). A negative association was identified between Glycaemic Index and fetal BPD and its z-score, such that a 10-unit increase in Glycaemic Index reduced BPD by 0.11 mm

(95% CI: -0.21mm, -0.01mm; p=0.035), and BPD z-score by 0.35 (95% CI: -0.69, -0.01; p=0.045) at 28 weeks.

4.4.5 Glycaemic Load

There were no consistent associations between dietary glycaemic load and fetal biometry, z-scores or adiposity measures at either 28 or 36 weeks (Table 4.5).

4.4.6 Fat, carbohydrate and protein as a percent of total energy

There were no associations identified between fat (Table 4.6), carbohydrate (Table 4.7) or protein (Table 4.8) as a percentage of total energy and fetal ultrasound measurements.

Outcome	Unadjusted Estimate (95% CI)	Unadj p value	Adjusted Estimate (95% CI)	Adjusted p value
BPD		0.992†		0.968†
28 weeks	-0.03 (-0.08, 0.02)	0.239	-0.03 (-0.08, 0.02)	0.221
36 weeks	-0.03 (-0.08, 0.02)	0.235	-0.03 (-0.08, 0.02)	0.234
BPD z-score		0.728†		0.645†
28 weeks	-0.13 (-0.29, 0.04)	0.128	-0.13 (-0.30, 0.03)	0.117
36 weeks	-0.10 (-0.24, 0.04)	0.166	-0.09 (-0.24, 0.05)	0.194
НС		0.060†		0.064†
28 weeks	-0.06 (-0.22, 0.09)	0.425	-0.08 (-0.24, 0.08)	0.305
36 weeks	0.10 (-0.05, 0.09)	0.194	0.08 (-0.08, 0.24)	0.313
HC z-score		0.026†		0.025†
28 weeks	-0.06 (-0.17, 0.05)	0.317	-0.07 (-0.18, 0.04)	0.210
36 weeks	0.08 (-0.03, 0.05)	0.161	0.07 (-0.05, 0.18)	0.247
FL		0.168†		0.211†
28 weeks	-0.02 (-0.06, 0.02)	0.283	-0.02 (-0.06, 0.02)	0.232
36 weeks	0.01 (-0.03, 0.02)	0.646	0.00 (-0.03, 0.04)	0.855
FL z-score		0.097†		0.116†
28 weeks	-0.09 (-0.20, 0.03)	0.154	-0.09 (-0.21, 0.03)	0.131
36 weeks	0.02 (-0.09, 0.03)	0.678	0.01 (-0.10, 0.13)	0.817
AC		0.927†		0.976†
28 weeks	-0.07 (-0.28, 0.13)	0.484	-0.13 (-0.33, 0.07)	0.210
36 weeks	-0.06 (-0.32, 0.13)	0.637	-0.13 (-0.38, 0.13)	0.338
AC z-score		0.712†		0.691†
28 weeks	-0.03 (-0.14, 0.09)	0.660	-0.06 (-0.18, 0.05)	0.264
36 weeks	-0.05 (-0.18, 0.09)	0.471	-0.09 (-0.22, 0.04)	0.193
EFW		0.512†		0.562†
28 weeks	-22.42 (-52.33, 7.48)	0.142	-30.24 (-60.55, 0.07)	0.051
36 weeks	-6.80 (-58.91, 7.48)	0.798	-16.24 (-68.74, 36.27)	0.544

Table 4.2: Healthy Eating Index and fetal ultrasound measurements

EFW z-score		0.344†		0.366†
28 weeks	-0.08 (-0.18, 0.03)	0.170	-0.10 (-0.21, 0.01)	0.063
36 weeks	-0.02 (-0.14, 0.03)	0.723	-0.05 (-0.17, 0.07)	0.415
MTLM		0.742†		0.891†
28 weeks	-0.07 (-0.25, 0.10)	0.417	-0.08 (-0.26, 0.09)	0.361
36 weeks	-0.12 (-0.36, 0.10)	0.341	-0.10 (-0.35, 0.15)	0.425
MTFM		0.239†		0.263†
28 weeks	-0.10 (-0.33, 0.12)	0.370	-0.09 (-0.32, 0.14)	0.444
36 weeks	-0.39 (-0.90, 0.12)	0.141	-0.37 (-0.90, 0.17)	0.177
AFM		0.377†		0.431†
28 weeks	-0.07 (-0.23, 0.08)	0.357	-0.12 (-0.29, 0.04)	0.141
36 weeks	-0.17 (-0.41, 0.08)	0.152	-0.21 (-0.44, 0.02)	0.075
SSFM		0.824†		0.930†
28 weeks	-0.14 (-0.28, 0.00)	0.053	-0.17 (-0.32, -0.03)	0.021
36 weeks	-0.17 (-0.39, 0.00)	0.141	-0.18 (-0.41, 0.04)	0.115

Notes: † denotes p value for test of interaction between HEI and time. Estimates are difference in mean fetal measure (95% CI) corresponding to a 10 unit increase in HEI score. Unadj = Unadjusted.

Outcome	Unadjusted Estimate (95% CI)	Unadj p value	Adjusted Estimate (95% CI)	Adj p value
BPD		0.116†		0.099†
28 weeks	-0.31 (-1.48, 0.86)	0.603	-0.36 (-1.55, 0.82)	0.547
36 weeks	-1.36 (-2.43, 0.86)	0.012	-1.48 (-2.55, -0.40)	0.007
BPD z-score		0.417†		0.477†
28 weeks	-0.34 (-4.39, 3.71)	0.869	-0.59 (-4.71, 3.54)	0.780
36 weeks	-2.14 (-5.59, 3.71)	0.225	-2.18 (-5.70, 1.35)	0.226
НС		0.260†		0.169†
28 weeks	-0.90 (-5.01, 3.22)	0.669	-0.72 (-4.84, 3.40)	0.732
36 weeks	-3.64 (-7.17, 3.22)	0.043	-4.07 (-7.60, -0.54)	0.024
HC z-score		0.390†		0.347†
28 weeks	0.52 (-2.27, 3.31)	0.716	0.67 (-2.18, 3.52)	0.647
36 weeks	-0.83 (-3.33, 3.31)	0.519	-0.83 (-3.36, 1.71)	0.524
FL		0.657†		0.570†
28 weeks	-0.20 (-1.17, 0.76)	0.680	-0.22 (-1.20, 0.75)	0.653
36 weeks	-0.47 (-1.40, 0.76)	0.327	-0.56 (-1.52, 0.39)	0.248
FL z-score		0.785†		0.762†
28 weeks	0.02 (-2.92, 2.97)	0.988	-0.06 (-3.07, 2.96)	0.970
36 weeks	0.51 (-2.59, 2.97)	0.746	0.49 (-2.67, 3.65)	0.762
AC		0.246†		0.181†
28 weeks	-0.21 (-5.45, 5.04)	0.938	0.81 (-4.23, 5.85)	0.753
36 weeks	-3.83 (-9.40, 5.04)	0.178	-3.34 (-8.86, 2.19)	0.236
AC z-score		0.860†		0.815†
28 weeks	0.44 (-2.27, 3.16)	0.748	1.14 (-1.51, 3.78)	0.399
36 weeks	0.18 (-2.73, 3.16)	0.905	0.78 (-2.16, 3.72)	0.603
EFW		0.082†		0.059†
28 weeks	130.32 (-598.56, 859.21)	0.726	204.16 (-512.19, 920.51)	0.576
36 weeks	-887.76 (-2026.25,859.21)	0.126	-901.31 (-2028.21, 225.59)	0.117

 Table 4.3: Log Total Energy and fetal ultrasound measurements

EFW z-score		0.305†		0.300†
28 weeks	1.14 (-1.32, 3.59)	0.364	1.47 (-0.96, 3.91)	0.236
36 weeks	-0.29 (-2.85, 3.59)	0.825	0.01 (-2.58, 2.61)	0.991
MTLM		0.495†		0.574†
28 weeks	-4.56 (-9.20, 0.08)	0.054	-4.94 (-9.57, -0.32)	0.036
36 weeks	-7.07 (-13.69, 0.08)	0.037	-7.02 (-13.69, -0.35)	0.039
MTFM		0.812†		0.795†
28 weeks	-0.90 (-6.35, 4.55)	0.746	-1.76 (-7.35, 3.83)	0.538
36 weeks	0.46 (-10.91, 4.55)	0.937	-0.25 (-11.82, 11.31)	0.966
AFM		0.563†		0.603†
28 weeks	-1.00 (-5.03, 3.03)	0.627	-0.59 (-4.65, 3.48)	0.777
36 weeks	0.88 (-5.59, 3.03)	0.791	1.10 (-5.27, 7.47)	0.734
SSFM		0.779†		0.760†
28 weeks	2.72 (-0.73, 6.17)	0.122	3.23 (-0.22, 6.69)	0.067
36 weeks	1.88 (-3.72, 6.17)	0.511	2.32 (-3.26, 7.90)	0.416

Notes: † denotes p value for test of interaction between HEI and time. Estimates are difference in mean fetal measure (95% CI) corresponding to a 10 unit increase in HEI score. Unadj = Unadjusted. Adj = Adjusted.

Outcome	Unadjusted Estimate (95% CI)	Unadj p value	Adjusted Estimate (95% CI)	Adjusted p value
BPD		0.079†		0.060†
28 weeks	-0.12 (-0.21, -0.02)	0.021	-0.11 (-0.21, -0.01)	0.035
36 weeks	-0.01 (-0.11, -0.02)	0.876	0.01 (-0.09, 0.11)	0.885
BPD z-score		0.075†		0.083†
28 weeks	-0.36 (-0.70, -0.02)	0.037	-0.35 (-0.69, -0.01)	0.045
36 weeks	-0.03 (-0.31, -0.02)	0.812	-0.03 (-0.31, 0.25)	0.833
НС		0.601†		0.620†
28 weeks	-0.19 (-0.54, 0.16)	0.288	-0.14 (-0.50, 0.21)	0.422
36 weeks	-0.08 (-0.42, 0.16)	0.642	-0.04 (-0.38, 0.30)	0.816
HC z-score		0.652†		0.540†
28 weeks	0.02 (-0.22, 0.26)	0.880	0.04 (-0.20, 0.29)	0.724
36 weeks	-0.04 (-0.27, 0.26)	0.709	-0.04 (-0.26, 0.18)	0.723
FL		0.729†		0.634†
28 weeks	-0.05 (-0.13, 0.03)	0.250	-0.05 (-0.13, 0.03)	0.236
36 weeks	-0.03 (-0.12, 0.03)	0.521	-0.02 (-0.11, 0.07)	0.595
FL z-score		0.904†		0.931†
28 weeks	-0.03 (-0.29, 0.23)	0.820	-0.04 (-0.30, 0.23)	0.790
36 weeks	-0.01 (-0.31, 0.23)	0.949	-0.02 (-0.32, 0.27)	0.891
AC		0.185†		0.158†
28 weeks	-0.24 (-0.66, 0.17)	0.248	-0.23 (-0.63, 0.17)	0.257
36 weeks	0.10 (-0.34, 0.17)	0.649	0.13 (-0.30, 0.57)	0.556
AC z-score		0.151†		0.182†
28 weeks	-0.09 (-0.31, 0.13)	0.422	-0.09 (-0.31, 0.12)	0.383
36 weeks	0.09 (-0.12, 0.13)	0.396	0.07 (-0.14, 0.28)	0.491
EFW		0.583†		0.551†
28 weeks	-18.94 (-79.38, 41.50)	0.539	-17.21 (-77.32, 42.90)	0.575
36 weeks	8.76 (-89.14, 41.50)	0.861	12.58 (-84.02, 109.19)	0.799

Table 4.4: Glycaemic Index and fetal ultrasound measurements

EFW z-score		0.212†		0.247†
28 weeks	-0.11 (-0.33, 0.10)	0.314	-0.11 (-0.32, 0.10)	0.316
36 weeks	0.03 (-0.17, 0.10)	0.749	0.02 (-0.18, 0.22)	0.813
MTLM		0.706†		0.686†
28 weeks	0.11 (-0.25, 0.46)	0.548	0.13 (-0.22, 0.49)	0.462
36 weeks	-0.02 (-0.63, 0.46)	0.950	-0.00 (-0.61, 0.61)	0.993
MTFM		0.015†		0.025†
28 weeks	-0.36 (-0.80, 0.07)	0.104	-0.34 (-0.77, 0.10)	0.133
36 weeks	0.79 (-0.12, 0.07)	0.089	0.74 (-0.18, 1.65)	0.116
AFM		0.115†		0.150†
28 weeks	-0.11 (-0.41, 0.19)	0.475	-0.13 (-0.44, 0.18)	0.415
36 weeks	0.34 (-0.19, 0.19)	0.211	0.28 (-0.24, 0.81)	0.291
SSFM		0.215†		0.176†
28 weeks	-0.06 (-0.35, 0.22)	0.661	-0.07 (-0.35, 0.22)	0.639
36 weeks	0.25 (-0.21, 0.22)	0.287	0.28 (-0.19, 0.75)	0.248

Notes: † denotes p value for test of interaction between Glycaemic index and time. Estimates are difference in mean fetal measure (95% CI) corresponding to a 10 unit increase in Glycaemic index score. Unadj = Unadjusted.

Outcome	Unadjusted Estimate (95% CI)	Unadj p value	Adjusted Estimate (95% CI)	Adjusted p value
BPD		0.567†		0.490†
28 weeks	-0.00 (-0.01, 0.00)	0.251	-0.00 (-0.01, 0.00)	0.276
36 weeks	-0.01 (-0.01, 0.00)	0.063	-0.01 (-0.01, 0.00)	0.054
BPD z-score		0.821†		0.831†
28 weeks	-0.01 (-0.04, 0.01)	0.227	-0.01 (-0.04, 0.01)	0.227
36 weeks	-0.01 (-0.03, 0.01)	0.295	-0.01 (-0.03, 0.01)	0.291
НС		0.562†		0.374†
28 weeks	-0.01 (-0.03, 0.02)	0.530	-0.01 (-0.03, 0.02)	0.683
36 weeks	-0.02 (-0.04, 0.02)	0.137	-0.02 (-0.04, 0.00)	0.102
HC z-score		0.606†		0.479†
28 weeks	0.00 (-0.02, 0.02)	0.964	0.00 (-0.02, 0.02)	0.808
36 weeks	-0.01 (-0.02, 0.02)	0.557	-0.01 (-0.02, 0.01)	0.539
FL		0.827†		0.737†
28 weeks	-0.00 (-0.01, 0.01)	0.698	-0.00 (-0.01, 0.01)	0.762
36 weeks	-0.00 (-0.01, 0.01)	0.471	-0.00 (-0.01, 0.00)	0.437
FL z-score		0.676†		0.674†
28 weeks	-0.00 (-0.02, 0.02)	0.923	-0.00 (-0.02, 0.02)	0.965
36 weeks	0.00 (-0.02, 0.02)	0.688	0.00 (-0.01, 0.02)	0.653
AC		0.492†		0.391†
28 weeks	-0.00 (-0.04, 0.03)	0.837	0.00 (-0.03, 0.04)	0.814
36 weeks	-0.02 (-0.05, 0.03)	0.340	-0.01 (-0.05, 0.02)	0.465
AC z-score		0.861†		0.969†
28 weeks	0.00 (-0.02, 0.02)	0.973	0.00 (-0.01, 0.02)	0.548
36 weeks	0.00 (-0.02, 0.02)	0.835	0.01 (-0.01, 0.02)	0.604
EFW		0.181†		0.145†
28 weeks	0.93 (-3.72, 5.59)	0.694	1.66 (-2.95, 6.27)	0.481
36 weeks	-4.15 (-11.63, 5.59)	0.276	-3.95 (-11.48, 3.58)	0.304

Table 4.5: Glycaemic load and fetal ultrasound measurements

EFW z-score		0.636†		0.567†
28 weeks	0.00 (-0.01, 0.02)	0.717	0.01 (-0.01, 0.02)	0.459
36 weeks	-0.00 (-0.02, 0.02)	0.857	0.00 (-0.02, 0.02)	0.980
MTLM		0.406†		0.462†
28 weeks	-0.02 (-0.05, 0.00)	0.098	-0.02 (-0.05, 0.00)	0.093
36 weeks	-0.04 (-0.08, 0.00)	0.052	-0.04 (-0.08, 0.00)	0.064
MTFM		0.252†		0.264†
28 weeks	-0.02 (-0.05, 0.01)	0.262	-0.02 (-0.05, 0.01)	0.215
36 weeks	0.02 (-0.05, 0.01)	0.522	0.02 (-0.05, 0.10)	0.578
AFM		0.278†		0.326†
28 weeks	0.00 (-0.02, 0.03)	0.891	0.00 (-0.02, 0.03)	0.721
36 weeks	0.02 (-0.02, 0.03)	0.244	0.03 (-0.02, 0.07)	0.223
SSFM		0.737†		0.757†
28 weeks	0.01 (-0.01, 0.04)	0.185	0.02 (-0.00, 0.04)	0.106
36 weeks	0.02 (-0.01, 0.04)	0.239	0.02 (-0.01, 0.06)	0.189

Notes: † denotes p value for test of interaction between Glycaemic load and time. Estimates are difference in mean fetal measure (95% CI) corresponding to a 10 unit increase in Glycaemic load score. Unadj = Unadjusted

Outcome	Unadjusted Estimate (95% CI)	Unadj p value	Adjusted Estimate (95% CI)	Adjusted p value
BPD		0.593†		0.646†
28 weeks	0.04 (-0.05, 0.12)	0.396	0.04 (-0.05, 0.12)	0.418
36 weeks	0.01 (-0.08, 0.12)	0.841	0.01 (-0.08, 0.10)	0.793
BPD z-score		0.387†		0.507†
28 weeks	0.21 (-0.08, 0.50)	0.152	0.17 (-0.12, 0.46)	0.238
36 weeks	0.08 (-0.16, 0.50)	0.524	0.07 (-0.17, 0.31)	0.560
НС		0.083†		0.123†
28 weeks	0.16 (-0.12, 0.44)	0.255	0.18 (-0.11, 0.46)	0.228
36 weeks	-0.13 (-0.39, 0.44)	0.318	-0.09 (-0.35, 0.17)	0.499
HC z-score		0.016†		0.033†
28 weeks	0.22 (0.01, 0.43)	0.036	0.21 (-0.00, 0.43)	0.053
36 weeks	-0.05 (-0.23, 0.43)	0.570	-0.03 (-0.21, 0.14)	0.714
FL		0.413†		0.560†
28 weeks	0.00 (-0.07, 0.07)	0.896	0.00 (-0.07, 0.07)	0.950
36 weeks	-0.03 (-0.10, 0.07)	0.381	-0.02 (-0.09, 0.04)	0.514
FL z-score		0.414†		0.577†
28 weeks	0.06 (-0.15, 0.28)	0.563	0.03 (-0.19, 0.24)	0.808
36 weeks	-0.04 (-0.26, 0.28)	0.683	-0.05 (-0.26, 0.17)	0.664
AC		0.556†		0.609†
28 weeks	-0.02 (-0.37, 0.33)	0.920	0.03 (-0.32, 0.39)	0.853
36 weeks	-0.15 (-0.53, 0.33)	0.428	-0.08 (-0.46, 0.29)	0.660
AC z-score		0.968†		0.806†
28 weeks	-0.02 (-0.21, 0.16)	0.799	-0.01 (-0.20, 0.18)	0.922
36 weeks	-0.02 (-0.21, 0.16)	0.833	0.02 (-0.17, 0.20)	0.851
EFW		0.253†		0.307†
28 weeks	14.86 (-35.95, 65.68)	0.566	18.79 (-33.86, 71.44)	0.484
36 weeks	-34.32 (-113.89, 65.68)	0.398	-25.56 (-104.88, 53.76)	0.528

Table 4.6: Fat as a percentage of total energy and fetal ultrasound measurements

EFW z-score		0.308†		0.477†
28 weeks	0.05 (-0.12, 0.22)	0.567	0.05 (-0.13, 0.22)	0.610
36 weeks	-0.05 (-0.21, 0.22)	0.551	-0.02 (-0.19, 0.14)	0.771
MTLM		0.446†		0.372†
28 weeks	0.07 (-0.26, 0.40)	0.669	0.09 (-0.25, 0.44)	0.602
36 weeks	-0.15 (-0.67, 0.40)	0.565	-0.18 (-0.70, 0.35)	0.511
MTFM		0.287†		0.284†
28 weeks	0.03 (-0.38, 0.44)	0.882	0.04 (-0.38, 0.47)	0.837
36 weeks	-0.40 (-1.12, 0.44)	0.281	-0.39 (-1.12, 0.33)	0.290
AFM		0.049†		0.060†
28 weeks	0.01 (-0.26, 0.29)	0.917	0.06 (-0.24, 0.36)	0.709
36 weeks	-0.46 (-0.90, 0.29)	0.041	-0.39 (-0.82, 0.04)	0.075
SSFM		0.368†		0.295†
28 weeks	0.15 (-0.08, 0.37)	0.200	0.17 (-0.06, 0.40)	0.144
36 weeks	-0.03 (-0.39, 0.37)	0.863	-0.04 (-0.40, 0.32)	0.829

Notes: † denotes p value for test of interaction between fat as a percentage of total energy and time. Estimates are difference in mean fetal measure (95% CI) corresponding to a 10 unit increase in fat as a percentage of total energy. Unadj = Unadjusted

Outcome	Unadjusted Estimate (95% CI)	Unadj p value	Adjusted Estimate (95% CI)	Adjusted p value
BPD		0.339†		0.381†
28 weeks	-0.03 (-0.10, 0.05)	0.482	-0.02 (-0.09, 0.06)	0.634
36 weeks	0.02 (-0.05, 0.05)	0.653	0.02 (-0.05, 0.09)	0.554
BPD z-score		0.156†		0.241†
28 weeks	-0.16 (-0.38, 0.05)	0.143	-0.13 (-0.35, 0.09)	0.262
36 weeks	0.01 (-0.17, 0.05)	0.883	0.02 (-0.16, 0.21)	0.819
НС		0.199†		0.306†
28 weeks	-0.08 (-0.31, 0.15)	0.499	-0.05 (-0.28, 0.19)	0.685
36 weeks	0.10 (-0.11, 0.15)	0.354	0.09 (-0.11, 0.29)	0.374
HC z-score		0.099†		0.188†
28 weeks	-0.10 (-0.26, 0.05)	0.200	-0.08 (-0.24, 0.08)	0.331
36 weeks	0.05 (-0.09, 0.05)	0.503	0.04 (-0.10, 0.18)	0.562
FL		0.849†		0.816†
28 weeks	0.02 (-0.04, 0.08)	0.480	0.03 (-0.03, 0.08)	0.336
36 weeks	0.01 (-0.03, 0.08)	0.579	0.02 (-0.03, 0.07)	0.415
FL z-score		0.996†		0.943†
28 weeks	0.04 (-0.13, 0.20)	0.652	0.07 (-0.10, 0.23)	0.432
36 weeks	0.04 (-0.12, 0.20)	0.651	0.06 (-0.10, 0.22)	0.470
AC		0.913†		0.782†
28 weeks	0.05 (-0.26, 0.35)	0.771	0.10 (-0.21, 0.41)	0.532
36 weeks	0.03 (-0.25, 0.35)	0.853	0.05 (-0.23, 0.33)	0.729
AC z-score		0.751†		0.482†
28 weeks	0.03 (-0.12, 0.18)	0.732	0.06 (-0.09, 0.21)	0.420
36 weeks	-0.00 (-0.14, 0.18)	0.983	-0.00 (-0.14, 0.14)	0.994
EFW		0.962†		0.976†
28 weeks	7.29 (-36.60, 51.19)	0.745	16.48 (-28.72, 61.67)	0.475
36 weeks	8.87 (-50.10, 51.19)	0.768	15.46 (-43.22, 74.14)	0.606

Table 4.7: Carbohydrate as a percentage of total energy and fetal ultrasound

EFW z-score		0.777 †		0.953†
28 weeks	0.00 (-0.13, 0.14)	0.979	0.04 (-0.10, 0.17)	0.611
36 weeks	0.03 (-0.10, 0.14)	0.699	0.03 (-0.10, 0.16)	0.643
MTLM		0.867†		0.838†
28 weeks	-0.06 (-0.33, 0.20)	0.639	-0.04 (-0.31, 0.23)	0.783
36 weeks	-0.02 (-0.40, 0.20)	0.901	0.01 (-0.37, 0.39)	0.961
MTFM		0.406†		0.406†
28 weeks	-0.10 (-0.44, 0.24)	0.558	-0.07 (-0.41, 0.27)	0.683
36 weeks	0.17 (-0.41, 0.24)	0.563	0.20 (-0.38, 0.79)	0.495
AFM		0.118†		0.173†
28 weeks	0.04 (-0.18, 0.26)	0.732	0.06 (-0.17, 0.28)	0.614
36 weeks	0.32 (-0.00, 0.26)	0.051	0.30 (-0.02, 0.62)	0.062
SSFM		0.800†		0.836†
28 weeks	0.00 (-0.18, 0.18)	0.966	0.01 (-0.17, 0.19)	0.879
36 weeks	0.04 (-0.23, 0.18)	0.755	0.05 (-0.23, 0.32)	0.738

Notes: † denotes p value for test of interaction between carbohydrate as a percentage of total energy and time. Estimates are difference in mean fetal measure (95% CI) corresponding to a 10 unit increase in carbohydrate as a percentage of total energy. Unadj = Unadjusted

Outcome	Unadjusted Estimate (95% CI)	Unadj p value	Adjusted Estimate (95% CI)	Adjusted p value
BPD		0.507†		0.546†
28 weeks	0.01 (-0.10, 0.11)	0.921	-0.01 (-0.11, 0.10)	0.914
36 weeks	-0.03 (-0.12, 0.11)	0.466	-0.04 (-0.13, 0.05)	0.361
BPD z-score		0.153†		0.210†
28 weeks	0.13 (-0.18, 0.44)	0.414	0.10 (-0.21, 0.42)	0.522
36 weeks	-0.10 (-0.35, 0.44)	0.400	-0.11 (-0.35, 0.14)	0.399
НС		0.991†		0.802†
28 weeks	-0.05 (-0.38, 0.27)	0.755	-0.12 (-0.45, 0.22)	0.489
36 weeks	-0.05 (-0.33, 0.27)	0.723	-0.07 (-0.34, 0.20)	0.618
HC z-score		0.983†		0.806†
28 weeks	-0.05 (-0.26, 0.16)	0.621	-0.08 (-0.30, 0.13)	0.440
36 weeks	-0.05 (-0.23, 0.16)	0.588	-0.05 (-0.24, 0.13)	0.567
FL		0.212†		0.269†
28 weeks	-0.06 (-0.14, 0.02)	0.143	-0.06 (-0.14, 0.01)	0.110
36 weeks	0.00 (-0.07, 0.02)	0.994	-0.01 (-0.08, 0.05)	0.692
FL z-score		0.499†		0.633†
28 weeks	-0.14 (-0.37, 0.09)	0.224	-0.14 (-0.36, 0.09)	0.235
36 weeks	-0.04 (-0.26, 0.09)	0.719	-0.07 (-0.29, 0.15)	0.547
AC		0.264†		0.187†
28 weeks	-0.16 (-0.60, 0.29)	0.490	-0.29 (-0.74, 0.16)	0.208
36 weeks	0.13 (-0.28, 0.29)	0.531	0.06 (-0.35, 0.47)	0.785
AC z-score		0.501†		0.281†
28 weeks	-0.06 (-0.27, 0.15)	0.584	-0.13 (-0.34, 0.08)	0.211
36 weeks	0.02 (-0.18, 0.15)	0.839	-0.00 (-0.21, 0.21)	0.992
EFW		0.175†		0.173†
28 weeks	-40.93 (-105.51, 23.64)	0.214	-56.34 (-123.01, 10.33)	0.098
36 weeks	22.54 (-62.18, 23.64)	0.602	7.75 (-76.06, 91.57)	0.856

Table 4.8: Protein as a percentage of total energy and fetal ultrasound measures

EFW z-score		0.478†		0.351†
28 weeks	-0.09 (-0.28, 0.10)	0.350	-0.14 (-0.33, 0.05)	0.155
36 weeks	-0.01 (-0.20, 0.10)	0.915	-0.03 (-0.22, 0.16)	0.753
MTLM		0.433†		0.395†
28 weeks	0.09 (-0.26, 0.44)	0.617	0.05 (-0.31, 0.41)	0.800
36 weeks	0.33 (-0.18, 0.44)	0.201	0.31 (-0.19, 0.81)	0.227
MTFM		0.833†		0.823†
28 weeks	0.08 (-0.35, 0.51)	0.711	0.07 (-0.37, 0.51)	0.765
36 weeks	-0.02 (-0.91, 0.51)	0.968	-0.04 (-0.93, 0.85)	0.932
AFM		0.467†		0.661†
28 weeks	-0.10 (-0.41, 0.22)	0.548	-0.17 (-0.49, 0.14)	0.288
36 weeks	-0.26 (-0.68, 0.22)	0.216	-0.27 (-0.68, 0.14)	0.194
SSFM		0.872†		0.736†
28 weeks	-0.18 (-0.44, 0.09)	0.189	-0.21 (-0.48, 0.05)	0.119
36 weeks	-0.14 (-0.57, 0.09)	0.524	-0.13 (-0.55, 0.29)	0.550

Notes: † denotes p value for test of interaction between time and Protein as a percentage of total energy. Estimates are difference in mean fetal measure (95% CI) corresponding to a 10 unit increase in carbohydrate as a percentage of total energy. Unadj = Unadjusted

4.5 Discussion

The objective of this secondary exploratory analysis was to determine if maternal dietary factors were associated with fetal body composition in women entering pregnancy overweight or obese. This study identified that an increase in total energy of the maternal diet was associated with a reduction in mid-thigh lean mass of the fetus. Secondly, an increase in the Healthy Eating Index was associated with a reduction in the subscapular fat mass. While these individual associations were statistically significant, the actual differences were of small magnitude and were unlikely to be of clinical significance. Overall, no consistent associations between maternal diet and fetal growth or adiposity were identified.

This is the first study to describe the relationship between maternal dietary factors and fetal body composition in women entering pregnancy overweight and obese. There has been one study to describe the maternal dietary factors and fetal adiposity measurements in 179 women with a normal BMI (Blumfield et al. 2012). While this study utilised food frequency questionnaires, dietary variables were reported in a different manner, including a derived ratio comparing protein and carbohydrate, and poly-unsaturated fatty acids as a percentage of energy intake. The authors also described different ultrasound techniques and measurements of fetal adiposity (Blumfield et al. 2012). Women with lower dietary protein intake demonstrated higher abdominal wall adiposity, while fetal thigh adiposity was greatest among women whose diet consisted of low carbohydrate, intermediate protein and high fat intake (Blumfield et al. 2012).

The vast majority of the available literature describes associations between maternal dietary factors and neonatal and infant body composition (Moore et al. 2004, Chen et al. 2016, Brei et al. 2018), and birth weight (Renault et al. 2015, Crume et al. 2016, Sharma et al. 2018), with variable methodology and inconsistent findings (Chen et al. 2016, Chia et al. 2016). A possible explanation for the lack of association identified in the current study and inconsistent findings within the literature may relate to the timing of the dietary assessment in the early 2nd trimester (Moore et al. 2004, Hauner et al. 2009, Renault et al. 2015, Brei et al. 2018). Dietary assessment between 8 and 12 weeks identified that carbohydrate consumption was associated with increases in birth weight, whereas fat intake was associated with lower birth weight (Sharma et al. 2018).

Strengths of the current study include the large sample size of overweight or obese pregnant women, use of robust methodology (Dodd et al. 2014a), including the first to evaluate the effect of maternal dietary factors on fetal biometry and adiposity. A limitation is the reliance on self-reported measurement of maternal dietary intake. Dietary analysis is subject to multiple biases including measurement error, recall bias related to the food questionnaire, along with reporting bias. Additionally, a comparator group of women entering pregnancy with a normal BMI would have enabled comparison of the effects of maternal dietary intake on fetal growth patterns across the BMI spectrum.

Several randomised trials have identified improvements in maternal dietary patterns during pregnancy following provision of a lifestyle intervention (Luoto et al. 2011, Renault et al. 2014, Dodd et al. 2014a, Dodd et al. 2014c, Poston et al. 2015, Geraghty et al. 2016). The LIMIT trial demonstrated that the provision of the antenatal lifestyle
and dietary intervention improved women's intake of fibre, saturated fat, fruits and vegetables and micronutrient intake, although did not impact overall energy intake (Dodd et al. 2014c). Other trials have also shown significant improvements in maternal diet, physical activity (Luoto et al. 2011, Dodd et al. 2014c, Poston et al. 2015, Geraghty et al. 2016) and insulin resistance (Vinter et al. 2011, Geraghty et al. 2016)

While individual trials conducted in overweight and obese pregnant women have described positive effects on maternal dietary and lifestyle behaviours (Flynn et al. 2016), intervention trials overall have generated disappointing results in terms of clinical pregnancy and birth outcomes. Whether relatively modest improvements in maternal diet are sufficient to impact fetal adiposity measures, which themselves are relatively insensitive indices, remains to be determined (Rogozinska et al. 2017a, Rogozinska et al. 2017b). Furthermore, there is evidence to suggest that fetal growth and adiposity may be programmed much earlier in gestation than current interventions have targeted (Jahan-Mihan et al. 2015), highlighting the importance of optimal diet and maternal weight prior to conception (Opray et al. 2015, Hanson et al. 2016, Godfery et al. 2017, Hanson et al. 2017).

4.6 Conclusions

Among overweight and obese pregnant women in this study, maternal dietary measures were not consistently associated with fetal body composition.

CHAPTER 5: The impact of maternal cardiometabolic and inflammatory markers on fetal growth

This chapter forms the basis of a manuscript currently under peer review (O'Brien CM et al BMC Obesity), which is contained in Appendix 4.

5.1 Introduction

There are well-recognised associations between obesity in pregnancy and maternal, fetal and neonatal health outcomes (Cedergren 2006) and clear longer-term associations between maternal obesity, fetal overgrowth, high infant birth weight, and subsequent childhood obesity (Yu et al. 2013). While these associations are well defined, there has been limited exploration of the potential pathways leading to fetal overgrowth, adiposity and subsequent childhood obesity. These include maternal cardiometabolic hormones such as leptin, adiponectin, triglycerides, and fatty acids, along with inflammatory markers.

5.2 Aims

The aim of this study was to evaluate associations between maternal cardiometabolic and inflammatory markers and ultrasound assessed fetal growth and adiposity measures.

5.3 Methods

The research methodology (Dodd et al. 2011, Dodd et al. 2014a, Dodd et al. 2014c) of the LIMIT randomised controlled trial have been outlined in Chapter 2, as has the methodology relating to ultrasound assessment of fetal biometry and adiposity.

5.3.1 Cardiometabolic and Inflammatory Markers

Maternal blood samples were obtained at trial entry, 28 and 36 weeks gestation for assessment of cardiometabolic and inflammatory markers. The methodology has been previously described in detail (Moran et al. 2017). At 28 weeks, a fasting maternal plasma sample was collected and the following cardiometabolic markers were measured at trial entry, 28 and 36 weeks gestation; total cholesterol, triglycerides, non-esterified fatty acids (NEFA), highdensity lipoprotein cholesterol, insulin, glucose, leptin, adiponectin and CRP. At 36 weeks, a non-fasting maternal plasma sample was collected and total cholesterol, triglycerides, nonesterified fatty acids (NEFA), high-density lipoprotein cholesterol, insulin, glucose, leptin, adiponectin and CRP were measured.

The majority (glucose, cholesterol, HDL-C, triglycerides, NEFA and CRP) were measured using Roche Diagnostics commercial kits (Australia) and non-esterified fatty acids were measured using Wako Pure Chemical Industries (Japan). All assays were performed on the automated Hitachi Auto 912 analyser or Cobas Integra 400 Plus with appropriate calibrators and quality controls (Roche for Roche assays and Wako standard and Sero QC's for the NEFA C assay). Plasma leptin (in singulate; HL-81 K; Millipore, St. Charles, MO, USA) and adiponectin (in singulate; HADP-61HK; Millipore, St. Charles, MO, USA) were determined by double antibody radioimmunoassay following the methods from the supplier.

5.3.2 Statistical Analysis

The analyses investigated cross-sectional relationships to determine whether there was an association between cardiometabolic and inflammatory markers at 28 weeks, and fetal ultrasound measures at 28 weeks (and similarly for 36 weeks). Because the nature of the association was of interest, and because most of the cardiometabolic and inflammatory markers exhibited skewness in distribution, each of the cardiometabolic and inflammatory markers were log-transformed prior to analysis. Estimates represent the difference in mean fetal measure corresponding to a 1-unit increase in log cardiometabolic marker.

Three of the cardiometabolic and inflammatory markers (CRP, leptin and adiponectin) were measured at both 28 and 36 weeks gestations. For each of these markers, linear regression models were used to model the relationship between the marker and fetal ultrasound measures at each time point, including a time-by- marker interaction term to test whether the relationship differed between time points. Generalised Estimating Equations (GEEs) were used to account for repeated measures. Triglycerides and fasting glucose were measured at 28 weeks only; therefore, for these markers, relationships with 28 week fetal ultrasound measures only were investigated using linear regression models.

Both unadjusted and adjusted analyses were performed with adjusted analyses including BMI category (BMI 25.0 – 29.9 versus BMI \geq 20.0), parity (0 versus \geq 1), age at consent, smoking status, study centre and SEIFA IRDS quintile as co-variates.

5.4 Results

5.4.1 Demographic characteristics

Flow of participants and baseline characteristics are presented in Figure 5.1 and Table 5.1 respectively. Mean maternal age was 29.6 years (standard deviation 5.5) with 41% of women (n = 377) overweight, 46.5% (n = 424) obese (BMI 30 - 39.9kg/m²), and 12.2% (n = 111) morbidly obese (BMI ≥ 40 kg/m²). Most women (92%; n=835) were of Caucasian ethnicity, 40% (n = 369) were in their first ongoing pregnancy, and approximately 30% (n = 265) were from the highest quintile of social disadvantage.

Figure 5.1: Flow chart of the participants included in the secondary analysis with cardiometabolic markers



 Table 5.1 – Baseline characteristics of participants included in analysis of the effect of

 maternal cardiometabolic and inflammatory markers on fetal growth and adiposity

Baseline Characteristic	Results	
Total Number: N (%)	911	
Maternal Age at trial entry (years)	29.6	
Mean (SD)	(5.5)	
Gestational age at Trial Entry (weeks)	14.58	
Median (IQR)	(3.03)	
Body Mass Index (kg/m ²)	32.60	
Mean (SD)	(6.01)	
BMI Category: n (%)		
$25.0 - 29.9 \text{ kg/m}^2$	377 (41.3)	
$30.0 - 34.9 \text{ kg/m}^2$	271 (29.7)	
35.0 - 39.9 kg/m ²	153 (16.8)	
\geq 40.0 kg/m ²	111 (12.2)	
Caucasian: n (%)	836 (91.67)	
Nulliparous: n (%)	369 (40.5)	
Smoker: n (%)	101 (11.1)	
SEIFA IRSD Quintiles: n (%)		
Most disadvantaged Quintile 1	265 (29.06)	
Quintile 2	223 (24.45)	
Quintile 3	143 (15.68)	
Quintile 4	142 (15.57)	
Least disadvantaged Quintile 5	139 (15.24)	

5.4.2 C-Reactive Protein (CRP)

No consistent associations were found between maternal plasma CRP concentrations and fetal ultrasound measures of biometry and adiposity (Table 5.2).

Ultrasound Measure	Unadjusted Estimate (95% CI)	Unadjusted p value	Adjusted Estimate (95% CI)	Adjusted p value
EFW (grams)		0.559*		0.835*
28 weeks	-6.41 (-26.19, 13.36)	0.525	-8.62 (-29.88, 12.63)	0.426
36 weeks	-17.06 (-53.13, 19.01)	0.354	-12.50 (-47.91, 22.90)	0.489
SSFM (mm)		0.842*		0.850*
28 weeks	-0.00 (-0.10, 0.09)	0.920	0.02 (-0.08, 0.11)	0.744
36 weeks	0.01 (-0.14, 0.16)	0.875	0.03 (-0.12, 0.18)	0.675
AFM (mm)		0.442*		0.394*
28 weeks	0.00 (-0.10, 0.10)	0.990	-0.00 (-0.11, 0.11)	0.976
36 weeks	0.07 (-0.09, 0.23)	0.396	0.08 (-0.08, 0.23)	0.353
MTFM (mm ²)		0.988*		0.998*
28 weeks	0.04 (-0.08, 0.17)	0.514	0.05 (-0.09, 0.19)	0.456
36 weeks	0.04 (-0.29, 0.37)	0.817	0.05 (-0.28, 0.39)	0.758
MTLM (mm ²)		0.419*		0.376*
28 weeks	0.04 (-0.06, 0.15)	0.414	0.05 (-0.06, 0.16)	0.367
36 weeks	-0.05 (-0.28, 0.17)	0.636	-0.06 (-0.28, 0.17)	0.615
AC (mm)		0.698*		0.998*
28 weeks	-0.05 (-0.20, 0.09)	0.473	-0.07 (-0.22, 0.08)	0.351
36 weeks	-0.09 (-0.26, 0.08)	0.296	-0.07 (-0.24, 0.10)	0.407
BPD (mm)		0.114*		0.147*
28 weeks	-0.03 (-0.06, 0.00)	0.096	-0.02 (-0.06, 0.01)	0.167
36 weeks	0.00 (-0.03, 0.03)	0.883	0.00 (-0.03, 0.04)	0.770
HC (mm)		0.682*		0.568*

 Table 5.2: Relationship between log CRP and fetal ultrasound markers

28 weeks	-0.07 (-0.19, 0.05)	0.259	0.259 -0.07 (-0.19, 0.05)	
36 weeks	-0.04 (-0.15, 0.07)	0.462	-0.03 (-0.13, 0.08)	0.625
FL (mm)		0.961*		0.824*
28 weeks	-0.01 (-0.04, 0.02)	0.491	-0.01 (-0.04, 0.02)	0.428
36 weeks	-0.01 (-0.04, 0.02)	0.478	-0.01 (-0.04, 0.02)	0.602
EFW z-score		0.466*		0.587*
28 weeks	0.03 (-0.04, 0.10)	0.380	0.02 (-0.04, 0.09)	0.482
36 weeks	-0.00 (-0.08, 0.08)	0.981	0.00 (-0.08, 0.08)	0.979
AC z-score		0.611*		0.791*
28 weeks	0.02 (-0.06, 0.10)	0.609	0.01 (-0.07, 0.09)	0.808
36 weeks	-0.01 (-0.10, 0.09)	0.900	-0.00 (-0.09, 0.09)	0.931
BPD z-score		0.095*		0.169*
28 weeks	-0.05 (-0.16, 0.06)	0.399	-0.04 (-0.15, 0.08)	0.544
36 weeks	0.05 (-0.04, 0.15)	0.261	0.05 (-0.05, 0.15)	0.302
HC z-score		0.706*		0.637*
28 weeks	-0.00 (-0.08, 0.08)	0.932	-0.00 (-0.09, 0.08)	0.914
36 weeks	0.01 (-0.06, 0.09)	0.738	0.02 (-0.06, 0.09)	0.674
FL z-score		0.942*		0.827*
28 weeks	0.01 (-0.07, 0.09)	0.768	0.00 (-0.08, 0.09)	0.920
36 weeks	0.02 (-0.07, 0.11)	0.726	0.02 (-0.08, 0.11)	0.738

Notes: Results are expressed as the difference in means (95% CI) corresponding to a one unit change in log CRP. * p value for test of time-by-log CRP interaction.

5.4.3 Triglycerides

There were no consistent associations identified between plasma triglyceride concentrations at 28 weeks and fetal ultrasound markers of biometry and adiposity (Table 5.3). However, there was a positive association identified between maternal plasma triglyceride concentrations and biometry z-scores. Specifically, a 1-unit increase in log triglyceride concentration was associated with an increase in mean EFW z-score of 0.20 (0.01 to 0.39; p=0.041), and an increase in mean AC z-score of 0.25 (0.05 to 0.46; p=0.016).

Ultrasound Measure	Unadjusted Estimate (95% CI)	Unadjusted Adjusted Estimate p value (95% CI)		Adjusted p value
EFW (grams)	26.96 (-19.21, 73.13)	0.252	28.14 (-18.38, 74.67)	0.236
SSFM (mm)	0.02 (-0.21, 0.25)	0.870	0.06 (-0.18, 0.29)	0.633
AFM (mm)	0.02 (-0.23, 0.27)	0.899	0.01 (-0.24, 0.26)	0.940
MTFM (mm ²)	-0.01 (-0.32, 0.31)	0.964	-0.00 (-0.32, 0.32)	>0.99
MTLM (mm ²)	0.08 (-0.19, 0.34)	0.567	0.04 (-0.23, 0.31)	0.779
AC (mm)	0.27 (-0.07, 0.62)	0.121	0.25 (-0.10, 0.60)	0.154
BPD (mm)	0.03 (-0.06, 0.11)	0.540	0.04 (-0.04, 0.13)	0.334
HC (mm)	-0.01 (-0.29, 0.27)	0.946	0.03 (-0.26, 0.32)	0.851
FL (mm)	-0.01 (-0.07, 0.06)	0.842	0.00 (-0.06, 0.07)	0.908
EFW z-score	0.23 (0.04, 0.42)	0.020	0.20 (0.01, 0.39)	0.041
AC z-score	0.30 (0.09, 0.50)	0.004	0.25 (0.05, 0.46)	0.016
BPD z-score	0.25 (-0.06, 0.55)	0.113	0.29 (-0.02, 0.59)	0.067
HC z-score	0.03 (-0.18, 0.23)	0.808	0.03 (-0.18, 0.24)	0.796
FL z-score	0.05 (-0.15, 0.26)	0.612	0.07 (-0.14, 0.28)	0.499

 Table 5.3: Relationship between log Triglycerides and fetal ultrasound markers

Notes: Results are expressed as the difference in means (95% CI) corresponding to a one unit increase in log Triglycerides.

5.4.4 Fasting Glucose

There were no consistent associations found between fasting glucose concentrations at 28 weeks and fetal ultrasound measures of biometry and adiposity (Table 5.4).

Ultrasound Measure	Unadjusted Estimate (95% CI)	Unadjusted p value	Adjusted Estimate (95% CI)	Adjusted p value
EFW (grams)	59.68 (-33.80, 153.16)	0.211	53.52 (-56.64, 163.68)	0.341
SSFM (mm)	-0.32 (-0.81, 0.17)	0.201	-0.17 (-0.74, 0.41)	0.575
AFM (mm)	-0.54 (-1.10, 0.02)	0.058	-0.10 (-0.76, 0.57)	0.772
MTFM (mm ²)	-0.25 (-0.97, 0.47)	0.493	0.02 (-0.83, 0.87)	0.959
MTLM (mm ²)	-0.28 (-0.91, 0.35)	0.387	0.03 (-0.72, 0.77)	0.946
AC (mm)	0.16 (-0.55, 0.88)	0.653	0.33 (-0.50, 1.17)	0.430
BPD (mm)	0.16 (-0.01, 0.33)	0.067	0.08 (-0.13, 0.28)	0.460
HC (mm)	0.19 (-0.38, 0.77)	0.509	0.05 (-0.63, 0.74)	0.884
FL (mm)	0.12 (-0.01, 0.26)	0.077	0.09 (-0.07, 0.25)	0.289
EFW z-score	0.33 (-0.09, 0.74)	0.120	0.46 (-0.01, 0.94)	0.057
AC z-score	0.08 (-0.35, 0.51)	0.714	0.36 (-0.14, 0.87)	0.153
BPD z-score	0.61 (-0.03, 1.25)	0.061	0.42 (-0.32, 1.17)	0.263
HC z-score	0.10 (-0.34, 0.53)	0.659	0.07 (-0.45, 0.59)	0.800
FL z-score	0.50 (0.06, 0.94)	0.027	0.49 (-0.04, 1.03)	0.071

 Table 5.4:
 Relationship between log Fasting Glucose and fetal ultrasound markers

Notes: Results are expressed as difference in mean (95% CI) corresponding to a one unit increase in log fasting glucose.

5.4.5 Leptin

There were no consistent associations identified between plasma leptin concentrations and fetal ultrasound markers of biometry and adiposity (Table 5.5). However, there was a positive association identified between plasma leptin concentration and mid-thigh fat mass (MTFM). Specifically, a 1-unit increase in log leptin concentration was associated with a greater reduction in mean MTFM of -0.37 (-0.67, -0.07) at 28 weeks (p = 0.015).

Ultrasound Measure	Unadjusted Estimate (95% CI)	Unadjusted p value	Adjusted Estimate (95% CI)	Adjusted p value
EFW (grams)		0.815*		0.785*
28 weeks	-40.68 (-79.26, -2.09)	0.039	-41.08 (-83.65, 1.49)	0.059
36 weeks	-32.84 (-95.88, 30.20)	0.307	-31.83 (-95.48, 31.83)	0.327
SSFM (mm)		0.925*		0.999*
28 weeks	0.01 (-0.17, 0.20)	0.880	0.14 (-0.06, 0.34)	0.167
36 weeks	0.03 (-0.24, 0.30)	0.833	0.14 (-0.13, 0.41)	0.303
AFM (mm)		0.988*		0.912*
28 weeks	-0.02 (-0.22, 0.17)	0.814	0.03 (-0.19, 0.24)	0.802
36 weeks	-0.02 (-0.33, 0.28)	0.894	0.01 (-0.30, 0.32)	0.960
MTFM (mm ²)		0.561*		0.563*
28 weeks	-0.25 (-0.51, 0.00)	0.053	-0.37 (-0.67, -0.07)	0.015
36 weeks	-0.08 (-0.65, 0.49)	0.778	-0.20 (-0.76, 0.36)	0.488
MTLM(mm ²)		0.231*		0.191*
28 weeks	0.07 (-0.13, 0.27)	0.496	0.00 (-0.24, 0.24)	0.995
36 weeks	-0.16 (-0.50, 0.19)	0.373	-0.25 (-0.60, 0.10)	0.167
AC(mm)		0.705*		0.631*
28 weeks	-0.25 (-0.52, 0.02)	0.065	-0.26 (-0.54, 0.02)	0.067
36 weeks	-0.19 (-0.48, 0.11)	0.221	-0.18 (-0.48, 0.13)	0.259

 Table 5.5:
 The relationship between log Leptin and fetal ultrasound markers

BPD (mm)		0.400*		0.420*
28 weeks	-0.02 (-0.09, 0.05)	0.605	-0.01 (-0.08, 0.06)	0.735
36 weeks	0.02 (-0.04, 0.08)	0.614	0.02 (-0.04, 0.08)	0.525
HC (mm)		0.343*		0.380*
28 weeks	-0.12 (-0.35, 0.11)	0.303	-0.10 (-0.34, 0.14)	0.425
36 weeks	0.02 (-0.19, 0.23)	0.878	0.03 (-0.19, 0.25)	0.791
FL (mm)		0.392*		0.369*
28 weeks	-0.03 (-0.09, 0.02)	0.244	-0.02 (-0.08, 0.04)	0.442
36 weeks	-0.00 (-0.05, 0.05)	0.880	0.01 (-0.04, 0.06)	0.729
EFW z-score		0.900*		0.901*
28 weeks	-0.05 (-0.18, 0.09)	0.476	-0.06 (-0.20, 0.09)	0.432
36 weeks	-0.04 (-0.17, 0.10)	0.567	-0.05 (-0.19, 0.09)	0.498
AC z-score		0.865*		0.832*
28 weeks	-0.04 (-0.18, 0.11)	0.603	-0.05 (-0.21, 0.10)	0.513
36 weeks	-0.02 (-0.17, 0.12)	0.749	-0.03 (-0.18, 0.12)	0.668
BPD z-score		0.909*		0.810*
28 weeks	0.11 (-0.12, 0.35)	0.344	0.12 (-0.13, 0.36)	0.340
36 weeks	0.10 (-0.07, 0.27)	0.239	0.09 (-0.09, 0.27)	0.336
HC z-score		0.970*		0.850*
28 weeks	0.04 (-0.11, 0.19)	0.584	0.04 (-0.12, 0.21)	0.607
36 weeks	0.04 (-0.11, 0.18)	0.600	0.03 (-0.13, 0.18)	0.736
FL z-score		0.515*		0.506*
28 weeks	0.00 (-0.16, 0.17)	0.954	0.03 (-0.14, 0.20)	0.736
36 weeks	0.07 (-0.09, 0.23)	0.407	0.10 (-0.07, 0.27)	0.268

Notes: Results are expressed as difference in means (95% CI) corresponding to a one unit increase in log Leptin. * p value for test of time-by-log Leptin interaction.

5.4.6 Adiponectin

There were consistent associations identified between maternal plasma adiponectin concentrations and fetal ultrasound measures (Table 5.6).

There were negative associations identified between plasma adiponectin concentrations and measures of abdominal circumference (AC) and estimated fetal weight (EFW). Specifically, a 1-unit increase in log adiponectin concentration was associated with a reduction in mean AC of -0.53 (95% CI: -0.83, -0.22) millimetres (p < 0.001) and reduction in mean EFW of -100.85 (-164.98, -36.71) grams (p = 0.002) at 36 weeks gestation.

There were negative associations identified between plasma adiponectin concentration and z-scores for abdominal circumference (AC) and estimated fetal weight (EFW). Specifically, a 1-unit increase in log adiponectin concentration was associated with a reduction in the mean AC z-score of -0.21 (-0.35, -0.07) at 28 weeks (p = 0.004) and of -0.30 (-0.46, -0.13) at 36 weeks (p < 0.001). Similarly, a 1-unit increase in log adiponectin concentration was associated with a reduction in the mean EFW z-score of -0.23 (-0.37, -0.10) at 28 weeks (p < 0.001) and of -0.24 (-0.38, -0.10) at 36 weeks (p < 0.001).

There was a negative association identified between plasma log adiponectin concentration and MTLM. Specifically, a 1-unit increase in log Adiponectin concentration was associated with a reduction in the mean MTLM of -0.41 (-0.77, -0.05) millimetres at 36 weeks (p < 0.001).

Ultrasound Measure	Unadjusted Estimate (95% CI)	Unadj p value	Adjusted Estimate (95% CI)	Adjusted p value
EFW		0.010*		0.008*
28 weeks	-5.36 (-42.08, 31.35)	0.775	-8.77 (-45.68, 28.14)	0.641
36 weeks	-94.09 (-158.68, -29.51)	0.004	-100.85 (-164.98, -36.71)	0.002
SSFM		0.110*		0.101*
28 weeks	0.11 (-0.05, 0.28)	0.179	0.12 (-0.05, 0.30)	0.160
36 weeks	-0.12 (-0.38, 0.13)	0.343	-0.12 (-0.38, 0.13)	0.354
AFM		0.634*		0.651*
28 weeks	-0.05 (-0.26, 0.16)	0.651	-0.00 (-0.21, 0.21)	0.988
36 weeks	-0.13 (-0.43, 0.17)	0.393	-0.08 (-0.39, 0.23)	0.607
MTFM		0.688*		0.517*
28 weeks	0.00 (-0.23, 0.24)	0.970	-0.01 (-0.25, 0.23)	0.943
36 weeks	-0.11 (-0.69, 0.46)	0.705	-0.20 (-0.79, 0.39)	0.509
MTLM		0.035*		0.013*
28 weeks	0.09 (-0.11, 0.29)	0.377	0.09 (-0.12, 0.29)	0.405
36 weeks	-0.33 (-0.70, 0.03)	0.074	-0.41 (-0.77, -0.05)	0.027
AC		0.012*		0.010*
28 weeks	-0.04 (-0.31, 0.23)	0.768	-0.04 (-0.31, 0.23)	0.779
36 weeks	-0.51 (-0.82, -0.21)	0.001	-0.53 (-0.83, -0.22)	<.001
BPD		0.056*		0.056*
28 weeks	0.06 (-0.00, 0.12)	0.055	0.04 (-0.02, 0.11)	0.176
36 weeks	-0.02 (-0.08, 0.04)	0.545	-0.04 (-0.10, 0.02)	0.244
НС		0.042*		0.043*
28 weeks	0.09 (-0.13, 0.30)	0.429	0.10 (-0.12, 0.32)	0.363
36 weeks	-0.20 (-0.41, 0.02)	0.071	-0.18 (-0.39, 0.03)	0.095
FL		0.061*		0.088*
28 weeks	0.03 (-0.02, 0.08)	0.272	0.02 (-0.03, 0.08)	0.406

 Table 5.6: The relationship between log Adiponectin and fetal ultrasound markers

36 weeks	-0.03 (-0.08, 0.02)	0.179	-0.04 (-0.08, 0.01)	0.160
EFW z-score		0.986*		0.938*
28 weeks	-0.24 (-0.37, -0.10)	<.001	-0.23 (-0.37, -0.10)	<.001
36 weeks	-0.24 (-0.38, -0.09)	0.001	-0.24 (-0.38, -0.10)	<.001
AC z-score		0.427*		0.371*
28 weeks	-0.22 (-0.36, -0.08)	0.002	-0.21 (-0.35, -0.07)	0.004
36 weeks	-0.30 (-0.47, -0.13)	<.001	-0.30 (-0.46, -0.13)	<.001
BPD z-score		0.685*		0.609*
28 weeks	0.04 (-0.18, 0.26)	0.749	-0.01 (-0.23, 0.21)	0.949
36 weeks	-0.02 (-0.19, 0.16)	0.861	-0.07 (-0.26, 0.11)	0.434
HC z-score		0.759*		0.702*
28 weeks	-0.10 (-0.27, 0.06)	0.204	-0.08 (-0.24, 0.08)	0.316
36 weeks	-0.13 (-0.29, 0.02)	0.086	-0.12 (-0.27, 0.03)	0.124
FL z-score		0.530*		0.645*
28 weeks	-0.06 (-0.23, 0.11)	0.514	-0.07 (-0.24, 0.11)	0.454
36 weeks	-0.12 (-0.29, 0.04)	0.150	-0.11 (-0.28, 0.05)	0.176

Notes: Results are expressed as difference in means (95% CI) corresponding to a 1 unit increase in log Adiponectin. * p value for test of time-by-log Adiponectin interaction.

5.4.7 The interaction between cardiometabolic markers and fetal growth over time

The associations between maternal plasma log adiponectin concentration and mean EFW changed over time. At 28 weeks, there was a small and not statistically significant association but at 36 weeks, the association was larger in magnitude and the interaction was statistically significant.

The association between maternal plasma log Adiponectin concentration and mean AC changed over time. At 28 weeks, there was a small and not statistically significant association whereas at 36 weeks, the association was larger in magnitude and there was a statistically significant interaction.

The association between maternal plasma log adiponectin concentration and mean HC changed over time, although neither individual association was statistically significant. At 28 weeks, women with higher log adiponectin concentrations had fetuses with bigger head circumference, whereas at 36 weeks, women with higher log Adiponectin had fetuses with lower HC on average.

The association between maternal plasma log adiponectin concentrations and mean MTLM changed over time. At 28 weeks, there was a small and not statistically significant association; whereas at 36 weeks, the association was larger in magnitude and interaction was statistically significant (p = 0.013).

5.5 Discussion

This secondary exploratory analysis demonstrated that increasing maternal concentrations of adiponectin were associated with a reduction in abdominal circumference and estimated fetal weight, with the magnitude of this effect increasing over gestation. Furthermore, a higher triglyceride concentration was associated with an increase in abdominal circumference z-score and estimated fetal weight at 28 weeks gestation. There were no apparent associations between inflammatory markers, fasting glucose, triglyceride and leptin concentrations, and fetal ultrasound measurements.

This is the first study to describe the relationship between cardiometabolic biomarkers and fetal ultrasound measurements of biometry and adiposity. The literature to date has reported on maternal or cord blood sampling and postnatal measurements of neonatal adiposity (Patenaude et al. 2017) or child growth trajectories (Karakosta et al. 2016), and generally involved studies of small sample sizes. There have been two large studies evaluating maternal cardiometabolic and inflammatory markers in the setting of randomised control trials testing the effect of an antenatal dietary and lifestyle intervention (Moran et al. 2017, Sagedal et al. 2017).

The strength of this current analysis is the large sample size of 911 women and the reporting of fetal body composition as an outcome measurement. A potential limitation of this study relates to the absence of a comparator group of women entering pregnancy with a normal BMI. Fasting measurements at 36 weeks for triglycerides and glucose were not obtained and this also limited interpretation to one time point only for these two cardiometabolic markers.

The primary role of maternal adiponectin is to promote insulin sensitivity, which in turn increases the uptake of glucose by maternal skeletal muscle, thereby reducing the availability for placental transfer (Aye et al. 2013). Additionally, adiponectin modulates the insulin receptor in the trophoblast, preventing the placental transfer and uptake of amino acids (Aye et al. 2013). Adiponectin has been postulated as a possible link between maternal adipose tissue, placental transport and fetal growth (Aye et al. 2013).

The role of adiponectin in adult cardiovascular disease (Parker-Duffen et al. 2014, Lekva et al. 2017) and Type 2 Diabetes (Weyer et al. 2001) has been well defined. The current literature pertaining to pregnancy is limited to six studies, half of which reported on cord blood adiponectin concentrations only (Sivan et al. 2003, Tsai et al. 2004, Mantzoros et al. 2009). Maternal adiponectin concentrations have been reported in women entering pregnancy with a normal BMI (Lekva et al. 2017) or with GDM (Ategbo et al. 2006). In women entering pregnancy with a normal BMI, a reduction in adiponectin concentrations in the 3rd trimester was identified, and was independent of both maternal BMI and insulin resistance (Lekva et al. 2017). Low adiponectin concentrations have also been associated with a higher prevalence of newborn infants being classified as LGA and having increased birth weight (Lekva et al. 2017).

However, randomised dietary intervention trials have not confirmed an association between adiponectin concentrations and infant birth weight. The LIMIT trial did not identify differences between treatment groups with regards to concentrations of cardiometabolic and inflammatory markers in women who were overweight or obese (Moran et al. 2017). The Fit for Delivery antenatal intervention in healthy, non-diabetic women did demonstrate a reduction in both insulin and leptin concentrations with no difference in either mean birth weight or the proportion of babies weighing over 4kg (Sagedal et al. 2017). This effect was seen predominantly in lean women and was not statistically significant in women with a BMI ≥ 25 kg/m² (Sagedal et al. 2017).

While adiponectin concentrations do not alter with dietary change, there is increasing interest in the supplementation of adiponectin as a promising application in non-pregnant adults for treatment of obesity (Parker-Duffen et al. 2014, Lekva et al. 2017, Lekva et al. 2017), although robust evidence is limited. With regards to pregnancy, animal studies have identified that adiponectin supplementation may alter fetal growth through improving insulin sensitivity and placental function (Rosario et al. 2012). The proposed mechanism relates to the down regulation of key placental nutrient transporters within the syncytiotrophoblasts, including amino acid transporters such as System A (Rosario et al. 2012, Lekva et al. 2017). Adiponectin has also been suggested as a therapeutic agent to reduce cardiovascular risk, having been studied in overweight and obese mice and rodents (Parker-Duffen et al. 2014).

This study did not find a consistent association between leptin and fetal growth or adiposity. This finding is comparable to the study by Castro and associates, who measured maternal plasma leptin concentrations between 24 to 72 hours after birth, with no identified associations with neonatal adiposity (Castro et al. 2017). In contrast, Josefson and colleagues measured maternal concentrations at 36 weeks gestation, identifying a relationship with neonatal adiposity (Josefson et al. 2014). Fetal exposure in utero to high leptin concentrations has also been positively associated with infant birth weight, neonatal adiposity, and postnatal and childhood growth trajectories (Karakosta et al. 2016).

Maternal triglyceride concentrations at 36 weeks were associated with an increase in AC and EFW z-scores. This relationship is consistent with others who have reported hypertriglycerideaemia to be a strong determinant of fetal growth, independent of maternal BMI, in women with diabetes (Schaefer-Graf et al. 2008). Other studies have identified a similar association between maternal triglycerides measured in both early (Vrijkotte et al. 2011) and late pregnancy (Mossayebi et al. 2014) and fetal growth. Uncertainty remains regarding maternal concentrations influence fetal growth (Catalano 2010) and the role of lipoprotein receptors, binding proteins and lipases, which contribute to the placental flow of maternal fatty acids (Schaefer-Graf, Graf et al. 2008).

5.6 Conclusion

Among pregnant women who are overweight or obese

- Increasing maternal concentrations of adiponectin were associated with a reduction in abdominal circumference and estimated fetal weight;
- The magnitude of this effect increased over gestation;
- Increased triglyceride concentrations were associated with an increase in abdominal circumference z-score and estimated fetal weight at 36 weeks gestation; and
- There were no apparent associations between inflammatory markers, fasting glucose, triglyceride and leptin concentrations and fetal ultrasound measurements.

CHAPTER 6: Associations between fetal ultrasound biometry and newborn anthropometry in infants born to women who are overweight or obese

This chapter forms the basis of a manuscript currently under peer review (O'Brien CM et al American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, Maternal Fetal Medicine), which is contained in Appendix 5.

6.1 Introduction

Ultrasound is widely available and used clinically for antenatal detection of the LGA fetus to assist in clinical management regarding both the method and timing of birth, as potential strategies to reduce birth complications including operative delivery (Boulvain et al. 2016) and shoulder dystocia (Dodd et al. 2012). While several studies have attempted to evaluate the relationship between prenatal ultrasound and neonatal measures of body composition, they are limited by the relatively small sample sizes involved, with the majority of women being of normal BMI, and largely confined to either gestational or pre-existing diabetes (Bernstein et al. 1991, Larciprete et al. 2003, Parretti et al. 2003, Hure et al. 2012, O'Connor et al. 2014, Walsh et al. 2015, Gibson et al. 2016).

6.2 Aims

The aim of this study was to evaluate the relationship between fetal ultrasound biometry and adiposity measures at 36 weeks gestation and neonatal biometry and adiposity measures, in infants born to women who were overweight or obese.

6.3 Methods

The research methodology (Dodd et al. 2011, Dodd et al., 2014a, Dodd et al. 2014c) of the LIMIT randomised controlled trial have been outlined in Chapter 2, as has the methodology relating to ultrasound assessment of fetal biometry and adiposity measures.

6.3.1 Neonatal anthropometric measures

Infant birth weight (grams), HC (cm) and length (cm) were measured within the first 2 hours of birth by the attending midwife. Birth weight was measured using calibrated electronic scales to the nearest 1 gram with the newborn infant undressed. Length was measured using a length board and the infant laid supine, the head held against the top of the board and a sliding foot plate moved and rested flat against the foot of the infant with the legs fully extended, and read to the nearest 0.1cm (Dodd et al. 2016). Large for gestational age was defined as birth weight at or above the 90th centile for gestational age and infant sex. Z-scores were calculated using Australian population reference ranges (Beeby et al. 1996).

(i) Skin fold thickness measurements (SFTM)

Trained research assistants obtained anthropometric measurements according to a standardised protocol, within the first few days of life and prior to discharge from hospital (Dodd et al. 2016). SFTM were obtained on the right side of the body using Harpenden Skinfold Callipers, with the infant undressed. The skinfold was identified and grasped between the left thumb and index finger, so that a double fold of skin and subcutaneous adipose tissue was held without the incorporation of underlying muscle. The calliper jaws were placed perpendicular to the length of the skin fold and the measurement was recorded 2 seconds after the pressure was applied. For each site, the measurements were duplicated and if there was a difference more than 1.0mm, a third measure was taken. The final value presented the mean of two measurements or a median of the three (Marfell-Jones et al. 2006).

Abdominal SFTM was identified 2cm to the right of the umbilicus and measured perpendicular to the long axis of the abdomen. Subscapular SFTM was measured after identifying the lower tip of the scapula, with the observer's thumb placed below this laterally.

(ii) Body circumference measurements

Circumference measures were obtained according to a standardised protocol, with the infant undressed, supine and using a fibreglass measuring tape and recorded to the nearest 0.1cm (Kannieappan et al. 2013). HC was measured at the widest point above the eyebrows anteriorly (glabella) and the most prominent point of the occiput posteriorly.

AC was measured at the level of the umbilicus in a plane at right angles to the spine and at the end of a normal expiration.

6.3.2 Statistical analysis

Associations between 36 week fetal ultrasound measures and corresponding birth measures were explored in multiple ways. Firstly, to descriptively assess strength and linearity of association, scatterplots were created, with a lowess smooth and line of best fit superimposed. Secondly, a Pearson Correlation Coefficient was calculated for each pair of variables to measure the overall strength of linear association. Thirdly, to estimate the change in mean birth measure associated with increased values of the 36 week measure, linear regression models were fitted using the birth measure as the dependent variable (outcome) and the 36 week measure as the independent variable (predictor). Models were adjusted for the actual amount of time between 36 week ultrasound and date of birth. Lastly, to determine if the strength and direction of the association differed by maternal BMI category, linear regression models were fitted using birth measure as the dependent variable, and 36 week measure, BMI category, and their interaction, as the independent variables. Adjustments were made for the amount of time between the 36 week ultrasound and date of birth.

6.4 Results

6.4.1 Demographic characteristics

Flow of participants and baseline characteristics are presented in Figure 6.1 and Table 6.1 respectively. A total of 845 women and infants are included in this analysis. The median gestation at trial entry was 14.3 weeks (Interquartile range (IQR) 12.0 - 17.0) (Table 1).

The median maternal BMI was 31.2kg/m² (IQR 27.8 – 35.8) kg/m², with 41% (n = 350) of women overweight and 58.6% (n =495) obese. Ninety-two percent (92%) of women in our cohort are of Caucasian ethnicity (n = 773) and 59% of women (n = 501) were in their first ongoing pregnancy. Fifteen percent (n = 128) of women were classified within the highest quintile of social disadvantage using the Socio-Economic Indexes for Areas (SEIFA). The baseline characteristics of the women contributing ultrasound and neonatal data were comparable to all women in the standard care group, and to the full randomised LIMIT cohort (Dodd et al. 2014a).

Figure 6.1: Flow chart of participants included in the analysis of associations between fetal and neonatal measures



Table 6.1 – Baseline characteristics of participants included in the analysis of associations between fetal and neonatal measures

Baseline Characteristics	Results
Total Number: N (%)	845
Maternal Age at Trial Entry	29.50
Mean (SD)	(5.46)
Gestational age at Trial Entry (weeks)	14.29
Median (IQR)	(12.00, 17.00)
BMI (kg/m ²)	31.20
Median (IQR)	(27.80, 35.80)
BMI Category: n (%)	
25.0-29.9 kg/m ²	350 (41.42)
$\geq 30.0 \text{ kg/m}^2$	495 (58.58)
Caucasian: n (%)	773 (91.48)
Nulliparous: n (%)	344 (40.71)
Smoker: n (%)	94 (11.12)
SEIFA Quintile: n (%)	
Most disadvantaged Quintile 1	242 (28.64)
Quintile 2	207 (24.50)
Quintile 3	133 (15.74)
Quintile 4	135 (15.98)
Least disadvantaged Quintile 5	128 (15.15)

6.4.2 Correlation between ultrasound measures and neonatal measures

Both EFW (0.62) and EFW z-score (0.70) at 36 weeks gestation were strongly correlated with birth weight (Table 6.2 and Figure 6.2). While there was moderate correlation between ultrasound derived SSFM (0.32) and subscapular SFTM measured at birth, ultrasound derived AFM was poorly correlated with abdominal SFTM (0.07) (Table 6.2).

Table 6.2: Correlation coefficients between fetal and neonatal body composition measurements

Association Between	Pearson Correlation Coefficient
Birthweight and 36 Week EFW	0.62
Birth HC and 36 Week HC	0.52
Birth AC and 36 Week AC	0.49
Birth SSFM and 36 Week SSFM	0.34
Birth AFM and 36 Week AFM	0.07
Birthweight z-score and 36 Week EFW z-score	0.70
Birth HC z-score and 36 Week HC z-score	0.51

Figure 6.2: Relationship between birth measures and (a) Estimated Fetal Weight (EFW) and (b) Abdominal Fat Mass (AFM)



Figure 6.2a illustrates birthweights by 36 week estimation of fetal weight. Figure 6.2b illustrates birth abdominal SFTM and AFM measured at 36 weeks. The lines represent lowess and smoothing.

6.4.3 Linear regression models for the association between ultrasound measures and neonatal measures

Table 6.3 summarises the results of linear regression models investigating the association between 36 week ultrasound measurements and birth measurements. For every 1gram increase in EFW at 36 weeks gestation, there was a 0.94 gram increase in infant birth weight (95% CI 0.88 to 0.99 grams; p<0.001). The combination of ultrasound derived EFW at 36 weeks gestation and the number of subsequent days until birth accounted for 63% of the variability in measures (R^2 =0.63). There were similar findings for HC, HC z-score, AC and SSFM, with a moderate to high degree of overall variability explained (Table 6.3). The exception was abdominal skin fold thickness, where the 36 week measure (SSFM) was not significantly associated with abdominal SFTM measured at birth (0.06 mm; 95% CI: -0.03, 0.15).

 Table 6.3: Linear regression analyses measuring the association between fetal and

 neonatal measurements of body composition

Association	Estimate (95% CI)	p value	\mathbf{R}^2
Birthweight / EFW	0.94 (0.88, 0.99)	< 0.001	0.63
Head Circumference	0.69 (0.63, 0.75)	< 0.001	0.41
Abdomen Circumference	0.69 (0.60, 0.79)	< 0.001	0.34
SSFM	0.29 (0.20, 0.39)	< 0.001	0.13
AFM	0.06 (-0.03, 0.15)	0.203	0.01
Birthweight z-score / EFW z-score	0.78 (0.73, 0.84)	< 0.001	0.50
HC z-score	0.62 (0.55, 0.70)	< 0.001	0.26

Note: Estimates are differences in mean birth measure (95% CI) corresponding to a 1 unit increase in 36 week ultrasound measure. All models were adjusted for time (in days) elapsed between 36 week ultrasound and birth.

6.4.4 Linear regression models allowing for effect modification by BMI category

Table 6.4 presents the results of linear regression models investigating whether the association between 36 week ultrasound measurements and birth measurements was modified by maternal BMI category, with the estimates of the association between 36 week measures and neonatal measures presented separately by maternal BMI category.

For all measures except AFM, a similar pattern was observed, in which there was a significant relationship between the 36 week measure (EFW, HC, AC, SSFM) and the corresponding birth measure (BW, HC, AC, subscapular skin fold thickness) in both overweight and obese BMI categories. The magnitude and direction of this association was consistent across both overweight and obese BMI categories. The difference in the estimates of association between overweight and obese BMI categories was not statistically significant or clinically meaningful.

In relation to the ultrasound derived AFM and abdominal SFTM measured at birth (Table 6.4), the association was not statistically significant at either time point and there was no evidence of effect modification by maternal BMI category.

Table 6.4: Interaction analysis assessing influence of maternal BMI on fetal and neonatal measurements

Association	Estimate (95% CI)	p value	R ²
Birthweight/EFW		0.803*	0.63
- BMI 25.0-29.9	0.93 (0.84, 1.01)	< 0.001	
- BMI ≥ 30.0	0.94 (0.87, 1.01)	< 0.001	
НС		0.373*	0.41
- BMI 25.0-29.9	0.73 (0.62, 0.83)	< 0.001	
- BMI ≥ 30.0	0.67 (0.59, 0.75)	< 0.001	
AC		0.655*	0.34
- BMI 25.0-29.9	0.72 (0.57, 0.87)	< 0.001	
- BMI ≥ 30.0	0.68 (0.55, 0.80)	< 0.001	
SSFM		0.403*	0.14
- BMI 25.0-29.9	0.34 (0.20, 0.48)	< 0.001	
- BMI ≥ 30.0	0.26 (0.13, 0.38)	< 0.001	
AFM		0.592*	0.01
- BMI 25.0-29.9	0.08 (-0.04, 0.21)	0.196	
- BMI ≥ 30.0	0.03 (-0.09, 0.16)	0.598	
Birthweight and EFW z-scores		0.970*	0.50
- BMI 25.0-29.9	0.78 (0.69, 0.86)	< 0.001	
- BMI ≥ 30.0	0.78 (0.71, 0.85)	< 0.001	
HC z-score		0.753*	0.26
- BMI 25.0-29.9	0.61 (0.49, 0.73)	< 0.001	
- BMI ≥ 30.0	0.63 (0.54, 0.72)	< 0.001	

Notes: All models included 36 week measure, BMI category (kg/m^2) , and the interaction between 36 week measure and BMI category as predictors. Estimates are differences in mean estimated birth measure corresponding to a 1 unit increase in 36 week measure, in each BMI category. * denotes p value for test of interaction between 36 week measure and BMI category

6.5 Discussion

The findings of this study demonstrate that among overweight and obese pregnant women, ultrasound assessment of fetal weight at 36 weeks gestation is a reliable indicator of infant birth weight. While fetal ultrasound assessment of HC and AC at 36 weeks gestation is strongly correlated with birth HC and AC, fetal and newborn measures of adiposity were only moderately or poorly correlated.

Strengths of this study include the robust trial methodology of the LIMIT trial, in addition to the adherence to standardised ultrasound and newborn anthropometry protocols (Marfell-Jones et al. 2006, ASUM 2007). This study is the largest to date comparing fetal ultrasound measures at 36 weeks gestation with neonatal anthropometric measures obtained at birth. While this analysis includes data from 845 women and infants rather than the full Standard Care LIMIT group, the risk of selection bias is considered minimal. The characteristics of the current cohort did not differ significantly from either the characteristics of the Standard Care group, or the entire LIMIT cohort (Dodd et al. 2014a, Dodd et al. 2016, Grivell et al. 2016). The findings of this study would be enhanced by the inclusion of data from women entering pregnancy with a normal BMI.

Generally, SFTM are reliable and relatively non-invasive tools to assess newborn fat distribution, having been correlated with more invasive assessments (Moyer-Mileur et al. 2009, Lingwood et al. 2012) including Dual-energy X-ray Absorptiometry (DXA) (Friis et al. 2013). In addition, there is moderate to excellent inter-observer agreement in obtaining both ultrasound (Grivell et al. 2016) and newborn SFTM in this population of women (Kannieappan

et al. 2013) through adherence to standardised research quality protocols, validating their use in a large clinical trial setting. While the use of alternate infant body composition assessments may have been more strongly correlated with fetal ultrasound assessment measures than were observed with SFTM, such an approach is not feasible within the practical constraints of a large-scale clinical research trial.

Importantly, there were no differences identified in the relationship between ultrasound derived fetal and neonatal biometry and adiposity measures according to maternal BMI, despite the well-documented limitations of ultrasound in obese women (Paladini 2009). These findings are consistent with those of Zhang and colleagues, who have also demonstrated no effect from maternal obesity on the quality of fetal biometric measurements (Zhang et al. 2018).

In contrast, fetal ultrasound measures of adiposity were poorly correlated with skin fold thickness measures at birth. While neonatal adiposity has been examined extensively in the literature, few studies have directly compared fetal ultrasound to neonatal body composition. However, there is a lack of consistency in the comparative measurements at birth and this is likely to contribute to the variability in findings. The direct comparison may also be limited by the fact that the caliper used to measure skin fold thickness incorporates a double layer of tissue, which differs from the single layer measured on ultrasound (Borkan et al. 1982). This relationship may not be exactly a 2:1 ratio due to compression of the tissue by the caliper (Borkan et al. 1982).

Fetal thigh and arm circumferences and volumes utilising both 2- and 3-dimensional ultrasound techniques (Khoury et al. 2009, Lee et al. 2009, Ikenoue et al. 2017) have shown the most promising results, improving the predictive value of both macrosomia and infant birthweight in women with obesity (Gibson et al. 2016) and diabetes (Garcia-Flores et al. 2017). There is a clear need for prospective studies with robust methodology, consistency in fetal and neonatal measurement and large sample sizes to further delineate the predictive value of fetal and neonatal adiposity.

The findings of this study validate the use of the 36 week fetal ultrasound as a tool to accurately represent both neonatal biometry and birthweight in women who are overweight or obese. In contrast, the routine incorporation of ultrasound derived fetal adiposity measures is not advocated given their poor correlation with neonatal skin fold thickness measurements.

6.6 Conclusion

Among infants born to overweight and obese pregnant women,

- Ultrasound assessment of fetal weight at 36 weeks gestation is a reliable indicator of infant birth weight;
- Ultrasound assessment of HC and AC at 36 weeks are strongly correlated with newborn measures;
- Fetal and newborn measures of adiposity are only moderately or poorly correlated.
- Maternal BMI did not change the associations between fetal and neonatal measurements

CHAPTER 7: Overall Conclusions

Maternal obesity has a significant impact on pregnancy and birth related outcomes for the woman, the developing fetus, the newborn infant, and in the longer-term, on childand adult-hood health. While there are well-established links between maternal obesity, high infant birth weight and childhood obesity, the relative contributions of maternal BMI, maternal diet, and cardiometabolic and inflammatory markers to fetal biometry, body composition and growth over time have been under-evaluated. The series of studies contained in this thesis have explored the impact of these factors on fetal growth and adiposity.

7.1 The impact of maternal BMI on ultrasound derived fetal growth and adiposity, and growth velocities

For pregnant women who are overweight or obese

• Increasing maternal BMI is associated with incremental increases in growth velocity of the fetal abdomen circumference and estimated fetal weight.

For pregnant women with $BMI \ge 40.0 \text{kg/m}^2$ there is an increase in

- All fetal biometry z-scores at both 28 and 36 weeks gestation; and
- Abdominal fat mass and abdominal area.

7.2 The impact of maternal dietary factors on ultrasound derived

fetal growth and adiposity

For pregnant women who are overweight or obese

• Maternal dietary measures are not consistently associated with fetal growth or adiposity.

7.3 The impact of maternal cardiometabolic and inflammatory markers on ultrasound derived fetal growth and adiposity

For pregnant women who are overweight or obese

- Increasing maternal concentrations of adiponectin were associated with a reduction in abdominal circumference and estimated fetal weight;
- The magnitude of this effect increased over gestation;
- Increased triglyceride concentrations were associated with an increase in abdominal circumference z-score and estimated fetal weight at 36 weeks gestation; and
- There were no apparent associations between inflammatory markers, fasting glucose, triglyceride and leptin concentrations and fetal ultrasound measurements.
7.4 Associations between fetal ultrasound biometry and newborn

anthropometry

Among infants born to pregnant women who are overweight or obese:

- Ultrasound assessment of fetal weight at 36 weeks gestation is a reliable indicator of infant birth weight;
- Ultrasound assessment of fetal HC and AC at 36 weeks are strongly correlated with newborn measures;
- Maternal BMI contributes a large proportion to the overall variability of ultrasound obtained fetal growth measures; and
- Fetal and newborn measures of adiposity are only moderately or poorly correlated.

7.5 External validity, generalisability, strengths and limitations

As has been identified in the main clinical manuscripts describing the findings of the LIMIT randomised trial (Dodd et al. 2014b, Dodd et al. 2014c, Dodd et al. 2014d, Dodd et al. 2016, Grivell et al. 2016), the trial population was predominately of Caucasian origin, of high social disadvantage and were overweight and obese entering pregnancy. The findings of this thesis may therefore not be generalisable to other populations of pregnant women with different demographic characteristics.

The strengths of this study include the large number of overweight and obese women and their fetuses along with the use of robust methodology (Dodd et al. 2014a, Dodd et al. 2011) as part of LIMIT randomised controlled trial. The main limitation to this study was the lack of a comparator group of women entering pregnancy with a normal BMI would have enabled on fetal growth patterns across the BMI spectrum.

7.6 Implications for clinical practice

In overweight and obese pregnant women, ultrasound assessment of fetal biometry and EFW is a reliable tool that correlates well with infant birth measurements, and should continue to be used in routine clinical practice. However, there is insufficient evidence to support the routine incorporation of ultrasound measures of fetal adiposity into standard clinical care.

7.6 Implications for further research

The findings generated from the series of studies contained in this thesis highlight the complex nature of factors influencing fetal growth and adiposity. All secondary analyses were conducted among overweight and obese pregnant women, and would benefit from the inclusion of and comparison with data from women of normal BMI. It is anticipated that this will be possible within the next several years, following the publication of the findings from the OPTIMISE randomised trial, evaluating a dietary and lifestyle intervention among pregnant women with a normal BMI (Dodd et al. 2018).

In the past decade, there has been considerable research interest in the provision of antenatal dietary and lifestyle interventions in pregnancy, particularly for women who are overweight or obese. The underlying assumption has been that dietary and physical activity modification will limit gestational weight gain, with the expectation of improvements in pregnancy and birth outcomes both for women and their infants. However, an individual participant data meta-analysis incorporating data from 36 randomised trials, and more than 12,500 pregnant women globally who received an antenatal dietary and/or lifestyle intervention (International Weight Management in Pregnancy Collaborative 2017) indicates only a modest reduction in gestational weight gain (mean difference -0.7kg), and very little effect on clinical pregnancy outcomes. Future research efforts should target overweight and obese women to facilitate weight loss and adoption of a healthy lifestyle in the period prior to conception.

APPENDIX 1

AUTHORSHIP STATEMENT

Title of the Paper: Implications of maternal obesity on fetal growth and the role of ultrasound

Publication status: Published

Publication details: O'Brien CM, Poprzeczny A, Dodd JM. Implications of maternal obesity on fetal growth and the role of ultrasound. *Expert Review of Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 2017:12(1):45-58.

PRINCIPAL AUTHOR

Author (Candidate)	Dr Cecelia O'Brien
Contribution to the paper	Designed the review article Wrote the manuscript Acted as the corresponding author

Overall percentage (%) 60%

Signature

Date: 4th December, 2018

Name of the Co-Author	Dr Amanda Poprzeczny
Contribution to the paper	Assisted in the development of manuscript plan
	Wrote a chapter in the review article
Signature	Date: 03/12/2018

Name of the Co-Author	Professor Jodie Dodd		
Contribution to the paper	Assisted in the design		
	Reviewed the manuscript		
Signature		Date:	
			03/12/2018
	V		

REVIEW

Implications of maternal obesity on fetal growth and the role of ultrasound

Cecelia M O'brien^{a,b}, Amanda Poprzeczny^{a,c} and Jodie M Dodd^{a,d}

^aSchool of Paediatrics and Reproductive Health, and Robinson Research Institute, University of Adelaide, Adelaide, Australia; ^bMaternal Fetal Medicine Unit, John Hunter Hospital, Newcastle, Australia; ^cDepartment of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, Lyell McEwin Hospital, Adelaide, Australia; ^dDepartment of Perinatal Medicine, Women's and Babies Division, Women's and Children's Hospital, Adelaide, Australia

ABSTRACT

Introduction: Over fifty percent of women entering pregnancy are overweight or obese. This has a significant impact on short and long term maternal and infant health outcomes, and the intergenerational effects of obesity are now a major public health problem globally.

Areas covered: There are two major pathways contributing to fetal growth. Glucose and insulin directly affect growth, while other substrates such as leptin, adiponectin and insulin-like growth factors indirectly influence growth through structural and morphological effects on the placenta, uteroplacental blood flow, and regulation of placental transporters. Advances in ultrasonography over the past decade have led to interest in the prediction of the fetus at risk of overgrowth and adiposity utilizing both standard ultrasound biometry and fetal body composition measurements. However, to date there is no consensus regarding the definition of fetal overgrowth, its reporting, and clinical management. **Expert commentary:** Maternal dietary intervention targeting the antenatal period appear to be too late to sufficiently affect fetal growth. The peri-conceptual period and early pregnancy are being evaluated to determine if the intergenerational effects of maternal obesity can be altered to improve newborn, infant and child health.

ARTICLE HISTORY Received 21 October 2016 Accepted 9 December 2016

KEYWORDS Obesity: pregnance

Obesity; pregnancy; fetal growth; fetal body composition; adiposity

1. Introduction

Worldwide, it is estimated more than 1.46 billion adults, and 170 million children, are either overweight or obese [1,2]. The global prevalence of obesity has more than doubled between 1980 and 2014 [3], with a more pronounced surge in low- and middle-income countries [2,3]. Based on current trends, it is estimated that more than 50% of adults worldwide will be obese by 2030 [4]. Obesity is the sixth most important risk factor contributing to overall burden of disease worldwide [5], and is an independent risk factor for the development of many associated morbidities, including hypertension, diabetes mellitus, and cardiovascular disease, all of which contribute to a significant reduction in life expectancy [5].

Over 50% of women in high-income countries enter pregnancy with a body mass index (BMI) greater than 25 kg/m² [6– 8], impacting significantly on maternal, fetal, and neonatal health outcomes, both in the short term during pregnancy and birth, and in the longer term, contributing to high rates of childhood obesity [9–13]. The associations between maternal obesity and subsequent childhood obesity is complex, involving both genetic and environmental factors, with a substantial impact reported to arise from intrauterine programming contributing to longer term health complications [13–15]. A recent commission into childhood obesity found escalation in the prevalence across the world [9], with 41 million infants and children under the age of 5 years identified as overweight or obese [3]. The effect on a child's later life is significant, including the development of diabetes, increased risk of cancer, respiratory disease, cognitive impairment, mental health issues, and reproductive disorders [9]. In addition, there is an impact on educational and recreational opportunities with subsequent economic impact for the family unit and society as a whole [9].

There is considerable interest in understanding the mechanisms underlying fetal growth and adiposity patterns which may contribute to the intergenerational effects of obesity [16]. From a public health perspective, preventive strategies targeting the periconceptual and antenatal periods, may contribute to a reduction in fetal overgrowth and adiposity, slowing the transmission of obesity between generations [17].

1.1. The consequences relating to maternal obesity

Entering pregnancy as overweight or obese are independent risk factors for almost all pregnancy and birth complications, the risk increasing linearly with increasing BMI category [18,19]. Women who are overweight or obese are more likely to develop hypertensive disorders, including preeclampsia [19–25], gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM) [18,20,23–25] and contribute to a significantly increased risk of antenatal stillbirth [20,22,26,27] and preterm birth [18,20,24].

Women who are overweight or obese are more likely to give birth to an infant that is considered large for gestational age (LGA) or macrosomic [13,18,22,24,28], both of which contribute to intrapartum-related complications including an

Taylor & Francis Taylor & Francis Group

CONTACT Cecelia M O'brien 🛛 cecelia.obrien@adelaide.edu.au 🖃 Women's and Children's Hospital, The University of Adelaide, 72 King William Road, North Adelaide, South Australia 5006, Australia

 $[\]ensuremath{\mathbb{C}}$ 2016 Informa UK Limited, trading as Taylor & Francis Group

increase in the rates of fetal distress, operative birth, including caesarean section, and perineal trauma [29,30]. In the neonatal period, infants born to women who are overweight or obese, irrespective of birthweight, are more likely to be born prematurely, are at higher risk of shoulder dystocia, hypoglycemia, and are more likely to require admission to the neonatal intensive care unit [18–20,28].

2. Large for gestational age, macrosomia, and neonatal body composition

It is important to highlight there is no international consensus regarding the definition, measurement, reporting, and management of the LGA or macrosomic fetus or newborn [31]. Furthermore, the distinction between prenatal ultrasound, which provides an estimate of fetal weight, versus the newborn period, which measure actual birthweight and can be adjusted for gestational age at birth and gender, are often not clear [30].

The definition of the LGA *fetus* is based on prenatal ultrasound, and utilizes measures of abdominal circumference (AC) or estimated fetal weight (EFW) using Hadlock's formula, variably defined as greater than or equal to the 90th, 95th or 97th centile for gestational age [29,30] using population-based charts [32]. The prenatal ultrasound measurement of EFW has a measurement error of $\pm 20\%$ [33] with further reduction in performance in the setting of maternal obesity and at the extremes of fetal weight [34]. The term fetal macrosomia is also variably defined as an EFW greater than or equal to 4000 g or 4500 g [31].

In comparison, the classification of a LGA *newborn infant* is a measurement of birthweight, corrected for infant sex and gestational age at birth [30], although again, this can be variably defined as greater than or equal to the 90th, 95th or 97th centiles. Similarly, infant macrosomia is a postpartum definition based on infant birthweight of greater than or equal to 4000 g or 4500 g [29].

There has been interest in using customized growth charts to identify the infant at risk of growth disorders, taking into account factors such as maternal ethnicity, height and weight, infant sex, and gestational age [35]. Some have advocated the use of customized growth charts to define the LGA infant (birthweight >90th centile), as being superior in prediction of neonatal morbidity, when compared with definition of macrosomia (BW ≥4000 g) [30], postulating that the higher predictive value relates to improved detection of excessive fetal growth or alteration in fetal body composition taking into consideration the constitution of the mother [30,36]. However, it remains to be determined whether the consideration of maternal overweight and obesity and its effects on fetal growth as 'physiological' rather than 'pathological' is appropriate in this setting.

Birthweight as a single measure reflects mass, and does not reflect variations in the distribution of adipose tissue nor the relative proportion of adipose and lean tissue mass. Lean body mass has been correlated with genetic factors, whereas fat mass has been correlated with the maternal environment [37]. Most studies reported in the literature have compared lean and adipose tissue masses in infants born to women who are overweight or obese with infants born to lean women [38,39]. The intrauterine metabolic environment has been shown to affect the growth of adipose tissue but not lean tissue mass [40]. Neonatal fat mass accounts for approximately 14% of the total birthweight but has been shown to significantly contribute to the birthweight variation in over 50% of newborns [40,41]. These studies have shown that as maternal BMI increases, so too does neonatal adipose tissue mass [38,39], which in turn is correlated with an increased risk of childhood obesity and longer term metabolic dysfunction [42].

In contrast, the effect of maternal obesity on newborn lean tissue mass remains uncertain. While some have reported no association with maternal obesity [38], others have reported associations between maternal obesity, lower newborn fat free mass, and higher total and percentage of fat mass as measured by air displacement plethysmography [39]. There is a need for ongoing research into this area, including the longer term follow-up of children to assess the impact of neonatal adipose tissue distribution on subsequent childhood obesity.

3. Clinical management for the large for gestational age fetus

Despite the limitations identified above relating to the definitions of LGA and fetal macrosomia, the widespread availability of ultrasound and concerns relating to maternal and infant pregnancy and birth complications, has led to interest in the prediction of fetal macrosomia [43] in an attempt to reduce morbidity through active clinical management.

Clinical management options remain controversial for women who are identified to have a macrosomic fetus in the antenatal period [31]. A large decision analysis study by Rouse identified that an elective caesarean section for EFW greater than 4.5 kg, was not an economically viable treatment option [44]. The cost of elective caesarean birth did not outweigh the prevention of shoulder dystocia and brachial plexus injuries [44]. In contrast, a similar study reached the opposite conclusions, when considering the 'costs' related to maternal perineal trauma and subsequent fecal and urinary incontinence issues for the woman, in addition to the direct effects of shoulder dystocia and brachial plexus injuries for the offspring [45]. Importantly, any short or longer term 'costs' related to the effects of birth asphyxia have not been incorporated into these decision analyses [31].

A recent multicenter randomized trial involving 19 tertiary centers including 832 women with an average BMI between 25–26 kg/m² with a fetus suspected to be LGA, were randomized to elective induction of labor or continued expectant management [46]. The trial identified a reduction in neonatal morbidity following induction of labor between 37 and 39 weeks following ultrasound identification of a LGA fetus defined as an EFW greater than the 95th centile [46]. This type of clinical intervention was not associated with differences in a woman's risk of caesarean birth. Incorporation of 4 similar randomized trials in a meta-analysis involving a total of 1190 women, identified that induction of labor was associated with a reduction in the occurrence of shoulder dystocia, and any type of neonatal fracture, although there are no statistically significant differences in the rates of operative delivery, brachial plexus injury, low 5-min Apgar scores or low arterial cord blood pH [47]. The generalizability of these findings for women who are overweight or obese is uncertain, particularly taking into consideration the reduction in accuracy of ultrasound estimation of fetal weight in this clinical setting [43,47].

The clinical management debate will continue with consideration of multiple factors including a woman's autonomy, obstetrician factors, ultrasound availability, prediction and accuracy, evidence surrounding intervention, and concern about rising caesarean birth rates in the developed world [31].

4. The fetal 'overgrowth' hypothesis

In 1967, Pedersen and associates first proposed a hypothesis to describe the underlying mechanism relating to overgrowth of the fetus, seen primarily in women with diabetes mellitus during pregnancy [48]. This is commonly known as the direct pathway for fetal 'overgrowth' and is more commonly referred to as the Pedersen hypothesis [48]. Glucose has been long recognized as the primary fuel substrate for fetal growth and development, and is delivered across the placental interface via transport mediated facilitated diffusion [49,50]. In the setting of maternal hyperglycaemia and hyperinsulinaemia related to both maternal obesity and gestational diabetes, there is a greater diffusion gradient of glucose, which in turn leads to fetal hyperglycaemia [49]. Hyperglycaemia in the fetal circulation, stimulates insulin production by the fetal pancreas, insulin-like growth factors (IGF), growth hormones, and a range of other growth promoting factors, all of which stimulate fetal deposition of glycogen and fat [48]. More recently, the hypothesis has been expanded to account for the placental transfer of lipids and their contribution to fetal growth 13[40].

Increasingly, there is evidence to support an 'indirect' pathway that can impact the delivery and quantity of the nutritional supply to the fetus across the placenta [50,51]. The placenta is the interface between the maternal and fetal circulations, providing critical and complex functions for the developing fetus. The placenta plays an integral role in fetal growth through the regulation of blood flow, oxygen delivery, and nutrient transfer across the placenta [52]. While the placenta is likely to be an important mediator by which maternal obesity contributes to fetal overgrowth and adiposity [53], there is a relative paucity of literature describing its role in the regulation of fetal growth in this setting. Various hypotheses include the regulation of placental transporters [53] and the nutrient transfer capacity of the placenta, which directly relate to the structural and morphological features of the placenta, in addition to uteroplacental blood flow [50,54].

5. Fetal growth restriction in the setting of maternal obesity

Large population cohort studies have identified maternal obesity to not only be associated with fetal overgrowth but also with growth restriction [22–24]. While, the risk of fetal growth restriction and small for gestational age (SGA) infants in obese women is approximately 2.3% in women with a BMI greater than or equal to 40 kg/m², the incidence for SGA is much smaller than an appropriately grown infant (82.7%), or LGA infant (14.9%) [22]. These rates are similar to those derived from large randomized trials. The LIMIT trial identified a risk of infant birthweight less than 2.5 kg (or SGA) to be approximately 4.7% [55], consistent with the findings from the UPBEAT randomized trial [56] which utilized customized birthweight centiles. Similarly, the ultrasound measurements relating to fetal growth, including weight, were consistently above the mean, as discussed subsequently [57].

Observational studies have identified women who are overweight or obese to be at increased risk of perinatal death, when compared with women of normal BMI [26,27,58]. In this setting, the majority of stillborn infants were identified to be SGA, particularly beyond 37 weeks' gestation [26,27]. Furthermore, higher rates of fetoplacental dysfunction were found in women who are obese (5.4 fetal deaths per 1000 live births) compared with women with a normal BMI (1.4 fetal deaths per 1000 live births) [26].

The underlying mechanisms for a reduction in uteroplacental blood flow may relate to the exaggerated hyperlipidaemia along with increased free fatty acids and cholesterol, which may potentially increase the risk of placental thrombosis and subsequently reduce placental perfusion [26]. Another potential explanation may reflect the high rates of preeclampsia identified in women with increasing BMI [20-23,25,34]. Oxidative stress and endothelial dysfunction from obesity may impact on trophoblastic invasion and contribute to poorer pregnancy outcomes, such as preeclampsia and placental insufficiency [59]. Preeclampsia and defective trophoblastic invasion in turn affects placental function and may alter the fetal growth potential [59]. There remains uncertainty surrounding the exact mechanism contributing to reduced growth in fetuses born to women who are obese and whether inadequate trophoblast invasion or perfusion defects comes first.

Impaired fetal growth in the setting of maternal overweight and obesity may also reflect the effects of maternal weight loss, which is more likely among obese women during pregnancy [60]. While lower maternal weight gain during pregnancy has been associated with a reduction in the risk of LGA infants and many pregnancy-related complications, it appears to be at the expense of an increase in SGA infants [61]. While observational studies highlight this association, it is unclear if the contribution of weight loss to poor fetal growth reflects impaired nutrient delivery to the fetus, or whether other mechanisms are operational [60].

6. Metabolic determinants of fetal growth

6.1. Glucose

Maternal obesity, even in the absence of GDM, is associated with higher glucose concentrations, contributing to an intrauterine hormonal environment that is similar to that associated with metabolic syndrome, characterized by hyperglycemia and insulin resistance [40]. Offspring born to women who are obese have documented higher cord blood glucose and insulin concentrations, and are more insulin resistant

48 👄 C. M. O'BRIEN ET AL.

[49,62,63]. This relationship between maternal obesity and insulin resistance measured in neonatal cord blood is present irrespective of a diagnosis of gestational diabetes [49]. Furthermore, findings from the Hyperglycaemia and Adverse Pregnancy Outcomes (HAPO) study have confirmed a linear relationship between maternal glucose concentration and infant birthweight, even at glucose concentrations below those considered to be diagnostic of GDM [64]. Similar relationships between maternal glucose concentrations below the diagnostic threshold of GDM, and adverse neonatal outcomes related to insulin resistance and glucose intolerance have been described in the other populations, including North America, the United States, and the United Kingdom [49,64,65].

6.2. Maternal hormones

Leptin, adiponectin, lipid metabolism, and insulin growth factors have all been identified to contribute to fetal growth in a complex fashion. Table 1 summarizes the key metabolic substrates, their proposed physiology, effect on fetal growth, and changes which have been identified in the setting of maternal obesity.

6.3. Adipose tissue as a metabolically active contributor to fetal growth

Adipose tissue is not simply an inert storage organ, but is metabolically active in the secretion of multiple hormones which contribute to metabolic homeostasis [80]. Fetal adipocytes begin to develop at 15 weeks and as gestation advances, there is an increase in fetal fat mass from 5% to 15% [81]. The development of adipose tissue in the fetus and early neonatal

life is sensitive to hormones such as insulin, IGF and glucocorticoids [82]. While it is recognized that the human fetus deposits a large amount of subcutaneous fat in late gestation [83], subscapular and axillary fetal adiposity predominantly reflects brown adipose tissue (BAT) deposition, which is required for non-shivering thermogenesis in the immediate adaptation to extrauterine life [83,84]. While it was initially thought that the presence of BAT was confined to early infancy, deposits have been identified in adults at sites that echo those of the neonate, through the use of positron emission tomography [84], being more commonly identified in women and lean individuals. Furthermore, the role of BAT in energy production and increasing basal metabolic rate has resulted in its identification as a potential target to ameliorate the effects of obesity [83,84].

Similar to the relationships between adipokines and overweight and obesity in adults, cord blood concentrations of leptin correlates positively with infant birthweight and neonatal fat mass [49,71–74,85,86]. Cord blood leptin concentrations have also been shown to positively correlate with measures of neonatal insulin resistance [49], suggesting that neonatal fat mass and insulin resistance are related, and raising the possibility that neonatal adipose tissue is also metabolically active.

6.4. The inflammatory response to maternal obesity

Women who are overweight or obese, enter pregnancy with an altered inflammatory environment, which may predispose to the development of pregnancy-related complications including hypertension and gestational diabetes [87,88]. Obesity (both in pregnancy and nonpregnant individuals) is associated with a low-grade, chronic inflammatory state [89], which in animal models has been associated with the

Table 1. The key metabolic substrates during pregnancy, their effect on fetal growth, and changes related to maternal obesity.

Factor	Physiology	Effect on fetal growth	Changes in maternal obesity	References
Glucose	Crosses the placenta via GLUTs Main energy source for the fetus	Promotes fetal overgrowth	Higher in maternal obesity Increased risk of GDM and hyperglycemia Positively associated with birthweight	Metzger [64] Catalano [49] Uebel [63] Torloni, 2009 [66]
Lipids	Early pregnancy – maternal fat accumulation Late pregnancy – maternal hyperlipidemia	Contributes to fetal fat deposition in the third trimester	Higher serum triglycerides throughout pregnancy Independently associated with risk of LGA and neonatal measures of adiposity	Son, 2010 [67] Vrijkotte, 2011 [68] Whyte, 2013 [69] Schaefer-Grafe, 2008 [70]
Leptin	Produced predominantly by white adipose tissue Involved in regulatory control of placental nutrient transport	Promotes fetal overgrowth	Higher circulating levels Higher cord blood levels in offspring Positively correlates with birthweight, neonatal adiposity and neonatal insulin resistance	Tessier [71] Tsai, 2015 [72] Catalano [49] Karakosta [73] Josefson [74]
Adiponectin	Produced by adipose tissue Contributes to peripheral insulin sensitivity Reduces nutrient availability for the placenta	Negative regulator of fetal growth	Maternal levels lower in obesity Maternal levels negatively correlate with birthweight and neonatal fat mass	Ategbo, 2006 [75] Lowe, 2010 [76]
IGF's	Family of ligands (IGF's) and ligand-binding proteins (IGFBP's) Produced by the liver Contributes to placental invasion, growth and development Stimulates differentiation of pre- adipocytes	Relative levels of IGF's and IGFBP's determine effect on fetal growth – free (bioactive) IGF is promotor of fetal growth	Reduced expression of IGFBP4 in cord blood of offspring, resulting in higher levels of free IGF	Ferraro, 2012 [77] Qiu, 2005 [78] Juul, 2003 [79]

activation of adipokines and the resultant inflammatory cascade, contributing to insulin resistance [90].

Obesity is associated with a pro-inflammatory state, resulting in an increase in the secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines from the adipose tissue [91]. In pregnancy, maternal obesity is associated with an increase in IL-6 compared with women with a normal BMI [89,90]. The literature remains unclear regarding other cytokines during pregnancy and is limited by small sample size and study design [88–90]. There has been one study that has investigated the association between maternal cytokine concentrations with fetal adiposity measurements. While maternal inflammatory markers were identified to correlate with maternal adiposity, these were not related to measures of fetal adiposity [88].

The placenta has been hypothesized to play a role in the mediation and regulation of the inflammatory reaction related to obesity [89]. Maternal inflammation may induce fetal programming through the passage of specific cytokines (IL-6) or immune cells (maternal monocytes, T and B cells), in addition to modifying the availability of nutrients for the fetus through placental regulation of IL-1 beta [91]. Due to the placental changes during gestation, this could potentially lead to variations in transfer of cytokines and immune cells with potential differential fetal effects across pregnancy [91].

7. The role of the placenta in fetal growth

The placenta is a complex structure compromising of chorionic villi and vasculature, which evolves through gestation [92]. Factors which disturb or disrupt this process have the capacity to permanently alter placental function [53].

The structure and morphology of the placenta including placental weight is a major determinant of fetal growth, directly reflecting the capacity of the nutrient transport system [53]. Placental weight has been demonstrated to increase with maternal BMI and has been estimated to be approximately 4.4 g per additional kg/m² increase in maternal weight [93]. Placental nutrient transfer is dependent upon the number of transporters present, which in turn has been shown to be regulated by maternal endocrine and nutritional signalling [53].

Uteroplacental blood flow also has a fundamental role in nutrient transfer to the fetus. Key to this process is maternal uterine artery blood supply, with alterations in blood flow as early as the first trimester of pregnancy having been associated with an increased risk of poor placentation and the subsequent development of preeclampsia and fetal growth restriction [94]. Placental perfusion may also be reduced by higher maternal concentrations of circulating lipids, free fatty acids, and cholesterol, particularly in women who are obese, which has been postulated to contribute to an increased risk of placental thrombosis and reduced perfusion [26]. In turn, these underlying perfusion-related changes may contribute mechanistically to the higher risk of stillbirth and preterm birth observed in the setting of maternal obesity [26]. Additionally, oxidative stress and endothelial dysfunction may both contribute to and result from impaired trophoblastic invasion, and therefore the subsequent development of hypertensive diseases including preeclampsia [59].

The fetal umbilical artery (UmA) delivers deoxygenated blood from the fetus back to the placenta, and is measured routinely during ultrasound assessment of fetal well-being [95]. Sarno and colleagues have conducted ultrasound UmA Doppler assessment in 185 women, of whom 23.2% were overweight, and 21.6% obese. When compared with lean women, women of higher BMI were found to have significantly higher UmA resistance. The positive correlation between maternal BMI and ultrasound determined UmA resistance suggests a further mechanism whereby placental perfusion may be altered in the setting of maternal obesity [96].

Changes in maternal nutrition in the setting of obesity suggest that the majority of women who are obese or who have gestational diabetes would give birth to an infant LGA, reflecting the higher diffusion gradient and stimulation of growth by glucose, insulin, and IGF [53]. However, many obese women and women with gestational diabetes have an appropriately grown infant. There have been several theories postulated to explain the 'normalization' of fetal growth in the setting of maternal obesity [96]. For example, uteroplacental insufficiency could reduce substrate delivery thereby normalizing the anticipated acceleration in fetal growth [96]. Another possible explanation is that maternal obesity or gestational diabetes alone may be insufficient to induce fetal overgrowth but additional exposures such as endocrine signalling, expression of transporters, and change in lipid and amino acid transfers together could combine to increases in fetal growth and adiposity [53].

8. The measurement of fetal growth and body composition using ultrasound

Ultrasound has become the mainstay in the assessment of fetal growth and well-being and is widely utilized in both low- and high-income countries. There have been numerous studies evaluating ultrasound markers to identify and predict the LGA fetus, all of which have utilized different measurements, definitions, and cut-off points [97–101], as outlined above and described in Table 2. There is no universally accepted definition or specific measurement used in the detection of LGA fetus in the antenatal period [31]. As a result of maternal and infant complications, coupled with the growing access to ultrasound, there has been increasing interest in the use of ultrasound to attempt to predict newborn macrosomia in order to reduce complications such as shoulder dystocia [43].

Table 2 summarizes the key articles and systematic reviews that have assessed the sensitivity and predictive value of a range of ultrasound markers and cut-points to predict infant macrosomia and LGA. Coomarasamy and associates performed a large systematic review of the evidence pertaining to diagnostic ultrasound and the prediction of the large for gestational infant [97]. While there was considerable heterogeneity between the studies including different study designs, EFW formulae used, ultrasound equipment and reference range thresholds, EFW, and AC greater than 90th centile were both identified to have good positive predictive values of 9.3 and 4.2, respectively [97]. However, the influence of maternal BMI on these assessments is difficult to ascertain, as there was no specific subgroup analysis relating to maternal BMI.

50 🔄 C. M. O'BRIEN ET AL.

Table 2. Prenatal ultrasound measurements and the prediction of large for gestational age infant.

Author, year	Study details	Ultrasound marker	Strengths	Limitations	Maternal BMI	Prediction of LGA infant
Coomarasamy, Connock et al. [97]	N = 147 Studies = 2 Part of a large systematic review	EFW greater than 90th centile	Pooled analyses Small numbers Moderate to high quality	Clinical heterogeneity (different methods estimated EFW and AC)	No specific analysis	Positive LR 9.3 (3.7–24) Negative LR 0.4 (0.14– 0.93)
Coomarasamy, Connock et al. [97]	Studies = 5 N = 1864 Part of large systematic review	AC >90th centile	Pooled analyses Moderate to high quality	Different ultrasound equipment and reference standard thresholds	No specific analysis	Positive LR 4.2 (2.3– 7.7) Negative LR 0.33 (0.21–0.54)
Kernaghan, Ola et al. [98]	N = 242 Pre-existing and gestational diabetes Sheffield, The U.K.	EFW z-score (\geq 1.7 or \geq 95.5th centile)	Prospective design	Included women with diabetes alone	No analysis	Prevalence = 27% PPV = 51% NPV = 91% LR positive test = 2.8
Kernaghan, Ola et al. [98]	N = 242 Preexisting and gestational diabetes Sheffield, The U.K.	Fetal growth velocity (FGV)	Prospective design	Included women with diabetes alone	No analysis	Prevalence = 27% PPV 35% NPV 76.1%
Wong, Chan et al. [102]	N = 100 Retrospective study at the Mater Hospital in Brisbane, Australia 1994–1999	AC extrapolated from clinical ultrasound reports z-scores calculated	Confounding variables were not adjusted for in analyses Small numbers	Retrospective Included only diabetes	Mean BMI was in the overweight range LGA group had a higher BMI	Progressive increase in z-scores as gestation advances in newborns with LGA Difference in mean z- score was 0.68 at 18–22 weeks to 1.96 at 34–38 weeks)
Pates, McIntire et al. [100]	N = 3115 Retrospective cohort study in Texas, The U.S.A. during 1997 and 2006	BW ≥4000 g ± AFI ≥20 cm ± Risk factors for macrosomia	Selection bias due to the clinical concern of macrosomia lead to a USS	Retrospective design Indications for clinical scans were variable	BMI >30 accounted for 81% of BW >4000 g compared with 41% in BW <4000 g	Neonatal macrosomia rate = 7.6% PPV using USS, AFI, and risk factor was 71%, NPV = 94% Sn = 29%, Sn = 29%
El Khouly, Elkelani et al. [101]	N = 600 Prospective observational study from large maternity hospital in Egypt between 2014–2016	Ultrasound in the 1st stage of labor EFW >4000 g and AFI >16.4 cm	Prospective design Sample size	Lack of clinical outcomes	No separate analysis performed	10.6% macrosomia rate based on newborn weight 2% incidence if Diabetes Combined EFW and AFI had a PPV = 92.3% in the detection of macrosomia EFW alone (PPV 75%) and AFI (27%)

PEAPOD: Alr displacement plethysmography; AFI: Amniotic fluid index; PPV: Positive predictive value; NPV: Negative predictive value; LR: Likelihood Ratio; GWG: Gestational weight gain; USS: Ultrasound.

Fetal growth velocity has been demonstrated to have low positive predictive value compared with EFW greater than the 95th centile [98] in the prediction of LGA infants. Wong and colleagues identified that the prevalence of LGA infants was higher among women who were both obese and diagnosed with gestational diabetes, compared with women of normal BMI [99]. More recent studies have combined EFW and amniotic fluid index together to increase the positive and negative predictive value in identifying the LGA infant, with variable results obtained in women considered to be at increased risk [100], despite better performance in low risk women entering labor [101].

In summary, there is a lack of robust evidence to provide a consensus and predictive cut-off values using ultrasound, particularly in women who enter pregnancy overweight or obese [31]. Specifically, there have been no randomized trials that have assessed the fetal surveillance regimens in the detection of the LGA fetus and whether such tools can improve maternal and infant outcomes [103].

9. Antenatal ultrasound assessment of fetal body composition

In 1991, Bernstein and colleagues were among the first to describe the measurement of fetal body composition using prenatal ultrasound [104]. Since then, there have been substantial advances in both two- and three-dimensional ultrasonography, resulting in the development and validation of fetal body composition measurements [105–109] as outlined in Table 3.

Most of the identified studies have been limited by relatively small sample sizes [106,109,110], with wide variation in both the type of fetal body composition measurement utilized, and the reporting of results [106,108–111]. Larciprete and colleagues validated the three main fetal body composition measurements in a population of 218 healthy pregnant Italian women with a normal BMI [111]. The generalizability of these measures in other populations, particularly women who are overweight or obese would appear to be more limited.

Table 3. Fetal body co	mposition measurements using	prenatal ultrasound.				-
Author, year	Ultrasound measurement	Definition	Study details	Strengths	Limitations	Results
Walsh, Wallace et al. [105]	Anterior abdominal wall (AAW)	Axial view of abdomen 2–3 cm laterally from the cord insertion at 34 weeks gestation	 M = 50 Healthy, non-diabetic women with previous history of infant with BW >4000 g Nested cohort study within the ROLO RCT National Maternity Hospital, Dublin 	First study to assess metabolomics and fetal adiposity measurements	Selection bias due to previous delivery Represents women who are at risk of both impaired glucose tolerance Small sample	HOMA and AAW were significantly associatd with increased metabolonomics at 28 weeks (Biotin, valine, 2- hydroxyisovalerate, Hisitidine, malonate, taurine)
O'Connor, Doolan et al. [106]	Fetal abdominal subcutaneous tissue (FAST)	s Axial view of abdomen in AC view, using magnification, measurement of subcutaneous tissue anterior to the margins of the ribs proximal to the cord insertion	N = 62 Ultrasounds performed at 28, 32, 38 weeks March 2012–2013 Coombe Women's Hospital Recruited after 1st trimester Scan	Use of PEAPOD in non-invasive, accurate measurement of infant body fat percentage	Small sample Underpowered	Associated with birthweight, AC and infant fat mass at 38 weeks measured on the PEAPOD (air displacement plethysmography) calculation of neonatal fat mass on D3.
O'Connor, Doolan et al. [106]	Thigh fat (TF) and thigh muscle (TM)	Distance from the outer border of the femur to the outer border of the subcutaneous layer, subtracting the muscle value	N = 62 Ultrasounds performed at 28, 32, 38 weeks March 2012–2013 Coombe Women's Hospital Recruited after 1st trimester scan	Use of PEAPOD in non-invasive, accurate measurement of infant body fat percentage	Small sample Underpowered	Thigh fat at 28 and 38 weeks correlates well with infant fat mass in all mothers
Larciprete, Valensise et al. [107]	Mid-thigh lean mass (MTLM) and fat mass (MTFM) Units = cm ²	Sagittal view of long bone, rotate transducer 90° to get axial view. Total cross sectional limb area and subtracting the central lean area consisting of muscle and bone	 M = 218 (Healthy women) N = 85 (Diabetic women) High-risk patients from an Italian hospital, recruited at 20 weeks from Jan to Dec 2001 Inclusion criteria included family history of DM, BMI >27 weeks, glycosuria, previous GDM, age >37 weeks, polythydramnios 	Serial USS every 3 weeks until term gestation Assess reproducibility Development of reference ranges	Different population and screening for GDM due to 100 g glucose tolerance test	Normal reference ranges from the healthy women group All measurements were greater in women with GDM compared with the healthy pregnant women. 11.9 versus 14.2cm^2 P = 0.02 at $37-40$ weeks
Larciprete, Valensise et al. [107]	Subscapular fat mass (SFM, mm)	Shoulder skin width perpendicularly to the bone at its lower end	As above	As above	As above	Normal reference ranges described from the healthy women group. Higher measures in women with GDM compared with healthy pregnant women. F_3 versus 6.7 mm, P < 0.01 at 38–40 weeks
Larciprete, Valensise et al. [107]	Abdominal fat mass (AFM)	Measuring thickness of the anterior abdominal subcutaneous tissue on the same axial image used for the AC calculation	As above	As above	As above	Normal reference ranges described. Higher measures in women with GDM compared with healthy pregnant women 6.18 versus 6.8 mm, P = 0.03 at 39 weeks
						(Continued)

Table3. (Continued).						
Author, year	Ultrasound measurement	Definition	Study details	Strengths	Limitations	Results
Hure, Collins et al. [108]	Fetal Abdominal fat area (cm ²)	At the level of AC measurement, total area (A1) subtracted from the lean abdominal area (A2)	N = 179 Longitundal cohort Australian WATCH study 2006–2008 John Hunter Hospital, New South Wales Inclusion of	Longitundal study Adjusted for confounders	Self reported data for maternal weight and calculation of BMI	Gestational weight gain predicted fetal AC and lean abdominal mass BMI and GWG had larger lean muscle mass but no increase in fat mass
	Fetal mid-thigh fat and lean mass (cm2)	Mid point of the femur, total cross- sectional area (T1) and muscle mass (T2) with fetal mid-thigh fat mass calculated by T1 – T2	As above	Longitundal study Adjusted for confounders	As above	Strong correlation between femoral lean area and neonatal fat mass ($r = 0.7$, $P < 0.001$) and moderate correlation ($r = 0.63$, P < 0.001)
Gibson, Stetzer et al. [109]	Fractional thigh volume (3- dimensional)	Sub volume that includes 50% of the femoral diaphysis length centered around the mid-femoral shaft	 M = 34 neonates Prospective observational study Inclusion: Term, singleton Inclusion: with suspected mecrosomia, enrolled upon macrosomia, enrolled upon macrosomia, enrolled upon Mewborns were assessed A h post 	Use of new technology	Small numbers Selection bias No control group Specialized transducers, software and training required to performed 3- dimensional	Fractional volumes correlated with birthweight z - score ($\mathbb{R}^2 = 0.52$, $P < 0.001$) and percentage of body fat measured anthropometry ($\mathbb{R}^2 = 0.22$, $P = 0.04$)
Low glycaemic index o	liet in pregnancy to prevent ma	crosomia: randomised controlled trial (RC	llo rct)			

The largest study to date to assess fetal biometry and body composition measurements using ultrasound was performed by Grivell and colleagues [57]. This study included women enrolled in the LIMIT trial [112] who were randomized to receive a comprehensive lifestyle intervention across pregnancy compared with women who received standard antenatal care. While the proportion of newborns classified as LGA (birthweight above the 90th centile), did not differ between the two groups, the intervention was associated with a significant 18% relative risk reduction in the chance of infant birthweight greater than or equal to 4 kg [112], and a 41% reduction in risk of birthweight above 4.5 kg [113]. Women who received the antenatal intervention demonstrated significant improvements in their self-reported dietary intake [113] and physical activity, when compared with women randomized to the standard care group [113].

In this setting, fetal body composition measurements and biometry were obtained from 1847 women at both 28 and 36 weeks' gestation [57]. Fetal z-scores for all biometry and adiposity-related measures were above the population means, regardless of treatment group, indicating that the fetuses of women who are overweight or obese have growth measures above population standards [57]. Furthermore, increases in head and AC growth were both identified to contribute to the increase in EFW [57], compared with the increase in AC only, which has in the past been demonstrated in fetal growth in women with gestational diabetes [102,114,115].

Two-dimensional fetal body composition measurements have been poorly correlated with neonatal measurements of body composition, lean tissue, and body fat mass [116-118]. As a result, there has been increasing interest in three-dimensional imaging due to its availability over the past 5 years. Gibson and associates have assessed body composition in those fetuses with suspected macrosomia using three-dimensional mean thigh volume. Thigh volume z-scores were correlated with infant birthweight ($R^2 = 0.52$ [0.54–84], P < 0.001) and neonatal anthropometric body fat ($R^2 = 0.22$ [0.17–0.69], P = 0.04) and skinfold thickness measurements including triceps, subscapular, umbilical, flank, and thigh skinfolds [109]. With the increasing availability of air displacement plethysmography for the assessment of neonatal body composition, Lee and associates have identified that three-dimensional fractional limb volume is correlated well with calculated neonatal fat mass [118]. However, despite these promising findings, fractional limb volume measurement using three-dimensional imaging requires specific training, specialized software, and is not routinely used in clinical practice [109].

In summary, to date there is no 'gold standard' measure that can be utilized in the ultrasound prediction of the LGA fetus, macrosomia, or fetal adiposity [31]. Further research is required, specifically focusing on women who enter pregnancy overweight or obese, as these fetuses remain at high risk of future health complications.

10. Can fetal growth be modified through intervention?

In the recent past, there has been considerable interest in the evaluation of antenatal dietary and physical activity

interventions as a strategy to limit gestational weight gain and reduce the risk of maternal and perinatal complications. A comprehensive review by Thangaratinam and colleagues identified 44 studies assessing lifestyle and dietary interventions, in which provision of an antenatal intervention was associated with a modest reduction in gestational weight gain 1.42 kg (95% confidence intervals 0.95–1.89) [119]. Importantly, few trials reported the effect of the intervention on ultrasound measures of fetal growth.

The LIMIT trial represents the largest trial to date to comprehensively perform ultrasound-based assessment of fetal growth and different adiposity measurements [57] comparing an antenatal dietary and lifestyle intervention provided to pregnant women who were overweight or obese [112]. In this context, fetuses of women who received the antenatal dietary and lifestyle advice were shown to have a slower rate of subscapular adipose tissue deposition and a higher mean mid-thigh fat mass (MTFM). It has been suggested that lower body fat deposition may have a greater protective role, when compared with upper body fat deposition, which is more likely to be associated with type 2 diabetes and cardiovascular disease [120].

Metformin has also been investigated in pregnancy as an adjuvant therapy for women who are overweight or obese. Metformin is an oral biguanide that can increase the sensitivity to insulin, in addition to its recognized anti-inflammatory properties [94]. Metformin has been used in a number of fertility-related settings, largely in women with a diagnosis of polycystic ovarian syndrome (PCOS) [121]. While metformin treatment in women with PCOS has been associated with weight loss prior to conception, the effect on pregnancyrelated outcomes is less clear [121].

Two recently completed and published randomized trials have utilized metformin treatment specifically in pregnant women who are obese [122,123]. While both of these trials reported no differences in either the diagnosis of gestational diabetes or infant birthweight [122,123], Syngelaki reported metformin use to be associated with a reduction in gestational weight gain and the occurrence of preeclampsia [123]. These findings highlight the complexity surrounding maternal obesity and effect on fetal growth, with insulin resistance only part of a highly complex and regulated pathway [122]. The findings of the GROW randomized trial, evaluating the use of metformin as an adjuvant to dietary and lifestyle advice in pregnant women who are overweight or obese, are awaited [124]. Ongoing follow-up of the children whose mothers participated in these trials is important, as there is evidence that the use of metformin in the treatment of gestational diabetes is associated with lower visceral body fat at 2 years of age compared with children born to women who had treatment with insulin [125], despite no difference in infant birthweight [126].

The lack of measurable effect in ultrasound measures of fetal biometry and adiposity suggests that modification of maternal diet in the second trimester of pregnancy may be 'too late' to substantially modify fetal adiposity and growth, raising the possibility of targeting women who are overweight or obese prior to conception as a strategy to improve health outcomes for women and their children. Opray and colleagues performed a systematic review evaluating the effect of weight

54 👄 C. M. O'BRIEN ET AL.

loss prior to conception among women who are overweight or obese on pregnancy and birth outcomes [127]. No randomized controlled trials targeting this period to promote weight loss in overweight or obese women generally, were identified. Challenges of interventional trials in the preconception period and assessment of birth-related outcomes include the identification, recruitment, and following up of women before and after pregnancy [128]. Despite these challenges, future research into this important area is required as a matter of priority and current trials are already underway [129,130].

11. Expert commentary

The intergenerational effects of obesity have been highlighted as a major public health issue, and is associated with the escalating rates of maternal, infant, childhood, and adolescent obesity, across the world.

Both obesity and gestational diabetes share a similar complex pathophysiology, contributing to metabolic dysfunction in both the woman and her fetus. Key mechanisms relate to the exaggerated reduction in peripheral insulin sensitivity in the woman, beyond the normal physiological response, which in turn, increases glucose availability for the fetus, a direct pathway to increase fetal growth. Other important metabolic determinants of fetal growth include leptin, adiponectin, insulin growth factors, and lipids. There is also increasing evidence of an indirect pathway contributing to fetal growth, involving the up-regulation of placental transporters, the impact of placental structure and morphology, along with contributions from uteroplacental blood flow.

While technological advances in ultrasonography has led to increasing interest in the identification of the LGA fetus following the measurement of fetal body composition (body fat versus lean tissue mass), there is no consensus regarding the appropriate measures to be utilized, impacting greatly on the quality of the evidence surrounding this important outcome. With improvements in the sensitivity of measures of fetal growth and adiposity, it may be possible not only to identify subtle changes reflecting the effects of both preconception and antenatal interventions but also to more appropriately identify the fetus at increased risk of adverse perinatal outcomes, and the child at risk of obesity. In time, these interventions may represent efficacious strategies to impact the vicious cycle of maternal obesity and the intergenerational effect for the infant and child.

12. Five—year view

The United Nations Assembly in April 2016 called for an urgent response to the obesity epidemic with a global refocus, a 'Decade of Action on Nutrition' [128], as has the World Health Organization, in response to the commission on childhood obesity [9]. This will lead to increasing public health campaigns over the next 5 years, including health education and promotion strategies to ensure a move towards a global improvement in nutrition, particularly aimed at children and adolescents. This will be accompanied by further advances in

both basic and clinical sciences investigating the mechanisms underlying fetal growth and adiposity.

Periconceptual care and early pregnancy interventions are being highlighted as a key intervention period that could potentially influence a future child's body composition, growth and health consequences [131], with a focus on intervention trials to reduce maternal and paternal obesity prior to conception. Interventions and health education during this periconceptual period will be key in promoting a more favorable intrauterine environment, that could 'normalize' fetal growth and body composition for the infant and child.

There will be paradigm shift from increasing antenatal care as a woman approaches term, to early pregnancy screening to identify the woman at risk of preterm birth, preeclampsia, and GDM and then institute appropriate monitoring and treatment via models stratified for low- or high-risk antenatal care [132,133]. The first trimester of pregnancy could therefore represent an ideal time to identify women at risk of obesityrelated complications and gestational diabetes, and to introduce interventions, education, and support for these 'higher risk' women [132].

The intergenerational effects of obesity remain an important area of ongoing research. If interventional studies can reduce the impact of maternal obesity on subsequent child obesity, this will be a significant step forward and one of the greatest legacies we can give the next generation.

Key issues

- The intergenerational effects of obesity have been highlighted as a major public health issue, leading to interest in understanding and modifying fetal overgrowth to reduce childhood obesity rates.
- Direct effects of glucose and insulin and the indirect effects of leptin and adiponectin, insulin growth factor along with placental factors can influence fetal growth.
- Ultrasound technology has led to interest in the prediction of fetal overgrowth and adiposity, however, there remains no international consensus regarding the clinical management of fetuses predicted to be large for gestational age.
- The evidence surrounding antenatal interventions suggest that this strategy may be 'too late' to modify fetal adiposity and growth, raising the question of targeting the periconceptual period or early pregnancy.

Funding

JM Dodd is supported through a NHMRC Practitioner Fellowship (ID 627005).

Declaration of interest

The author has no relevant affiliations or financial involvement with any organization or entity with a financial interest in or financial conflict with the subject matter or materials discussed in the manuscript. This includes employment, consultancies, honoraria, stock ownership or options, expert testimony, grants or patents received or pending, or royalties.

References

- Lobstein T, Baur L, Uauy R. Obesity in children and young people: a crisis in public health. Obes Rev. 2004;5(Suppl 1):4–104. Epub 2004 Apr 21.
- Finucane MM, Stevens GA, Cowan MJ, et al. National, regional, and global trends in body-mass index since 1980: systematic analysis of health examination surveys and epidemiological studies with 960 country-years and 9.1 million participants. Lancet. 2011;377:557– 567. Epub 2011 Feb 08.
- 3. WHO. Obesity and overweight Geneva. 2016 [cited 2016 Sep 27]. Available from: http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs311/en/
- Wang Y, Beydoun MA, Liang L, et al. Will all Americans become overweight or obese? estimating the progression and cost of the US obesity epidemic. Obesity (Silver Spring). 2008;16:2323–2330. Epub 2008 Aug 23.
- Ezzati M, Lopez AD, Rodgers A, et al. Selected major risk factors and global and regional burden of disease. Lancet. 2002;360:1347– 1360. Epub 2002 Nov 09.
- Chu SY, Kim SY, Bish CL. Prepregnancy obesity prevalence in the United States, 2004-2005. Matern Child Health J. 2009;13:614–620. Epub 2008 Jul 12.
- 7. Scheil W, Scott J, Catcheside B, et al. Pregnancy outcome in South Australia 2010. Adelaide: Government of South Australia; 2012.
- 8. Scheil W, Scott J, Catcheside B, et al. Pregnancy outcome in South Australia 2010. Adelaide: Government of South Australia; 2014.
- World Health Organisation (WHO). Consideration of the evidence on childhood obesity for the commission on ending childhood obesity: report of the ad hoc working group on science and evidence for ending childhood obesity. Geneva: World Health Organisation. 2016.
- 10. Li Y-P, Yang X-G, Zhai F-Y, et al. Disease risks of childhood obesity in China. Biomed Environ Sci. 2005;18:401–410.
- Yu Z, Han S, Zhu J, et al. Pre-pregnancy body mass index in relation to infant birth weight and offspring overweight/obesity: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Plos One. 2013;8:e61627. Epub 2013 Apr 25.
- Leng J, Li W, Zhang S, et al. GDM women's pre-pregnancy overweight/obesity and gestational weight gain on offspring overweight status. Plos One. 2015;10:e0129536. Epub 2015 Jun 23.
- Whitaker RC. Predicting preschooler obesity at birth: the role of maternal obesity in early pregnancy. Pediatrics. 2004;114:e29–e36.
- Monasta L, Batty GD, Cattaneo A, et al. Early-life determinants of overweight and obesity: a review of systematic reviews. Obes Rev. 2010;11:695–708.
- Hawkins SS, Law C. Treatment and prevention of obesity-are there critical periods for intervention? Int J Epidemiol. 2006;35:1101. author reply 2.
- 16. Catalano PM. Obesity and pregnancy-the propagation of a viscous cycle? J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2003;88:3505-3506.
- 17. Godfery K, Reynolds R, Prescott S, et al. Influence of maternal obesity on the long-term health of offspring. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol. 2017;5(1):53–64. Epub October 12, 2016.
- Dodd JM, Grivell RM, Nguyen A-M, et al. Maternal and perinatal health outcomes by body mass index category. Aust N Z J Obstet Gynaecol. 2011;51:136–140. Epub 2011 Apr 07.
- Magann EF, Doherty DA, Sandlin AT, et al. The effects of an increasing gradient of maternal obesity on pregnancy outcomes. Aust N Z J Obstet Gynaecol. 2013;53:250–257. Epub 2013 Feb 26.
- Callaway LK, Prins JB, Chang AM, et al. The prevalence and impact of overweight and obesity in an Australian obstetric population. Med J Aust. 2006;184:56–59.
- Sibai BM, Gordon T, Thom E, et al. Risk factors for preeclampsia in healthy nulliparous women: a prospective multicenter study. The national institute of child health and human development network of maternal-fetal medicine units. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1995;172:642–648. Epub 1995 Feb 01.
- 22. Cedergren M. Maternal morbid obesity and the risk of adverse pregnancy outcome. Obstet Gynecol. 2004;103:219–224.

- 23. Doherty DA, Magann EF, Francis J, et al. Pre-pregnancy body mass index and pregnancy outcomes. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2006;95:242–247. Epub 2006 Sep 30.
- 24. Abenhaim HA, Kinch RA, Morin L, et al. Effect of prepregnancy body mass index categories on obstetrical and neonatal outcomes. Arch Gynecol Obstet. 2007;275:39–43. Epub 2006 Aug 13.
- 25. Athukorala C, Rumbold AR, Willson KJ, et al. The risk of adverse pregnancy outcomes in women who are overweight or obese. BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth. 2010;10:56. Epub 2010 Sep 21.
- Kristensen J, Vestergaard M, Wisborg K, et al. Pre-pregnancy weight and the risk of stillbirth and neonatal death. Bjog. 2005;112:403–408.
- Yao R, Ananth CV, Park BY, et al. Obesity and the risk of stillbirth: a population-based cohort study. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2014;210:457.e1–e9. Epub 2014 Mar 29.
- Rosenberg TJ, Garbers S, Chavkin W, et al. Prepregnancy weight and adverse perinatal outcomes in an ethnically diverse population. Obstet Gynecol. 2003;102:1022–1027. Epub 2003 Dec 16.
- Jolly MC, Sebire NJ, Harris JP, et al. Risk factors for macrosomia and its clinical consequences: a study of 350,311 pregnancies. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol. 2003;111:9–14.
- Pasupathy D, McCowan LM, Poston L, et al. Perinatal outcomes in large infants using customised birthweight centiles and conventional measures of high birthweight. Paediatr Perinat Epidemiol. 2012;26:543–552.
- 31. Campbell S. Fetal macrosomia: a problem in need of a policy. Ultrasound Obstet Gynaecol. 2014;43:3–10.
- 32. Hui L. Australian charts for assessing fetal growth: a review. ASUM Ultrasound Bulletin. 2008 Feb;2008:12–18.
- Scioscia M, Vimercati A, Ceci O, et al. Estimation of birth weight by two-dimensional ultrasonography: a critical appraisal of its accuracy. Obstet Gynecol. 2008;111:57–65.
- Thornburg LL, Barnes C, Glantz JC, et al. Sonographic birth-weight prediction in obese patients using the gestation-adjusted prediction method. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol. 2008;32:66–70.
- 35. Gardosi J, Chang A, Kalyan B, et al. Customised antenatal growth charts. Lancet. 1992;339:283–287.
- 36. Gardosi J, Figueras F, Clausson B, et al. The customised growth potential: an international research tool to study the epidemiology of fetal growth. Paediatr Perinat Epidemiol. 2011;25(1):2-10.
- 37. Sparks JW. Human intrauterine growth and nutrient accretion. Semin Perinatol. 1984;8:74–93.
- Sewell MF, Huston-Presley L, Super DM, et al. Increased neonatal fat mass, not lean body mass, is associated with maternal obesity. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2006;195:1100–1103.
- Hull HR, Dinger MK, Knehans AW, et al. Impact of maternal body mass index on neonate birthweight and body composition. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2008;198(416):e1–e6.
- Catalano PM, Hauguel-De Mouzon S. Is it time to revisit the Pedersen hypothesis in the face of the obesity epidemic? Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2011;204:479–487.
- Catalano PM, Thomas A, Huston-Presley L, et al. Increased fetal adiposity: a very sensitive marker of abnormal in utero development. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2003;189:1698–1704.
- 42. Oken E. Maternal and child obesity: the causal link. Obstet Gynecol Clin North Am. 2009;36:361–377.
- Dodd JM, Catcheside B, Scheil W. Can shoulder dystocia be reliably predicted? Aust N Z J Obstet Gynaecol. 2012;52:248–252. Epub 2012 Mar 19. DOI:10.1111/j.479-828X.2012.01425.x
- 44. Rouse DJ, Owen J, Goldenberg RL, et al. The effectiveness and costs of elective cesarean delivery for fetal macrosomia diagnosed by ultrasound. Jama. 1996;276:1480–1486.
- 45. Culligan PJ, Myers JA, Goldberg RP, et al. Elective cesarean section to prevent anal incontinence and brachial plexus injuries associated with macrosomia–a decision analysis. Int Urogynecol J Pelvic Floor Dysfunct. 2005;16:19–28. discussion.
- Boulvain M, Senat M-V, Perrotin F, et al.Induction of labour versus expectant management for large-for-date fetuses: a randomised controlled trial. Lancet. 2015;385:2600–2605.

- 56 👄 C. M. O'BRIEN ET AL.
 - Boulvain M, Irion O, Dowswell T, et al. Induction of labour at or near term for suspected fetal macrosomia. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2016 May 22;(5):CD000938.
 - 48. Pedersen J. The pregnant diabetic and her newborn: problems and management. Baltimore (MD): Williams and Wilkins; 1967.
 - Catalano PM, Presley L, Minium J, et al. Fetuses of obese mothers develop insulin resistance in utero. Diabetes Care. 2009;32:1076– 1080.
 - Wright C, Sibley C. Placental transfer in health and disease. In: Kay H, Nelson D, Wang Y, editors. The placenta: from development to disease. West Sussex: Wiley-Blackwell; 2011.
 - Aye IL, Powell TL, Jansson T. Review: Adiponectin-the missing link between maternal adiposity, placental transport and fetal growth? Placenta. 2013;34(Suppl):S40–S45.
 - 52. Belkacemi L, Nelson M, Desia M, et al. Maternal undernutrition and fetal programming: role of the placenta. In: Kay H, Nelson M, Wang Y, editors. The placenta: from development to disease. West Sussex: Backwell Publishing Ltd; 2011.
 - Lewis RM, Demmelmair H, Gaillard R, et al. The placental exposome: placental determinants of fetal adiposity and postnatal body composition. Ann Nutr Metab. 2013;63:208–215. Epub 2013 Oct 8. DOI:10.1159/000355222
 - Aye ILMH, Powell TL, Jansson T. Review: adiponectin the missing link between maternal adiposity, placental transport and fetal growth? Placenta. 2013;34(Suppl):S40–S5.
 - 55. Dodd JM, McPhee AJ, Turnbull D, et al. The effects of antenatal dietary and lifestyle advice for women who are overweight or obese on neonatal health outcomes: the LIMIT randomised trial. BMC medicine. 2014;12:163.
 - Poston L, Bell R, Croker H, et al. Effect of a behavioural intervention in obese pregnant women (the UPBEAT study): a multicentre, randomised controlled trial. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol. 2015;3:767–777.
 - 57. Grivell RM, Yelland LN, Deussen A, et al. Antenatal dietary and lifestyle advice for women who are overweight or obese and the effect on fetal growth and adiposity: the LIMIT randomised trial. Bjog. 2016;123:233–243. DOI:10.1111/471-0528.13777
 - Chu SY, Kim SY, Lau J, et al. Maternal obesity and risk of stillbirth: a metaanalysis. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2007;197:223–228.
 - Huda SS, Brodie LE, Sattar N. Obesity in pregnancy: prevalence and metabolic consequences. Semin Fetal Neonatal Med. 2010;15:70– 76. Epub Nov 7. DOI:10.1016/j.siny.2009.09.006
 - 60. Dodd JM, Robinson JS. Gestational weight loss in overweight and obese women is associated with an increased risk of small for gestational age infants. Evid Based Med. 2011;16:125–126.
 - Beyerlein A, Schiessl B, Lack N. Associations of gestational weight loss with birth-related outcome: a retrospective cohort study. Br J Obstet Gynaecol. 2011;118:55–61.
 - 62. Lemas DJ, Brinton JT, Shapiro AL, et al. Associations of maternal weight status prior and during pregnancy with neonatal cardiometabolic markers at birth: the healthy start study. Int J Obes (2005). 2015;39:1437–1442. Epub 2015 Jun 10.
 - 63. Uebel K, Pusch K, Gedrich K, et al. Effect of maternal obesity with and without gestational diabetes on offspring subcutaneous and preperitoneal adipose tissue development from birth up to year-1. BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth. 2014;14:138. Epub 2014 Apr 12.
 - 64. Metzger BE, Lowe LP, Dyer AR, et al. Hyperglycemia and adverse pregnancy outcomes. N Engl J Med. 2008;358:1991–2002. Epub 2008 May 09.
 - Sermer M, Naylor CD, Farine D, et al. The Toronto tri-hospital gestational diabetes project. A preliminary review. Diabetes Care. 1998;21(Suppl 2):B33–B42.
 - 66. Torloni MR, Betran AP, Horta BL, et al. Prepregnancy bmi and the risk of gestational diabetes: a systematic review of the literature with meta-analysis. Obesity Reviews: An Official Journal Of The International Association For The Study Of Obesity. 2009;10:194– 203.
 - 67. Son GH, Kwon JY, Kim YH, et al. Maternal serum triglycerides as predictive factors for large-for-gestational age newborns in women

with gestational diabetes mellitus. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand. 2010;89:700-704. doi:10.3109/00016341003605677

- Vrijkotte TG, Algera SJ, Brouwer IA, et al. Maternal triglyceride levels during early pregnancy are associated with birth weight and postnatal growth. The Journal Of Pediatrics. 2011;159:736–742.e1.
- Whyte K, Kelly H, O'Dwyer V, et al. Offspring birth weight and maternal fasting lipids in women screened for gestational diabetes mellitus (gdm). Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol. 2013;170:67–70.
- Schaefer-Graf UM, Graf K, Kulbacka I, et al. Maternal lipids as strong determinants of fetal environment and growth in pregnancies with gestational diabetes mellitus. Diabetes Care. 2008;31:1858–1863.
- Tessier DR, Ferraro ZM, Gruslin A. Role of leptin in pregnancy: consequences of maternal obesity. Placenta. 2013;34:205–211. Epub 2013 Jan 22.
- Tsai PJ, Davis J, Bryant-Greenwood G. Systemic and placental leptin and its receptors in pregnancies associated with obesity. reproductive Sciences. 2015;22:189–197. doi:10.1177/1933719114537718
- Karakosta P, Chatzi L, Plana E, et al. Leptin levels in cord blood and anthropometric measures at birth: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Paediatr Perinat Epidemiol. 2011;25:150–163. Epub 2011 Feb 02.
- Josefson JL, Zeiss DM, Rademaker AW, et al. Maternal leptin predicts adiposity of the neonate. Horm Res Paediatr. 2014;81:13–19. Epub 2013 Dec 11. DOI:10.1159/000355387
- Ategbo JM, Grissa O, Yessoufou A, et al. Modulation of adipokines and cytokines in gestational diabetes and macrosomia. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2006;91:4137–4143.
- 76. Lowe LP, Metzger BE, Lowe WL Jr., et al. Inflammatory mediators and glucose in pregnancy: results from a subset of the hyperglycemia and adverse pregnancy outcome (hapo) study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2010;95:5427–5434.
- Ferraro ZM, Qiu Q, Gruslin A, et al. Characterization of the insulinlike growth factor axis in term pregnancies complicated by maternal obesity. Hum Reprod. 2012;27:2467–2475.
- 78. Qiu Q, Basak A, Mbikay M, et al. Role of pro-igf-ii processing by proprotein convertase 4 in human placental development. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2005;102:11047–11052.
- 79. Juul A. Serum levels of insulin-like growth factor i and its binding proteins in health and disease. Growth Hormone & Igf Research: Official Journal Of The Growth Hormone Research Society And The International Igf Research Society. 2003;13:113-170. doi:10.1016/ S1096-6374(03)00038-8
- 80. Coelho M, Oliveira T, Fernandes R. Biochemistry of adipose tissue: an endocrine organ. Arch Med Sci. 2013;9:191–200.
- Lau DCW. Molecular biology of obesity. In: Rees MCP, Karoshi M, Keith L, eds. Obesity and Pregnancy. Royal Society of Medicine Press Ltd, London, 2008;54–75.
- Muhlhausler B, Smith SR. Early-life origins of metabolic dysfunction: role of the adipocyte. Trends Endocrinol Metab. 2009;20:51–57.
- 83. Symonds ME, Pope M, Sharkey D, et al. Adipose tissue and fetal programming. Diabetologia. 2012;55:1597–1606.
- Stephens M, Ludgate M, Rees DA. Brown fat and obesity: the next big thing? Clin Endocrinol. 2011;74(6):661–670.
- Wauters M, Considine R, Lofgren A, et al. Associations of leptin with body fat distribution and metabolic parameters in non-insulindependent diabetic patients: no effect of apolipoprotein E polymorphism. Metabolism. 2000;49:724–730.
- Weyer C, Funahashi T, Tanaka S, et al. Hypoadiponectinemia in obesity and type 2 diabetes: close association with insulin resistance and hyperinsulinemia. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2001;86:1930–1935.
- Catalano PM. Obesity, insulin resistance, and pregnancy outcome. Reproduction. 2010;140:365–371.
- Farah N, Hogan AE, O'Connor N, et al. Correlation between maternal inflammatory markers and fetomaternal adiposity. Cytokine. 2012;60:96–99. Epub Jun 20. DOI:10.1016/j.cyto.2012.05.024
- Pantham P, Aye ILMH, Powell TL. Inflammation in maternal obesity and gestational diabetes mellitus. Placenta. 2015;36:709–715.
- 90. Haghiac M, Yang XH, Presley L, et al. Dietary Omega-3 fatty acid supplementation reduces inflammation in obese pregnant women:

a randomized double-blind controlled clinical trial. Plos One. 2015;10:e0137309.

- Ingvorsen C, Brix S, Ozanne SE, et al. The effect of maternal inflammation on foetal programming of metabolic disease. Acta Physiol (Oxf). 2015;214:440–449. Epub 2015 Jun 15. DOI:10.1111/ apha.12533
- 92. Rampersad R, Cervar-Zivkovic M, Nelson DM. Development and anatomy of the human placenta. In: Kay H, Nelson DM, Wang Y, editors. The placenta: from development to disease. West Sussex: Blackwell Publishing Ltd; 2011.
- Wallace JM, Horgan S, Bhattacharya S. Placental weight and efficiency in relation to maternal body mass index and risk of pregnancy complications in women delivering singleton babies. Placenta. 2012;33:611–618.
- Jeve YB, Konje JC, Doshani A. Placental dysfunction in obese women and antenatal surveillance strategies. Best Pract Res Clin Obstet Gynaecol. 2015;29:350–364. Epub Oct 16. DOI:10.1016/j. bpobgyn.2014.09.007
- Clinical Standards Committee. ISUOG practice guidelines: use of Doppler ultrasonography in obstetrics. Ultraosund Obstet Gynaecol. 2013;41:233–239.
- Sarno L, Maruotti GM, Saccone G, et al. Maternal body mass index influences umbilical artery Doppler velocimetry in physiologic pregnancies. Prenat Diagn. 2015;35:125–128.
- 97. Coomarasamy A, Connock M, Thornton J, et al. Accuracy of ultrasound biometry in the prediction of macrosomia: a systematic quantitative review. Br J Obstet Gynaecol. 2005;112:1461– 1466.
- 98. Kernaghan D, Ola B, Fraser R, et al. Fetal size and growth velocity in the prediction of the large for gestational age (LGA) infant in a glucose impaired population. Eur J Obstetrics Gynaecol Reprod Biol. 2007;132:189–192.
- 99. Wong SF, Chan FY, Cincotta RB, et al. Sonographic estimation of fetal weight in macrosomic fetuses: diabetic versus non-diabetic pregnancies. Aust N Z J Obstet Gynaecol. 2001;41:429–432.
- 100. Pates JA, McIntire DD, Casey BM, et al. Predicting macrosomia. J Ultrasound Med. 2008;27:39-43.
- 101. El Khouly NI, Elkelani OA, Saleh SA. Amniotic fluid index and estimated fetal weight for prediction of fetal macrosomia: a prospective observational study. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med. 2016;22:1–5.
- 102. Wong SF, Chan FY, Oats JJ, et al. Fetal growth spurt and pregestational diabetic pregnancy. Diabetes Care. 2002;25 (10):1681–1684.
- 103. Culliney KA, Parry GK, Brown J, et al. Regimens of fetal surveillance of suspected large-for-gestational-age fetuses for improving health outcomes. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2016;4:CD011739. DOI:10.1002/14651858.CD011739.pub2
- Bernstein IM, Catalano PM. Ultrasonographic estimation of fetal body composition for children of diabetic mothers. Invest Radiol. 1991;26:722–726.
- 105. Walsh JM, Wallace M, Brennan L, et al. Early pregnancy maternal urinary metabolomic profile and later insulin resistance and fetal adiposity. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med. 2015;28:1697–1700.
- 106. O'Connor C, O'Higgins A, Doolan A, et al. Birth weight and neonatal adiposity prediction using fractional limb volume obtained with 3D ultrasound. Fetal Diagn Ther. 2014;36:44–48. Epub 2014 Jun 6. DOI:10.1159/000360417
- Larciprete G, Valensise H, Vasapollo B, et al. Fetal subcutaneous tissue thickness (SCTT) in healthy and gestational diabetic pregnancies. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol. 2003;22:591–597.
- 108. Hure AJ, Collins CE, Giles WB, et al. Greater maternal weight gain during pregnancy predicts a large but lean fetal phenotype: a prospective cohort study. Matern Child Health J. 2012;16:1374– 1384. DOI:10.007/s10995-011-0904-8
- 109. Gibson KS, Stetzer B, Catalano PM, et al. Comparison of 2- and 3dimensional sonography for estimation of birth weight and

neonatal adiposity in the setting of suspected fetal macrosomia. J Ultrasound Med. 2016;35:1123-1129.

- Walsh JM, Hehir MP, Robson MS, et al. Mode of delivery and outcomes by birth weight among spontaneous and induced singleton cephalic nulliparous labors. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2015;129:22–25.
- 111. Larciprete G, Valensise H, Vasapollo B, et al. Body composition during normal pregnancy: reference ranges. Acta Diabetol. 2003;40(Suppl 1):S225–S232.
- Dodd JM, Turnbull D, McPhee AJ, et al. Antenatal lifestyle advice for women who are overweight or obese: LIMIT randomised trial. BMJ. 2014;348:g1285.
- 113. Dodd JM, Cramp C, Sui Z, et al. For the LRTG. The effects of antenatal dietary and lifestyle advice for women who are overweight or obese on maternal diet and physical activity: the LIMIT randomised trial. BMC Med. 2014;12:161. Epub 2014 Oct 16.
- 114. Wong SF, Lee-Tannock A, Amaraddio D, et al. Fetal growth patterns in fetuses of women with pregestational diabetes mellitus. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol. 2006;28(7):934–938.
- 115. Kernaghan D, Ola B, Fraser RB, et al. Fetal size and growth velocity in the prediction of the large for gestational age (LGA) infant in a glucose impaired population. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol. 2007;132(2):189–192.
- 116. Moyer-Mileur LJ, Slater H, Thomson JA, et al. Newborn adiposity measured by plethysmography is not predicted by late gestation two-dimensional ultrasound measures of fetal growth. J Nutr. 2009;139:1772–1778.
- 117. Khoury FR, Stetzer B, Myers SA, et al. Comparison of estimated fetal weights using volume and 2-dimensional sonography and their relationship to neonatal markers of fat. J Ultrasound Med. 2009;28:309–315.
- 118. Lee W, Balasubramaniam M, Deter RL, et al. Fetal growth parameters and birth weight: their relationship to neonatal body composition. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol. 2009;33:441–446.
- 119. Thangaratinam S, Rogozinska E, Jolly K, et al. Effects of interventions in pregnancy on maternal weight and obstetric outcomes: meta-analysis of randomised evidence. BMJ. 2012;344:e2088. Epub 2012 May 19.
- 120. Karpe F, Pinnick KE. Biology of upper-body and lower-body adipose tissue–link to whole-body phenotypes. Nature Rev Endocrinol. 2015;11:90–100.
- 121. Tso LO, Costello MF, Albuquerque LE, et al. Metformin treatment before and during IVF or ICSI in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2014 Nov 18;(11): CD006105.
- 122. Chiswick C, Reynolds RM, Denison F, et al. Effect of metformin on maternal and fetal outcomes in obese pregnant women (EMPOWaR): a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol. 2015;3:778–786.
- 123. Syngelaki A, Nicolaides KH, Balani J, et al. Metformin versus Placebo in obese pregnant women without diabetes mellitus. N Engl J Med. 2016;374:434–443.
- 124. Dodd JM, Deussen A, Grivell RM Metformin and dietary advice to improve insulin sensitivity and promote gestational restriction of weight in pregnant women who are obese: the GroW randomised trial. ACTRN12612001277831. 2012.
- 125. Rowan JA, Rush EC, Obolonkin V, et al. Metformin in gestational diabetes: the offspring follow-up (MiG TOFU): body composition at 2 years of age. Diabetes Care. 2011;34:2279–2284.
- 126. Rowan JA, Hague WM, Gao W, et al. Metformin versus insulin for the treatment of gestational diabetes. N Engl J Med. 2008;358:2003–2015.
- 127. Opray N, Grivell RM, Deussen AR, et al. Directed preconception health programs and interventions for improving pregnancy outcomes for women who are overweight or obese. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2015 Jul 14;(7):CD010932
- 128. Hanson MA, Gluckman PD, Bustreo F. Obesity and the health of future generations. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol. 2016;4:966–967. Epub 2016 Oct 12.

58 👄 C. M. O'BRIEN ET AL.

- 129. Masie J. Pregnancy outcomes in overweight women with prior miscarriage following a structured weight loss program versus weight loss counseling (NCT01325805). 2012. Available from: http://www.clinical-trials.gov
- 130. Mutsaerts MA, Groen H, Ter Bogt NC, et al. The lifestyle study: costs and effects of a structured lifestyle program in overweight and obese subfertile women to reduce the need for fertility treatment and improve reproductive outcome. A randomised controlled trial. BMC Womens Health. 2010;10:22.
- 131. Hanson M, Barker M, Dodd JM, et al. Interventions to prevent maternal obesity before conception, during pregnancy, and

post partum. The Lancet Diabetes & Endocrinology. 2017;5:65–76.

- 132. Moshe H, Nicolaides K, Meiri H, et al. .Introduction: Merging the legacies and hypotheses - Maternal medicine meets fetal medicine. In: Moshe H, Jovanovic L, Di Renzo C, Leiva A, Langer O, editors. Textbook of diabetes and pregnancy. Boca Raton: Taylor & Francis Group; 2016.
- 133. Frick AP, Syngelaki A, Zheng M, et al. Prediction of large-for-gestational-age neonates: screening by maternal factors and biomarkers in the three trimesters of pregnancy. Ultrasound Obstet Gynaecol. 2016;47:332–339.

APPENDIX 2

AUTHORSHIP STATEMENT

Title of the Paper: The effect of maternal obesity on fetal biometry, body composition and growth velocity

Publication status: Published in the The Journal of Maternal Fetal and Neonatal Medicine

Publication details: O'Brien CM, Louise J, Deussen A, Grivell RM, Dodd JM. The effect of maternal obesity on fetal biometry, body composition and growth velocity. *The Journal of Maternal Fetal and Neonatal Medicine* 2018; https://doi.org/10.1080/14767058.2018.1543658

PRINCIPAL AUTHOR

Author (Candidate)	Dr Cecelia O'Brien
Contribution to the paper	Assisted in the analysis and interpreted the data
	Wrote the manuscript
	Acted as the corresponding author
Overall percentage (%)	60%

Signature

Date: 4th December, 2018

Name of the Co-Author	Dr Jennie Louise	
Contribution to the paper	Performed the statistical analys	is and assisted in interpretation
	and manuscript review	
Signature		Date: 3/12/2018

Name of the Co-Author	Andrea Deusse	en	
Contribution to the paper	Assisted in the	e interpretation of	of the data and review of the
	manuscript		
Signature			Date: 3/12/2018

Name of the Co-Author	Dr Rosalie Grivell		
Contribution to the paper	Collection of the ultrasound da	ta	
Signature		Date:	10112/18

Name of the Co-Author	Professor Jodie Dodd	
Contribution to the paper	Assisted in the design and int	erpretation and review of the
	manuscript	
Signature		Date: 3 rd December, 2018

ORIGINAL ARTICLE



Check for updates

The effect of maternal obesity on fetal biometry, body composition, and growth velocity

Cecelia M. O'Brien^a, Jennie Louise^{a,b}, Andrea Deussen^a, Rosalie Grivell^{a,c} and Jodie M. Dodd^{a,d}

^aDiscipline of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, Robinson Research Institute, University of Adelaide, Adelaide, Australia; ^bAdelaide Health Technology Assessment, Faculty of Health Sciences, University of Adelaide, Adelaide, Australia; ^cDiscipline of Obstetrics, Gynaecology and Reproductive Medicine Flinders Medical Centre, Adelaide, Australia; ^dDepartment of Perinatal Medicine, Women's and Babies Division, Women's and Children's Hospital, Adelaide, Australia

ABSTRACT

Introduction: The aim of this secondary analysis was to investigate the relationship between maternal body mass index (BMI) and fetal biometry, body composition, and velocity measurements at 28 and 36 weeks gestation.

Materials and methods: The current analysis involves 911 overweight or obese women who were randomized to the Standard Care group of the LIMIT randomized trial.

Results: The fetus of women with Class 3 obesity (BMI \ge 40.0) showed the greatest increase in all biometry *z*-scores, abdominal area (AA), and abdominal fat mass (AFM) compared with women classified as overweight (BMI 25.0–29.9). In women with Class 3 obesity, AA velocity was increased by 0.035 cm² (0.004, 0.066, *p* = .029) and the *z*-score velocity was increased by 0.238 (0.022, 0.453, *p* = .03). Estimated fetal weight (EFW) velocity for women with Class 3 obesity was higher than that of overweight women by 2.028 g per day (0.861, 3.196, *p*<.001) and the *z*-score velocity was also higher by 0.441 per day (0.196, 0.687, *p*<.001).

Conclusions: Maternal obesity is associated with an increase in fetal abdominal circumference, AFM and area along with EFW velocity over time. Women with Class 3 obesity ($BMI \ge 40.0$) may represent a higher risk group for perpetuating the intergenerational transmission of obesity to their offspring.

Introduction

Overweight and obesity affect 1.9 billion adults around the globe [1], and more than 41 million children under the age of 5 years [2]. Furthermore, over 50% of women in high-income countries enter pregnancy with a body mass index (BMI) greater than 25 kg/m² [3]. Obesity in pregnancy has a significant effect on maternal, fetal, and neonatal health outcomes and in the longer term, is associated with an increased risk of childhood obesity in offspring [2,4]. The contribution of maternal obesity to subsequent childhood obesity is complex, involving both genetic and environmental factors, with substantial impact arising from intrauterine programming [5]. To this end, there has been considerable interest in understanding the stimulation and regulation of fetal growth and adiposity patterns, and how this contributes to the intergenerational effects of obesity [6].

The developmental overnutrition hypothesis [7] proposes that maternal hyperglycemia, in the setting

of diabetes, increases placental transfer of glucose, resulting in fetal hyperglycemia, increasing insulinmediated fetal growth, principally adiposity. There has also been extension of this hypothesis to fetal growth in the setting of maternal obesity, with recognition that other substrates such as leptin, adiponectin, triglycerides, cholesterol, and inflammatory cytokines may indirectly influence growth through the regulation of placental nutrient transport [8].

With advances in ultrasound technology, there has been increasing interest in the identification of the fetus at risk of overgrowth and adiposity, utilizing both standard ultrasound biometry and fetal body composition measurements. While several studies have evaluated a range of fetal body composition measures using ultrasound [9–11], they have been somewhat limited by their relatively small sample sizes and having been performed mostly in women with a normal BMI [12,13] or diabetes [14–16]. The generalizability of these measures in other populations, particularly women who are overweight or obese, is unclear.

CONTACT Cecelia M. O'Brien 🔊 cecelia.obrien@adelaide.edu.au 🗈 Women's and Children's Hospital, Robinson Research Institute, University of Adelaide, 77 King William Road, North Adelaide, Australia

 $\ensuremath{\mathbb{C}}$ 2018 Informa UK Limited, trading as Taylor & Francis Group

ARTICLE HISTORY

Received 5 June 2018 Revised 22 October 2018 Accepted 30 October 2018

KEYWORDS

Adiposity; body composition; fetal growth; obesity; pregnancy; velocity

2 👄 C. M. O'BRIEN ET AL.

The aim of this study was to determine the association between maternal BMI and fetal growth, body composition and growth velocity in a population of overweight and obese women. The hypothesis of this study is that higher maternal prepregnancy BMI is associated with increased fetal growth and greater fetal adiposity.

Materials and methods

The research methodology [17] and clinical findings [18,19] of the LIMIT randomized controlled trial have been published, in which a total of 2212 women who were overweight or obese were recruited to assess the effects of a dietary and lifestyle intervention, compared with standard antenatal care.

Eligibility and participants

Women were approached at their first antenatal booking appointment, where their height and weight were measured and BMI was calculated. Women with a singleton pregnancy between 10+0 and 20+0 weeks gestation, and BMI greater than or equal to 25 kg/m^2 were eligible for inclusion. Women with a diagnosis of Type 1 or Type 2 diabetes, or multiple pregnancy were excluded.

Ethics approval

Women were recruited from three public hospitals across metropolitan Adelaide and provided written informed consent to participate. The ethics approval study number for LIMIT randomized controlled trial was 1839/6 (approved July 2006) and for the fetal growth ancillary study number was 2051/4 (approved April 2008).

Randomization

At the time of the first antenatal visit, all women had their height and weight measured, and BMI was calculated. A central randomization service using a computer generated schedule randomized women to either the "Lifestyle Advice Group" or "Standard Care Group". Stratification variables included parity (0 versus 1+), BMI at antenatal booking (25.0–29.9 kg/m² versus \geq 30.0 kg/m²) and hospital of birth. Women included in this analysis were those randomized to the Standard Care group.

Intervention

Women who were randomized to receive Lifestyle Advice participated in a comprehensive dietary and

lifestyle intervention, which included a combination of dietary, exercise and behavioral strategies. Further details regarding content of the intervention have been published previously [18,19]. Women who were randomized to the Standard Care group received their pregnancy care according to the guidelines of the hospital where they were planning to birth, which did not include the routine provision of dietary and life-style advice, or information relating to gestational weight gain in pregnancy [18,19].

Ultrasound assessment

All women who participated in the trial were offered a research ultrasound scan at 28 (range 26+0 to 29+6) and 36 (range 34+0 to 37+6) weeks' gestation to obtain fetal biometry and body composition measurements, performed by a medical practitioner with specialist or subspecialist training in obstetric ultrasound [20]. The estimated date of confinement and gestational age were calculated on the early pregnancy ultrasound and menstrual period dating.

Ultrasound outcome measurements

Using ultrasound, fetal biometry, estimated fetal weight (EFW), and fetal body composition were measured at 28 and 36 weeks gestation and have been described in detail in related publications [20].

Biometry and estimated fetal weight

Ultrasound assessment at these time points included measurements of standard biometry including head circumference (HC), biparietal diameter (BPD), abdominal circumference (AC), and femur length (FL). The biometry was measured in accordance with national and international standards of practice [21]. Estimated fetal weight was calculated using the Hadlock C formula [22].

Fetal body composition measures

Fetal body composition measures were obtained in a standardized fashion, as we have reported previously [20], and included midthigh lean mass (MTLM), mid-thigh fat mass (MTFM), abdominal fat mass (AFM), and subscapular fat mass (SSFM).

Midthigh total, lean, and fat mass

Midthigh lean mass and MTFM were measured according to described techniques [12,20,23], as we have reported previously [20]. Midthigh lean mass was calculated by first obtaining a longitudinal view of the femur and identification of the midpoint at a 0° angle. The transducer was then rotated through a 90° angle to obtain the cross-sectional view of the midthigh, and a trace of the circumference of the midthigh total mass (MTTM) performed and area calculated. The MTLM incorporating muscle and bone was outlined using a continuous trace to calculate the area. A subtraction was performed between the MTTM and the MTLM to calculate the MTFM.

Abdominal fat mass

Fetal AFM or anterior abdominal wall thickness was measured between the midaxillary lines and anterior to the margins of the ribs, at the level of the AC, with the subcutaneous fat represented by the echogenic envelope surrounding the abdomen and measured in millimeters [12,20,23]. Using magnification, four measurements were obtained from one or two separate images, with the mean value used in the analysis.

Subscapular fat mass

Subscapular fat mass was measured using a sagittal view of the fetal trunk to visualize the entire longitudinal section of the scapula as per the described technique [12,20,23]. The subcutaneous measurement between the skin surface and the subcutaneous tissue at the interface with the superspinous and infraspinous muscles was obtained on two occasions, with the mean value used in the analysis.

Fetal z-scores

For each fetal growth and adiposity measurement, *z*-scores were calculated using ultrasound growth charts in clinical use [22].

Fetal growth velocity

Fetal growth velocity was defined as the difference in biometry between 36 and 28 week measurements divided by actual time between measures. The growth velocity measurement was expressed as growth in mm per day for BPD, HC, FL, MTFM, AFM, SSFM, and *z*-scores were calculated for BPD, FL, EFW, and abdominal area (AA) using reference values from Owen et al. [24]. Abdominal area expressed as cm² with *z*-scores was calculated [24], as there are no appropriate reference ranges for AC velocity.

Statistical analysis

Baseline characteristics of women in the Standard Care group were assessed descriptively, with continuous variables were reported as mean and standard deviation or median and interquartile range as appropriate, and categorical variables were reported as number and percentage.

Maternal BMI was analyzed within four groups including overweight (BMI range between 25.0 and 29.99 kg/m²), Class 1 obesity (BMI range between 30.0 and 34.99 kg/m²), Class 2 obesity (BMI range between 35.0 and 39.9 kg/m²), and Class 3 obesity (BMI greater than or equal to 40 kg/m^2) [25,26].

Fetal biometry and adiposity outcomes were analyzed using linear regression models with adjustment for confounders including center, parity, maternal age, smoking, socioeconomic status (Socioeconomic Index for Areas (SEIFA) Index of Relative Socio-Economic Disadvantage (IRSD) quintile).

For outcomes considered at two time points, generalized estimating equations (GEEs) were used to account for repeated measures, with a time-by-measure interaction term included in the model to test for difference in association between time points.

Statistical significance was assessed at the two sided p < .05 and no adjustment was made for multiple comparisons, as this is an exploratory rather than confirmatory analysis. All analyses were performed using SAS 9.4 (Cary, NC) and Stata v14 (Stata Corporation, College Station, TX).

Results

Demographic characteristics

Of the 911 women included in the secondary analysis, 41% (n = 376) were overweight, 29.8% (n = 271) had Class 1 obesity, 16.8% (n = 153) had Class 2 obesity, and 12.2% (n = 111) had Class 3 obesity (Table 1). The mean age of women was 29.6 years, the majority (92%; n = 835) were Caucasian in origin, with 40% (n = 369) in their first ongoing pregnancy, and almost 30% (n = 265) from the highest quintile of social disadvantage. The overall rate of gestational diabetes in the Standard Care group was 11.2% (n = 102). These baseline characteristics are consistent with the baseline characteristics of the entire LIMIT Trial randomized cohort [18]. A total of 911 women from the Standard Care group had ultrasound information at one or more time points, with 777 having ultrasound data at both 28 and 36 weeks. Sixty-six women (7.2%) had data only for 28 weeks, and 68 women (7.5%) had data only at 36-

Table 1. Baseline characteristics of the Standard Care group within the LIMIT Trial.

		Body mass in	dex category		Ovorall	
Total number	Overweight	Class 1	Class 2	Class 3	N (%)	p Value
	25.0–29.9	30.0-34.9	35.0–39.9	≥40.0		
N (%)	376 (41.3)	271 (29.8)	153 (16.8)	111 (12.2)	911	
Maternal age (years)						
Mean (SD)	29.9 (5.25)	29.6 (5.69)	29.2 (5.40)	28.9 (5.97)	29.6 (5.50)	.24
Caucasian						
n (%)	340 (90.4)	248 (91.5)	141 (92.2)	106 (95.5)	835 (91.7)	.40
Nulliparous						
n (%)	168 (44.68)	108 (39.85)	50 (32.68)	43 (38.74)	369 (40.50)	.08
Smoker						
n (%)	38 (10.11)	35 (12.92)	14 (9.15)	14 (12.61)	101 (11.09)	.52
Gestational diabetes						
n (%)	26 (6.91)	37 (13.65)	19 (12.42)	20 (18.02)	102 (11.20)	.88
SEIFA						
Quintile 1						
Most disadvantaged	94 (25.00)	83 (30.63)	48 (31.37)	40 (36.04)	265 (29.09)	.06
n (%)						
Quintile 2						
n (%)	87 (23.14)	63 (23.25)	37 (13.65)	40 (14.76)	48 (17.71)	
Quintile 3						
n (%)	59 (15.69)	37 (13.65)	29 (18.95)	18 (16.22)	143 (15.70)	
Quintile 4						
n (%)	70 (18.62)	40 (14.76)	20 (13.07)	12 (10.81)	142 (15.59)	
Quintile 5						
Least disadvantaged n (%)	66 (17.55)	48 (17.71)	14 (9.15)	11 (9.91)	139 (15.26)	

week gestation (Table 1). There were no statistically significant differences in the demographic characteristics between the four BMI categories.

Maternal BMI and the relationship with fetal biometry and estimated fetal weight z-scores

Neither maternal obesity Class 1 or Class 2 was associated with fetal BPD, HC, or FL *z*-scores at either 28 or 36 weeks gestation, when compared with fetal biometry measures from women who were overweight (Table 2). However, the fetuses of women with obesity Class 3 demonstrated significantly higher *z*-scores for BPD compared with the fetuses of women who were overweight: the estimated mean difference was 0.36 (0.06, 0.65) at 28 weeks (p = .017), and 0.39 (0.15, 0.63) at 36 weeks (p = .002). Similarly, HC *z*-scores were higher by 0.47 (0.26, 0.68) at 28 weeks and 0.51 (0.32, 0.71) at 36 weeks (p < .001 for both time points), while FL *z*-scores were higher by 0.36 (0.13, 0.58) at 28 weeks (p = .002) and by 0.27 (0.02, 0.52) at 36 weeks (p = .035) (Table 2).

For both AC and EFW *z*-scores, there was a consistent pattern of higher measures with increasing maternal BMI at both time points as shown in Table 2. The mean fetal AC *z*-scores at both 28 and 36 weeks were significantly higher in the fetus of women with Class 1 obesity, with the magnitude of the increase being higher for Class 2 and Class 3 obesity categories in comparison to women in the overweight group. Women with Class 1 obesity had AC *z*-scores 0.18 (0.02, 0.33, p = .028) higher at 28 weeks, and 0.21 (0.04, 0.38, p = .017) higher at 36 weeks. Women with Class 2 obesity had AC *z*-scores 0.20 (0.01, 0.38; p = .04) higher at 28 weeks, and 0.24 (0.05, 0.43, p = .013) higher at 36 weeks. For the women with Class 3 obesity, the increase in AC *z*-score was 0.40 (0.17, 0.63, p = .013) at 28 weeks, and 0.39 (0.15, 0.63, p = .001) at 36 weeks compared to the overweight group. Women with Class 1 obesity had EFW *z*-scores 0.18 (0.04, 0.33, p = .014) higher at 28 weeks, and 0.17 (0.008, 0.32, p = .04) higher at 36 weeks. For the women with Class 3 obesity, the increase in EFW *z*score was 0.46 (0.23, 0.69, p < .001) at 28 weeks, and 0.42 (0.19, 0.64, p < .001) at 36 weeks compared to the overweight group (Table 2).

Figure 1 illustrates the positive association between maternal BMI (continuous variable) and fetal AC *z*-score when measured at 28 and 36 weeks (Figure 2). For every 1 unit increase in BMI, AC *z*-score increases by 0.021 units (95 Cl 0.01–0.032) at 28 weeks (p < .001) and 0.025 (95 Cl 0.013–0.036) at 36 weeks (p < .001).

In the time-by-treatment interaction analyses, there was no evidence that the observed associations between maternal BMI and fetal growth and adiposity measurements changed over time.

Maternal BMI and fetal adiposity measurements

There were no significant differences between the maternal BMI categories MTFM as shown in Table 3.

		0	iverweight		Class 1 obesity			Class 2 obesity			Class 3 obesity	
		25-	–29.9 kg/m ²		30–34.9 kg/m²			35–39.9 kg/m²			\geq 40.0 kg/m ²	
z-Scores	Gestation	Mean (SD) BMI category	Adjusted estimate (95% Cl)	Mean (SD)	Adjusted estimate (95% Cl)	<i>p</i> Value	Mean (SD)	Adjusted estimate (95% CI)	<i>p</i> Value	Mean (SD)	Adjusted estimate (95% Cl)	<i>p</i> Value
BPD	0.372 ^a											
i i	28 weeks	0.62	Ref group	0.57	-0.084	.484	0.50	-0.133	.353	0.95	0.356	.017
		(1.48)		(1.48)	(-0.321, 0.152)		(1.42)	(-0.414, 0.148)		(1.32)	(0.064, 0.649)	
	36 weeks	0.09	Ref group	0.13	0.013	.895	0.18	0.080	.477	0.45	0.389	.002
Ч	0.387 ^a	(1.20)		(1.23)	(-0.184, 0.21)		(1.02)	(-0.14, 0.30)		(1.11)	(0.145, 0.632)	
	28 weeks	0.73	Ref group	0.68	-0.44	.586	0.69	-0.009	.924	1.12	0.470	<.001
		(0.93)	-	(1.01)	(-0.202, 0.114)		(0.91)	(-0.191, 0.173)		(66.0)	(0.257, 0.683)	
	36 weeks	0.53	Ref group	0.63	0.101	.165	0.56	0.0480	.589	0.99	0.513	<.001
		(0.83)		(0.95)	(-0.042, 0.245)		(0.88)	(-0.126, 0.221)		(0.93)	(0.318, 0.708)	
AC	0.946											
	28 weeks	0.34	Ref group	0.51	0.175	.028	0.52	0.196	.040	0.72	0.399	.013
		(0.94)		(1.0)	(0.019, 0.331)		(0.98)	(0.009, 0.383)		(1.08)	(0.168, 0.631)	
	36 weeks	0.32	Ref group	0.54	0.210	.017	0.54	0.241	.013	0.68	0.390	.001
		(1.05)		(1.09)	(0.038, 0.381)		(0.97)	(0.051, 0.431)		(1.19)	(0.154, 0.626)	
Н	0.270 ^a											
	28 weeks	0.18	Ref group	0.25	0.066	.413	0.06	-0.120	.236	0.51	0.355	.002
		(0.97)		(0.98)	(-0.093, 0.225)		(1.06)	(-0.319, 0.079)		(1.00)	(0.132, 0.578)	
	36 weeks	0.09	Ref group	0.15	0.064	.450	0.20	0.072	.484	0.33	0.271	.0035
		(1.06)		(1.01)	(-0.102, 0.229)		(1.07)	(-0.129, 0.272)		(1.22)	(0.019, 0.522)	
EFW	0.776 ^a											
	28 weeks	0.12	Ref group	0.29	0.182	.014	0.20	0.107	.216	0.54	0.460	<.001
		(0.87)		(0.93)	(0.036, 0.327)		(06.0)	(-0.063, 0.278)		(1.07)	(0.233, 0.686)	
	36 weeks	0.17	Ref group	0.35	0.165	.04	0.33	0.169	.051	0.55	0.416	<.001
		(96.0)		(1.01)	(0.008, 0.322)		(0.87)	(-0.001, 0.339)		(111)	(0.194, 0.638)	
The result both time (25.0–29.9)	s from the and points. Value: 1. All models w	alysis of matern s are expressed rere adjusted fo	ial BMI category groups 1 as mean (standard d or center, parity, SEIFA IF	s and fetal bion eviation) for mi RSD quintile, sm	netry z-scores measured aternal BMI categories; oking status and age a	d at 28 and estimates a	36 weeks gesta ire differences i	tion. Each biometry m n means (95% Cl) for	easurement i · each BMI c	is described acr ategory compa	oss the three BMI cate red to the lowest BMI	gories for category
BPD: bipar ^a Interactio	ietal diameter; n <i>p</i> values for	: HC: head circu treatment by ti	Imference; AC: abdominime point interaction.	al circumference	e; FL: femur length; Ref:	: reference; S	5D: standard dev	viation; Cl: confidence i	nterval.			

Table 2. Maternal body mass index (BMI) category and fetal biometry z-scores at 28 and 36 weeks.

THE JOURNAL OF MATERNAL-FETAL & NEONATAL MEDICINE 🕥 5



Figure 1. There is a positive association between increasing maternal BMI and fetal abdominal circumference (AC) z-score when measured at 28 weeks (blue) and 36 weeks (red). For every 1 unit increase in BMI, AC z-score increases by 0.021 units (95th Cl 0.01–0.032) at 28 weeks (p < .001) and 0.025 (95th Cl 0.013–0.036) at 36 weeks (p < .001).



Figure 2. This graph illustrates the mean estimated fetal weight change per day from 28 weeks to 36 weeks for each BMI category. The reference group is the growth velocity from 28 to 35 weeks inclusive from low risk pregnancies reported by Owen and associates in 1996 [23]. As BMI category increases, there is an incremental increase in the rate of growth per day when compared to the reference group.

For AA, there were no significant differences for the obesity Class 2 category; however, there were significant differences between the obesity Class 1 and Class 3 categories when compared to measurements from women who were overweight. The mean AA was 1.795 cm^2 (0.13, 3.46, p = .035) higher at 36-week gestation in the fetus of women with Class 1 obesity. Similarly, the mean AA was higher by 2.19 cm^2 at 28 weeks (0.31, 4.08, p = .02) and 3.42 cm^2 at 36 weeks (1.09, 5.74, p = .004) in the fetus of women with Class 3 obesity (Table 3).

For AFM, there were no significant differences in the fetus of women with Class 1 or Class 2 obesity; however, there were significant differences between the obesity Class 3 when compared to measurements from women who were overweight. In the fetus of women with Class 3 obesity AFM was increased by 0.61 mm (0.08, 1.14, p = .03) at 36 weeks (Table 3).

For SSFM, there were no significant differences in the fetuses of women with Class 2 or Class 3 obesity; however, there were significant differences between obesity Class 1 when compared to women who were overweight. In the fetus of women with Class 3 obesity, SSFM was reduced by 0.2 mm (-0.37, -0.04, p = .016) at 28 weeks (Table 3).

There was no evidence that the association with maternal BMI category differed over time for the adiposity measurements.

Maternal BMI with fetal growth velocity over time

There were no significant differences between the maternal BMI categories and MTFM velocity, AFM velocity, or SSFM velocity (Table 4). For EFW and AA velocity, there were no significant differences for women with Class 1 and Class 2 obesity; however, there were significant differences between the Class 3 obesity and overweight categories. The mean EFW velocity was 2.03 g per day (0.86, 3.2, p < .001) higher in women with Class 3 obesity. The EFW *z*-score velocity was also higher by 0.44 (1.2, 0.69, p < .001). Similarly, AA velocity was higher by 0.035 cm²/day (0.004, 0.066, p = .029), and the AA *z*-score velocity was higher by 0.24 (0.02, 0.45, p = .03) (Table 4).

Figure 2 illustrates EFW growth velocity expressed as the mean growth per day for each BMI category. The reference group has been included to show how maternal obesity, regardless of BMI category, results in a higher fetal growth velocity rate. This diagram shows the incremental increase in velocity with maternal BMI category, the highest velocity being found in the fetus of women with obesity Class 3 (Table 4).

In addition to the analyses reported above, BMI was also analyzed as a continuous variable and the results are consistent with the above findings described for the analysis of the four BMI groups.

Discussion

This study describes the fetal growth patterns and growth velocity over time in women who are overweight or obese. Our study identifies an association between higher maternal BMI category and an increase in fetal biometry *z*-scores, abdominal-related adiposity and growth velocity. We found a consistent

		оv	erweight		Class 1 obesity			Class 2 obesity			Class 3 obesity	
		25-2	9.9 kg/m²		30–34.9 kg/m²			35–39.9 kg/m ²			\geq 40.0 kg/m ²	
0	Gestation	Mean (SD)	Adjusted estimate (95% CI)	Mean (SD)	Adjusted estimate (95% CI)	<i>p</i> Value	Mean (SD)	Adjusted estimate (95% Cl)	<i>p</i> Value	Mean (SD)	Adjusted estimate (95% Cl)	<i>p</i> Value
mass (cm ²)	0.636 ^a											
2	28 weeks	4.50	Ref	4.56	0.009	.94	4.48	-0.051	.734	4.76	0.297	.166
		(1.27)		(1.20)	(-0.231, 0.250)		(1.11)	(-0.343, 0.242)		(1.43)	(-0.123, 0.718)	
m	36 weeks	11.17	Ref	11.30	0.08	.794	10.99	-0.166	.644	12.16	0.967	.089
		(2.88)		(2.88)	(-0.519, 0.678)		(2.57)	(-0.872, 0.539)		(3.25)	(-0.148, 2.081)	
area (cm²)	0.293 ^a											
2	28 weeks	47.56	Ref	47.77	0.269	.608	48.64	1.236	.077	49.72	2.193	.023
		(6.70)		(5.93)	(-0.759, 1.296)		(7.12)	(-0.134, 2.605)		(8.82)	(0.309, 4.076)	
m	36 weeks	84.19	Ref	85.78	1.795	.035	85.91	1.773	.077	87.12	3.415	.00
		(10.40)		(10.47)	(0.13, 3.46)		(9.95)	(-0.190, 3.735)		(11.34)	(1.091, 5.739)	
at mass (mm)	0.724 ^a											
2	28 weeks	3.46	Ref	3.56	0.060	.544	3.49	0.028	.813	3.80	0.351	.05
		(1.04)		(1.06)	(-0.135, 0.255)		(0.89)	(-0.201, 0.256)		(1.18)	(0.00, 0.702)	
m	36 weeks	5.60	Ref	5.82	0.186	.237	5.64	-0.011	.956	6.20	0.606	.025
		(1.58)		(1.56)	(-0.122, 0.494)		(1.56)	(-0.388, 0.367)		(0.567)	(0.078, 1.134)	
fat mass (mm)	0.226^{a}											
2	28 weeks	3.25	Ref	3.05	-0.201	.016	3.19	-0.079	.477	3.29	0.060	.675
		(0.94)		(0.80)	(-0.365, -0.037)		(0.88)	(-0.295, 0.138)		(0.93)	(-0.219, 0.338)	
m	36 weeks	5.31	Ref	5.48	0.136	.369	5.35	0.046	.828	5.52	0.235	.344
		(1.38)		(1.49)	(-0.161, 0.433)		(1.29)	(-0.290, 0.362)		(1.53)	(-0.252, 0.723)	

Table 3. Maternal BMI category and fetal adiposity measurements at 28 and 36 weeks.

The results relating to maternal BMI categories and fetal adiposity measurements. Each biometry measurement is described across the three BMI categories for both time points. Values are mean (standard devisemolis) for maternal BMI categories; estimates are differences in means (95% CI) for each BMI category compared to the lowest BMI category (25.0–29.9) and were adjusted for center, parity, SEIFA IRSD quintile, Ref: reference.

						Body mä	ass index categ	Jory				
		Ove	erweight		Class 1 obesity			Class 2 obesity			Class 3 obesity	
		25-2	.9.9 kg/m²		30–34.9 kg/m ²			35–39.9 kg/m²			\geq 40.0 kg/m ²	
	Gestation	Mean (SD)	Adjusted estimate (95% CI)	Mean (SD)	Adjusted estimate (95% CI)	<i>p</i> Value	Mean (SD)	Adjusted estimate (95% CI)	<i>p</i> Value	Mean (SD)	Adjusted estimate (95% CI)	<i>p</i> Value
Estimated fetal weight	.005	29.46	Ref	29.61	0.153	.727	30.37	0.765	.156	31.21	2.028	<.001
(EFW)		(4.99)		(5.39)	(-0.705, 1.011)		(4.55)	(-0.291, 1.820)		(5.62)	(0.861, 3.196)	
MTFM	.292	0.12	Ref	0.12	-0.002	.765	0.12	0.009	.238	0.13	0.017	.163
		(0.05)		(0.05)	(-0.13, 0.010)		(0.05)	(-0.006, 0.024)		(0.05)	(-0.007, 0.042)	
Abdominal area (cm2)	.145	0.68	Ref	0.68	0.009	.425	0.70	0.019	.175	0.70	0.035	.029
(AA)		(0.13)		(0.13)	(-0.014, 0.032)		(0.13)	(-0.009, 0.048)		(0.16)	(0.004, 0.066)	
AFM	.762	0.04	Ref	0.04	0.003	.317	0.04	0.002	.580	0.04	0.00	.948
		(0.03)		(0.03)	(-0.003, 0.009)		(0.03)	(-0.006, 0.010)		(0.03)	(-0.013, 0.012)	
SSFM	.238	0.04	Ref	0.04	0.005	.106	0.04	0.006	.12	0.04	-0.001	.876
		(0.03)		(0.03)	(-0.001, 0.011)		(0.03)	(-0.002, 0.014)		(0.02)	(-0.012, 0.011)	
АА	.165	0.51	Ref	0.54	0.0045	.574	0.62	0.112	.259	0.67	0.238	.03
velocity		(0.93)		(0.91)	(-0.112, 0.203)		(0.85)	(-0.082, 0.306)		(1.06)	(0.022, 0.453)	
Z score												
EFW	.003	0.60	Ref	0.62	0.016	.865	0.78	0.152	.179	0.99	0.441	<.001
velocity		(1.06)		(1.12)	(-0.165, 0.196)		(0.94)	(-0.07, 0.375)		(1.19)	(0.196, 0.687)	
Z score												
The results relating to m time points. Values are m	naternal BMI nean (standa , seien iech	categories and rd deviation) fo	the growth velocity ir maternal BMI categ	for EFW, MTFN jories, and esti	A, AA, AFM, SSFM, AA imates are differences	V, and EFW in means (velocity z scor 95% Cl) for ea	es. Each measuremen ch BMI category com	nt is describ pared to th	ed across the e lowest cated	three BMI categories Jory (BMI 25.0–29.9) a	for both and were
מחלחשובת וחו הבווובו' למוונ	y, JULA INJU	duinine, sinon	וווא אנמנע אווע מאב מו									

Table 4. Maternal BMI category and fetal growth velocity between 28 and 36 weeks.

and significant increase in all fetal biometry measurements at both 28 and 36 weeks gestation from women with Class 3 obesity (BMI greater than or equal to 40 kg/m²). Fetal adiposity measurements were not universally increased but AFM and AA were associated with maternal obesity in our cohort. With increasing maternal BMI category, there were incremental increases in growth velocity of the fetal abdomen and EFW. This study was a secondary analysis and while other associations were identified, these were inconsistent and likely due to chance.

Much of the literature pertaining to ultrasound measured fetal growth patterns relates to women with pre-existing diabetes [15] and gestational diabetes [13,14,16,27]. Maternal obesity is associated with an overall increase in lean mass and skeletal growth [20]. In contrast, maternal diabetes results mainly in an increase in AC and AFM through the stimulation of insulin sensitive tissues [15]. The main findings in this study confirmed this, where a significant increase in skeletal growth (HC and FL) and AA velocity and fat mass was found in women with Class 3 obesity compared with the lesser BMI categories. A recent study by Zhang et al. in women classified as obese and nonobese in pregnancy, also found an increase in skeletal growth, with significant increases in HC, humeral and FLs in fetuses of obese women [28]. The difference in EFW comparing women who were nonobese to obese was apparent from 32 weeks [28].

Women with Class 3 obesity (BMI greater than or equal to 40 kg/m²) are likely to represent a metabolically different group. From epidemiological studies, higher BMI category is associated with a further increase in the rate of adverse perinatal outcomes including macrosomia [29-32] and there is emerging evidence of associated childhood obesity [33-35]. The stimulation of fetal growth through the complex pathway including insulin growth factors (via hyperglycemia and hyperinsulinemia) [36], hyperlipidemia [37], leptin [38], adiponectin [39], and inflammatory mediators [40] is likely to be accentuated in women of higher BMIs. Thus, targeted interventions in the Class 3 obesity group may be more beneficial in reducing the fetal effects of obesity when compared to women with lower BMI categories.

This is the first study to report on velocity of fetal growth and adiposity in the setting of maternal obesity. The literature to date has used measurement of growth velocity as a tool for screening and identification of the small for gestational age infant [41] or for screening for macrosomia associated with pre-existing or gestational diabetes [15,42,43]. The velocity of fetal growth changes throughout gestation [44,45]. Of interest, growth in the abdomen circumference over time peaks at 12.5 mm per week at 24 weeks' gestation, reducing to 8 mm per week by 40 weeks' gestation [44]. Our study has shown an incremental increase in the rate of growth velocity in third trimester associated with maternal obesity. Further understanding into the timing and regulation of the fetal growth velocity in the setting of maternal obesity is critical to developing successful interventions to improve perinatal outcomes.

The main limitation of this secondary analysis is the lack of a comparator group, defined as women entering pregnancy with a normal BMI. There was also missing data in the velocity comparisons due to the availability of the second scan to calculate the growth velocity over time, affecting 15% of women within the cohort. Third, the study incorporated two time points to assess velocity in the third trimester. Other descriptive studies for growth velocity used multiple time points from 12 to 40 weeks gestation in order to describe the variation in velocity throughout the entire pregnancy [44,45]. Lastly, while multiple comparisons were used in this secondary analysis, this has not been adjusted for as this study is an exploratory not a confirmatory analysis.

There is a need for further studies into the mechanisms and timing of critical fetal growth changes. This would help guide and assist with the timing of potential interventions that may modulate fetal growth *in utero*. From a public health perspective, if preventive strategies could modify fetal growth, velocity and adiposity patterns *in utero*, this may alter the transmission of obesity and its cardiometabolic complications to the next generation [46,47].

Disclosure statement

No potential conflict of interest was reported by the authors.

Funding

This work was supported by National Health and Medical Research Council and RANZCOG Research Foundation.

References

[1] Ng M, Fleming T, Robinson M, et al. Global, regional, and national prevalence of overweight and obesity in children and adults during 1980–2013: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2013. Lancet. 2014;384:766–781. 10 👄 C. M. O'BRIEN ET AL.

- [2] WHO. Obesity and overweight Geneva; 2016; [cited 2016 Sep 27]. Available from: http://www.who.int/ mediacentre/factsheets/fs311/en/
- [3] Scheil W, Scott J, Catcheside B, et al. Pregnancy outcome in South Australia 2010. Adelaide: Government Offices of South Australia; 2014.
- [4] Leng J, Li W, Zhang S, et al. GDM women's pre-pregnancy overweight/obesity and gestational weight gain on offspring overweight status. PLoS One. 2015; 10:e0129536.
- [5] Monasta L, Batty GD, Cattaneo A, et al. Early-life determinants of overweight and obesity: a review of systematic reviews. Obes Rev. 2010;11:695–708.
- [6] Catalano PM. Obesity and pregnancy the propagation of a viscous cycle? J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2003; 88:3505–3506.
- [7] Pedersen J. Weight and length at birth of infants of diabetic mothers. Acta Endocrinol (Copenh). 1954;16: 330–342.
- [8] Catalano PM, Hauguel-De Mouzon S. Is it time to revisit the Pedersen hypothesis in the face of the obesity epidemic? Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2011;204: 479–487.
- [9] O'Connor C, O'Higgins A, Doolan A, et al. Birth weight and neonatal adiposity prediction using fractional limb volume obtained with 3D ultrasound. Fetal Diagn Ther. 2014;36:44–48.
- [10] Gibson KS, Stetzer B, Catalano PM, et al. Comparison of 2- and 3-dimensional sonography for estimation of birth weight and neonatal adiposity in the setting of suspected fetal macrosomia. J Ultrasound Med. 2016; 35:1123–1129.
- [11] Walsh JM, Wallace M, Brennan L, et al. Early pregnancy maternal urinary metabolomic profile and later insulin resistance and fetal adiposity. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med. 2015;28:1697–1700.
- [12] Larciprete G, Valensise H, Vasapollo B, et al. Body composition during normal pregnancy: reference ranges. Acta Diabetol. 2003;40:S225–S232.
- [13] Parretti E, Carignani L, Cioni R, et al. Sonographic evaluation of fetal growth and body composition in women with different degrees of normal glucose metabolism. Diabetes Care. 2003;26:2741–2748.
- [14] Kernaghan D, Ola B, Fraser RB, et al. Fetal size and growth velocity in the prediction of the large for gestational age (LGA) infant in a glucose impaired population. Eur J Obstetr Gynecol Reprod Biol. 2007;132: 189–192.
- [15] Kehl RJ, Krew MA, Thomas A, et al. Fetal growth and body composition in infants of women with diabetes mellitus during pregnancy. J Maternfetal Med. 1996;5: 273–280.
- [16] Bethune M, Bell R. Evaluation of the measurement of the fetal fat layer, interventricular septum and abdominal circumference percentile in the prediction of macrosomia in pregnancies affected by gestational diabetes. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol. 2003;22: 586–590.
- [17] Dodd JM, Turnbull DA, McPhee AJ, et al. Limiting weight gain in overweight and obese women during pregnancy to improve health outcomes: the LIMIT

randomised controlled trial. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth. 2011;11:79.

- [18] Dodd JM, Turnbull D, McPhee AJ, et al. Antenatal lifestyle advice for women who are overweight or obese: LIMIT randomised trial. BMJ. 2014;348:g1285.
- [19] Dodd JM, Cramp C, Sui Z, et al. The effects of antenatal dietary and lifestyle advice for women who are overweight or obese on maternal diet and physical activity: the LIMIT randomised trial. BMC Med. 2014; 12:161.
- [20] Grivell RM, Yelland LN, Deussen A, et al. Antenatal dietary and lifestyle advice for women who are overweight or obese and the effect on fetal growth and adiposity: the LIMIT randomised trial. BJOG. 2016;123: 233–243.
- [21] ASUM. Crows Nest: Australasian Society for Ultrasound Medicine (ASUM). Promoting excellence in ultrasound – Policy D7. Statement on normal ultrasonographic fetal measurements; 2007. Available from: https://www.asum.com.au/standards-of-practice/
- [22] Hadlock FP, Harrist RB, Martinez-Poyer J. In utero analysis of fetal growth: a sonographic weight standard. Radiology. 1991;181:129–133.
- [23] Bernstein IM, Catalano PM. Ultrasonographic estimation of fetal body composition for children of diabetic mothers. Invest Radiol. 1991;26:722–726.
- [24] Owen P, Donnet ML, Ogston SA, et al. Standards for ultrasound fetal growth velocity. Br J Obstet Gynaecol. 1996;103:60–69.
- [25] ACOG. Obesity in pregnancy. The American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists, Washington (DC): Wolters Kluwer Health Inc; 2015.
- [26] Modder J, Fitzsimons K. Management of women with obesity in pregnancy: CMACE/RCOG joint guideline. London: Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists; 2010.
- [27] Larciprete G, Valensise H, Vasapollo B, et al. Fetal subcutaneous tissue thickness (SCTT) in healthy and gestational diabetic pregnancies. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol. 2003;22:591–597.
- [28] Zhang C, Hediger ML, Albert PS, et al. Association of maternal obesity with longitudinal ultrasonographic measures of fetal growth: findings from the NICHD fetal growth studies-singletons. JAMA Pediatr. 2018; 172:24–31.
- [29] Gaudet L, Wen SW, Walker M. The combined effect of maternal obesity and fetal macrosomia on pregnancy outcomes. J Obstet Gynaecol Can. 2014;36:776–784.
- [30] Cedergren MI. Maternal morbid obesity and the risk of adverse pregnancy outcome. Obstet Gynecol. 2004; 103:219–224.
- [31] Dodd JM, Grivell RM, Nguyen AM, et al. Maternal and perinatal health outcomes by body mass index category. Aust N Z J Obstet Gynaecol. 2011;51:136–140.
- [32] Magann EF, Doherty DA, Sandlin AT, et al. The effects of an increasing gradient of maternal obesity on pregnancy outcomes. Aust N Z J Obstet Gynaecol. 2013;53:250–257.
- [33] Yu Z, Han S, Zhu J, et al. Pre-pregnancy body mass index in relation to infant birth weight and offspring overweight/obesity: a systematic review and metaanalysis. PLoS One. 2013;8:e61627.

- [34] Whitaker RC. Predicting preschooler obesity at birth: the role of maternal obesity in early pregnancy. Pediatrics. 2004;114:e29–e36.
- [35] WHO. Consideration of the evidence on childhood obesity for the Commission on Ending Childhood Obesity: report of the ad hoc working group on science and evidence for ending childhood obesity. Geneva, Switzerland: WHO; 2016.
- [36] Ferraro ZM, Qiu Q, Gruslin A, et al. Characterization of the insulin-like growth factor axis in term pregnancies complicated by maternal obesity. Hum Reprod. 2012; 27:2467–2475.
- [37] Schaefer-Graf UM, Graf K, Kulbacka I, et al. Maternal lipids as strong determinants of fetal environment and growth in pregnancies with gestational diabetes mellitus. Diabetes Care. 2008;31:1858–1863.
- [38] Josefson JL, Zeiss DM, Rademaker AW, et al. Maternal leptin predicts adiposity of the neonate. Horm Res Paediatr. 2014;81:13–19.
- [39] Catalano PM, Hoegh M, Minium J, et al. Adiponectin in human pregnancy: implications for regulation of glucose and lipid metabolism. Diabetologia. 2006;49: 1677–1685.
- [40] Friis CM, Paasche Roland MC, Godang K, et al. Adiposity-related inflammation: effects of pregnancy. Obesity. 2013;21:E124–E130.

- [41] Sovio U, Murphy HR, Smith GC. Accelerated fetal growth prior to diagnosis of gestational diabetes mellitus: a prospective cohort study of nulliparous women. Diabetes Care. 2016;39:982–987.
- [42] Landon MB, Mintz MC, Gabbe SG. Sonographic evaluation of fetal abdominal growth: predictor of the large-for-gestational-age infant in pregnancies complicated by diabetes mellitus. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1989;160:115–121.
- [43] Hiersch L, Melamed N. Fetal growth velocity and body proportion in the assessment of growth. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2018;218:S700–S711.e1.
- [44] Bertino E, Di Battista E, Bossi A, et al. Fetal growth velocity: kinetic, clinical, and biological aspects. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed. 1996;74:F10–F15.
- [45] Milani S, Bossi A, Bertino E, et al. Differences in size at birth are determined by differences in growth velocity during early prenatal life. Pediatr Res. 2005;57: 205–210.
- [46] Hanson M, Gluckman P, Bustreo F. Obesity and the health of future generations. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol. 2016;4:966–967.
- [47] Godfrey KM, Reynolds RM, Prescott SL, et al. Influence of maternal obesity on the long-term health of offspring. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol. 2017;5:53–64.

APPENDIX 3

AUTHORSHIP STATEMENT

Title of the Paper: In Overweight or Obese Pregnant Women, Maternal Dietary Factors are not Associated with Fetal Growth and Adiposity

Publication status: Published

Publication details: O'Brien CM, Louise J, Deussen A and Dodd JM. In Overweight or Obese Pregnant Women, Maternal Dietary Factors are not Associated with Fetal Growth and Adiposity *Nutrients* 2018, 10(7), 870; https://doi.org/10.3390/nu10070870

PRINCIPAL AUTHOR

Author (Candidate)	Dr Cecelia O'Brien
Contribution to the paper	Assisted in the analysis and interpreted the data Wrote the manuscript Acted as the corresponding author

Overall percentage (%) 60%

Signature

Date: 3rd December, 2018

Name of the Co-Author	Dr Jennie Louise	
Contribution to the paper	Performed the statistical analysi and manuscript review	s and assisted in interpretation
Signature		Date: 3/12/2018

Name of the Co-Author	Andrea Deussen	
Contribution to the paper	Assisted in the interpretation of	of the data and review of the
	manuscript	
Signature		Date: 3/12/2018

Name of the Co-Author	Professor Jodie Dodd	
Contribution to the paper	Assisted in the design and int	erpretation and review of the
	manuscript	
Signature		Date: 3/12/2018



Article



In Overweight or Obese Pregnant Women, Maternal Dietary Factors are not Associated with Fetal Growth and Adiposity

Cecelia M. O'Brien^{1,*}, Jennie Louise^{1,2}, Andrea Deussen¹ and Jodie M. Dodd^{1,3}

- ¹ School of Paediatrics and Reproductive Health, and Robinson Research Institute, University of Adelaide, Adelaide 5006, Australia; jennie.louise@adelaide.edu.au (J.L.); andrea.deussen@adelaide.edu.au (A.D.); jodie.dodd@adelaide.edu.au (J.M.D.)
- ² School of Public Health, University of Adelaide, Adelaide 5006, Australia
- ³ Department of Perinatal Medicine, Women's and Babies Division, Women's and Children's Hospital, Adelaide 5006, Australia
- * Correspondence: cecelia.obrien@adelaide.edu.au; Tel.: +61-8-8161-7619; Fax: +61-8-8161-7652

Received: 31 May 2018; Accepted: 2 July 2018; Published: 5 July 2018



Abstract: The aim of our study was to evaluate associations between maternal dietary factors and fetal growth and adiposity in overweight and obese women. Women randomised to the 'Standard Care' group of the LIMIT trial were included. Maternal dietary factors including Healthy Eating Index, total energy, fat, carbohydrates, protein, glycaemic load and index were measured using the Harvard semi-quantitative Food Frequency questionnaire at time of study entry, 28 and 36 weeks' gestation. Fetal ultrasound measurements of biometry and adiposity were obtained at 28 and 36 weeks' gestation. Linear regression models were used to associate between dietary factors and fetal growth and adiposity measurements. There were 721 women included in this exploratory analysis. A 10 unit increase in the log total energy was associated with a reduction in mid-thigh lean mass by 4.94 mm at 28 weeks (95% CI -9.57 mm, -0.32 mm; p = 0.036) and 7.02 mm at 36 weeks (95% CI -13.69 mm, -0.35 mm; p = 0.039). A 10 unit increase in Healthy Eating Index score was associated with a reduced mean subscapular skin fold measure at 28 weeks by 0.17 mm (95% CI -0.32 mm, -0.03 mm; p = 0.021). We did not identify consistent associations between maternal diet and measures of fetal growth and adiposity in overweight and obese women.

Keywords: obesity; pregnancy; fetal biometry; adiposity; healthy eating index; total energy; glycaemic index; protein intake; carbohydrate intake; fat intake

1. Introduction

Over the past 40 years, rates of obesity have tripled worldwide [1], to the extent that it is considered a public health crisis [2]. In many developed countries, including the United Kingdom and United States of America, 1 in 2 women now enter pregnancy overweight or obese [3–5]. There are well-recognised independent associations between obesity in pregnancy and maternal, fetal and neonatal health outcomes [6,7], and in the longer-term maternal obesity has been linked with childhood obesity [8].

Women who are overweight or obese during pregnancy have been demonstrated to have poorer diet quality when compared with women with BMI in the normal range [9–12], which persists into the postpartum period [10]. In turn, poor diet quality is associated with increased risk of glucose intolerance and pre-eclampsia [11], increased neonatal adiposity [13] and changes in child body composition [14].

There is growing interest in the programming of fetal growth, the critical time points and the influence of maternal diet as a potentially modifiable factor. The current literature is inconsistent, largely due to the heterogeneity and variability relating to the timing and types of dietary assessments, reporting and methodology along with body composition outcome measurements [15]. In relation to maternal carbohydrate intake for example, some studies have shown a positive effective of high carbohydrates on childhood BMI [16] and others have shown a low carbohydrate diet was associated with increased fetal abdominal fat [17]. The majority have shown a negative effect [18–20] and one study has shown no effect [15]. Protein and carbohydrate ratios or combination diets have also been reported, where high protein associated with low carbohydrate and fat diet was associated with a reduction in neonatal abdominal adiposity [21], whereas another study showed low protein: carbohydrate ratio was associated with increased abdominal fat in the fetus.

Several studies have explored the association between maternal dietary intake and outcomes in the perinatal period, focussing predominantly on birthweight [22–25], preterm birth [26], infants born small for gestational age [27], and newborn anthropometry [13,17,18,22,28,29]. Poor diet quality (defined as Healthy Eating Index score less than or equal to 57) has been associated with a higher percentage of neonatal fat mass as measured on air displacement plethysmography, independent of maternal BMI [13]. Observational data from the Danish National Birth Cohort identified an association between maternal dietary glycaemic load and both an increased risk of large for gestational age infants (14%) and higher birthweight (36 grams) [29].

There has been more limited evaluation of the contribution of maternal dietary intake to fetal growth and adiposity. Maternal protein, fatty acid and carbohydrate intake during pregnancy have all been associated with increased measures of fetal adiposity, although this has been evaluated in women of normal BMI [17]. The contribution of specific maternal dietary components to fetal growth and adiposity among women who are overweight or obese is unclear, and warrants further investigation.

The aim of our study was to evaluate associations between maternal dietary factors and fetal growth and adiposity measured by ultrasound at 28 and 36 weeks gestation in overweight and obese women.

2. Materials and Methods

The study cohort involves 721 overweight or obese pregnant women who participated in the Standard Care Group of the LIMIT trial. The methodology and findings of the LIMIT Trial have been reported in detail previously [30,31]. Briefly, women were recruited from maternity hospitals in South Australia, after ethics approval and informed written consent to participate. Eligible women were those with a singleton pregnancy and BMI $\geq 25 \text{ kg/m}^2$ at booking antenatal appointment, and who were between 10^{+0} and 20^{+0} weeks' gestation. The exclusion criteria included women with Type 1 or 2 Diabetes diagnosed prior to pregnancy or multiple pregnancy. At the booking antenatal appointment, all women had their height and weight measured, and BMI calculated by clinical staff. Women in the Standard Care group continued pregnancy care according to the guidelines of their local hospital and did not include specific information relating to weight gain, or diet and physical activity during pregnancy. The ethics approval study number for LIMIT randomised controlled trial was 1839/6 (approved July 2006) and for the fetal growth ancillary study the number was 2051/4 (approved April 2008).

2.1. Dietary Assessment

Women completed the Harvard Semi-quantitative Food Frequency (Willett) questionnaire [32] to measure the daily dietary intake of nutrients from 126 food items, including portion size and incorporation of the 7 food groups, which has been validated in pregnancy [33] and among Australian pregnant women [34]. The questionnaire was completed at the time of study entry, 28 and 36 weeks' gestation. At study entry, women were asked on average, how often was the food consumed during

the last 12 months, while assessment at 28 and 36 weeks' gestation asked women to indicate on average, how often the amount of food was consumed since the previous questionnaire time point.

Daily nutrient intake was estimated using the nutrient compositions from the Australian food composition tables according to pre-specified portion size. Adherence to dietary recommendations was performed by allocating all food and drink consumption into the food groups as described by the Australian Guide to Healthy Eating [35]. Foods were classified as 'non-core foods' if the food did not meet the criteria of the five core food groups, provided minimal nutrient content, and were high in fat, sugar or salt [35,36].

Micronutrient values were obtained from the Harvard Semi-quantitative Food Frequency (Willett) questionnaire [32] and analysed as mean intake, utilising the Food Works Nutrient Analysis Software Package (FoodWorks, version 7, Professional; Xyris Software 2012; Australia), and using Australian Food composition tables.

Diet quality was assessed using the Healthy Eating Index (HEI), which has 12 components to yield a maximum score of 100 [37]. These 12 components include total fruit, total vegetables, dark green and orange vegetables and legumes, total grains and whole grains, all of which receive a score out of 5. Milk, meat and beans, oils, saturated fat and sodium-based foods were scored out of 10. Calories from solid fats, alcohol related beverages and added sugars were scored out of 20. A HEI score of 80 is considered good, a score between 50 and 80 is one that needs improvement, and scores of less than 50 are considered poor. The HEI has been validated for use in pregnant women [38].

Dietary glycaemic index (GI) values were obtained from the Harvard Semi-quantitative Food Frequency (Willett) questionnaire [32] and analysed using the Food Works Nutrient Analysis Software Package (FoodWorks, version 7, Professional; Xyris Software 2012; Brisbane, Australia), and published dietary glycaemic index values.

2.2. Ultrasound Assessment

A research ultrasound scan was offered to all women participating in the study at approximately 28 and 36 weeks' gestation. Fetal biometry and body composition measurements were obtained as previously described [39]. Research ultrasounds were performed by medical practitioners with specialist or subspecialist training in obstetric ultrasound, while blinded to the participant's treatment allocation, and all measurements were obtained prospectively. The estimated date of confinement and gestational age were calculated on the early pregnancy clinical ultrasound and menstrual period dating.

Ultrasound measurements of biometry and fetal adiposity were obtained as described in detail previously [39]. In brief, fetal biometry was measured at 28 and 36 weeks' gestation. This included head circumference (HC), biparietal diameter (BPD), abdominal circumference (AC) and femur length (FL), measured in accordance with national and international standards of practice [40]. Estimated fetal weight (EFW) was calculated using the Hadlock C formula [41].

Fetal body composition measures included mid-thigh lean mass (MTLM), mid-thigh fat mass (MTFM), abdominal fat mass (AFM), and subscapular fat mass (SSFM) using techniques reported previously [39]. The techniques for acquisition of these measurements have been published in detail [39]. MTLM was calculated by tracing the circumference of the mid-thigh total mass (MTTM) followed by the MTLM incorporating muscle and bone. A subtraction was performed between the MTTM and the MTLM to calculate the mid-thigh fat mass (MTFM). Abdominal fat mass was measured in millimetres between the mid-axillary lines and anterior to the margins of the ribs, at the level of the abdominal circumference. Two measurements of the subcutaneous skin width were obtained from a longitudinal section of the scapula at the interface with the super-spinous and infra-spinous muscles.

2.3. Statistical Analysis

Baseline characteristics of women contributing data were assessed descriptively. Continuous variables were reported as mean and standard deviation or median and interquartile range as

appropriate, and categorical variables as a number and percentage. For each fetal biometry measurement, *z* scores were calculated using ultrasound growth charts in clinical use [41,42].

The analyses were exploratory, with no pre-specification of a primary outcome. Instead, the associations between diet and fetal growth and adiposity were investigated using a range of dietary variables (HEI, Total Energy, Glycaemic Index, Glycaemic Load, Fat, Carbohydrate and Protein as Percent of Total Energy) and a range of fetal growth and adiposity measures (BPD and BPD *z*-score, EFW and EFW *z*-score, HC and HC *z*-score, AC and AC *z*-score, FL and FL *z*-score, MTLM, MTFM, AFM, SSFM). Both dietary and fetal growth variables were measured at 28 weeks' and 36 weeks' gestation.

Linear regression was used to model the association between dietary factors and fetal growth and adiposity, with diet variables considered as 'predictors' (independent variables) and fetal growth and adiposity variables as 'outcomes' (dependent variables). A time-by-diet-variable interaction term was included to allow for estimation of the association at each time point separately, and to test whether the association differed between time points. Generalised Estimating Equations with exchangeable working correlation were used to account for repeated measures. Both unadjusted and adjusted analyses were performed. Adjusted analyses included maternal BMI category (25.0–29.9 kg/m² vs. \geq 30.0 kg/m² as measured at study entry), smoking, parity (0 vs. \geq 1), age and Socio-Economic Indexes for Areas Index of Relative Socio-Economic Disadvantage (SEIFA IRSD) quintile, which is a rank of areas within Australia according to socio-economic disadvantage, obtained from the Census that occurs every 5 years. All analyses were additionally adjusted for baseline diet variables, as a potential confounder.

Statistical significance was assessed at the two-sided p < 0.05 and no adjustment was made for multiple comparisons. All analyses were performed using SAS 9.4 (Cary, NC, USA).

3. Results

3.1. Demographic Characteristics

There were 721 women included in this secondary analysis and the baseline characteristics are shown in Table 1. The mean age of women participating was 29.9 years (SD 5.3), with median gestation at study entry 14.3 weeks (Interquartile range between 12.1 to 17.0 weeks). Forty-three percent (n = 310) of women were overweight, while 46.5% (n = 335) were obese (BMI 30.0–39.9 kg/m²), and 10.5% (n = 76) morbidly obese (BMI ≥ 40.0 kg/m²). Most women (91%; n = 659) were of Caucasian origin, 41.3% (n = 298) in their first ongoing pregnancy, and 52% (n = 373) from the highest two quintiles of social disadvantage. The baseline characteristics of the women contributing dietary and ultrasound data were comparable to all women in the Standard Care group, and all women included in the LIMIT randomised trial [30].

Characteristic	Number (%), Mean (SD) or Median (IQR)
Overall Number	721
- Both 28 and 36 Weeks	453
- 28 Weeks Only	158
- 36 Weeks Only	110
Age at Trial Entry: Mean (SD)	29.88 (5.33)
Parity: N (%)	
- 0	298 (41.33)
- ≥1	423 (58.67)
BMI: Median (IQR)	31.00 (27.70, 35.20)

Table 1. Baseline characteristics of the Standard Care group within the LIMIT Trial.

Characteristic	Number (%), Mean (SD) or Median (IQR)
BMI Category: N (%)	
- BMI 25.0–29.9	310 (43.00)
- BMI 30.0–34.9	219 (30.37)
- BMI 35.0–39.9	116 (16.09)
- BMI \geq 40.0	76 (10.54)
Smoker: N (%)	
- Yes	67 (9.29)
- No	639 (88.63)
- Unknown	15 (2.08)
GA at Trial Entry: Median (IQR)	14.29 (12.14, 17.00)
Public Patient: N (%)	
- Yes	707 (98.06)
- No	14 (1.94)
Ethnicity: N (%)	
- Caucasian	659 (91.40)
- Asian	22 (3.05)
- Aboriginal or TSI	8 (1.11)
- Indian, Pakistani, Sri-Lankan	22 (3.05)
- African	5 (0.69)
- Other	5 (0.69)
SEIFA IRSD Quintile: N (%)	
- Quintile 1	199 (27.60)
- Quintile 2	174 (24.13)
- Quintile 3	117 (16.23)
- Quintile 4	116 (16.09)
- Quintile 5	115 (15.95)

Table 1. Cont.

3.2. Healthy Eating Index (HEI)

There were no consistent associations between HEI and fetal biometry, MTFM, MTLM and AFM (Table 2). There was a negative association between HEI and SSFM at 28 weeks, whereby a 10-unit increase in HEI reduced SSFM by 0.17 mm (95% CI -0.32 to -0.03; p = 0.021).

Table 2. Healthy Eating Index and fetal ultrasound measurements.

Outcome	Unadjusted Estimate (95% CI)	Unadjusted <i>p</i> Value	Adjusted Estimate (95% CI)	Adjusted <i>p</i> Value
BPD		0.992 +		0.968 +
- 28 Weeks	-0.03 (-0.08, 0.02)	0.239	-0.03(-0.08, 0.02)	0.221
- 36 Weeks	-0.03 (-0.08, 0.02)	0.235	-0.03 (-0.08, 0.02)	0.234
BPD z-score		0.728 +		0.645 +
- 28 Weeks	-0.13(-0.29, 0.04)	0.128	-0.13 (-0.30, 0.03)	0.117
- 36 Weeks	-0.10(-0.24, 0.04)	0.166	-0.09 (-0.24, 0.05)	0.194
HC		0.060 +		0.064 +
- 28 Weeks	-0.06(-0.22, 0.09)	0.425	-0.08(-0.24, 0.08)	0.305
- 36 Weeks	0.10 (-0.05, 0.09)	0.194	0.08 (-0.08, 0.24)	0.313
HC z-score		0.026 +		0.025 +
- 28 Weeks	-0.06(-0.17, 0.05)	0.317	-0.07(-0.18, 0.04)	0.210
- 36 Weeks	0.08 (-0.03, 0.05)	0.161	0.07 (-0.05, 0.18)	0.247
FL		0.168 +		0.211 +
- 28 Weeks	-0.02 (-0.06, 0.02)	0.283	-0.02(-0.06, 0.02)	0.232
- 36 Weeks	0.01 (-0.03, 0.02)	0.646	0.00 (-0.03, 0.04)	0.855
Outcome	Unadjusted Estimate (95% CI)	Unadjusted <i>p</i> Value	Adjusted Estimate (95% CI)	Adjusted <i>p</i> Value
----------------	---------------------------------	------------------------------	-------------------------------	----------------------------
FL z-score		0.097 +		0.116 +
- 28 Weeks	-0.09(-0.20, 0.03)	0.154	-0.09(-0.21, 0.03)	0.131
- 36 Weeks	0.02 (-0.09, 0.03)	0.678	0.01 (-0.10, 0.13)	0.817
AC		0.927 +		0.976 +
- 28 Weeks	-0.07(-0.28, 0.13)	0.484	-0.13 (-0.33, 0.07)	0.210
- 36 Weeks	-0.06 (-0.32, 0.13)	0.637	-0.13 (-0.38, 0.13)	0.338
AC z-score		0.712 +		0.691 +
- 28 Weeks	-0.03 (-0.14, 0.09)	0.660	-0.06 (-0.18, 0.05)	0.264
- 36 Weeks	-0.05 (-0.18, 0.09)	0.471	-0.09 (-0.22, 0.04)	0.193
EFW		0.512 +		0.562 +
- 28 Weeks	-22.42 (-52.33, 7.48)	0.142	-30.24 (-60.55, 0.07)	0.051
- 36 Weeks	-6.80 (-58.91, 7.48)	0.798	-16.24 (-68.74, 36.27)	0.544
EFW 7-score		0.344 +		0.366 +
- 28 Weeks	-0.08(-0.18, 0.03)	0 170	-0.10(-0.21, 0.01)	0.063
- 36 Weeks	-0.02(-0.14, 0.03)	0.723	-0.05(-0.17, 0.07)	0.415
MTLM		0.742 +		0.891 *
- 28 Weeks	-0.07(-0.25, 0.10)	0.417	-0.08(-0.26, 0.09)	0.361
- 36 Weeks	-0.12 (-0.36, 0.10)	0.341	-0.10 (-0.35, 0.15)	0.425
MTFM		0.239 +		0.263 +
- 28 Weeks	-0.10(-0.33, 0.12)	0.370	-0.09(-0.32, 0.14)	0.444
- 36 Weeks	-0.39 (-0.90, 0.12)	0.141	-0.37 (-0.90, 0.17)	0.177
AFM		0.377 +		0.431 +
- 28 Weeks	-0.07 (-0.23, 0.08)	0.357	-0.12 (-0.29, 0.04)	0.141
- 36 Weeks	-0.17(-0.41, 0.08)	0.152	-0.21 (-0.44, 0.02)	0.075
SSFM		0.824 +		0.930 +
- 28 Weeks	-0.14(-0.28, 0.00)	0.053	-0.17 (-0.32, -0.03)	0.021
- 36 Weeks	-0.17 (-0.39, 0.00)	0.141	-0.18(-0.41, 0.04)	0.115

Table 2.	Cont.
----------	-------

⁺ Denotes *p* value for test of interaction between HEI and time. That is, for a test of whether the association between HEI and fetal growth/adiposity at 28 weeks differs from the association at 36 weeks.

3.3. Log Total Energy

Total Energy was log-transformed for analysis due to substantial right skew. There were no associations between log total energy and AC, EFW, all fetal biometry *z*-scores, MTFM, AFM and SSFM (Table 3). There was a negative association with log total energy and biometry measurements of BPD and HC at 36 weeks, such that a 10 unit increase in log total energy reduced BPD by 1.48 mm (95% CI -2.55 mm to -0.40 mm; *p* = 0.007); and HC by 4.07 mm (95% CI -7.6 mm to -0.54 mm; *p* = 0.024).

Outcome	Unadjusted Estimate (95% CI)	Unadjusted <i>p</i> Value	Adjusted Estimate (95% CI)	Adjusted <i>p</i> Value
BPD		0.116 +		0.099 +
- 28 Weeks	-0.31 (-1.48, 0.86)	0.603	-0.36 (-1.55, 0.82)	0.547
- 36 Weeks	-1.36 (-2.43, 0.86)	0.012	-1.48 (-2.55, -0.40)	0.007
BPD z score		0.417 +		0.477 +
- 28 Weeks	-0.34(-4.39, 3.71)	0.869	-0.59(-4.71, 3.54)	0.780
- 36 Weeks	-2.14 (-5.59, 3.71)	0.225	-2.18 (-5.70, 1.35)	0.226

Outcome	Unadjusted Estimate (95% CI)	Unadjusted	Adjusted Estimate (95% CI)	Adjusted
ЧС			Estimate (9576 CI)	0 160 t
28 Wooks	0.90(5.01,3.22)	0.260	0.72(-4.84, 3.40)	0.169
- 20 Weeks	-0.90(-3.01, 3.22)	0.009	-0.72(-4.64, 5.40)	0.732
- JU WEEKS	-3.04 (-7.17, 3.22)	0.045	-4.07 (-7.00, -0.34)	0.024
HC z score		0.390 *		0.347 *
- 28 Weeks	0.52 (-2.27, 3.31)	0.716	0.67 (-2.18, 3.52)	0.647
- 36 Weeks	-0.83 (-3.33, 3.31)	0.519	-0.83 (-3.36, 1.71)	0.524
FL		0.657 +		0.570 +
- 28 Weeks	-0.20(-1.17, 0.76)	0.680	-0.22 (-1.20, 0.75)	0.653
- 36 Weeks	-0.47(-1.40, 0.76)	0.327	-0.56 (-1.52, 0.39)	0.248
FL z score		0.785 +		0.762 +
- 28 Weeks	0.02 (-2.92, 2.97)	0.988	-0.06 (-3.07, 2.96)	0.970
- 36 Weeks	0.51 (-2.59, 2.97)	0.746	0.49 (-2.67, 3.65)	0.762
AC		0.246 +		0.181 +
- 28 Weeks	-0.21 (-5.45, 5.04)	0.938	0.81 (-4.23, 5.85)	0.753
- 36 Weeks	-3.83 (-9.40, 5.04)	0.178	-3.34 (-8.86, 2.19)	0.236
AC z score		0.860 +		0.815 +
- 28 Weeks	0.44 (-2.27, 3.16)	0.748	1.14 (-1.51, 3.78)	0.399
- 36 Weeks	0.18 (-2.73, 3.16)	0.905	0.78 (-2.16, 3.72)	0.603
EFW		0.082 +		0.059 +
- 28 Weeks	130.32 (-598.56, 859.21)	0.726	204.16 (-512.19, 920.51)	0.576
- 36 Weeks	-887.76 (-2026.25, 859.21)	0.126	-901.31 (-2028.21, 225.59)	0.117
EFW z score		0.305 +		0.300 +
- 28 Weeks	1.14 (-1.32, 3.59)	0.364	1.47 (-0.96, 3.91)	0.236
- 36 Weeks	-0.29 (-2.85, 3.59)	0.825	0.01 (-2.58, 2.61)	0.991
MTLM		0.495 +		0.574 +
- 28 Weeks	-4.56 (-9.20, 0.08)	0.054	-4.94 (-9.57, -0.32)	0.036
- 36 Weeks	-7.07 (-13.69, 0.08)	0.037	-7.02 (-13.69, -0.35)	0.039
MTFM		0.812 +		0.795 +
- 28 Weeks	-0.90(-6.35, 4.55)	0.746	-1.76 (-7.35, 3.83)	0.538
- 36 Weeks	0.46 (-10.91, 4.55)	0.937	-0.25(-11.82, 11.31)	0.966
AFM		0.563 +		0.603 +
- 28 Weeks	-1.00 (-5.03, 3.03)	0.627	-0.59 (-4.65, 3.48)	0.777
- 36 Weeks	0.88 (-5.59, 3.03)	0.791	1.10 (-5.27, 7.47)	0.734
SSFM		0.779 +		0.760 +
- 28 Weeks	2.72 (-0.73, 6.17)	0.122	3.23 (-0.22, 6.69)	0.067
- 36 Weeks	1.88(-3.72, 6.17)	0.511	2.32(-3.26, 7.90)	0.416

Table 3. Cont.

⁺ Denotes *p* value for interaction between time and log Total Energy; that is, for a test of whether the association between log Total Energy and fetal growth/adiposity at 28 weeks differs from the association at 36 weeks.

At 28 and 36 weeks' gestation, there were negative associations between log total energy and MTLM, such that a 10-unit increase in log total energy reduced MTLM by 4.94 mm (95% CI -9.57 mm to -0.32 mm; p = 0.036) at 28 weeks; and by 7.02 mm (95% CI -13.69 mm to -0.35 mm; p = 0.039) at 36 weeks.

3.4. Glycaemic Index

There were no associations between dietary Glycaemic Index and fetal biometry including HC, FL, AC and EFW, related *z* scores and adiposity measures (Table 4). A negative association was identified between dietary glycaemic index and fetal BPD and its *z*-score, such that a 10-unit increase

in dietary glycaemic index reduced BPD by 0.11 mm (95% CI -0.21 mm to -0.01 mm; p = 0.035), and BPD *z*-score by 0.35SD (95% CI -0.69SD to -0.01SD; p = 0.045) at 28 weeks.

Outcome	Unadjusted Estimate (95% CI)	Unadjusted <i>p</i> Value	Adjusted Estimate (95% CI)	Adjusted <i>p</i> Value
BPD - 28 Weeks - 36 Weeks	-0.12 (-0.21, -0.02) -0.01 (-0.11, -0.02)	0.079 ⁺ 0.021 0.876	-0.11 (-0.21, -0.01) 0.01 (-0.09, 0.11)	0.060 ⁺ 0.035 0.885
BPD z-score - 28 Weeks - 36 Weeks	-0.36 (-0.70, -0.02) -0.03 (-0.31, -0.02)	0.075 ⁺ 0.037 0.812	-0.35 (-0.69, -0.01) -0.03 (-0.31, 0.25)	0.083 ⁺ 0.045 0.833
HC - 28 Weeks - 36 Weeks	-0.19 (-0.54, 0.16) -0.08 (-0.42, 0.16)	0.601 ⁺ 0.288 0.642	-0.14 (-0.50, 0.21) -0.04 (-0.38, 0.30)	0.620 ⁺ 0.422 0.816
HC z-score - 28 Weeks - 36 Weeks	0.02 (-0.22, 0.26) -0.04 (-0.27, 0.26)	0.652 ⁺ 0.880 0.709	0.04 (-0.20, 0.29) -0.04 (-0.26, 0.18)	0.540 ⁺ 0.724 0.723
FL - 28 Weeks - 36 Weeks	-0.05 (-0.13, 0.03) -0.03 (-0.12, 0.03)	0.729 ⁺ 0.250 0.521	-0.05 (-0.13, 0.03) -0.02 (-0.11, 0.07)	0.634 ⁺ 0.236 0.595
FL z-score - 28 Weeks - 36 Weeks	-0.03 (-0.29, 0.23) -0.01 (-0.31, 0.23)	0.904 ⁺ 0.820 0.949	-0.04 (-0.30, 0.23) -0.02 (-0.32, 0.27)	0.931 ⁺ 0.790 0.891
AC - 28 Weeks - 36 Weeks	-0.24 (-0.66, 0.17) 0.10 (-0.34, 0.17)	0.185 ⁺ 0.248 0.649	-0.23 (-0.63, 0.17) 0.13 (-0.30, 0.57)	0.158 ⁺ 0.257 0.556
AC z-score - 28 Weeks - 36 Weeks	-0.09 (-0.31, 0.13) 0.09 (-0.12, 0.13)	0.151 ⁺ 0.422 0.396	-0.09 (-0.31, 0.12) 0.07 (-0.14, 0.28)	0.182 ⁺ 0.383 0.491
EFW - 28 Weeks - 36 Weeks	-18.94 (-79.38, 41.50) 8.76 (-89.14, 41.50)	0.583 ⁺ 0.539 0.861	-17.21 (-77.32, 42.90) 12.58 (-84.02, 109.19)	0.551 ⁺ 0.575 0.799
EFW z-score		0.212 +		0.247 +
- 28 Weeks - 36 Weeks	-0.11 (-0.33, 0.10) 0.03 (-0.17, 0.10)	0.314 0.749	-0.11 (-0.32, 0.10) 0.02 (-0.18, 0.22)	0.316 0.813
MTLM - 28 Weeks - 36 Weeks	0.11 (-0.25, 0.46) -0.02 (-0.63, 0.46)	0.706 ⁺ 0.548 0.950	0.13 (-0.22, 0.49) -0.00 (-0.61, 0.61)	0.686 ⁺ 0.462 0.993
MTFM - 28 Weeks - 36 Weeks	-0.36 (-0.80, 0.07) 0.79 (-0.12, 0.07)	0.015 ⁺ 0.104 0.089	-0.34 (-0.77, 0.10) 0.74 (-0.18, 1.65)	0.025 ⁺ 0.133 0.116
AFM - 28 Weeks - 36 Weeks	-0.11 (-0.41, 0.19) 0.34 (-0.19, 0.19)	0.115 ⁺ 0.475 0.211	-0.13 (-0.44, 0.18) 0.28 (-0.24, 0.81)	0.150 ⁺ 0.415 0.291
SSFM - 28 Weeks - 36 Weeks	-0.06 (-0.35, 0.22) 0.25 (-0.21, 0.22)	0.215 ⁺ 0.661 0.287	-0.07 (-0.35, 0.22) 0.28 (-0.19, 0.75)	0.176 ⁺ 0.639 0.248

Table 4. Glycaemic Index and fetal ultrasound measurements.

⁺ Denotes *p* value for time-by-GI interaction; that is does the association between GI and fetal growth/adiposity at 28 weeks differ from that at 36 weeks.

3.5. Glycaemic Load

There were no consistent associations between dietary glycaemic load and fetal biometry, *z*-scores or adiposity measures at either 28 or 36 weeks (Table 5).

Outcome	Unadjusted Estimate (95% CI)	Unadjusted <i>p</i> Value	Adjusted Estimate (95% CI)	Adjusted <i>p</i> Value
BPD		0.567 +		0.490 +
- 28 Weeks	-0.00(-0.01, 0.00)	0.251	-0.00(-0.01, 0.00)	0.276
- 36 Weeks	-0.01 (-0.01, 0.00)	0.063	-0.01 (-0.01, 0.00)	0.054
BPD z-score		0.821 +		0.831 +
- 28 Weeks	-0.01(-0.04, 0.01)	0.227	-0.01(-0.04, 0.01)	0.227
- 36 Weeks	-0.01 (-0.03, 0.01)	0.295	-0.01 (-0.03, 0.01)	0.291
НС		0.562 +		0.374 +
- 28 Weeks	-0.01(-0.03, 0.02)	0.530	-0.01(-0.03, 0.02)	0.683
- 36 Weeks	-0.02 (-0.04, 0.02)	0.137	-0.02(-0.04, 0.00)	0.102
HC z-score		0.606 +		0.479 +
- 28 Weeks	0.00 (-0.02, 0.02)	0.964	0.00 (-0.02, 0.02)	0.808
- 36 Weeks	-0.01 (-0.02, 0.02)	0.557	-0.01 (-0.02, 0.01)	0.539
FL		0.827 +		0.737 +
- 28 Weeks	-0.00(-0.01, 0.01)	0.698	-0.00(-0.01, 0.01)	0.762
- 36 Weeks	-0.00 (-0.01, 0.01)	0.471	-0.00 (-0.01, 0.00)	0.437
FL z-score		0.676 +		0.674 †
- 28 Weeks	-0.00(-0.02, 0.02)	0.923	-0.00 (-0.02, 0.02)	0.965
- 36 Weeks	0.00 (-0.02, 0.02)	0.688	0.00 (-0.01, 0.02)	0.653
AC		0.492 *		0.391 +
- 28 Weeks	-0.00 (-0.04, 0.03)	0.837	0.00 (-0.03, 0.04)	0.814
- 36 Weeks	-0.02 (-0.05, 0.03)	0.340	-0.01 (-0.05, 0.02)	0.465
AC z-score		0.861 +		0.969 +
- 28 Weeks	0.00 (-0.02, 0.02)	0.973	0.00 (-0.01, 0.02)	0.548
- 36 Weeks	0.00 (-0.02, 0.02)	0.835	0.01 (-0.01, 0.02)	0.604
EFW		0.181 +		0.145 ⁺
- 28 Weeks	0.93 (-3.72, 5.59)	0.694	1.66 (-2.95, 6.27)	0.481
- 36 Weeks	-4.15 (-11.63, 5.59)	0.276	-3.95 (-11.48, 3.58)	0.304
EFW z-score		0.636 +		0.567 +
- 28 Weeks	0.00 (-0.01, 0.02)	0.717	0.01 (-0.01, 0.02)	0.459
- 36 Weeks	-0.00 (-0.02, 0.02)	0.857	0.00 (-0.02, 0.02)	0.980
MTLM		0.406 +		0.462 +
- 28 Weeks	-0.02(-0.05, 0.00)	0.098	-0.02(-0.05, 0.00)	0.093
- 36 Weeks	-0.04(-0.08, 0.00)	0.052	-0.04 (-0.08, 0.00)	0.064
MTFM		0.252 +		0.264 +
- 28 Weeks	-0.02(-0.05, 0.01)	0.262	-0.02(-0.05, 0.01)	0.215
- 36 Weeks	0.02 (-0.05, 0.01)	0.522	0.02 (-0.05, 0.10)	0.578
AFM		0.278 +		0.326 +
- 28 Weeks	0.00 (-0.02, 0.03)	0.891	0.00 (-0.02, 0.03)	0.721
- 36 Weeks	0.02 (-0.02, 0.03)	0.244	0.03 (-0.02, 0.07)	0.223
SSFM		0.737 +		0.757 +
- 28 Weeks	0.01 (-0.01, 0.04)	0.185	0.02 (-0.00, 0.04)	0.106
- 36 Weeks	0.02 (-0.01, 0.04)	0.239	0.02 (-0.01, 0.06)	0.189

Table 5. Glycaemic load and fetal ultrasound measurements.

 $^+$ Denotes p value for interaction between time and Glycaemic Load; that is does the association between GL and fetal growth/adiposity at 28 weeks differ from that at 36 weeks.

3.6. Fat, Carbohydrate and Protein as a Percent of Total Energy

There were no associations identified between fat as shown in Table 6.

Outcome	Unadjusted Estimate (95% CI)	Unadjusted <i>p</i> Value	Adjusted Estimate (95% CI)	Adjusted <i>p</i> Value
BPD		0.593 +		0.646 +
- 28 Weeks	0.04(-0.05, 0.12)	0.396	0.04(-0.05, 0.12)	0.418
- 36 Weeks	0.01 (-0.08, 0.12)	0.841	0.01 (-0.08, 0.10)	0.793
BPD z-score		0.387 +		0.507 +
- 28 Weeks	0.21 (-0.08, 0.50)	0.152	0.17 (-0.12, 0.46)	0.238
- 36 Weeks	0.08 (-0.16, 0.50)	0.524	0.07 (-0.17, 0.31)	0.560
НС		0.083 +		0.123 +
- 28 Weeks	0.16 (-0.12, 0.44)	0.255	0.18 (-0.11, 0.46)	0.228
- 36 Weeks	-0.13 (-0.39, 0.44)	0.318	-0.09 (-0.35, 0.17)	0.499
HC z-score		0.016 +		0.033 +
- 28 Weeks	0.22 (0.01, 0.43)	0.036	0.21 (-0.00, 0.43)	0.053
- 36 Weeks	-0.05 (-0.23, 0.43)	0.570	-0.03 (-0.21, 0.14)	0.714
FL		0.413 +		0.560 +
- 28 Weeks	0.00 (-0.07, 0.07)	0.896	0.00(-0.07, 0.07)	0.950
- 36 Weeks	-0.03 (-0.10, 0.07)	0.381	-0.02 (-0.09, 0.04)	0.514
FL z-score		0.414 +		0.577 +
- 28 Weeks	0.06 (-0.15, 0.28)	0.563	0.03 (-0.19, 0.24)	0.808
- 36 Weeks	-0.04 (-0.26, 0.28)	0.683	-0.05 (-0.26, 0.17)	0.664
AC		0.556 +		0.609 +
- 28 Weeks	-0.02(-0.37, 0.33)	0.920	0.03 (-0.32, 0.39)	0.853
- 36 Weeks	-0.15 (-0.53, 0.33)	0.428	-0.08 (-0.46, 0.29)	0.660
AC z-score		0.968 *		0.806 +
- 28 Weeks	-0.02(-0.21, 0.16)	0.799	-0.01 (-0.20, 0.18)	0.922
- 36 Weeks	-0.02 (-0.21, 0.16)	0.833	0.02 (-0.17, 0.20)	0.851
EFW		0.253 +		0.307 +
- 28 Weeks	14.86 (-35.95, 65.68)	0.566	18.79 (-33.86, 71.44)	0.484
- 36 Weeks	-34.32 (-113.89, 65.68)	0.398	-25.56 (-104.88, 53.76)	0.528
EFW z-score		0.308 +		0.477 +
- 28 Weeks	0.05 (-0.12, 0.22)	0.567	0.05 (-0.13, 0.22)	0.610
- 36 Weeks	-0.05 (-0.21, 0.22)	0.551	-0.02 (-0.19, 0.14)	0.771
MTLM		0.446 +		0.372 +
- 28 Weeks	0.07 (-0.26, 0.40)	0.669	0.09 (-0.25, 0.44)	0.602
- 36 Weeks	-0.15 (-0.67, 0.40)	0.565	-0.18 (-0.70, 0.35)	0.511
MTFM		0.287 +		0.284 +
- 28 Weeks	0.03 (-0.38, 0.44)	0.882	0.04 (-0.38, 0.47)	0.837
- 36 Weeks	-0.40 (-1.12, 0.44)	0.281	-0.39 (-1.12, 0.33)	0.290
AFM		0.049 +		0.060 +
- 28 Weeks	0.01 (-0.26, 0.29)	0.917	0.06 (-0.24, 0.36)	0.709
- 36 Weeks	-0.46 (-0.90, 0.29)	0.041	-0.39 (-0.82, 0.04)	0.075
SSFM		0.368 +		0.295 +
- 28 Weeks	0.15 (-0.08, 0.37)	0.200	0.17 (-0.06, 0.40)	0.144
- 36 Weeks	-0.03 (-0.39, 0.37)	0.863	-0.04 (-0.40 , 0.32)	0.829

 Table 6. Fat as a percentage of total energy and fetal ultrasound measurements.

 $^+$ denotes *p* value for test of interaction between fat % and time. That is, whether the association at 28 weeks differs from that at 36 weeks.

There were no consistent associations between carbohydrate (Table 7) and protein intake (Table 8) and fetal biometry, *z*-scores or adiposity measures at either 28 or 36 weeks.

Outcome	Unadjusted Estimate (95% CI)	Unadjusted <i>p</i> Value	Adjusted Estimate (95% CI)	Adjusted <i>p</i> Value
BPD - 28 Weeks - 36 Weeks	-0.03 (-0.10, 0.05) 0.02 (-0.05, 0.05)	0.339 ⁺ 0.482 0.653	-0.02 (-0.09, 0.06) 0.02 (-0.05, 0.09)	0.381 ⁺ 0.634 0.554
BPD z-score - 28 Weeks - 36 Weeks	-0.16 (-0.38, 0.05) 0.01 (-0.17, 0.05)	0.156 ⁺ 0.143 0.883	-0.13 (-0.35, 0.09) 0.02 (-0.16, 0.21)	0.241 ⁺ 0.262 0.819
HC - 28 Weeks - 36 Weeks	-0.08 (-0.31, 0.15) 0.10 (-0.11, 0.15)	0.199 ⁺ 0.499 0.354	-0.05 (-0.28, 0.19) 0.09 (-0.11, 0.29)	0.306 ⁺ 0.685 0.374
HC z-score - 28 Weeks - 36 Weeks	-0.10 (-0.26, 0.05) 0.05 (-0.09, 0.05)	0.099 ⁺ 0.200 0.503	-0.08 (-0.24, 0.08) 0.04 (-0.10, 0.18)	0.188 ⁺ 0.331 0.562
FL - 28 Weeks - 36 Weeks	0.02 (-0.04, 0.08) 0.01 (-0.03, 0.08)	0.849 ⁺ 0.480 0.579	0.03 (-0.03, 0.08) 0.02 (-0.03, 0.07)	0.816 ⁺ 0.336 0.415
FL z-score – 28 Weeks - 36 Weeks	0.04 (-0.13, 0.20) 0.04 (-0.12, 0.20)	0.996 ⁺ 0.652 0.651	0.07 (-0.10, 0.23) 0.06 (-0.10, 0.22)	0.943 ⁺ 0.432 0.470
AC - 28 Weeks - 36 Weeks	0.05 (-0.26, 0.35) 0.03 (-0.25, 0.35)	0.913 ⁺ 0.771 0.853	0.10 (-0.21, 0.41) 0.05 (-0.23, 0.33)	0.782 ⁺ 0.532 0.729
AC z-score - 28 Weeks - 36 Weeks	0.03 (-0.12, 0.18) -0.00 (-0.14, 0.18)	0.751 ⁺ 0.732 0.983	0.06 (-0.09, 0.21) -0.00 (-0.14, 0.14)	0.482 ⁺ 0.420 0.994
EFW - 28 Weeks - 36 Weeks	7.29 (-36.60, 51.19) 8.87 (-50.10, 51.19)	0.962 ⁺ 0.745 0.768	16.48 (-28.72, 61.67) 15.46 (-43.22, 74.14)	0.976 ⁺ 0.475 0.606
EFW z-score - 28 Weeks	0.00 (-0.13, 0.14)	0.777 ⁺ 0.979	0.04 (-0.10, 0.17)	0.953 ⁺ 0.611
- 36 Weeks MTLM - 28 Weeks - 36 Weeks	-0.06 (-0.33, 0.20) -0.02 (-0.40, 0.20)	0.699 0.867 ⁺ 0.639 0.901	-0.03 (-0.10, 0.16) -0.04 (-0.31, 0.23) 0.01 (-0.37, 0.39)	0.643 0.838 ⁺ 0.783 0.961
MTFM - 28 Weeks - 36 Weeks	-0.10 (-0.44, 0.24) 0.17 (-0.41, 0.24)	0.406 ⁺ 0.558 0.563	-0.07 (-0.41, 0.27) 0.20 (-0.38, 0.79)	0.406 ⁺ 0.683 0.495
AFM - 28 Weeks - 36 Weeks	0.04 (-0.18, 0.26) 0.32 (-0.00, 0.26)	0.118 ⁺ 0.732 0.051	0.06 (-0.17, 0.28) 0.30 (-0.02, 0.62)	0.173 ⁺ 0.614 0.062
SSFM - 28 Weeks - 36 Weeks	0.00 (-0.18, 0.18) 0.04 (-0.23, 0.18)	0.800 ⁺ 0.966 0.755	0.01 (-0.17, 0.19) 0.05 (-0.23, 0.32)	0.836 ⁺ 0.879 0.738

 Table 7. Carbohydrate as a percentage of total energy and fetal ultrasound measurements.

⁺ Denotes *p* value for test of interaction between Carbohydrate % and fetal growth/adiposity; that is, whether the association at 28 weeks differs from that at 36 weeks.

Outcome	Unadjusted Estimate (95% CI)	Unadjusted <i>p</i> Value	Adjusted Estimate (95% CI)	Adjusted <i>p</i> Value
BPD		0 507 +		0 546 †
- 28 Weeks	0.01(-0.10, 0.11)	0.921	-0.01(-0.11, 0.10)	0.914
- 36 Weeks	-0.03(-0.12, 0.11)	0.466	-0.04(-0.13, 0.05)	0.361
DDD	0.00 (0.112) 0.11)	0.150 +		0.001
BPD <i>z</i> -score		0.153		0.210
- 28 Weeks	0.13(-0.18, 0.44)	0.414	0.10(-0.21, 0.42)	0.522
- 36 Weeks	-0.10 (-0.35, 0.44)	0.400	-0.11 (-0.35, 0.14)	0.399
HC		0.991 +		0.802 +
- 28 Weeks	-0.05 (-0.38, 0.27)	0.755	-0.12(-0.45, 0.22)	0.489
- 36 Weeks	-0.05 (-0.33, 0.27)	0.723	-0.07 (-0.34, 0.20)	0.618
HC z-score		0.983 +		0.806 †
- 28 Weeks	-0.05(-0.26, 0.16)	0.621	-0.08(-0.30, 0.13)	0.000
- 36 Weeks	-0.05(-0.23, 0.16)	0.588	-0.05(-0.24, 0.13)	0.567
		0.010 +		
	0.0((0.11, 0.02))	0.212	0.0((0.14.0.01)	0.269
- 28 Weeks	-0.06(-0.14, 0.02)	0.143	-0.06(-0.14, 0.01)	0.110
- 36 Weeks	0.00 (-0.07, 0.02)	0.994	-0.01 (-0.08, 0.05)	0.692
FL z-score		0.499 †		0.633 +
- 28 Weeks	-0.14(-0.37, 0.09)	0.224	-0.14(-0.36, 0.09)	0.235
- 36 Weeks	-0.04(-0.26, 0.09)	0.719	-0.07 (-0.29, 0.15)	0.547
AC		0.264 ⁺		0.187 +
- 28 Weeks	-0.16(-0.60, 0.29)	0.490	-0.29(-0.74, 0.16)	0.208
- 36 Weeks	0.13(-0.28, 0.29)	0.531	0.06(-0.35, 0.47)	0.785
		0 501 t		0.201 †
AC 2-Score	0.06 (0.27, 0.15)	0.501	0.12 (0.24 0.08)	0.201
- 20 Weeks	-0.06(-0.27, 0.13)	0.364	-0.13(-0.34, 0.08)	0.211
- 30 Weeks	0.02 (-0.18, 0.15)	0.039	-0.00 (-0.21, 0.21)	0.992
EFW		0.175 +		0.173 +
- 28 Weeks	-40.93 (-105.51, 23.64)	0.214	-56.34(-123.01, 10.33)	0.098
- 36 Weeks	22.54 (-62.18, 23.64)	0.602	7.75 (-76.06, 91.57)	0.856
EFW 7-score		0.478 +		0.351 +
- 28 Weeks	-0.09(-0.28, 0.10)	0 350	-0.14(-0.33, 0.05)	0 155
- 36 Weeks	-0.01(-0.20, 0.10)	0.915	-0.03(-0.22, 0.16)	0.155
	0.01 (0.20, 0.10)	0.910	0.00 (0.22, 0.10)	0.700
MTLM		0.433		0.395
- 28 Weeks	0.09(-0.26, 0.44)	0.617	0.05(-0.31, 0.41)	0.800
- 36 Weeks	0.33 (-0.18, 0.44)	0.201	0.31 (-0.19, 0.81)	0.227
MTFM		0.833 +		0.823 +
- 28 Weeks	0.08 (-0.35, 0.51)	0.711	0.07 (-0.37, 0.51)	0.765
- 36 Weeks	-0.02(-0.91, 0.51)	0.968	-0.04 (-0.93, 0.85)	0.932
AFM		0.467 +		0.661 *
- 28 Weeks	-0.10(-0.41.0.22)	0.548	-0.17(-0.49, 0.14)	0.288
- 36 Weeks	-0.26(-0.68, 0.22)	0.216	-0.27(-0.68, 0.14)	0.194
CCEM		0.070 +		0.726 +
28 Maalea	0.18(0.44,0.00)	0.8/2 '	0.21(0.49,0.05)	0.110
- 20 Weeks	-0.10(-0.44, 0.09) 0.14(0.57, 0.00)	0.109	-0.21 (-0.40, 0.00)	0.119
- SO Weeks	-0.14(-0.07, 0.09)	0.024	-0.15 (-0.33, 0.29)	0.550

 Table 8. Protein as a percentage of total energy and fetal ultrasound measurements.

⁺ Denotes p value for test of interaction between time and Protein %; that is, whether the association at 28 weeks differs from that at 36 weeks.

4. Discussion

The objective of this secondary exploratory analysis [30], was to determine if maternal dietary factors were associated with fetal body composition in women entering pregnancy overweight or obese. Our analysis found an increase in total energy of the maternal diet was associated with a reduction in mid-thigh lean mass of the fetus. Secondly, an increase in the Healthy Eating Index was associated with a reduction in the subscapular fat mass. While these individual associations were statistically significant, the actual differences were of small magnitude and were unlikely to be of clinical significance. Overall, we did not identify consistent associations between maternal diet and fetal growth or adiposity.

To our knowledge, this is the first study to describe the relationship between maternal dietary factors and fetal body composition in women entering pregnancy overweight and obese. There has been one study to describe the maternal dietary factors and fetal adiposity measurements in 179 women with a normal BMI [17]. This study measured different dietary variables including a derived ratio comparing protein and carbohydrate, and poly-unsaturated fatty acids as a percentage of energy intake. The authors also described a variation in ultrasound techniques for the measurement of fetal adiposity [17]. Women with lower dietary protein intake demonstrated higher abdominal wall adiposity, while fetal thigh adiposity was greatest among women whose diet consisted of low carbohydrate, intermediate protein and high fat intake [17].

The majority of the literature relates to neonatal and infant body composition [15,21,24], birthweight [18–20] with variable methodology and inconsistent findings [21,43]. An explanation for the lack of association seen in our study and inconsistent findings within the literature may relate to the timing of the dietary assessment. Early 2nd trimester maternal dietary analysis has been assessed in the literature [15,44] with no consistent findings [15,20,24,44]. One study assessed dietary intake between 8 and 12 weeks and found carbohydrate consumption was associated with increase in birthweight, whereas fat intake was associated with lower birthweight [19]. It is also likely that the fetal programming of infant growth patterns is much more complex, with the impact of epigenetics, paternal factors, postnatal environment [45].

The main strength of our secondary analysis relates to the large sample size of women entering pregnancy overweight or obese. The data was derived from the largest randomised controlled trial utilising robust methodology [30] and the first to measure the effect of an antenatal intervention on fetal biometry and adiposity [39]. The main limitation of the current analysis is the reliance on self-reported measurements of maternal dietary intake. Dietary analysis is subject to multiple biases including measurement error, recall bias related to the food questionnaire, along with reporting bias. A comparator group of women entering pregnancy with a normal BMI would have also added valuable data, including a baseline for assessment of both fetal growth patterns and maternal dietary intake.

Several randomised trials have identified improvements in maternal dietary patterns during pregnancy following provision of a lifestyle intervention [30,31,46–49]. The LIMIT trial demonstrated that the provision of the antenatal lifestyle and dietary intervention improved women's intake of fibre, saturated fat, fruits and vegetables and micronutrient intake, although did not impact overall energy intake [31]. Other trials have also shown significant improvements in maternal diet, physical activity [31,46–48] and insulin resistance [46,50].

While individual trials conducted in overweight and obese pregnant women have described positive effects on maternal dietary and lifestyle behaviours [51], intervention trials overall have generated disappointing results in terms of clinical pregnancy and birth outcomes. Whether relatively modest improvements in maternal diet are sufficient to impact fetal adiposity measures, which themselves are relatively insensitive indices, remains to be determined [52,53]. Furthermore, there is evidence to suggest that fetal growth and adiposity may be programmed much earlier in gestation than current interventions have targeted [54], highlighting the importance of optimal diet and maternal weight prior to conception [2,55–57].

There is growing interest in strategies to optimise both maternal and paternal dietary intake and weight in the peri-conceptual period [3,58,59]. This primary prevention strategy may reduce the intergenerational transmission of obesity from mother to child and may improve pregnancy outcomes [2,45,60]. Further studies are required to understand the timing of and factors relating to programming of fetal growth and body composition.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, J.M.D., J.L. and C.M.O.B.; Methodology, J.M.D. and A.D.; Formal Analysis, J.L.; Investigation, C.M.O.B.; Data Curation, A.D.; Writing-Original Draft Preparation, C.M.O.B.; Writing-Review & Editing, J.M.D. and A.D. and J.L.; Supervision, J.M.D.; Project Administration, A.D.

Funding: J.M.D. is supported through a NHMRC Practitioner Fellowship (ID 627005). C.M.O.B. is supported through RANZCOG Luke Proposch Scholarship, awarded in 2014.

Acknowledgments: In this section you can acknowledge any support given which is not covered by the author contribution or funding sections. This may include administrative and technical support, or donations in kind (e.g., materials used for experiments).

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- 1. WHO. Obesity Fact Sheet 2017. Available online: http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs311/en/ (accessed on 10 October 2017).
- Hanson, M.; Barker, M.; Dodd, J.M.; Kumanyika, S.; Norris, S.; Steegers, E.; Stephenson, J.; Thangaratinam, S.; Yang, H. Interventions to prevent maternal obesity before conception, during pregnancy, and post partum. *Lancet Diabetes Endoc.* 2017, 5, 65–76. [CrossRef]
- Poston, L.; Caleyachetty, R.; Cnattingius, S.; Corvalan, C.; Uauy, R.; Herring, S.; Gillman, M.W. Preconceptional and maternal obesity: Epidemiology and health consequences. *Lancet Diabetes Endoc.* 2016, 4, 1025–1036. [CrossRef]
- 4. Ng, M.; Fleming, T.; Robinson, M.; Thomson, B.; Graetz, N.; Margono, C.; Mullany, E.C.; Biryukov, S.; Abbafati, C.; Abera, S.F.; et al. Global, regional, and national prevalence of overweight and obesity in children and adults during 1980-2013: A systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2013. *Lancet* **2014**, *384*, 766–781. [CrossRef]
- 5. McKeating, A.; Maguire, P.J.; Daly, N.; Farren, M.; McMahon, L.; Turner, M.J. Trends in maternal obesity in a large university hospital 2009-2013. *Acta obstet. Gynecol. Scand.* **2015**, *94*, 969–975. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 6. Cedergren, M. Maternal morbid obesity and the risk of adverse pregnancy outcome. *Obstet. Gynecol.* **2004**, 103, 219–224. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 7. Cedergren, M. Effects of gestational weight gain and body mass index on obstetric outcome in Sweden. *Int. J. Gynecol. Obstet.* **2006**, *93*, 269–274. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 8. Whitaker, R.C. Predicting preschooler obesity at birth: The role of maternal obesity in early pregnancy. *Pediatrics* **2004**, *114*, e29–e36. [CrossRef]
- Tsigga, M.; Filis, V.; Hatzopoulou, K.; Kotzamanidis, C.; Grammatikopoulou, M.G. Healthy Eating Index during pregnancy according to pre-gravid and gravid weight status. *Public Health Nutr.* 2011, 14, 290–296. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 10. Moran, L.J.; Sui, Z.; Cramp, C.S.; Dodd, J.M. A decrease in diet quality occurs during pregnancy in overweight and obese women which is maintained post-partum. *Int. J. Obes.* **2013**, *37*, 704–711. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 11. Rifas-Shiman, S.L.; Rich-Edwards, J.W.; Kleinman, K.P.; Oken, E.; Gillman, M.W. Dietary quality during pregnancy varies by maternal characteristics in Project Viva: A US cohort. *J. Am. Diet Assoc.* 2009, 109, 1004–1011. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 12. Laraia, B.A.; Bodnar, L.M.; Siega-Riz, A.M. Pregravid body mass index is negatively associated with diet quality during pregnancy. *Public Health Nutr.* **2007**, *10*, 920–926. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Shapiro, A.L.; Kaar, J.L.; Crume, T.L.; Starling, A.P.; Siega-Riz, A.M.; Ringham, B.M.; Glueck, D.H.; Norris, J.M.; Barbour, L.A.; Friedman, J.E.; et al. Maternal diet quality in pregnancy and neonatal adiposity: The Healthy Start Study. *Int. J. Obes.* 2016, 40, 1056–1062. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 14. Catalano, P.M.; Shankar, K. Obesity and pregnancy: Mechanisms of short term and long term adverse consequences for mother and child. *BMJ* **2017**, *356*. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

- 15. Brei, C.; Stecher, L.; Meyer, D.M.; Young, V.; Much, D.; Brunner, S.; Hauner, H. Impact of dietary macronutrient intake during early and late gestation on offspring body composition at Birth, 1, 3, and 5 Years of Age. *Nutrition* **2018**, *10*, 579. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 16. Chen, L.W.; Aris, I.M.; Bernard, J.Y.; Tint, M.T.; Colega, M.; Gluckman, P.D.; Tan, K.H.; Shek, L.P.; Chong, Y.S.; Yap, F.; et al. Associations of maternal macronutrient intake during pregnancy with infant BMI peak characteristics and childhood BMI. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* **2017**, *105*, 705–713. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 17. Blumfield, M.L.; Hure, A.J.; MacDonald-Wicks, L.K.; Smith, R.; Simpson, S.J.; Giles, W.B.; Raubenheimer, D.; Collins, C.E. Dietary balance during pregnancy is associated with fetal adiposity and fat distribution. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* **2012**, *96*, 1032–1041. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Crume, T.L.; Brinton, J.T.; Shapiro, A.; Kaar, J.; Glueck, D.H.; Siega-Riz, A.M.; Dabelea, D. Maternal dietary intake during pregnancy and offspring body composition: The healthy start study. *Am. J. Obstet Gynecol.* 2016, 215, 609.e1–609.e8. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 19. Sharma, S.S.; Greenwood, D.C.; Simpson, N.A.B.; Cade, J.E. Is dietary macronutrient composition during pregnancy associated with offspring birth weight? An observational study. *Br. J. Nutr.* **2018**, *119*, 330–339. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 20. Renault, K.M.; Carlsen, E.M.; Norgaard, K.; Nilas, L.; Pryds, O.; Secher, N.J.; Cortes, D.; Jensen, J.E.; Olsen, S.F.; Halldorsson, T.I. Intake of carbohydrates during pregnancy in obese women is associated with fat mass in the newborn offspring. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* **2015**, *102*, 1475–1481. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Chen, L.W.; Tint, M.T.; Fortier, M.V.; Aris, I.M.; Bernard, J.Y.; Colega, M.; Gluckman, P.D.; Saw, S.M.; Chong, Y.S.; Yap, F.; et al. Maternal Macronutrient Intake during Pregnancy Is Associated with Neonatal Abdominal Adiposity: The Growing Up in Singapore Towards healthy Outcomes (GUSTO) Study. *J. Nutr.* 2016, 146, 1571–1579. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 22. Colon-Ramos, U.; Racette, S.B.; Ganiban, J.; Nguyen, T.G.; Kocak, M.; Carroll, K.N.; Volgyi, E.; Tylavsky, F.A. Association between dietary patterns during pregnancy and birth size measures in a diverse population in Southern US. *Nutrition* **2015**, *7*, 1318–1332. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 23. Ferland, S.; O'Brien, H.T. Maternal dietary intake and pregnancy outcome. *J. Reprod. Med.* **2003**, *48*, 86–94. [PubMed]
- 24. Moore, V.M.; Davies, M.J.; Willson, K.J.; Worsley, A.; Robinson, J.S. Dietary composition of pregnant women is related to size of the baby at birth. *J. Nutr.* **2004**, *134*, 1820–1826. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 25. Poon, A.K.; Yeung, E.; Boghossian, N.; Albert, P.S.; Zhang, C. Maternal dietary patterns during third trimester in association with birthweight characteristics and early infant growth. *Scientifica* **2013**, 2013, 786409. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 26. Grieger, J.A.; Grzeskowiak, L.E.; Clifton, V.L. Preconception dietary patterns in human pregnancies are associated with preterm delivery. *J. Nutr.* **2014**, *144*, 1075–1080. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Lu, M.S.; Chen, Q.Z.; He, J.R.; Wei, X.L.; Lu, J.H.; Li, S.H.; Wen, X.X.; Chan, F.F.; Chen, N.N.; Qiu, L.; et al. Maternal Dietary Patterns and Fetal Growth: A Large Prospective Cohort Study in China. *Nutrition* 2016, *8*, 257. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 28. Horan, M.K.; McGowan, C.A.; Gibney, E.R.; Donnelly, J.M.; McAuliffe, F.M. The association between maternal dietary micronutrient intake and neonatal anthropometry—Secondary analysis from the ROLO study. *Nutr. J.* **2015**, *14*, 105. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 29. Knudsen, V.K.; Heitmann, B.L.; Halldorsson, T.I.; Sorensen, T.I.; Olsen, S.F. Maternal dietary glycaemic load during pregnancy and gestational weight gain, birth weight and postpartum weight retention: A study within the Danish National Birth Cohort. *Br. J. Nutr.* **2013**, *109*, 1471–1478. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Dodd, J.M.; Turnbull, D.; McPhee, A.J.; Deussen, A.R.; Grivell, R.M.; Yelland, L.N.; Crowther, C.A.; Wittert, G.; Owens, J.A.; Robinson, J.S.; et al. Antenatal lifestyle advice for women who are overweight or obese: LIMIT randomised trial. *BMJ* 2014, *348*, g1285. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Dodd, J.M.; Cramp, C.; Sui, Z.; Yelland, L.N.; Deussen, A.R.; Grivell, R.M.; Moran, L.J.; Crowther, C.A.; Turnbull, D.; McPhee, A.J.; et al. The effects of antenatal dietary and lifestyle advice for women who are overweight or obese on maternal diet and physical activity: The LIMIT randomised trial. *BMC Med.* 2014, 12, 161. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 32. Willett, W.C. Implications of total energy intake for epidemiologic studies of breast and large-bowel cancer. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* **1987**, *45*, 354–360. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

- Fawzi, W.W.; Rifas-Shiman, S.L.; Rich-Edwards, J.W.; Willett, W.C.; Gillman, M.W. Calibration of a semi-quantitative food frequency questionnaire in early pregnancy. *Ann. Epidemiol.* 2004, 14, 754–762. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 34. Rumbold, A.R.; Crowther, C.A.; Haslam, R.R.; Dekker, G.A.; Robinson, J.S.; Group, A.S. Vitamins C and E and the risks of preeclampsia and perinatal complications. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **2006**, *354*, 1796–1806. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 35. Council NHaMR. Australian Dietary Guidelines Canberra: National Health and Medical Research Council. 2013. Available online: https://www.nhmrc.gov.au/guidelines-publications/n55 (accessed on 10 January 2018).
- 36. Athukorala, C.; Rumbold, A.R.; Willson, K.J.; Crowther, C.A. The risk of adverse pregnancy outcomes in women who are overweight or obese. *BMC Pregn. Childbirth* **2010**, *10*, 56. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Guenther, P.M.; Reedy, J.; Krebs-Smith, S.M. Development of the Healthy Eating Index-2005. J. Am Diet Assoc. 2008, 108, 1896–1901. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 38. Pick, M.E.; Edwards, M.; Moreau, D.; Ryan, E.A. Assessment of diet quality in pregnant women using the Healthy Eating Index. *J. Am Diet Assoc.* **2005**, *105*, 240–246. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 39. Grivell, R.M.; Yelland, L.N.; Deussen, A.; Crowther, C.A.; Dodd, J.M. Antenatal dietary and lifestyle advice for women who are overweight or obese and the effect on fetal growth and adiposity: The LIMIT randomised trial. *BJOG* **2016**, *123*, 233–243. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 40. ASUM. Promoting Excellence in Ultrasound—Policy D7. In *Statement on Normal Ultrasonographic Fetal Measurements;* Australasian Society for Ultrasound Medicine (ASUM): Chatswood, NSW, Australia, 2007.
- 41. Hadlock, F.; Harrist, R.; Martinez-Poyer, J. In utero analysis of fetal growth: A sonographic weight standard. *Radiology* **1991**, *191*, 129–133. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 42. Hui, L. Australian charts for assessing fetal growth: A review. ASUM Ultrasound Bull. 2008, 11, 12–18.
- 43. Chia, A.R.; de Seymour, J.V.; Colega, M.; Chen, L.W.; Chan, Y.H.; Aris, I.M.; Tint, M.T.; Quah, P.L.; Godfrey, K.M.; Yap, F.; et al. A vegetable, fruit, and white rice dietary pattern during pregnancy is associated with a lower risk of preterm birth and larger birth size in a multiethnic Asian cohort: The Growing Up in Singapore Towards healthy Outcomes (GUSTO) cohort study. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* **2016**, *104*, 1416–1423. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 44. Hauner, H.; Vollhardt, C.; Schneider, K.T.; Zimmermann, A.; Schuster, T.; Amann-Gassner, U. The impact of nutritional fatty acids during pregnancy and lactation on early human adipose tissue development. Rationale and design of the INFAT study. *Ann. Nutr. Metab.* **2009**, *54*, 97–103. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 45. Dodd, J.M.; Du Plessis, L.E.; Deussen, A.R.; Grivell, R.M.; Yelland, L.N.; Louise, J.; McPhee, A.J.; Robinson, J.S.; Owens, J.A. Paternal obesity modifies the effect of an antenatal lifestyle intervention in women who are overweight or obese on newborn anthropometry. *Sci. Rep.* **2017**, *7*, 1557. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 46. Geraghty, A.A.; Alberdi, G.; O'Sullivan, E.J.; O'Brien, E.C.; Crosbie, B.; Twomey, P.J.; McAuliffe, F.M. Maternal Blood Lipid Profile during Pregnancy and Associations with Child Adiposity: Findings from the ROLO Study. *PLoS ONE* **2016**, *11*, e0161206. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 47. Poston, L.; Bell, R.; Croker, H.; Flynn, A.C.; Godfrey, K.M.; Goff, L.; Hayes, L.; Khazaezadeh, N.; Nelson, S.M.; Oteng-Ntim, E.; et al. Effect of a behavioural intervention in obese pregnant women (the UPBEAT study): A. multicentre, randomised controlled trial. *Lancet Diabetes Endoc.* **2015**, *3*, 767–777. [CrossRef]
- Luoto, R.; Kinnunen, T.I.; Aittasalo, M.; Kolu, P.; Raitanen, J.; Ojala, K.; Mansikkamaki, K.; Lamberg, S.; Vasankari, T.; Komulainen, T.; et al. Primary prevention of gestational diabetes mellitus and large-for-gestational-age newborns by lifestyle counseling: A cluster-randomized controlled trial. *PLoS Med.* 2011, *8*, e1001036. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 49. Renault, K.M.; Norgaard, K.; Nilas, L.; Carlsen, E.M.; Cortes, D.; Pryds, O.; Secher, N.J. The Treatment of Obese Pregnant Women (TOP) study: A randomized controlled trial of the effect of physical activity intervention assessed by pedometer with or without dietary intervention in obese pregnant women. *Am. J. Obstet Gynecol.* 2014, 210, 134.e1–134.e9. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Vinter, C.A.; Jensen, D.M.; Ovesen, P.; Beck-Nielsen, H.; Jorgensen, J.S. The LiP (Lifestyle in Pregnancy) study: A randomized controlled trial of lifestyle intervention in 360 obese pregnant women. *Diabetes Care* 2011, 34, 2502–2507. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

- 51. Flynn, A.C.; Dalrymple, K.; Barr, S.; Poston, L.; Goff, L.M.; Rogozinska, E.; van Poppel, M.N.; Rayanagoudar, G.; Yeo, S.; Barakat Carballo, R.; et al. Dietary interventions in overweight and obese pregnant women: A systematic review of the content, delivery, and outcomes of randomized controlled trials. *Nutr Rev.* **2016**, *74*, 312–328. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 52. Rogozinska, E.; Marlin, N.; Jackson, L.; Rayanagoudar, G.; Ruifrok, A.E.; Dodds, J.; Molyneaux, E.; van Poppel, M.N.; Poston, L.; Vinter, C.A.; et al. Effects of antenatal diet and physical activity on maternal and fetal outcomes: Individual patient data meta-analysis and health economic evaluation. *Health Technol Assess.* **2017**, *21*, 1–158. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 53. Rogozinska, E.; Marlin, N.; Yang, F.; Dodd, J.M.; Guelfi, K.; Teede, H.; Surita, F.; Jensen, D.M.; Geiker, N.R.W.; Astrup, A.; et al. Variations in reporting of outcomes in randomized trials on diet and physical activity in pregnancy: A. systematic review. *J. Obstet. Gynaecol. Res.* **2017**, *43*, 1101–1110. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 54. Jahan-Mihan, A.; Rodriguez, J.; Christie, C.; Sadeghi, M.; Zerbe, T. The Role of Maternal Dietary Proteins in Development of Metabolic Syndrome in Offspring. *Nutrition* **2015**, *7*, 9185–9217. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 55. Opray, N.; Grivell, R.M.; Deussen, A.R.; Dodd, J.M. Directed preconception health programs and interventions for improving pregnancy outcomes for women who are overweight or obese. *Cochrane Database Syst. Rev.* 2015, *7*, CD010932. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 56. Hanson, M.; Gluckman, P.; Bustreo, F. Obesity and the health of future pregnancies. *Lancet Diabetes Endoc.* **2016**, *4*, 966–967. [CrossRef]
- 57. Godfery, K.; Reynolds, R.; Prescott, S.; Nyirenda, M.; Jaddoe, V.; Erikkson, J.; Broekman, B. Influence of maternal obesity on the long-term health of offspring. *Lancet Diabetes Endoc.* **2017**, *5*, 53–64. [CrossRef]
- 58. Barker, M.; Dombrowski, S.U.; Colbourn, T.; Fall, C.H.D.; Kriznik, N.M.; Lawrence, W.T.; Norris, S.A.; Ngaiza, G.; Patel, D.; Skordis-Worrall, J.; et al. Intervention strategies to improve nutrition and health behaviours before conception. *Lancet* **2018**, *391*, 1853–1864. [CrossRef]
- 59. Symonds, M.E.; Pearce, S.; Bispham, J.; Gardner, D.S.; Stephenson, T. Timing of nutrient restriction and programming of fetal adipose tissue development. *Proc. Nutr. Soc.* **2004**, *63*, 397–403. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Drake, A.J.; McPherson, R.C.; Godfrey, K.M.; Cooper, C.; Lillycrop, K.A.; Hanson, M.A.; Meehan, R.R.; Seckl, J.R.; Reynolds, R.M. An unbalanced maternal diet in pregnancy associates with offspring epigenetic changes in genes controlling glucocorticoid action and foetal growth. *Clin. Endoc.* 2012, 77, 808–815. [CrossRef] [PubMed]



© 2018 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

APPENDIX 4

AUTHORSHIP STATEMENT

Title of the Paper: Maternal cardiometabolic markers are associated with fetal growth: A secondary exploratory analysis.

Publication status: Submitted in *BMC Obesity* on the 12th of October and is currently under review.

PRINCIPAL AUTHOR

Author (Candidate)	Dr Cecelia O'Brien
Contribution to the paper	Assisted in the analysis and interpreted the data Wrote the manuscript Acted as the corresponding author

Overall percentage (%) 60%

Signature Date: 3rd December, 2018

Name of the Co-Author	Dr Jennie Louise		
Contribution to the	Performed the statistical analysis and assisted in		
paper	interpretation and manuscript review		
Signature	Date: 3/12/2018		

Name of the Co-Author	Andrea Deussen	
Contribution to the	Assisted in the interpretation of the data and review of	
paper	the manuscript	
Signature	Date: 3/12/2018	

Name of the Co-Author	Professor Jodie Dodd	
Contribution to the	Assisted in the design and interpretation and review of	
paper	the manuscript	
Signature		Date: 3/12/2018

Maternal cardiometabolic markers are associated with fetal growth: A secondary exploratory analysis of the LIMIT randomised trial.

AUTHORS:

Cecelia M O'BRIEN¹ (cecelia.obrien@adelaide.edu.au) Jennie LOUISE^{1,2} (jennie.louise@adelaide.edu.au) Andrea DEUSSEN¹ (andrea.deussen@adelaide.edu.au) Jodie M DODD^{1,3} (jodie.dodd@adelaide.edu.au)

AFFILIATIONS:

1. School of Paediatrics and Reproductive Health, and Robinson Research Institute, University of Adelaide, Adelaide, AUSTRALIA

2. School of Public Health, University of Adelaide, Adelaide, AUSTRALIA

3. Department of Perinatal Medicine, Women's and Babies Division, Women's and Children's Hospital, Adelaide, AUSTRALIA

RUNNING TITLE:

Cardiometabolic markers and fetal growth

CONTACT INFORMATION:

Dr Cecelia O'Brien The University of Adelaide, Women's and Children's Hospital 72 King William Road North Adelaide, South Australia, AUSTRALIA 5006 Phone: +61 8 8161 7619 Fax: +61 8 8161 7652 E-mail: cecelia.obrien@adelaide.edu.au

ABSTRACT

Background: To determine the association between maternal cardiometabolic and inflammatory markers with measures of fetal biometry and adiposity.

Methods: Women included in this exploratory analysis were randomised to the 'Standard Care' group (N = 911) from the LIMIT randomised trial involving a total of 2212 pregnant women who were overweight or obese (ACTRN12607000161426, Date of registration 9/03/2007, prospectively registered). Fetal biometry including abdominal circumference (AC), estimated fetal weight (EFW), and adiposity measurements (mid-thigh fat mass, subscapular fat mass, abdominal fat mass) were obtained from ultrasound assessments at 28 and 36 weeks gestation. Maternal markers included C reactive protein (CRP), leptin and adiponectin concentrations, measured at 28 and 36 weeks gestation.

Results: There were negative associations identified between maternal plasma adiponectin and fetal ultrasound markers of biometry and adiposity. After adjusting for confounders, a 1-unit increase in log Adiponectin was associated with a reduction in the mean AC z-score [-0.21 (-0.35, -0.07), P = 0.004] and EFW [-0.23 (-0.37, -0.10), P < 0.001] at 28 weeks gestation. Similarly, a 1-unit increase in log Adiponectin was association with a reduction in the mean AC z-score [-0.30 (-0.46, -0.13), P < 0.001] and EFW [-0.24 (-0.38, -0.10), P < 0.001] at 36 weeks gestation. There were no consistent associations between maternal cardiometabolic and inflammatory markers with measurements of fetal adiposity.

Conclusion: Adiponectin concentrations are associated with measures of fetal growth. Our findings contribute to understanding fetal growth in the setting of women who are overweight or obesity.

KEYWORDS:

Obesity Pregnancy Cardiometabolic markers Adiponectin Fetal body composition

Background

Overweight and obesity represent a major global health challenge, with over 50% of women in high-income countries entering pregnancy with a body mass index (BMI) greater than 25kg/m² (Scheil et al. 2016). There are well-recognised associations between obesity in pregnancy and maternal, fetal and neonatal health outcomes (Cedergren 2006) and clear longer-term associations between maternal obesity, fetal overgrowth, high infant birth weight, and subsequent childhood obesity (Yu et al. 2013). While these associations are well defined, there has been limited exploration of the potential pathways leading to fetal overgrowth, adiposity and subsequent childhood obesity.

A direct pathway has been postulated to include maternal hyperglycaemia stimulating hyperinsulinemia in the fetus, which in turn directly stimulates fetal growth through insulin growth factors (Pedersen 1967). There has been increasing recognition of the contribution of an additional 'indirect' pathway, involving leptin, adiponectin, triglycerides, cholesterol and inflammatory cytokines which is mediated via placental transfer (Catalano et al. 2017). In the setting of obesity, maternal obesity during critical time points for fetal development may also alter fetal programming through epigenetic modification (Logan et al. 2017).

Pregnancy is a physiological state associated with higher circulating concentrations of triglycerides and fatty acids (Montelongo et al. 1992) which is accentuated by maternal obesity, leading to enhanced placental transport of these substrates (Catalano et al. 2017). While triglycerides do not readily cross the placental interface, the lipoprotein receptors and binding proteins and lipases enable the placental flow of maternal fatty acids (Schaefer-Graf et al. 2008). Studies investigating newborn cord blood concentrations of lipoproteins (Merzouk et al. 2000) have shown an association with adipose tissue in the fetus and newborn, contributing to infant birth weight (Schaefer-Graf et al. 2008).

Another key component in this pathway is adiponectin, which is secreted by maternal adipose tissue, which is not transferred across the placenta (Aye et al. 2013, Parker-Duffen et al. 2014), but acts directly on the placental function through the transfer of insulin and amino acids (Lekva et al. 2017). During pregnancy, adiponectin levels reduce as gestation advances (Fuglsang et al. 2006). In both pregnant and non-pregnant individuals, obesity lowers adiponectin concentrations (Lekva et al. 2017) which has been shown to be associated with gestational (Lekva et al. 2017) and type 2 Diabetes mellitus (Weyer et al. 2001). Maternal and fetal adiponectin appear to exert opposing effects in fetal growth (Aye et al. 2013), with low maternal concentrations of adiponectin stimulating fetal overgrowth (Lekva et al. 2017). Conversely, cord blood and neonatal adiponectin concentrations have been reported to be up to 7 times higher than maternal concentrations, with positive correlations with infant birth weight (Sivan et al. 2003) and anthropometric measures of neonatal adiposity (Sivan et al. 2003, Corbetta et al. 2005).

With the widespread availability and technological advances in fetal ultrasound, there is growing interest in the measurement and prediction of fetal overgrowth and adiposity (Boulvain et al. 2015). However, the current literature is limited to relatively small sample sizes and mostly involving healthy pregnant women of normal BMI (Larciprete et al. 2003, Larciprete et al. 2003, O'Connor et al. 2014).

The aim of this secondary exploratory analysis was to determine if cardiometabolic and inflammatory markers measured in the mother were associated with fetal growth and adiposity measured by ultrasound in women who are overweight or obese in pregnancy at 28 and 36 weeks gestation.

Methods

The research methodology (Dodd et al. 2011) and clinical findings (Dodd et al. 2014a) of the LIMIT randomised controlled trial have been published previously. Women were recruited between June 2008 and December 2011 from 3 public hospitals across metropolitan Adelaide. Eligibility criteria included women with a singleton pregnancy between 10+0 and 20+0 weeks gestation and body mass index greater ≥ 25 kg/m² were randomised to either the 'Lifestyle Advice Group' or 'Standard Care Group'. Women with a multiple pregnancy or women diagnosed with Type 1 or Type 2 Diabetes were excluded. Women who were randomised to receive the 'Lifestyle Advice' participated in a comprehensive dietary and lifestyle intervention, which included a combination of dietary, exercise and behavioural strategies. The intervention was delivered by a research dietician and trained research assistants. Further details regarding content of the intervention have been published (Dodd et al. 2014a, Dodd 2014b).

Women included in this analysis were those randomised to the Standard Care Group, who received their pregnancy care as per the local hospital guidelines. This care did not include the routine provision of dietary and lifestyle advice, or information relating to gestational weight gain in pregnancy.

Ethics approval

The ethics approval study number for LIMIT randomised controlled trial was 1839/6 (approved July 2006) and for the fetal growth ancillary study number was 2051/4 (approved April 2008).

Measurement of cardiometabolic and inflammatory markers

Maternal blood samples were obtained at 28 and 36 weeks gestation and the methodology has been previously described in detail (Moran et al. 2017). At 28 weeks, a fasting maternal plasma sample was collected for all participants in the LIMIT trial. The following cardiometabolic markers were measured; total cholesterol, triglycerides, non-esterified fatty acids (NEFA), high-density lipoprotein cholesterol, insulin, glucose, leptin, adiponectin and C reactive protein. The majority (glucose, cholesterol, HDL-C, triglycerides, NEFA and CRP) were measured using Roche Diagnostics commercial kits (Australia) and non-esterified fatty acids were measured using Wako Pure Chemical Industries (Japan). All assays were performed on the automated Hitachi Auto 912 analyser or Cobas Integra 400 Plus with appropriate calibrators and quality controls (Roche for Roche assays and Wako standard and Sero QC's for the NEFA C assay). Plasma leptin (in singulate; HL-81 K; Millipore, St. Charles, MO, USA) and adiponectin (in singulate; HADP-61HK; Millipore, St. Charles, MO, USA) were determined by double antibody radioimmunoassay following the methods from the supplier.

At 36 weeks, a non-fasting maternal plasma sample was collected and total cholesterol, triglycerides, non-esterified fatty acids (NEFA), high-density lipoprotein cholesterol, insulin, glucose, leptin, adiponectin and C reactive protein were measured.

Ultrasound Assessment

Women were offered a research ultrasound scan at approximately 28 and 36 weeks gestation, at which time fetal biometry, wellbeing and body composition measurements were obtained as previously described (Grivell et al. 2016). The estimated date of confinement and gestational age was calculated on the early pregnancy ultrasound and menstrual period dating. Ultrasounds were performed by medical practitioners with specialist or subspecialist training in obstetric ultrasound, while blinded to the participant's treatment allocation, and all measurements were obtained prospectively.

Ultrasound outcome measurements

Biometry and estimated fetal weight

Fetal biometry included head circumference, biparietal diameter, abdominal circumference and femur length, measured in accordance with national and international standards of practice (Australasian Society of Ultrasound Medicine (ASUM) 2007). Estimated fetal weight was calculated using the Hadlock C formula (Hadlock et al. 1991).

Fetal body composition measurements

Fetal body composition measures included mid-thigh lean mass (MTLM), mid-thigh fat mass (MTFM), abdominal fat mass (AFM), and subscapular fat mass (SSFM) using techniques that have been published previously (Grivell et al. 2016). Grivell and associates also reported the inter-observer variability for adiposity measures and found moderate agreement demonstrated for SSFM, MTTM, MTFM and fair agreement for AFM and MTLM (Grivell et al. 2016).

Mid-thigh total, lean and fat mass

MTLM was calculated by obtaining a longitudinal view of the femur and identification of the midpoint at a zero degree angle. The transducer was rotated through 90 degrees to obtain a cross sectional view of the mid-thigh. A trace of the circumference of the MTTM was performed and area was calculated, followed by the MTLM incorporating muscle and bone. A subtraction was performed between the MTTM and the MTLM to calculate the mid-thigh fat mass (MTFM).

Abdominal fat mass

Abdominal fat mass or anterior abdominal wall thickness was obtained between the mid-axillary lines and anterior to the margins of the ribs, at the level of the abdominal circumference. The subcutaneous fat is represented by the echogenic envelope surrounding the abdomen and is measured in millimetres. Using magnification, 4 measurements were obtained from one or two separate images, and the mean was used in the analysis.

Subscapular fat mass

Using a sagittal view of the fetal trunk, the entire longitudinal section of the scapular was located between the skin surface and the subcutaneous tissue at the interface with the super-spinous and infra-spinous muscles. Two measurements of the subcutaneous skin width at the end of the bone were taken and the mean value was used in the analysis.

Statistical analysis

Baseline characteristics of women in the Standard Care group were assessed descriptively. Normally distributed continuous variables are reported as mean and standard deviation or median and interquartile range as appropriate. Categorical variables are reported as a number and percentage and the chi squared statistic was used accordingly.

For each fetal biometry measured, z-scores were calculated using ultrasound growth charts in clinical use (Hadlock et al. 1991). All cardiometabolic markers were log transformed prior to analysis due to skewed distributions. Estimates are back-transformed to the original scale and therefore represent ratios of geometric means (approximately ratios of medians).

The investigation concerns cross-sectional relationships, i.e. whether there is an association between cardiometabolic/inflammatory markers at 28 weeks, and fetal ultrasound measures at 28 weeks (and similarly for 36 weeks). Because the nature of the association was of interest, and because most of the cardiometabolic/inflammatory markers exhibited skewness in distribution, each of the cardiometabolic/inflammatory markers was log-transformed prior to analysis. Estimates represent the difference in mean fetal measure corresponding to a 1-unit increase in log cardiometabolic marker. For example at 28 weeks gestation, a 1 unit increase in log CRP corresponds to a decrease in mean EFW of 8.62 (29.88, 12.63) grams (p=0.426).

Three of the cardiometabolic/inflammatory markers (CRP, leptin and adiponectin) were measured at both 28 and 36 weeks. For these markers, linear regression models were used to model the relationship between the marker and fetal ultrasound measures at each time point, including a time-by- marker interaction term to test whether the relationship differs between time points. Generalised Estimating Equations (GEEs) with exchangeable working correlation were used to account for repeated measures. Triglycerides and fasting glucose were measured at 28 weeks only; therefore, for these markers, relationships with 28 week fetal ultrasound measures only were investigated using linear regression models.

Both unadjusted and adjusted analyses were performed, with the adjusted analyses including study centre, parity (0 versus \geq 1), maternal BMI category (25.0-29.9 vs \geq 30.0), smoking status, SEIFA IRSD quintile, and age at consent as covariates.

Although both fetal biometry and adiposity measures and maternal cardiometabolic and inflammatory markers varied over time, standard linear regression models with GEEs were considered appropriate to model the associations, as no causal interpretation of the associations was intended, and there is additionally no plausible pathway by which the fetal biometry and adiposity outcomes at the earlier time point could influence the value of maternal cardiometabolic markers at a later time point. Statistical significance was assessed at the two sided P < 0.05 and no adjustment was made for multiple comparisons. All analyses were performed using SAS 9.4 (Cary, NC, USA).

<u>Results</u>

Demographic characteristics

The results of this exploratory secondary analysis relates to the 1104 women, who were randomised to the 'Standard Care' group. Of these women, 912 women had a minimum of one ultrasound performed at 28 or 36 weeks and one woman was excluded from this analysis due to incomplete ultrasound data (Figure 1). Table 1 summarises the baseline characteristics of the 911 women who participated in these analyses. Mean maternal age was 29.6 years (standard deviation 5.5) with 41% of women (n = 377) overweight, 46.5% (n = 424) obese (BMI 30 – 39.9kg/m²), and 12.2% (n = 111) morbidly obese, with BMI greater than 40kg/m². Most women (92%; n=835) were of Caucasian origin, 40% (n = 369) were in their first ongoing pregnancy, and approximately 30% (n = 265) were from the highest quintile of social disadvantage. The baseline characteristics of the women contributing ultrasound data were comparable to all women in the standard care group, and to the full randomized LIMIT cohort (Dodd et al. 2014a).

C-Reactive Protein (CRP)

No consistent associations were found between plasma CRP concentrations and fetal ultrasound measures of biometry and adiposity (Table 2).

Triglycerides

There were no consistent associations identified between plasma triglyceride concentrations at 28 weeks and fetal ultrasound markers of biometry and adiposity (Table 3). However, there was a positive association identified between maternal plasma triglyceride concentrations and biometry z-scores. Specifically, a 1-unit increase in log triglyceride concentration was associated with an increase in mean EFW z-score of 0.20 (0.01 to 0.39; p=0.041), and an increase in mean AC z-score of 0.25 (0.05 to 0.46; p=0.016).

Fasting Glucose

There were no consistent associations found between fasting glucose concentrations at 28 weeks and fetal ultrasound measures of biometry and adiposity (Table 4).

Leptin

There were no consistent associations identified between plasma leptin concentrations and fetal ultrasound markers of biometry and adiposity (Table 5). However, there was a positive association identified between plasma leptin concentration and mid-thigh fat mass (MTFM). Specifically, a 1-unit increase in *log* leptin concentration was associated with a greater reduction in mean MTFM of -0.37 (-0.67, -0.07) at 28 weeks (p = 0.015).

Adiponectin

There were consistent associations identified between plasma adiponectin concentrations and fetal ultrasound measures (Table 6).

There were negative associations identified between plasma adiponectin concentrations and measures of abdominal circumference (AC) and estimated fetal weight (EFW). Specifically, a 1-unit increase in *log* adiponectin concentration was associated with a reduction in mean AC of -0.53 (-0.83, -0.22) millimetres (p < 0.001) and reduction in the mean EFW of -100.85 (-164.98, -36.71) grams (p = 0.002) at 36 weeks gestation.

There were negative associations identified between plasma adiponectin concentration and z-scores for abdominal circumference (AC) and estimated fetal weight (EFW). Specifically, a 1-unit increase in *log* adiponectin concentration was associated with a reduction in the mean AC z-score of -0.21 (-0.35, -0.07) at 28 weeks (p = 0.004) and of -0.30 (-0.46, -0.13) at 36 weeks (p < 0.001). Similarly, a 1-unit increase in *log* adiponectin concentration was associated with a reduction in the mean EFW z-score of -0.23 (-0.37, -0.10) at 28 weeks (p < 0.001) and of -0.24 (-0.38, -0.10) at 36 weeks (p < 0.001).

There was a negative association identified between plasma *log* adiponectin concentration and MTLM. Specifically, a 1-unit increase in *log* Adiponectin concentration was associated with a reduction in the mean MTLM of -0.41 (0.77, -0.05) millimetres at 36 weeks (p < 0.001).

Time by Cardiometabolic interaction

The associations between plasma *log* adiponectin concentration and mean EFW changed over time. At 28 weeks, there was a small and not statistically significant association and at 36 weeks, the association was larger in magnitude and statistically significant (p = 0.008).

The association between plasma *log* Adiponectin concentration and mean AC changed over time. At 28 weeks, there was a small and not statistically significant association compared with at 36 weeks, the association was larger in magnitude and statistically significant (p = 0.01).

The association between plasma *log* adiponectin concentration and mean HC changed over time, although neither individual associations were statistically significant. At 28 weeks, women with higher *log* adiponectin concentrations had fetuses with bigger head circumference, whereas at 36 weeks, women with higher *log* Adiponectin had fetuses with lower HC (p = 0.01).

The association between plasma *log* adiponectin concentrations and mean MTLM changed over time. At 28 weeks, there was a small and not statistically significant association compared with at 36 weeks, the association was larger in magnitude and statistically significant (p = 0.013).

Discussion

This secondary exploratory analysis has demonstrated increasing concentrations of adiponectin were associated with a reduction in abdominal circumference and estimated fetal weight with this effect increasing over time. Furthermore, a higher triglyceride concentration was associated with an increase in abdominal circumference z-score and estimated fetal weight at 28 weeks gestation. There were no apparent associations between inflammatory markers, fasting glucose, triglyceride and leptin concentrations with fetal ultrasound measurements.

This is the first study to describe the relationship between cardiometabolic biomarkers with fetal ultrasound measurements of biometry and adiposity. The current literature to date has reported on maternal or cord blood sampling and postnatal measurements of neonatal adiposity (Patenaude et al. 2017) or child growth trajectories (Karakosta et al. 2016) with small sample sizes. There have been two large studies which have evaluated maternal cardiometabolic markers in the setting of a randomised control trials testing the effect of an antenatal dietary and lifestyle intervention (Moran et al. 2017, Sagedal et al. 2017).

The strength of our analysis is the large sample size of 911 women and the reporting of fetal body composition as an outcome measurement. The limitation of this secondary analysis relates to the absence of a comparator group of women entering pregnancy with a normal BMI. Fasting measurements at 36 weeks for triglycerides and glucose were not obtained and this limited our interpretation to one time point only for these two cardiometabolic markers, although there is some literature to suggest that the impact of fasting versus non-fasting samples may not be as great as initially thought.

Our main finding of our secondary analysis relates to adiponectin. The primary role of maternal adiponectin promotes insulin sensitivity. This in turn increases the uptake of glucose by the maternal skeletal muscle, thereby reducing the availability for placental transfer (Aye et al. 2013). The second action of adiponectin relates to the placental transportation of amnio acids, whereby adiponectin modulates the insulin receptor in the trophoblast, preventing the uptake of amino acids (Aye et al. 2013). Adiponectin is thought to be the link between maternal adipose tissue, placental transport and fetal growth (19).

The role of adiponectin in adult cardiovascular disease (Parker-Duffen et al. 2014, Lekva et al. 2017) and Type 2 Diabetes (Weyer et al. 2001) has been well defined. The current literature pertaining to pregnancy is limited to six studies, half of which reported on cord adiponectin only (Sivan et al. 2003, Tsai et al. 2004, Mantzoros et al. 2009). Maternal adiponectin concentrations have been reported in women entering pregnancy with a normal body mass index (Lekva et al. 2017) or with gestational diabetes (Ategbo et al. 2006). In women entering pregnancy with a normal body mass index, this study found a reduction in adiponectin concentrations in the 3rd trimester, and this occurred independently of body mass index and maternal insulin resistance (Lekva et al. 2017). Low adiponectin concentration has also been associated with a higher prevalence of newborns classified as large for gestational age and increased birthweight (Lekva et al. 2017). Regarding interventions during pregnancy, the LIMIT trial showed that a dietary and lifestyle intervention did not change the concentrations of the cardiometabolic biomarkers in women who were overweight and obese (Moran et al. 2017). The Fit for Delivery intervention in low risk women (Sagedal et al. 2017) showed a reduction in insulin and leptin concentrations, but this did not reduce the incidence of gestational diabetes, the primary outcome.

While adiponectin concentrations do not alter with dietary change, there is increasing interest in the supplementation of adiponectin has promising applications in the adult populations (Parker-Duffen et al. 2014, Lekva et al. 2017, Lekva et al. 2017). In vivo and in vitro studies have shown that adiponectin supplementation in pregnancy may alter fetal growth through improving insulin sensitivity and placental function (Rosario et al. 2012). The proposed mechanism relates to the down regulation of key placental nutrient transporters within the syncytiotrophoblasts, including amino acid transporters

such as System A (Rosario et al. 2012, Lekva et al. 2017). Adiponectin has also had increasing interest as a therapy to reduce cardiovascular risk in the non-pregnant overweight and obese mouse (Parker-Duffen et al. 2014). Further studies are required in both experimental models along with exploring the clinical applications.

Interestingly, leptin did not show any consistent effect on fetal growth or adiposity in This study. This was supported by a recent study by Castro who performed maternal plasma leptin sampling after delivery (to reduce the effect of placental leptin production), and found no association with neonatal adiposity (Castro et al. 2017). Josefson measured the concentrations at 36 weeks gestation and found an association with neonatal adiposity (Josefson et al. 2014). This highlights that each cardiometabolic marker has a different pattern during pregnancy and the timing of sampling may impact on the interpretation of results. Interestingly, fetal exposure to leptin along with high cord blood concentrations, have been positively associated with birthweight, neonatal adiposity, postnatal and childhood growth trajectories (Karakosta et al. 2016).

In This study, an association between maternal triglyceride concentration at 28 weeks with an increase in z-scores for abdominal circumference and estimated fetal weight was identified. This is consistent with the similar relationship found in women with gestational diabetes, where lipid concentrations were a strong determinant of fetal growth, independent of maternal body mass index (Schaefer-Graf et al. 2008). Other studies have shown this association with maternal triglycerides measured in early pregnancy (Vrijkotte et al. 2011) and another study has also reported this in late pregnancy (Mossayebi et al. 2014). Lipid are an essential component of fetal development, however, the mechanism underpinning fetal growth remains unclear (Catalano 2010).

Understanding of the mechanisms and timing of critical fetal growth changes represents an evolving area of obesity related research. From a public health perspective, the only preventive strategy to reduce the intergenerational transmission of obesity (Godfery et al. 2017) is to optimise maternal weight and reduce obesity related morbidity prior to pregnancy. Current studies are underway to assess dietary and lifestyle interventions along with medications to reduce maternal obesity prior to pregnancy or in early pregnancy (Hanson et al. 2017). Further research is required to assess the role of adiponectin and potential supplementation in the setting of obesity in pregnancy (Aye et al. 2013).

Conclusion

Preventing the transmission of obesity from the mother to the child is the only public health strategy that may slow the obesity epidemic. This study has contributed to the further understanding of the fetal overgrowth pathway. Further studies in this area are needed. Adiponectin is a promising biomarker that may have a role in the modulation of fetal growth in the future.

APPENDIX 5

AUTHORSHIP STATEMENT

Title of the Paper: In overweight and obese women, fetal ultrasound biometry accurately predicts newborn measures.

Publication status: Submitted to the Australian and New Zealand Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology (ANZJOG).

PRINCIPAL AUTHOR

Author (Candidate)	Dr Cecelia O'Brien
Contribution to the paper	Assisted in the analysis and interpreted the data Wrote the manuscript Acted as the corresponding author

Overall percentage (%) 60%

Signature

Date: 4th December, 2018

Name of the Co-Author	Dr Jennie Louise
Contribution to the	Performed the statistical analysis and assisted in
paper	interpretation and manuscript review
Signature	Date: 3/12/2018

Name of the Co-Author	Andrea Deussen		
Contribution to the	Assisted in the interpretation of the data and review of the		
paper	manuscript		
Signature			Date: 3/12/2018

Name of the Co-Author	Professor Jodie Dodd	
Contribution to the	Assisted in the design and interpretation and review of the	
paper	manuscript	
Signature		Date: 3/12/2018

Title: In overweight and obese women, fetal ultrasound biometry accurately predicts newborn measures.

Short title: Fetal ultrasound accurately predicts neonatal biometry and birthweight

AUTHORS:

Cecelia M O'BRIEN1 (cecelia.obrien@adelaide.edu.au)

Jennie LOUISE^{1,2} (jennie.louise@adelaide.edu.au)

Andrea DEUSSEN¹ (andrea.deussen@adelaide.edu.au)

Jodie M DODD^{1,3} (jodie.dodd@adelaide.edu.au)

AUTHOR AFFILIATIONS:

1. School of Paediatrics and Reproductive Health, and Robinson Research Institute, University of Adelaide, Adelaide, AUSTRALIA

2. School of Public Health, University of Adelaide, Adelaide, AUSTRALIA

3. Department of Perinatal Medicine, Women's and Babies Division, Women's and Children's Hospital, Adelaide, AUSTRALIA

CORRESPONDING AUTHOR:

Dr Cecelia O'Brien The University of Adelaide, Women's and Children's Hospital 72 King William Road North Adelaide, South Australia, AUSTRALIA 5006 Phone: +61 8 8161 7619 Fax: +61 8 8161 7652 E-mail: cecelia.obrien@adelaide.edu.au

ABSTRACT

Objective: Our aim was to evaluate the association between fetal ultrasound and newborn biometry and adiposity measures.

Methods: The study population involved 845 overweight or obese pregnant women, who participated in the Standard Care group of the LIMIT randomized trial. At 36 weeks gestation, an ultrasound examination was performed to obtain fetal biometry, estimated fetal weight (EFW) and adiposity measures including mid-thigh fat mass (MTFM), subscapular fat mass (SSFM), and abdominal fat mass (AFM.) Neonatal anthropometric measurements were obtained after birth and included birthweight, head circumference (HC), abdominal circumference (AC) and skin fold thickness measurements (SFTM) of the subscapular region and abdomen.

Results: Every 1 gram increase in EFW at 36 weeks was associated with a 0.94gram increase in birthweight (95% CI 0.88 to 0.99; p < 0.001). At 36 weeks gestation, every 1mm increase in US HC was associated with a 0.69mm increase in birth HC (95% CI 0.63 to 0.75, p < 0.001), and every 1mm increase in ultrasound AC with a 0.69mm increase in birth AC (95% CI 0.60 to 0.79, p < 0.001). Fetal and neonatal subscapular SFTM (0.29mm, 95% CI 0.20 – 0.39, p < 0.001) were moderately associated, but abdominal SFTM were not (0.06mm, -0.03 to 0.15, p=0.203). There is no evidence that these relationships differed by maternal BMI.

Conclusion:

In women who are overweight or obese, fetal ultrasound accurately predicts neonatal birthweight, head and abdominal circumference.

<u>Keywords</u>
Obesity
Pregnancy
Fetal body composition
Adiposity
Fetal biometry
Birthweight
Skin fold thickness

Introduction

Worldwide, obesity rates have tripled and now 1.9 billion adults over 18 years of age are considered overweight or obese (World Health Organization (WHO) 2018). A large proportion are women of reproductive age, with approximately 1 in 2 women entering pregnancy overweight or obese (Scheil et al. 2016, AIHW 2017b). Maternal obesity is associated with a well-documented increase in risk of pregnancy related complications (Cedergren 2004, Chu et al. 2007, Johansson et al. 2014). Furthermore, overweight and obesity in pregnancy is associated with a two-fold increased risk of the birth of an infant with high birth weight (Gaudet et al. 2014), which in the long term, is associated with the development of childhood obesity (Yu et al. 2013, Tie et al. 2014).

With the widespread availability of ultrasound there is increasing interest in the antenatal detection of the large for gestational age (LGA) fetus to assist in clinical management decisions regarding both the method and timing of birth, as potential strategies to reduce birth complications including operative delivery (Boulvain et al. 2016) and shoulder dystocia (Dodd et al. 2012). While ultrasound estimated fetal weight (EFW) and abdominal circumference (AC) have been demonstrated to have good positive predictive value in identifying LGA infants at birth, the influence of maternal body mass index (BMI), particularly overweight and obesity, on accuracy remains uncertain (Coomarasamy et al. 2005).

There is limited information assessing the role of ultrasound measures of fetal adiposity, and its relationship to neonatal adiposity. While several studies have attempted to evaluate this, they are limited by the relatively small sample sizes involved, particularly of women who are overweight or obese, and have largely been confined to women with gestational or pre-existing diabetes (Bernstein et al. 1991, Larciprete et al. 2003, Larciprete et al. 2003, Parretti et al. 2003, Hure et al. 2012, O'Connor et al. 2014, Walsh et al. 2015, Gibson et al. 2016). Studies have also varied considerably in terms of the ultrasound and neonatal measures assessed. For example, ultrasound assessment has included arm and thigh volumes (Moyer-Mileur et al. 2009) utilising both 2- and 3dimensional techniques (O'Connor et al. 2014), as well as incorporation of abdominal wall thickness (Hure et al. 2012, O'Connor et al. 2014), subscapular fat mass (Larciprete et al. 2003), and other compartment models to estimate fetal adiposity (Ikenoue et al. 2017). Tools to assess neonatal adiposity include skin fold thickness measurements (Gibson et al. 2016), dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry (DEXA) (Ikenoue et al. 2017) and air displacement plethysmography (PEA-POD) (Moyer-Mileur et al. 2009). While air displacement plethysmography (Au et al. 2013, Au et al. 2013) has been reported to correlate poorly with fetal ultrasound body composition measures, (Moyer-Mileur et al. 2009, Lingwood et al. 2012) correlation between fetal ultrasound and neonatal skin-fold thickness measures, as well as the impact of maternal obesity have not been reported.

The aim of this secondary analysis was to evaluate the correlation between fetal ultrasound biometry and adiposity measures at 36 weeks gestation and the neonatal biometry and adiposity measures, in pregnant women who are overweight or obese.

Methods

The clinical findings from the LIMIT randomised controlled trial and the detailed methodology have been published previously, (Dodd et al. 2011, Dodd et al. 2014a, Dodd 2014b, Dodd et al. 2014c, Dodd et al. 2014d) with the trial registered on the Australian and New Zealand Clinical trials registry (ACTRN12607000161426).

Women were recruited from 3 public maternity hospitals across metropolitan Adelaide and provided written informed consent to participate, following local ethics approval. Eligible women were those with a singleton pregnancy, between 10+0 and 20+0 weeks gestation, and whose BMI was $\geq 25 \text{kg/m}^2$.

At the time of their first antenatal appointment, maternal height and weight were measured and BMI calculated. This secondary analysis includes women randomised to the Standard Care Group of the LIMIT randomised trial. Women in the Standard Care Group continued to receive their pregnancy care according to local hospital protocols, and did not include provision of dietary and lifestyle advice, or information relating to gestational weight gain in pregnancy (Dodd et al. 2014a, Dodd et al. 2014d).

Ultrasound Assessment

At 28 and 36 weeks gestation, all women were offered a research ultrasound performed by medical practitioners with specialist or subspecialist training in obstetric ultrasound. All measurements were obtained prospectively as we have described previously (Grivell et al. 2016), using an estimated date of confinement and gestational age calculated using an early pregnancy ultrasound and menstrual period dating.

As we have reported previously, fetal biometry, estimated fetal weight (EFW) and fetal body composition measures were obtained (Grivell et al. 2016). Briefly, fetal head circumference (HC), bi-parietal diameter (BPD), abdominal circumference (AC) and femur length (FL) were measured in accordance with national and international standards of practice ((ASUM) 2007). The estimated fetal weight was calculated using the Hadlock C formula (Hadlock et al. 1991). For each fetal biometry measure, z-scores were calculated using ultrasound growth charts in clinical use ((ASUM) 2007). Fetal body composition measurements included mid-thigh lean mass (MTLM), mid-thigh fat mass (MTFM), abdominal fat mass (AFM), and subscapular fat mass (SSFM) using techniques we have reported previously (Grivell et al. 2016).

Mid-thigh total, lean and fat mass

A longitudinal view of the femur and identification of the midpoint at a zero degree angle was obtained. Then the transducer was rotated through 90 degrees to obtain a cross sectional view of the mid-thigh. A trace of the circumference of the MTTM was performed and area was calculated, followed by the MTLM incorporating muscle and bone. The MTLM was then subtracted from MTTM to calculate the mid-thigh fat mass (MTFM) (Bernstein et al. 1991, Larciprete et al. 2003).

Abdominal fat mass (AFM)

Abdominal fat mass was defined as the anterior abdominal wall thickness obtained between the mid-axillary lines and anterior to the margins of the ribs, at the level of the abdominal circumference. The subcutaneous fat was distinguished by the echogenic envelope surrounding the abdomen and is measured in millimetres. Using magnification, 4 measurements were obtained from one or two separate images, and the mean was used in the analysis (Gardeil et al. 1999, Larciprete et al. 2003).

Subscapular fat mass (SSFM)

At the interface with the super-spinous and infra-spinous muscles, using a sagittal view of the fetal trunk, the entire longitudinal section of the scapula was located between the skin surface and the subcutaneous tissue. Then, two measurements of the width of the subcutaneous tissue and skin at the distal end of the bone were taken and the mean value was used in the analysis (Larciprete et al. 2003).

Neonatal body composition

Infant birthweight (grams), HC (cm) and length (cm) were taken within the first 2 hours of birth by the attending midwife. Birthweight was measured using calibrated electronic scales to the nearest 1 gram with the newborn infant undressed. Length was measured using a length board and the infant laid supine, the head held against the top of the board and a sliding foot plate moved and rested flat against the foot of the infant with the legs fully extended, and read to the nearest 0.1cm (Dodd et al. 2016). Large for gestational age was defined as birthweight at or above the 90th centile for gestational age and infant sex. Z-scores were calculated using Australian population reference ranges (Beeby et al. 1996).

Skin fold thickness measurements (SFTM)

Trained research assistants obtained anthropometric measurements according to a standardised protocol as we have described previously, within the first few days of life and prior to discharge from hospital (Dodd et al. 2016). SFTM were obtained on the right side of the body using Harpenden Skinfold Callipers, with the infant undressed. The skinfold was identified and grasped between the left thumb and index finger, so that a double fold of skin and subcutaneous adipose tissue was held without the incorporation of underlying muscle. The calliper jaws were placed perpendicular to the length of the skin fold and the measurement was recorded 2 seconds after the pressure was applied. For each site, the measurements were duplicated and if there was a difference more than 1.0mm, a third measure was taken. The final value presented the mean of two measurements or a median of the three (Marfell-Jones et al. 2006). Abdominal SFTM was identified 2cm to the right of the umbilicus and measured perpendicular to the long axis of the abdomen. Subscapular SFTM was measured after identifying the lower tip of the scapula, with the observer's thumb placed below this laterally.

Body circumference measurements

Circumference measures were obtained according to a standardised protocol, with the infant undressed, supine and using a fibreglass measuring tape and recorded to the nearest 0.1cm (add reference). HC was measured at the widest point above the eyebrows anteriorly (glabella) and the most prominent point of the occiput posteriorly. AC was measured at the level of the umbilicus in a plane at right angles to the spine and at the end of a normal expiration.

Statistical analysis

Baseline characteristics of women in the Standard Care group were assessed descriptively, with continuous variables reported as mean and standard deviation or median and interquartile range as appropriate. Categorical variables are reported as a number and percentage.

Associations between 36 week fetal ultrasound measures and corresponding birth measures were explored in multiple ways. Firstly, to descriptively assess strength and linearity of association, scatterplots were created, with locally weighted scatterplot smoothing (lowess) and line of best fit superimposed. Secondly, a Pearson Correlation Coefficient was calculated for each pair of variables to measure the overall strength of association. Thirdly, to estimate the change in mean birth measure associated with increased values of the 36 week measure, linear regression models were fitted using the birth measure as the dependent variable (outcome) and the 36 week measure as the independent variable (predictor). Models were adjusted for the actual amount of time between 36 week ultrasound and date of birth. Lastly, to determine if the strength and direction of the association differed by maternal BMI category, linear regression models were fitted using birth measure as the independent variable, and 36 week measure, BMI category, and their interaction, as the independent variables. Adjustment were made for the amount of time between the 36 week ultrasound and date of birth.

Statistical significance was assessed at the two-sided p < 0.05 level and no adjustment was made for multiple comparisons. All analyses were performed using SAS 9.4 (Cary, NC, USA).

Results

Demographic characteristics

A total of 845 women and infants are included in this analysis. The median gestation at trial entry was 14.3 weeks (Interquartile range (IQR) 12.0 - 17.0) (Table 1). The median maternal BMI was 31.2kg/m² (IQR 27.8 - 35.8) kg/m², with 41% (n = 350) of women overweight and 58.6% (n =495) obese. Ninety-two percent (92%) of women in our cohort identified as Caucasian (n = 773) and 59% of women (n = 501) were in their first ongoing pregnancy. Fifteen percent (n = 128) of women were classified within the highest quintile of social disadvantage using the Socio-Economic Indexes for Areas (SEIFA) (Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS) 2018). The baseline characteristics of the women contributing ultrasound and neonatal data were comparable to all women in the standard care group, and to the full randomised LIMIT cohort (Dodd et al. 2014a).

Correlation between ultrasound measures and neonatal measures

Both EFW (0.62) and EFW z-score (0.70) at 36 weeks gestation were strongly correlated with birthweight (Table 2). While there was moderate correlation between ultrasound derived SSFM (0.32) and subscapular SFTM measured at birth, ultrasound derived AFM was poorly correlated with abdominal SFTM (0.07) (Table 2).

Linear regression models for the association between ultrasound measures and neonatal measures

Table 3 summarises the results of linear regression models investigating whether the association between 36 week ultrasound measurements and birth measurements. For every 1gram increase in EFW at 36 weeks gestation, there was a 0.94gram increase in infant birthweight (95% CI 0.88 to 0.99 grams; p<0.001). The combination of ultrasound derived EFW at 36 weeks gestation and the number of subsequent days until birth accounted for 63% of the variability in measures (R^2 =0.63).

There were similar findings for HC, HC z-score, AC and SSFM, with a moderate to high degree of overall variability explained (Table 3). The exception was abdominal skin fold thickness, where the 36 week measure (SSFM) was not associated with abdominal SFTM measured at birth (0.06 mm; 95% CI: -0.03, 0.15).

Linear regression models allowing for effect modification by BMI category

Table 4 presents the results of linear regression models investigating whether the association between 36 week ultrasound measurements and birth measurements was modified by maternal BMI category, with the estimates of the association between 36 week measures and neonatal measures presented separately by maternal BMI category.

For all measures except AFM, a similar pattern was observed, in which there was a significant relationship between the 36 week measure (EFW, HC, AC, SSFM) and the corresponding birth measure (BW, HC, AC, subscapular skin fold thickness) in both BMI categories. The magnitude and direction of this association was consistent across BMI categories. The difference in the estimates of association between the BMI categories was not statistically significant or clinically meaningful.

In relation to the ultrasound derived AFM and abdominal SFTM measured at birth (Table 4), the association was not statistically significant at either time point and there was no evidence of effect modification by BMI category.

Discussion

The findings of This study demonstrate that among overweight and obese pregnant women, ultrasound assessment of fetal weight at 36 weeks gestation is a reliable indicator of infant birthweight, with maternal BMI contributing a large proportion to the overall variability of measures. While fetal ultrasound assessment of HC and AC at 36 weeks gestation is strongly correlated with birth HC and AC, fetal and newborn measures of adiposity were only moderately or poorly correlated.

Strengths of This study include the robust trial methodology of the LIMIT trial, in addition to our adherence to standardised ultrasound and newborn anthropometry protocols (Marfell-Jones et al. 2006, Australasian Society of Ultrasound Medicine (ASUM) 2007). This study is the largest to date comparing fetal ultrasound measures at 36 weeks gestation with neonatal anthropometric measures obtained at birth. While this analysis includes data from 845 women and infants (38% of the entire LIMIT cohort), we consider the risk of selection bias to be minimal. The characteristics of the current cohort did not differ significantly from either the characteristics of the Standard Care group, or the entire LIMIT cohort (Dodd et al. 2014a, Dodd et al. 2016, Grivell et al. 2016). Our findings would be enhanced by the inclusion of data from women entering pregnancy with a normal BMI, which will be possible at a later date with the analysis of data from the OPTIMISE randomized trial (Dodd et al. 2018).

Generally, infant SFTM are reliable and relatively non-invasive tools to assess newborn fat distribution, having been correlated with more invasive assessments, (Schmelzle et al. 2002, Thomson et al. 2007, Volgyi et al. 2008, Lingwood et al. 2012) including DXA (Schmelzle et al. 2002, Godang et al. 2010). We have previously reported moderate to excellent inter-observer agreement in obtaining both ultrasound (Grivell et al. 2016) and newborn SFTM (Kannieappan et al. 2013) through adherence to standardised research quality protocols, validating their use in a large clinical trial setting. While the use of alternate infant body composition assessments may have been more strongly correlated with fetal ultrasound assessment measures than were observed with SFTM, such an approach was not feasible within the practical constraints of our research setting.

Importantly, we did not identify differences in the relationship between ultrasound derived fetal and neonatal biometry and adiposity measures according to maternal BMI, despite the well-documented limitations of ultrasound in obese women (Paladini 2009). Our findings are consistent with those of Zhang and colleagues, who have also demonstrated no effect from maternal obesity on the quality of fetal biometric measurements (Zhang et al. 2018).

In contrast, fetal ultrasound measures of adiposity were poorly correlated with skin fold thickness at birth. While neonatal adiposity has been examined extensively in the literature, few studies have directly compared fetal ultrasound to neonatal body composition. However, there is a lack of consistency in the comparative measurements at birth and this is likely to contribute to the variability in findings. The direct comparison may also be limited by the fact that the caliper used to measure skin fold thickness incorporates a double layer of tissue, which differs from the single layer measured on ultrasound (Borkan et al. 1982). This relationship is not exactly a 2:1 ratio due to compression of the tissue by the caliper (Borkan et al. 1982), and may have contributed to the weak correlations in our analysis. Fetal thigh and arm circumferences and volumes utilising both 2- and 3-dimensional ultrasound techniques (Khoury et al. 2009, Lee et al. 2009, Ikenoue et al. 2017) have shown the most promising results, improving the predictive value of both macrosomia and infant birthweight in women with obesity (Gibson et al. 2016) and diabetes (Garcia-Flores et al. 2015). There is a clear need for prospective studies with robust methodology, consistency in fetal and neonatal measurement and large sample sizes to further delineate the predictive value of fetal and neonatal adiposity.

The findings of This study validate the use of the 36 week fetal ultrasound as a tool to accurately represent both neonatal biometry and birthweight in women who are overweight or obese. In contrast, the routine incorporation of ultrasound derived fetal adiposity measures is not advocated given their poor correlation with neonatal skin fold thickness measurements. Our findings highlight the need for further well-designed prospective studies to further delineate the best markers of both fetal and neonatal adiposity.

REFERENCES

Abenhaim HA, Kinch RA, Morin L, Benjamin A and Usher R (2007). Effect of prepregnancy body mass index categories on obstetrical and neonatal outcomes. *Archives of Gynecology and Obstetrics* 275(1):39-43.

American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists (ACOG) (2015). Obesity in Pregnancy. Clinical Management Guidelines for Obstetrician-Gynecologists. Practice Bulletin. American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists, Wolters Kluwer Health Inc. 126: e112 - 126.

Ategbo JM, Grissa O, Yessoufou A, Hichami A, Dramane KL, et al. (2006). Modulation of adipokines and cytokines in gestational diabetes and macrosomia. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology Metabolism* 91(10):4137-4143.

Athukorala C, Rumbold AR, Willson KJ and Crowther CA (2010). The risk of adverse pregnancy outcomes in women who are overweight or obese. *BMC Pregnancy Childbirth* 10:56.

Au CP, Raynes-Greenow CH, Turner RM, Carberry AE and Jeffery H (2013). Fetal and maternal factors associated with neonatal adiposity as measured by air displacement plethysmography: a large cross-sectional study. *Early Human Development* 89(10):839-843.

Au CP, Raynes-Greenow CH, Turner RM, Carberry AE and Jeffery HE (2013). Body composition is normal in term infants born to mothers with well-controlled gestational diabetes mellitus. *Diabetes Care* 36(3):562-564.

Australasian Society of Ultrasound Medicine (ASUM) (2007). Promoting excellence in ultrasound - Policy D7. Statement on Normal Ultrasonographic Fetal Measurements. Crows Nest, Australasian Society for Ultrasound Medicine (ASUM).

Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS) (2018). Socio-Economic Indexes for Areas (SEIFA) 2016. SEIFA Technical Paper. Canberra.

Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (AIHW) (2017a). Impact of overweight and obesity as a risk factor for chronic conditions: Australian Burden of Disease Study. Australian Burden of Disease Study series Canberra, AIHW. 11.

Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (AIHW) (2017b). Australia's mothers and babies 2015—in brief. Perinatal statistics series. Canberra, AIHW. no. 33.

Aye ILMH, Powell TL and Jansson T (2013). Review: Adiponectin – The Missing Link between Maternal Adiposity, Placental Transport and Fetal Growth? *Placenta* 34 Suppl:S40-S45.

Bar J, Kovo M, Schraiber L and Shargorodsky M (2017). Placental maternal and fetal vascular circulation in healthy non-obese and metabolically healthy obese pregnant women. *Atherosclerosis* 260:63-66.

Bar J, Schreiber L, Saruhanov E, Ben-Haroush A, Golan A, et al. (2012). Placental histopathological findings in obese and nonobese women with complicated and uncomplicated pregnancies. *Archives of Gynecology and Obstetrics* 286(6):1343-1347.

Beeby PJ, Bhutap T and Taylor LK (1996). New South Wales population-based birthweight percentile charts. *Journal of Paediatric and Child Health* 32(6):512-518.

Belkacemi L, Nelson M, Desia M and Ross M (2011). Maternal Undernutrition and Fetal Programming: Role of the placenta. *The Placenta: From Development to Disease*. H Kay, M Nelson and Y Wang. West Sussex, Backwell Publishing Ltd.

Berceanu C, Tetileanu AV, Ofiteru AM, Bratila E, Mehedintu C, et al. (2018). Morphological and ultrasound findings in the placenta of diabetic pregnancy. *Romanian Journal of Morphology and Embryology* 59(1):175-186.

Bernstein IM and Catalano PM (1991). Ultrasonographic estimation of fetal body composition for children of diabetic mothers. *Investigative Radiology* 26(8):722-726.

Bertino E, Di Battista E, Bossi A, Pagliano M, Fabris C, et al. (1996). Fetal growth velocity: kinetic, clinical, and biological aspects. *Archives of Disease in Childhood* 74:F10-F15.

Bethune M and Bell R (2003). Evaluation of the measurement of the fetal fat layer, interventricular septum and abdominal circumference percentile in the prediction of macrosomia in pregnancies affected by gestational diabetes. *Ultrasound in Obstetrics and Gynecology* 22(6):586-590.

Beyerlein A, Schiessl B and Lack N (2011). Associations of gestational weight loss with birth-related outcome: a retrospective cohort study. *British Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology* 118:55 - 61.

Blumfield ML, Hure AJ, MacDonald-Wicks LK, Smith R, Simpson SJ, et al. (2012). Dietary balance during pregnancy is associated with fetal adiposity and fat distribution. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 96(5):1032-1041.

Borkan G, Hults D, Cardarelli J and Burrows Belton A (1982). Comparison of ultrasound and skinfold measurements in assessment of subcutaneous and total fatness. *American Journal of Physical Anthropology* 58(3):307-313.

Boulvain M, Irion O, Dowswell T and Thornton JG (2016). Induction of labour at or near term for suspected fetal macrosomia. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* (5):CD000938.

Boulvain M, Senat MV, Perrotin F, Winer N, Beucher G, et al. (2015). Induction of labour versus expectant management for large-for-date fetuses: a randomised controlled trial. *Lancet* 385(9987):2600-2605.

Brei C, Stecher L, Meyer DM, Young V, Much D, et al. (2018). Impact of Dietary Macronutrient Intake during Early and Late Gestation on Offspring Body Composition at Birth, 1, 3, and 5 Years of Age. *Nutrients* 10(579).

Callaway LK, Prins JB, Chang AM and McIntyre HD (2006). The prevalence and impact of overweight and obesity in an Australian obstetric population. *Medical Journal of Australia* 184(2):56-59.

Campbell S (2014). Fetal macrosomia: a problem in need of a policy. *Ultrasound Obstetrics and Gynaecology* 43:3 - 10.

Carmichael SL and Abrams B (1997). A critical review of the relationship between gestational weight gain and preterm delivery. *Obstetrics and Gynecology* 89 (5 Part 2):865-873.

Castro NP, Euclydes VV, Simoes FA, Vaz-de-Lima LR, De Brito CA, et al. (2017). The Relationship between Maternal Plasma Leptin and Adiponectin Concentrations and Newborn Adiposity. *Nutrients* 9(3).

Catalano PM (2003a). Obesity and pregnancy--the propagation of a viscous cycle? *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism* 88(8):3505-3506.

Catalano PM, Thomas A, Huston-Presley L and Amini SB (2003b). Increased fetal adiposity: a very sensitive marker of abnormal in utero development. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology* 189(6):1698-1704.

Catalano PM, Hoegh M, Minium J, Huston-Presley L, Bernard S, et al. (2006). Adiponectin in human pregnancy: implications for regulation of glucose and lipid metabolism. *Diabetologia* 49(7):1677-1685.

Catalano PM, Presley L, Minium J and Hauguel-de Mouzon S (2009). Fetuses of obese mothers develop insulin resistance in utero. *Diabetes Care* 32(6):1076-1080.

Catalano PM (2010). Obesity, insulin resistance, and pregnancy outcome. *Reproduction* 140(3):365-371.

Catalano PM and Hauguel-De Mouzon S (2011). Is it time to revisit the Pedersen hypothesis in the face of the obesity epidemic? *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology* 204(6):479-487.

Catalano PM and Shankar K (2017). Obesity and pregnancy: mechanisms of short term and long term adverse consequences for mother and child. *British Medical Journal* 356:j1.

Cedergren M (2004). Maternal morbid obesity and the risk of adverse pregnancy outcome. *Obstetrics and Gynecology* 103(2):219-224.

Cedergren M (2006). Effects of gestational weight gain and body mass index on obstetric outcome in Sweden. *International Journal of Gynecology and Obstetrics* 93(3):269-274.

Chen LW, Aris IM, Bernard JY, Tint MT, Colega M, et al. (2017). Associations of maternal macronutrient intake during pregnancy with infant BMI peak characteristics

and childhood BMI. The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition 105(3):705-713.

Chen LW, Tint MT, Fortier MV, Aris IM, Bernard JY, et al. (2016). Maternal Macronutrient Intake during Pregnancy Is Associated with Neonatal Abdominal Adiposity: The Growing Up in Singapore Towards healthy Outcomes (GUSTO) Study. *Journal of Nutrition* 146(8):1571-1579.

Chia AR, de Seymour JV, Colega M, Chen LW, Chan YH, et al. (2016). A vegetable, fruit, and white rice dietary pattern during pregnancy is associated with a lower risk of preterm birth and larger birth size in a multiethnic Asian cohort: the Growing Up in Singapore Towards healthy Outcomes (GUSTO) cohort study. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 104(5):1416-1423.

Chu SY, Kim SY and Bish CL (2009). Prepregnancy obesity prevalence in the United States, 2004-2005. *Maternal and child health journal* 13(5):614-620.

Chu SY, Kim SY, Lau J, Schmid CH, Dietz PM, et al. (2007). Maternal obesity and risk of stillbirth: a metaanalysis. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology* 197(3):223-228.

Coelho M, Oliveira T and Fernandes R (2013). Biochemistry of adipose tissue: an endocrine organ. *Archives of Medical Science* 9(2):191-200.

ISUOG Clinical Standards Committee (2013). ISUOG Practice Guidelines: use of Doppler ultrasonography in Obstetrics *Ultrasound in Obstetrics and Gynaecology* 41:233 - 239.

Coomarasamy A, Connock M, Thornton J and Khan KS (2005). Accuracy of ultrasound biometry in the prediction of macrosomia: a systematic quantitative review. *British Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology* 112(11):1461-1466.

Corbetta S, Bulfamante G, Cortelazzi D, Barresi V, Cetin I, et al. (2005). Adiponectin expression in human fetal tissues during mid- and late gestation. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism* 90(4):2397-2402.

Crume TL, Brinton JT, Shapiro A, Kaar J, Glueck DH, et al. (2016). Maternal dietary intake during pregnancy and offspring body composition: The Healthy Start Study. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology* 215(5):609 e601- e608.

Culligan PJ, Myers JA, Goldberg RP, Blackwell L, Gohmann SF, et al. (2005). Elective cesarean section to prevent anal incontinence and brachial plexus injuries associated with macrosomia--a decision analysis. *International Urogynecology Journal - Pelvic Floor Dysfunction* 16(1):19-28.

Denison FC, Aedla NR, Keag O, Hor K, Reynolds RM, et al. (2018). Care of Women with Obesity in Pregnancy. Green-top Guideline No.72. On behalf of the Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists. Edinburgh, RCOG.

Dodd JM, Crowther CA, Antoniou G, Baghurst P and Robinson JS (2007). Screening for gestational diabetes: the effect of varying blood glucose definitions in the prediction
of adverse maternal and infant health outcomes. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology*. 47(4):307-312.

Dodd JM, Grivell RM, Nguyen AM, Chan A and Robinson JS (2011a). Maternal and perinatal health outcomes by body mass index category. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology* 51(2):136-140.

Dodd JM and Robinson JS (2011b). Gestational weight loss in overweight and obese women is associated with an increased risk of small for gestational age infants. *Evidence Based Medicine* 16(4):125-126.

Dodd JM, Turnbull DA, McPhee AJ, Wittert G, Crowther CA, et al. (2011c). Limiting weight gain in overweight and obese women during pregnancy to improve health outcomes: the LIMIT randomised controlled trial. *BMC Pregnancy Childbirth* 11:79.

Dodd JM, Catcheside B and Scheil W (2012). Can shoulder dystocia be reliably predicted? *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Obstetric and Gynaecology*. 52(3):248-252.

Dodd JM, Turnbull D, McPhee AJ, Deussen AR, Grivell RM, et al. (2014a). Antenatal lifestyle advice for women who are overweight or obese: LIMIT randomised trial. *British Medical Journal* 348:g1285.

Dodd JM (2014b). Dietary and lifestyle advice for pregnant women who are overweight or obese: the LIMIT randomized trial. *Annals of Nutrition and Metabolism* 64(3-4):197-202.

Dodd JM, Cramp C, Sui Z, Yelland LN, Deussen AR, et al. (2014c). The effects of antenatal dietary and lifestyle advice for women who are overweight or obese on maternal diet and physical activity: the LIMIT randomised trial. *BMC Med* 12(1):161.

Dodd JM, McPhee AJ, Turnbull D, Yelland LN, Deussen AR, et al. (2014d). The effects of antenatal dietary and lifestyle advice for women who are overweight or obese on neonatal health outcomes: the LIMIT randomised trial. *BMC Med* 12(1):163.

Dodd JM, Deussen AR, Mohamad I, Rifas-Shiman SL, Yelland LN, et al. (2016). The effect of antenatal lifestyle advice for women who are overweight or obese on secondary measures of neonatal body composition: the LIMIT randomised trial. *British Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology* 123(2):244-253.

Dodd JM, Deussen AR and Louise J (2018). Optimising gestational weight gain and improving maternal and infant health outcomes through antenatal dietary, lifestyle and physical activity advice: the OPTIMISE randomised controlled trial protocol. *BMJ Open* 8(2):e019583.

Doherty DA, Magann EF, Francis J, Morrison JC and Newnham JP (2006). Prepregnancy body mass index and pregnancy outcomes. *International Journal of Gynecology and Obstetrics* 95(3):242-247.

El Khouly NI, Elkelani OA and Saleh SA (2016). Amniotic fluid index and estimated

fetal weight for prediction of fetal macrosomia: a prospective observational study. *Journal of Maternal, Fetal and Neonatal Medicine* 22:1-5.

Ezzati M, Lopez AD, Rodgers A, Vander Hoorn S and Murray CJ (2002). Selected major risk factors and global and regional burden of disease. *The Lancet* 360(9343):1347-1360.

Farah N, Hogan AE, O'Connor N, Kennelly MM, O'Shea D, et al. (2012). Correlation between maternal inflammatory markers and fetomaternal adiposity. *Cytokine*. 60(1):96-99.

Fawzi WW, Rifas-Shiman SL, Rich-Edwards JW, Willett WC and Gillman MW (2004). Calibration of a semi-quantitative food frequency questionnaire in early pregnancy. *Annals of Epidemiology* 14(10):754-762.

Ferraro ZM, Qiu Q, Gruslin A and Adamo KB (2012). Characterization of the insulinlike growth factor axis in term pregnancies complicated by maternal obesity. *Human Reproduction* 27(8):2467-2475.

Finucane MM, Stevens GA, Cowan MJ, Danaei G, Lin JK, et al. (2011). National, regional, and global trends in body-mass index since 1980: systematic analysis of health examination surveys and epidemiological studies with 960 country-years and 9.1 million participants. *The Lancet* 377(9765):557-567.

Flynn AC, Dalrymple K, Barr S, Poston L, Goff LM, et al. (2016). Dietary interventions in overweight and obese pregnant women: a systematic review of the content, delivery, and outcomes of randomized controlled trials. *Nutrition Review* 74(5):312-328.

Food Society of Australia and New Zealand (FSANZ)(2013). AUSNUT 2011-13 food nutrient database. Food Society of Australia and New Zealand. Canberra.

Friis CM, Paasche Roland MC, Godang K, Ueland T, Tanbo T, et al. (2013). Adiposity-related inflammation: effects of pregnancy. *Obesity (Silver Spring)* 21(1):E124-130.

Fuglsang J, Skjaerbaek C, Frystyk J, Flyvbjerg A and Ovesen P (2006). A longitudinal study of plasma adiponectin during normal pregnancy. *British Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology* 113(1):110-113.

Garcia-Flores J, Cruceyra M, Canamares M, Garicano A, Espada M, et al. (2017). Sonographic Evaluation of Fetal Adrenal Gland in Gestational Diabetes: Relation to Fetal Growth and Maternal Biochemical Markers. *Journal of Ultrasound Medicine* 36(5):999-1007.

Garcia-Flores J, Cruceyra M, Canamares M, Garicano A, Nieto O, et al. (2015). Fetal limb soft tissue assessment for prediction of birth weight and umbilical cord blood analytes in gestational diabetes. *Prenatal Diagnosis* 35(12):1187-1196.

Gardeil F, Greene R, Stuart B and Turner MJ (1999). Subcutaneous fat in the fetal abdomen as a predictor of growth restriction. *Obstetrics and Gynecology* 94(2):209-

212.

Gardosi J, Chang A, Kalyan B, Sahota D and Symonds E (1992). Customised antenatal growth charts. *Lancet* 339:283-287.

Gardosi J, Figueras F, Clausson B and Francis A (2011). The customised growth potential: an international research tool to study the epidemiology of fetal growth. *Paediatric and Perinatal Epidemiology* 25(1).

Gaudet L, Ferraro ZM, Wen SW and Walker M (2014). Maternal obesity and occurrence of fetal macrosomia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *BioMed Research International* 2014:640291.

Gaudet L, Wen SW and Walker M (2014). The combined effect of maternal obesity and fetal macrosomia on pregnancy outcomes. *Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology Canada* 36(9):776-784.

Geraghty AA, Alberdi G, O'Sullivan EJ, O'Brien EC, Crosbie B, et al. (2016). Maternal Blood Lipid Profile during Pregnancy and Associations with Child Adiposity: Findings from the ROLO Study. *PLoS One* 11(8):e0161206.

Gibson KS, Stetzer B, Catalano PM and Myers SA (2016). Comparison of 2- and 3-Dimensional Sonography for Estimation of Birth Weight and Neonatal Adiposity in the Setting of Suspected Fetal Macrosomia. *Journal of Ultrasound Medicine* 35(6):1123-1129.

Godang K, Qvigstad E, Voldner N, Isaksen GA, Froslie KF, et al. (2010). Assessing body composition in healthy newborn infants: reliability of dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry. *Journal of Clinical Densitometry* 13(2):151-160.

Godfery K, Reynolds R, Prescott S, Nyirenda M, Jaddoe V, et al. (2017). Influence of maternal obesity on the long-term health of offspring. *Lancet Diabetes and Endocrinology* 5(1):53-64.

Government of South Australia (2015). Standards for the Management of the Obese Obstetric Woman in South Australia. Adelaide, Department of Health, Government of South Australia.

Grivell RM, Yelland LN, Deussen A, Crowther CA and Dodd JM (2016). Antenatal dietary and lifestyle advice for women who are overweight or obese and the effect on fetal growth and adiposity: the LIMIT randomised trial. *British Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology* 123(2):233-243.

Guenther PM, Reedy J and Krebs-Smith SM (2008). Development of the Healthy Eating Index-2005. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association* 108(11):1896-1901.

Hadlock F, Harrist R and Martinez-Poyer J (1991). In utero analysis of fetal growth: a sonographic weight standard. *Radiology* 191:129-133.

Haghiac M, Yang XH, Presley L, Smith S, Dettelback S, et al. (2015). Dietary Omega-

3 Fatty Acid Supplementation Reduces Inflammation in Obese Pregnant Women: A Randomized Double-Blind Controlled Clinical Trial. *PLoS One* 10(9):e0137309.

Hanson MA, Bardsley A, De-Regil LM, Moore SE, Oken E, et al. (2015). The International Federation of Gynecology and Obstetrics (FIGO) recommendations on adolescent, preconception, and maternal nutrition: "Think Nutrition First". *International Journal of Gynaecology and Obstetrics* 131 Suppl 4:S213-253.

Hanson MA, Gluckman PD and F. B (2016). Obesity and the health of future pregnancies. *Lancet Diabetes and Endocrinology*.

Hanson M, Barker M, Dodd JM, Kumanyika S, Norris S, et al. (2017). Interventions to prevent maternal obesity before conception, during pregnancy, and post partum. *The Lancet Diabetes & Endocrinology* Volume 5(1):65 - 76.

Hauner H, Vollhardt C, Schneider KT, Zimmermann A, Schuster T, et al. (2009). The impact of nutritional fatty acids during pregnancy and lactation on early human adipose tissue development. Rationale and design of the INFAT study. *Annals of Nutrition & Metabolism* 54(2):97-103.

Hawkins SS and Law C (2006). Treatment and prevention of obesity-are there critical periods for intervention? *International Journal of Epidemiology* 35(4):1101.

He M, Curran P, Raker C, Martin S, Larson L, et al. (2016). Placental findings associated with maternal obesity at early pregnancy. *Pathology Research Practice* 212(4):282-287.

Headen I, Cohen AK, Mujahid M and Abrams B (2017). The accuracy of self-reported pregnancy-related weight: a systematic review. *Obesity Reviews* 18(3):350-369.

Hiersch L and Melamed N (2018). Fetal growth velocity and body proportion in the assessment of growth. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology* 218(2s):S700-S711.e701.

Huang L, Liu J, Feng L, Chen Y, Zhang J, et al. (2014). Maternal prepregnancy obesity is associated with higher risk of placental pathological lesions. *Placenta* 35(8):563-569.

Huda SS, Brodie LE and Sattar N (2010). Obesity in pregnancy: prevalence and metabolic consequences. *Seminars of Fetal Neonatal Medicine*. 15(2):70-76.

Hui L (2008). Australian charts for assessing fetal growth: a review. Australasian Society of Medicine (ASUM) Ultrasound Bulletin, ASUM. 11: 12 - 18.

Hull HR, Dinger MK, Knehans AW, Thompson DM and Fields DA (2008). Impact of maternal body mass index on neonate birthweight and body composition. *American Journal of Obstetric & Gynecology* 198(4):416 e411-416.

Hure AJ, Collins CE, Giles WB, Paul JW and Smith R (2012). Greater maternal weight gain during pregnancy predicts a large but lean fetal phenotype: a prospective cohort study. *Maternal Child Health Journal*. 16(7):1374-1384. doi: 1310.1007/s10995-

10011-10904-10998.

Hure AJ, Collins CE, Giles WB, Paul JW and Smith R (2012). Greater maternal weight gain during pregnancy predicts a large but lean fetal phenotype: a prospective cohort study. *Maternal Child Health J* 16(7):1374-1384.

Ikenoue S, Waffarn F, Sumiyoshi K, Ohashi M, Ikenoue C, et al. (2017). Association of ultrasound-based measures of fetal body composition with newborn adiposity. *Pediatric Obesity* 12 Suppl 1:86-93.

Ingvorsen C, Brix S, Ozanne SE and Hellgren LI (2015). The effect of maternal Inflammation on foetal programming of metabolic disease. *Acta Physiology (Oxford)*. 214(4):440-449. doi: 410.1111/apha.12533. Epub 12015 Jun 12515.

International Weight Management in Pregnancy Collaborative G (2017). Effect of diet and physical activity based interventions in pregnancy on gestational weight gain and pregnancy outcomes: meta-analysis of individual participant data from randomised trials. *BMJ* 358:j3119.

Jahan-Mihan A, Rodriguez J, Christie C, Sadeghi M and Zerbe T (2015). The Role of Maternal Dietary Proteins in Development of Metabolic Syndrome in Offspring. *Nutrients* 7(11):9185-9217.

Jeve YB, Konje JC and Doshani A (2015). Placental dysfunction in obese women and antenatal surveillance strategies. *Best Practice Research in Clinical Obstetrics and Gynaecology*. 29(3):350-364. doi: 310.1016/j.bpobgyn.2014.1009.1007. Epub 2014 Oct 1016.

Johansson S, Villamor E, Altman M, Bonamy A-KE, Granath F, et al. (2014). Maternal overweight and obesity in early pregnancy and risk of infant mortality: a population based cohort study in Sweden. *BMJ: British Medical Journal* 349.

Jolly MC, Sebire NJ, Harris JP, Regan L and Robinson S (2003). Risk factors for macrosomia and its clinical consequences: a study of 350,311 pregnancies. *European Journal of Obstetrics, Gynecology and Reproductive Biology* 111(1):9-14.

Josefson JL, Zeiss DM, Rademaker AW and Metzger BE (2014). Maternal leptin predicts adiposity of the neonate. *Hormone Research in Paediatrics* 81(1):13-19. doi: 10.1159/000355387. Epub 000352013 Dec 000355311.

Juul A (2003). Plasma levels of insulin-like growth factor I and its binding proteins in health and disease. *Growth Horm IGF Res* 13(4):113-170.

Kannieappan LM, Deussen AR, Grivell RM, Yelland L and Dodd JM (2013). Developing a tool for obtaining maternal skinfold thickness measurements and assessing inter-observer variability among pregnant women who are overweight and obese. *BMC Pregnancy Childbirth* 13:42.

Karakosta P, Roumeliotaki T, Chalkiadaki G, Sarri K, Vassilaki M, et al. (2016). Cord blood leptin levels in relation to child growth trajectories. *Metabolism* 65(6):874-882.

Kehl RJ, Krew MA, Thomas A and Catalano PM (1996). Fetal growth and body composition in infants of women with diabetes mellitus during pregnancy. *Journal of Maternal and Fetal Medicine* 5(5):273-280.

Kernaghan D, Ola B, Fraser R, Farrell T and Owen P (2007). Fetal size and growth velocity in the prediction of the large for gestational age infant in a glucose impaired population. *European Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology and Reproductive Biology* 132(2):189 - 192.

Khoury FR, Stetzer B, Myers SA and Mercer B (2009). Comparison of estimated fetal weights using volume and 2-dimensional sonography and their relationship to neonatal markers of fat. *J Ultrasound Med* 28(3):309-315.

Knudsen VK, Heitmann BL, Halldorsson TI, Sorensen TI and Olsen SF (2013). Maternal dietary glycaemic load during pregnancy and gestational weight gain, birth weight and postpartum weight retention: a study within the Danish National Birth Cohort. *British Journal of Nutrition* 109(8):1471-1478.

Kristensen J, Vestergaard M, Wisborg K, Kesmodel U and Secher NJ (2005). Prepregnancy weight and the risk of stillbirth and neonatal death. *BJOG* 112(4):403-408.

Landon MB, Mintz MC and Gabbe SG (1989). Sonographic evaluation of fetal abdominal growth: predictor of the large-for-gestational-age infant in pregnancies complicated by diabetes mellitus. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology* 160(1):115-121.

Laraia BA, Bodnar LM and Siega-Riz AM (2007). Pregravid body mass index is negatively associated with diet quality during pregnancy. *Public Health Nutrition* 10(9):920-926.

Larciprete G, Valensise H, Vasapollo B, Novelli GP, Parretti E, et al. (2003). Fetal subcutaneous tissue thickness (SCTT) in healthy and gestational diabetic pregnancies. *Ultrasound in Obstetics and Gynecology* 22(6):591-597.

Lau D (2008). Molecular biology of obesity. London Royal Society of Medicine Press.

Lee W, Balasubramaniam M, Deter RL, Hassan SS, Gotsch F, et al. (2009). Fetal growth parameters and birth weight: their relationship to neonatal body composition. *Ultrasound in Obstetrics and Gynecology* 33(4):441-446.

Lekva T, Michelsen AE, Aukrust P, Henriksen T, Bollerslev J, et al. (2017). Leptin and adiponectin as predictors of cardiovascular risk after gestational diabetes mellitus. *Cardiovascular Diabetology* 16(1):5.

Lekva T, Paasche Roland MC, Michelsen AE, Friis CM, Aukrust P, et al. (2017). Large reduction in adiponectin during pregnancy is associated with large for gestational age newborns. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*.

Lemas DJ, Brinton JT, Shapiro AL, Glueck DH, Friedman JE, et al. (2015).

Associations of maternal weight status prior and during pregnancy with neonatal cardiometabolic markers at birth: the Healthy Start study. *International Journal of Obesity (London)* 39(10):1437-1442.

Leng J, Li W, Zhang S, Liu H, Wang L, et al. (2015). GDM Women's Pre-Pregnancy Overweight/Obesity and Gestational Weight Gain on Offspring Overweight Status. *PLoS One* 10(6):e0129536.

Leon-Garcia SM, Roeder HA, Nelson KK, Liao X, Pizzo DP, et al. (2016). Maternal obesity and sex-specific differences in placental pathology. *Placenta* 38:33-40.

Lewis RM, Demmelmair H, Gaillard R, Godfrey KM, Hauguel-de Mouzon S, et al. (2013). The placental exposome: placental determinants of fetal adiposity and postnatal body composition. *Annals of Nutrition and Metabolism* 63(3):208-215. doi: 210.1159/000355222. Epub 000352013 Oct 000355228.

Li YP, Yang XG, Zhai FY, Piao JH, Zhao WH, et al. (2005). Disease risks of childhood obesity in China. *Biomed Environmental Sciences* 18(6):401-410.

Lingwood BE, Storm van Leeuwen AM, Carberry AE, Fitzgerald EC, Callaway LK, et al. (2012). Prediction of fat-free mass and percentage of body fat in neonates using bioelectrical impedance analysis and anthropometric measures: validation against the PEA POD. *British Journal of Nutrition* 107(10):1545-1552.

Lobstein T, Baur L and Uauy R (2004). Obesity in children and young people: a crisis in public health. *Obesity Reviews: an official journal of the International Association for the Study of Obesity* 5 Suppl 1:4-104.

Logan CA, Bornemann R, Koenig W, Reister F, Walter V, et al. (2017). Gestational Weight Gain and Fetal-Maternal Adiponectin, Leptin, and CRP: results of two birth cohorts studies. *Scientific Reports* 7:41847.

Lowe LP, Metzger BE, Lowe WL, Jr., Dyer AR, McDade TW, et al. (2010). Inflammatory mediators and glucose in pregnancy: results from a subset of the Hyperglycemia and Adverse Pregnancy Outcome (HAPO) Study. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism* 95(12):5427-5434.

Luoto R, Kinnunen TI, Aittasalo M, Kolu P, Raitanen J, et al. (2011). Primary prevention of gestational diabetes mellitus and large-for-gestational-age newborns by lifestyle counselling: a cluster-randomized controlled trial. *PLoS Medicine* 8(5):e1001036.

Magann EF, Doherty DA, Sandlin AT, Chauhan SP and Morrison JC (2013). The effects of an increasing gradient of maternal obesity on pregnancy outcomes. *Australian New Zealand Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology* 53(3):250-257.

Mantzoros CS, Rifas-Shiman SL, Williams CJ, Fargnoli JL, Kelesidis T, et al. (2009). Cord blood leptin and adiponectin as predictors of adiposity in children at 3 years of age: a prospective cohort study. *Pediatrics* 123(2):682-689.

Marfell-Jones M, Olds T, Steward A and Carter L (2006). International standards for Anthroprometric Assessment. International Society for the Advancement of Kinanthropometry. Potchefstroom.

McIntyre HD, Gibbons KS, Flenady VJ and Callaway LK (2012). Overweight and obesity in Australian mothers: epidemic or endemic? *Medical Journal of Australia* 196(3):184-188.

Merzouk H, Meghelli-Bouchenak M, Loukidi B, Prost J and Belleville J (2000). Impaired plasma lipids and lipoproteins in fetal macrosomia related to maternal obesity. *Biology of the Neonate* 77(1):17-24.

Metzger BE, Lowe LP, Dyer AR, Trimble ER, Chaovarindr U, et al. (2008). Hyperglycemia and adverse pregnancy outcomes. *New England Journal of Medicine* 358(19):1991-2002.

Milani S, Bossi A, Bertino E, Di Battista E, Coscia A, et al. (2005). Differences in size at birth are determined by differences in growth velocity during early prenatal life. *Paediatric Research* 57(2):205 - 210.

Modder J and Fitzsimons K (2010). Management of Women with Obesity in Pregnancy: CMACE/RCOG Joint Guideline. Centre for Maternal and Child Enquiries (CMACE) and Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists (RCOG). London.

Monasta L, Batty GD, Cattaneo A, Lutje V, Ronfani L, et al. (2010). Early-life determinants of overweight and obesity: a review of systematic reviews. *Obesity Reviews* 11(10):695-708.

Montelongo A, Lasuncion MA, Pallardo LF and Herrera E (1992). Longitudinal study of plasma lipoproteins and hormones during pregnancy in normal and diabetic women. *Diabetes* 41(12):1651-1659.

Moore VM, Davies MJ, Willson KJ, Worsley A and Robinson JS (2004). Dietary composition of pregnant women is related to size of the baby at birth. *Journal of Nutrition* 134(7):1820-1826.

Moran LJ, Fraser LM, Sundernathan T, Deussen AR, Louise J, et al. (2017). The effect of an antenatal lifestyle intervention in overweight and obese women on circulating cardiometabolic and inflammatory biomarkers: secondary analyses from the LIMIT randomised trial. *BMC Medicine* 15(1):32.

Moran LJ, Sui Z, Cramp CS and Dodd JM (2013). A decrease in diet quality occurs during pregnancy in overweight and obese women which is maintained post-partum. *International Journal of Obesity (London)* 37(5):704-711.

Mossayebi E, Arab Z, Rahmaniyan M, Almassinokiani F and Kabir A (2014). Prediction of neonates' macrosomia with maternal lipid profile of healthy mothers. *Pediatric & Neonatology* 55(1):28-34.

Moyer-Mileur LJ, Slater H, Thomson JA, Mihalopoulos N, Byrne J, et al. (2009). Newborn adiposity measured by plethysmography is not predicted by late gestation two-dimensional ultrasound measures of fetal growth. *Journal of Nutrition* 139(9):1772-1778.

Moyer-Mileur LJ, Slater H, Thomson JA, Mihalopoulos N, Byrne J, et al. (2009). Newborn adiposity measured by plethysmography is not predicted by late gestation two-dimensional ultrasound measures of fetal growth. *Journal of Nutrition* 139(9):1772-1778.

Muhlhausler B and Smith SR (2009). Early-life origins of metabolic dysfunction: role of the adipocyte. *Trends in Endocrinology & Metabolism* 20(2):51-57.

National Health and Medical Research Council (NHMRC) (2013). Australian Dietary Guidelines Canberra, National Health and Medical Research Council.

Ng M, Fleming T, Robinson M, Thomson B, Graetz N, et al. (2014). Global, regional, and national prevalence of overweight and obesity in children and adults during 1980-2013: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2013. *Lancet* 384(9945):766-781.

Nohr EA, Bech BH, Davies MJ, Frydenberg M, Henriksen TB, et al. (2005). Prepregnancy obesity and fetal death: a study within the Danish National Birth Cohort. *Obstetrics & Gynecology* 106(2):250-259.

O'Connor C, Doolan A, O'Higgins A, Segurado R, Sheridan-Pereiraet M, et al. (2014). Fetal subcutaneous tissue measurements in pregnancy as a predictor of neonatal total body composition. *Prenatal Diagnosis* 34(10):952-955.

O'Connor C, O'Higgins A, Doolan A, Segurado R, Stuart B, et al. (2014). Birth weight and neonatal adiposity prediction using fractional limb volume obtained with 3D ultrasound. *Fetal Diagnosis and Therapy* 36(1):44-48.

Oken E (2009). Maternal and child obesity: the causal link. *Obstetrics & Gynecology Clinics of North America* 36(2):361-377.

Opray N, Grivell RM, Deussen AR and Dodd JM (2015). Directed preconception health programs and interventions for improving pregnancy outcomes for women who are overweight or obese. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* (7):CD010932.

Owen P, Donnet ML, Ogston SA, Christie AD, Howie PW, et al. (1996). Standards for ultrasound fetal growth velocity. *British Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology* 103:60 - 69.

Paladini D (2009). Sonography in obese and overweight pregnant women: clinical, medicolegal and technical issues. *Ultrasound in Obstetrics and Gynecology* 33(6):720-729.

Pantham P, Aye ILMH and Powell TL (2015). Inflammation in maternal obesity and gestational diabetes mellitus. *Placenta* 36:709 - 715.

Parker-Duffen JL and Walsh K (2014). Cardiometabolic effects of adiponectin. *Best Practice & Research: Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism* 28(1):81-91.

Parretti E, Carignani L, Cioni R, Bartoli E, Borri P, et al. (2003). Sonographic evaluation of fetal growth and body composition in women with different degrees of normal glucose metabolism. *Diabetes Care* 26(10):2741-2748.

Pasupathy D, McCowan LM, Poston L, Kenny LC, Dekker GA, et al. (2012). Perinatal outcomes in large infants using customised birthweight centiles and conventional measures of high birthweight. *Paediatric & Perinatal Epidemiology* 26(6):543-552.

Patenaude J, Lacerte G, Lacroix M, Guillemette L, Allard C, et al. (2017). Associations of Maternal Leptin with Neonatal Adiposity Differ according to Pregravid Weight. *Neonatology* 111(4):344-352.

Pates JA, McIntire DD, Casey BM and Leveno KJ (2008). Predicting macrosomia. *Journal of Ultrasound Medicine* 27(1):39-43.

Pedersen J (1954). Weight and length at birth of infants of diabetic mothers. *Acta Endocrinologica (Copenhagen)* 16(4):330-342.

Pedersen J (1967). The Pregnant Diabetic and Her Newborn: Problems and Management. Baltimore, Williams and Wilkins.

Pick ME, Edwards M, Moreau D and Ryan EA (2005). Assessment of diet quality in pregnant women using the Healthy Eating Index. *Journal of The American Dietetic Association* 105(2):240-246.

Poston L, Bell R, Croker H, Flynn AC, Godfrey KM, et al. (2015). Effect of a behavioural intervention in obese pregnant women (the UPBEAT study): a multicentre, randomised controlled trial. *Lancet Diabetes and Endocrinology* 3(10):767-777.

Qiu Q, Basak A, Mbikay M, Tsang BK and Gruslin A (2005). Role of pro-IGF-II processing by proprotein convertase 4 in human placental development. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America (PNAS)* 102(31):11047-11052.

Raatikainen K, Heiskanen N and Heinonen S (2006). Transition from overweight to obesity worsens pregnancy outcome in a BMI-dependent manner. *Obesity (Silver Spring)* 14(1):165-171.

Rampersad R, Cervar-Zivkovic M and Nelson DM (2011). Development and Anatomy of the Human Placenta. *The Placenta: From Development to Disease*. H Kay, DM Nelson and Y Wang. West Sussex, Blackwell Publishing Ltd.

Renault KM, Carlsen EM, Norgaard K, Nilas L, Pryds O, et al. (2015). Intake of carbohydrates during pregnancy in obese women is associated with fat mass in the newborn offspring. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 102(6):1475-1481.

Renault KM, Norgaard K, Nilas L, Carlsen EM, Cortes D, et al. (2014). The Treatment of Obese Pregnant Women (TOP) study: a randomized controlled trial of the effect of physical activity intervention assessed by pedometer with or without dietary intervention in obese pregnant women. *American Journal of Obstetric & Gynecology* 210(2):134 e131-139.

Rifas-Shiman SL, Rich-Edwards JW, Kleinman KP, Oken E and Gillman MW (2009). Dietary quality during pregnancy varies by maternal characteristics in Project Viva: a US cohort. *Journal of American Dietitics Association* 109(6):1004-1011.

Rogozinska E, Marlin N, Jackson L, Rayanagoudar G, Ruifrok AE, et al. (2017). Effects of antenatal diet and physical activity on maternal and fetal outcomes: individual patient data meta-analysis and health economic evaluation. *Health Technology Assessment* 21(41):1-158.

Rogozinska E, Marlin N, Yang F, Dodd JM, Guelfi K, et al. (2017). Variations in reporting of outcomes in randomized trials on diet and physical activity in pregnancy: A systematic review. *Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology Research* 43(7):1101-1110.

Rosario FJ, Schumacher MA, Jiang J, Kanai Y, Powell TL, et al. (2012). Chronic maternal infusion of full-length adiponectin in pregnant mice down-regulates placental amino acid transporter activity and expression and decreases fetal growth. *Journal of Physiology* 590(6):1495-1509.

Rosenberg TJ, Garbers S, Chavkin W and Chiasson MA (2003). Prepregnancy weight and adverse perinatal outcomes in an ethnically diverse population. *Obstetrics and Gynecology* 102(5 Pt 1):1022-1027.

Rouse DJ, Owen J, Goldenberg RL and Cliver SP (1996). The effectiveness and costs of elective cesarean delivery for fetal macrosomia diagnosed by ultrasound. *Journal of American Medical Association* 276(18):1480-1486.

Rumbold AR, Crowther CA, Haslam RR, Dekker GA, Robinson JS, et al. (2006). Vitamins C and E and the risks of preeclampsia and perinatal complications. *New England Journal of Medicine* 354(17):1796-1806.

Sagedal LR, Overby NC, Bere E, Torstveit MK, Lohne-Seiler H, et al. (2017). Lifestyle intervention to limit gestational weight gain: the Norwegian Fit for Delivery randomised controlled trial. *British Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology* 124(1):97-109.

Salomon LJ, Alfirevic Z, Bilardo CM, Chalouhi GE, Ghi T, et al. (2013). ISUOG practice guidelines: performance of first-trimester fetal ultrasound scan. *Ultrasound in Obstetrics and Gynecology* 41(1):102-113.

Sarno L, Maruotti GM, Saccone G, Morlando M, Sirico A, et al. (2015). Maternal body mass index influences umbilical artery Doppler velocimetry in physiologic pregnancies. *Prenatal Diagnosis* 35(2):125-128.

Schaefer-Graf UM, Graf K, Kulbacka I, Kjos SL, Dudenhausen J, et al. (2008). Maternal lipids as strong determinants of fetal environment and growth in pregnancies with gestational diabetes mellitus. *Diabetes Care* 31(9):1858-1863.

Scheil W, Scott J, Catcheside B and Sage L (2014). Pregnancy Outcome in South Australia 2010. South Australian Health Pregnancy Outcome Unit. Adelaide, Government of South Australia.

Scheil W, Jolly K, Scott J, Catcheside B, Sage L, et al. (2016). Pregnancy Outcome in South Australia 2014. South Australian Health Pregnancy Outcome Unit. Adelaide, Government of South Australia.

Schmelzle HR and Fusch C (2002). Body fat in neonates and young infants: validation of skinfold thickness versus dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 76(5):1096-1100.

Scott-Pillai R, Spence D, Cardwell CR, Hunter A and Holmes VA (2013). The impact of body mass index on maternal and neonatal outcomes: a retrospective study in a UK obstetric population, 2004-2011. BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology 120(8):932-939.

Scioscia M, Vimercati A, Ceci O, Vicino M and Selvaggi LE (2008). Estimation of birth weight by two-dimensional ultrasonography: a critical appraisal of its accuracy. *Obstetrics and Gynecology* 111(1):57-65.

Sermer M, Naylor CD, Farine D, Kenshole AB, Ritchie JW, et al. (1998). The Toronto Tri-Hospital Gestational Diabetes Project. A preliminary review. *Diabetes Care* 21 Suppl 2:B33-42.

Sewell MF, Huston-Presley L, Super DM and Catalano P (2006). Increased neonatal fat mass, not lean body mass, is associated with maternal obesity. *American Journal of Obstetric & Gynecology* 195(4):1100-1103.

Shapiro AL, Kaar JL, Crume TL, Starling AP, Siega-Riz AM, et al. (2016). Maternal diet quality in pregnancy and neonatal adiposity: the Healthy Start Study. *International Journal of Obesity (London)* 40(7):1056-1062.

Sharma SS, Greenwood DC, Simpson NAB and Cade JE (2018). Is dietary macronutrient composition during pregnancy associated with offspring birth weight? An observational study. *British Journal of Nutrition* 119(3):330-339.

Sibai BM, Gordon T, Thom E, Caritis SN, Klebanoff M, et al. (1995). Risk factors for preeclampsia in healthy nulliparous women: a prospective multicenter study. The National Institute of Child Health and Human Development Network of Maternal-Fetal Medicine Units. *American Journal of Obstetric & Gynecology* 172(2 Pt 1):642-648.

Sivan E, Mazaki-Tovi S, Pariente C, Efraty Y, Schiff E, et al. (2003). Adiponectin in human cord blood: relation to fetal birth weight and gender. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism* 88(12):5656-5660.

Son GH, Kwon JY, Kim YH, et al. Maternal serum triglycerides as predictive factors for large-for-gestational age newborns in women with gestational diabetes mellitus. Acta Obstetricia et Gynecologica Scandinavica, 2010;89:700–704.

Sovio U, Murphy HR and Smith GC (2016). Accelerated Fetal Growth Prior to Diagnosis of Gestational Diabetes Mellitus: A Prospective Cohort Study of Nulliparous Women. *Diabetes Care* 39(6):982-987.

Sparks JW (1984). Human intrauterine growth and nutrient accretion. *Seminars in Perinatology* 8(2):74 - 93.

Starling AP, Sauder KA, Kaar JL, Shapiro AL, Siega-Riz AM, et al. (2017). Maternal Dietary Patterns during Pregnancy Are Associated with Newborn Body Composition. *Journal of Nutrition* 147(7):1334-1339.

Stothard KJ, Tennant PW, Bell R and Rankin J (2009). Maternal overweight and obesity and the risk of congenital anomalies: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *The Journal of the American Medical Association* 301(6):636-650.

Stephens M, Ludgate M and Rees DA (2011). Brown fat and obesity: the next big thing? *Clinical Endocrinology (Oxford)* 74(6):661-670.

Symonds ME, Pope M, Sharkey D and Budge H (2012). Adipose tissue and fetal programming. *Diabetologia* 55(6):1597-1606.

Tessier DR, Ferraro ZM and Gruslin A (2013). Role of leptin in pregnancy: consequences of maternal obesity. *Placenta* 34(3):205-211.

Thomson R, Brinkworth GD, Buckley JD, Noakes M and Clifton PM (2007). Good agreement between bioelectrical impedance and dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry for estimating changes in body composition during weight loss in overweight young women. *Clinical Nutrition* 26(6):771-777.

Thornburg LL, Barnes C, Glantz JC and Pressman EK (2008). Sonographic birthweight prediction in obese patients using the gestation-adjusted prediction method. *Ultrasound in Obstetrics and Gynecology* 32(1):66-70.

Tie HT, Xia YY, Zeng YS, Zhang Y, Dai CL, et al. (2014). Risk of childhood overweight or obesity associated with excessive weight gain during pregnancy: a metaanalysis. *Archives of Diseases in Gynecology and Obstetrics* 289(2):247-257.

Torloni MR, Betran AP, Horta BL, Nakamura MU, Atallah AN, et al. (2009). Prepregnancy BMI and the risk of gestational diabetes: a systematic review of the literature with meta-analysis. *Obesity Reviews* 10(2):194-203.

Tsai P-J, Yu C-H, Hsu S-P, Lee Y-H, Chiou C-H, et al. (2004). Cord plasma concentrations of adiponectin and leptin in healthy term neonates: positive correlation with birthweight and neonatal adiposity. *Clinical Endocrinology* 61(1):88-93.

Tsai PJ, Davis J and Bryant-Greenwood G (2015). Systemic and placental leptin and

its receptors in pregnancies associated with obesity. *Reproductive Science* 22(2):189-197.

Tsigga M, Filis V, Hatzopoulou K, Kotzamanidis C and Grammatikopoulou MG (2011). Healthy Eating Index during pregnancy according to pre-gravid and gravid weight status. *Public Health Nutrition* 14(2):290-296.

Uebel K, Pusch K, Gedrich K, Schneider KT, Hauner H, et al. (2014). Effect of maternal obesity with and without gestational diabetes on offspring subcutaneous and preperitoneal adipose tissue development from birth up to year-1. *BMC Pregnancy Childbirth* 14:138.

Vinter CA, Jensen DM, Ovesen P, Beck-Nielsen H and Jorgensen JS (2011). The LiP (Lifestyle in Pregnancy) study: a randomized controlled trial of lifestyle intervention in 360 obese pregnant women. *Diabetes Care* 34(12):2502-2507.

Volgyi E, Tylavsky FA, Lyytikainen A, Suominen H, Alen M, et al. (2008). Assessing body composition with DXA and bioimpedance: effects of obesity, physical activity, and age. *Obesity (Silver Spring)* 16(3):700-705.

Vrijkotte TG, Algera SJ, Brouwer IA, van Eijsden M and Twickler MB (2011). Maternal triglyceride levels during early pregnancy are associated with birth weight and postnatal growth. *Journal of Pediatrics* 159(5):736-742.e731.

Wallace JM, Horgan S and Bhattacharya S (2012). Placental weight and efficiency in relation to maternal body mass index and risk of pregnancy complications in women delivering singleton babies. *Placenta* 33:611 - 618.

Walsh JM, Hehir MP, Robson MS and Mahony RM (2015). Mode of delivery and outcomes by birth weight among spontaneous and induced singleton cephalic nulliparous labors. *International Journal of Gynaecology and Obstetrics* 129(1):22-25.

Walsh JM, Wallace M, Brennan L and McAuliffe FM (2015). Early pregnancy maternal urinary metabolomic profile and later insulin resistance and fetal adiposity. *Journal of Maternal, Fetal and Neonatal Medicine* 28(14):1697-1700.

Wang H, Liddell CA, Coates MM, Mooney MD, Levitz CE, et al. (2014). Global, regional, and national levels of neonatal, infant, and under-5 mortality during 1990-2013: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2013. *Lancet* 384(9947):957-979.

Weyer C, Funahashi T, Tanaka S, Hotta K, Matsuzawa Y, et al. (2001). Hypoadiponectinemia in obesity and type 2 diabetes: close association with insulin resistance and hyperinsulinemia. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism* 86(5):1930-1935.

Whitaker RC (2004). Predicting preschooler obesity at birth: the role of maternal obesity in early pregnancy. *Pediatrics* 114(1):e29-36.

Willett WC (1987). Implications of total energy intake for epidemiologic studies of

breast and large-bowel cancer. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 45(1 Suppl):354-360.

Wong SF, Chan FY, Cincotta RB, Oats JJ and McIntyre HD (2001). Sonographic estimation of fetal weight in macrosomic fetuses: diabetic versus non-diabetic pregnancies. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology*. 41(4):429-432.

Wong SF, Chan FY, Oats JJ and McIntyre DH (2002). Fetal growth spurt and pregestational diabetic pregnancy. *Diabetes Care* 25(10):1681-1684.

Wong SF, Lee-Tannock A, Amaraddio D, Chan FY and McIntyre HD (2006). Fetal growth patterns in fetuses of women with pregestational diabetes mellitus. *Ultrasound in Obstetrics and Gynecology* 28(7):934-938.

World Health Organization (WHO) (2004). Global strategy on Diet, Physical activity and Health. Geneva, Switzerland, World Health Organization (WHO).

World Health Organization (WHO) (2016a). Obesity and overweight. Retrieved September 27, 2016, from http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs311/en/.

World Health Organization (WHO) (2016b). Consideration of the evidence on childhood obesity for the Commission on Ending Childhood Obesity: report of the ad hoc working group on science and evidence for ending childhood obesity. Geneva, Switzerland.

World Health Organization (WHO) (2018). Obesity Fact Sheet. Retrieved 31/07/18, from http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs311/en/.

Wright C and Sibley C (2011). Placental transfer in Health and Disease. *The Placenta: From Development to Disease*. H Kay, D Nelson and Y Wang. West Sussex, Wiley-Blackwell.

Yao R, Ananth CV, Park BY, Pereira L, Plante LA, et al. (2014). Obesity and the risk of stillbirth: a population-based cohort study. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology* 210(5):457 e451-459.

Yao R, Park BY, Foster SE and Caughey AB (2017). The association between gestational weight gain and risk of stillbirth: a population-based cohort study. *Annals of Epidemiology* 27(10):638-644 e631.

Yu Z, Han S, Zhu J, Sun X, Ji C, et al. (2013). Pre-pregnancy body mass index in relation to infant birth weight and offspring overweight/obesity: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *PLoS One* 8(4):e61627.

Zhang C, Hediger ML, Albert PS, Grewal J, Sciscione A, et al. (2018). Association of Maternal Obesity With Longitudinal Ultrasonographic Measures of Fetal Growth: Findings From the NICHD Fetal Growth Studies-Singletons. *Journal of American Medical Association (JAMA) Pediatrics* 172(1):24-31.